This is a reproduction of a library book that was digitized by Google as part of an ongoing effort to preserve the information in books and make it universally accessible.



https://books.google.com





1419. d 123

= S.Th. Y 40.3/16



THE

THEOLOGICAL WORKS

OF

WILLIAM BEVERIDGE, D.D.

SOMETIME LORD BISHOP OF ST. ASAPH.

VOL. V.
SERMONS CIV.—CXXVIII.

OXFORD:

JOHN HENRY PARKER.

MDCCCXLV.

LONDON:
MOYES AND BARCLAY, CASTLE STREET, LEICESTER SQUARE.



CONTENTS.

SERMON CIV.

(Page 1.)

THE NATURE, EXTENT, AND POLITY OF GOD'S KINGDOM ON EARTH.

Psalm xcvii. 1.

The LORD reigneth; let the earth rejoice; let the multitude of the isles be glad thereof.

SERMON CV.

·(Page 41.)

GOD'S OMNIPRESENCE THE BEST GUARD AGAINST SIN.

Psalm xvi. 8.

I have set the Lord always before me: because He is at my right hand, I shall not be moved.

SERMON CVI.

(Page 62.)

PERPETUAL REJOICING THE DUTY OF CHRISTIANS.

Phil. iv. 4.

Rejoice in the Lord alway; and again I say, rejoice.

SERMON CVII.

(Page 76.)

UNIVERSAL THANKSGIVING THE DUTY OF CHRISTIANS.

1 Thess. v. 18.

In every thing give thanks; for this is the will of God in Christ Jesus concerning you.

SERMON CVIII.

(Page 95.)

ALL THINGS TO BE DONE TO THE GLORY OF GOD.

1 Cor. x. 31.

Whether therefore ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God.

SERMON CIX.

(Page 116.)

ALL THINGS TO BE DONE IN THE NAME OF CHRIST.

Col. iii. 17.

And whatsoever ye do in Word or Deed, do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus, giving Thanks to God and the Father by Him.

SERMON CX.

(Page 131.)

THE MEDITATION OF GOD'S LAW, THE GOOD MAN'S DELIGHT.

Psalm i. 2.

But his delight is in the Law of the LORD, and in His Law doth he meditate (or exerciseth himself) day and night.

SERMON CXI.

(Page 145.)

THE VANITY OF HEARING THE WORD OF GOD, WITHOUT DOING IT.

James i. 22.

But be ye Doers of the Word, and not Hearers only, deceiving your own selves.

SERMON CXII.

(Page 161.)

THE DUTY AND ADVANTAGE OF SEEKING THINGS SPIRITUAL.

Matt. vi. 33.

But seek ye first the Kingdom of God and His righteousness; and all these things shall be added unto you.

SERMON CXIII.

(Page 181.)

THE SINFULNESS AND MISCHIEF OF WORLDLY ANXIETY.

Phil. iv. 6.

Be careful for nothing; but in every thing by Prayer and Supplication with Thanksgiving let your Requests be made known unto God.

SERMON CXIV.

(Page 202.)

THE GREAT DUTY OF LOVING GOD.

Matt. xxii. 37, 38.

Jesus said unto him, Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy mind. This is the first and great Commandment.

SERMON CXV.

(Page 218.)

THE GREAT HAPPINESS OF LOVING GOD.

Rom. viii. 28.

And we know that all things work together for good to them that love God, to them who are the called according to His purpose.

SERMON CXVI.

(Page 233.)

THE EASINESS OF CHRIST'S YOKE.

Matt. xi. 28.

Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest.

SERMON CXVII.

(Page 251.)

THE EASINESS OF CHRIST'S YOKE.

Matt. xi. 30.

For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light.

SERMON CXVIII.

(Page 263.)

THE CHRISTIAN RACE.

1 Cor. ix. 24.

So run, that ye may obtain.

SERMON CXIX.

(Page 278.)

CHRIST THE WAY, THE TRUTH, AND THE LIFE.

John xiv. 6.

Jesus saith unto him, I am the Way, and the Truth, and the Life: no man cometh unto the Father, but by Me.

SERMON CXX.

(Page 294.)

CHRIST A SAVIOUR BEFORE HIS INCARNATION.

John v. 17.

But Jesus answered them, My Father worketh hitherto, and I work.

SERMON CXXI.

(Page 313.)

THE PRESENCE OF CHRIST IN RELIGIOUS ASSEMBLIES OF CHRISTIANS.

Matt. xviii. 20.

For where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them.

SERMON CXXII.

(Page 330.)

THE WAY OF SEEKING GOD SO AS TO FIND HIM.

Isaiah lv. 6.

Seek ye the Lord while He may be found, call ye upon Him while He is near.

SERMON CXXIII.

(Page 347.)

THE WAY OF PLEASING GOD.

1 Thess. iv. 1.

Furthermore then we beseech you, brethren, and exhort you by the Lord Jesus, that as ye have received of us how ye ought to walk and to please God, so ye would abound more and more.

SERMON CXXIV.

(Page 366.)

THE PARABLE OF THE SOWER.

Matt. xiii. 18.

Hear ye therefore the Parable of the Sower.

SERMON CXXV.

(Page 386.)

THE BLESSING OF PURITY IN HEART.

Matt. v. 8.

Blessed are the pure in heart; for they shall see God.

SERMON CXXVI.

(Page 406.)

AGAINST RASH SWEARING.

Matt. v. 34.

But I say unto you, Swear not at all.

SERMON CXXVII.

(Page 426.)

A SPITAL SERMON.

1 Tim. vi. 17, 18.

Charge them that are rich in this world, that they be not high-minded, nor trust in uncertain riches, but in the living God, Who giveth us all things richly to enjoy;

That they do good, that they be rich in good works, ready to distribute, willing to communicate.

SERMON CXXVIII.

(Page 443.)

OBEDIENCE TO GOVERNORS.

1 Peter ii. 13.

Submit yourselves to every ordinance of Man for the Lord's sake.

SERMON CIV.

THE NATURE, EXTENT, AND POLITY OF GOD'S KINGDOM ON EARTH.

PSALM XCVII. 1.

The LORD reigneth; let the earth rejoice; let the multitude of the isles be glad thereof.

Although we cannot arrive at the perfection of happiness, till we come into the other world, where we shall be so perfectly holy, that all our inclinations shall centre in God, and so we shall be at perfect rest and quiet; yet even in this life we may attain a considerable degree of it, if we would but set ourselves in good earnest about it. For the greatest part of the miseries which we suffer upon earth are plainly of our own making; in that we suffer ourselves to be tossed to and fro with every wind that blows upon us, ruffled and discomposed at every thing that falls out contrary to our expectation, opinion, or desire, although we have no reason at all for it, our happiness and welfare being no farther concerned in it, than as we make it to be so ourselves: for that doth not depend upon any thing that is without us, but is seated only in our minds, which we may, if we will, keep always serene and calm, in the midst of all the storms and tempests that may beat upon us; and so may really be happy in ourselves, notwithstanding any thing that doth, or can befall us in this world, if it be not our own faults: I say, our fault, for so certainly it is, and a very great one too, to trouble and torment ourselves, as we commonly do, without any real cause, and to make ourselves miserable, when we

SERM.

directly contrary to the express command of God, Who requires us not to be disturbed or discontented at any thing, 1 Thess. 5. but "in every thing to give thanks," and to "rejoice evermore." Which are as plain commands, as any are in the whole Bible, and therefore ought to be as strictly observed; so that whatsoever happens in the world, how cross soever it may seem to our present designs, or contrary to our corrupt inclinations, we are still bound, not only to bear it patiently, but to be cheerful, and pleasant, and thankful under it. But for that purpose, we must always look beyond the thing itself, and fix our eye upon him that doth it, even upon Almighty God, Who is the only object of all true joy and happiness, and Who always is so, whether we have or have not any thing else to rejoice in. And therefore we are

commanded to "rejoice in the Lord alway," which command Phil. 4.4. they plainly break, who either do not rejoice in the Lord at all, or do not always rejoice in Him.

[Ps. 112. 7.1

But how happy are they who always keep it! Nothing can move or disturb them; "for their hearts are always fixed, trusting" and rejoicing in Him that orders all things; whereby they are not only freed from all these frights and fears, from all those unruly passions and perturbations of mind, which other men are continually subject to, but even in this life they enjoy as much happiness as their imperfect state is capable of, and are in the ready way to attain the perfection of it in the other world.

Now happiness being a thing which I am confident we all desire, and this being the only way whereby we can ever come at it, I shall endeavour to make it as plain as I can from the words which I have now read. Wherein, for that purpose we shall consider,

- I. Whom we are here to understand by the LORD.
- II. What by His reigning.

III. How the consideration of this great truth, "The Lord reigneth," should make the "earth" and all the inhabitants thereof, "rejoice" and be "glad:" and so, how the latter part of this verse follows clearly from the former; "The Lord reigneth, let the earth rejoice, let the multitude of the isles be glad thereof."

I. The first question, whom we are here to understand by "the LORD," may seem at first sight to be so very easy, that we need not make any question of it; it being past all doubt, that by "the LORD," we are here to understand Him Whom we otherwise call GOD. It is true; but it is one thing to say so, and another to understand what we say when we speak it. And this is altogether as difficult as the other is easy; our souls being so depraved and darkened, that we cannot, without great study and application, frame such ideas and conceptions of God in our minds, as are necessary to our right understanding what we say when we speak of Him; without which our speaking of Him will be to no purpose, as having no power or force at all upon our minds.

Hence, therefore, in discoursing upon this question, I shall endeavour to shew what kind of thoughts and notions we ought to have of God, that so we may understand what we mean when we speak of Him Who is here called "the LORD." To which nothing will contribute more than a due consideration of the Name whereby He is here called, which, in the original, is, JEHOVAH, as we commonly pronounce it; although we are not certain how it ought to be pronounced, it being made up wholly of consonants, without any vowels of its own: for those which are commonly affixed to it, are plainly borrowed from another word, as they who are skilled in that language know full well. Howsoever, that is not so material as to understand the proper sense and meaning of this great Name, whereby Almighty God hath been pleased to reveal and manifest Himself unto us: and which He therefore calls His Own Name, in a more peculiar manner; "I am the LORD," saith He, "Jehovah, Isa. 42.8. that is My Name." "And they shall know that My Name Jer. 16, 21. is Jehovah, the LORD." From whence we may see His meaning, when He said unto Moses, "Thus shalt thou say Exod. 3. 15. unto the children of Israel, The LORD God of your fathers, the God of Abraham, the God of Isaac, the God of Jacob, hath sent me unto you; this is My Name for ever, and this is My memorial unto all generations." That is, the first, Jehovah, or the LORD, is My Name; the other, even the "God of your fathers, is My memorial," or that

SERM. which shall alway put Me in mind of the covenant which I CIV. have made with your fathers. And hence it is that this is Lev. 24. 11. called DDT, ' the Name,' as far exceeding all other names, as being proper and peculiar only to the True God. Other things are sometimes called gods, but nothing is, or can be called Jehovah, but only the Almighty Creator of the world. "That men may know," saith David, "that Thou, Whose Ps. 83. 18. Name alone is JEHOVAH, art the Most High over all the

earth."

But to understand the proper meaning of this Name, and what kind of thoughts it suggests to our minds concerning God, it will be necessary to consider the etymology and the common use of it in Holy Writ. As for the etymology, it plainly comes from a word that signifies 'to be' in general; and therefore the Most High God, calling Himself by this Name, even Jehovah, He thereby gives us to understand, that He would not have us to apprehend Him as any particular or limited being, but as Being in general, as the Universal Being of the world, that gives essence and existence unto all things in it. And hence it is, that when Moses

Exod. 3. 14. asked God His Name, He said, "I AM THAT I AM; and thus shalt thou say unto the children of Israel, I AM hath sent Me unto you." He doth not say, I am this or that particular thing, but in general, "I AM," and "I AM THAT I AM;" whereby He plainly interprets His Great Name JEHOVAH, which may be accordingly rendered in the third person, He is, or Being itself, without any restriction or limitation; or, as St. John explains it, à dv, xal

ό ήν, καὶ ὁ ἐρχόμενος, ' Who is, Who was, and Who is to come.' Where, though he useth several words, yet he useth all but as one Name of God (as is plain from the Greek), and that can be no other than JEHOVAH, which signifies all that is contained in those words; and which was therefore rightly interpreted by the Greek philosophers i ar and rd or. And I know not how we can better render it in English, than by 'THE BEING.'

> But why then do our translators always render it 'the LORD?' The reason is, because the Septuagint, or seventy learned men that first translated the Old Testament, or at least the Pentateuch out of Hebrew into Greek, whereso-

ever they met with this great Name of God, JEHOVAH, they always rendered it by Kiese, which being derived from Kύρω, 'to be,' was the most proper word in all the Greek language, whereby to express the true meaning of it. But this word, Kueing, being in process of time used to signify a lord or governor; and being so used also in other places, both of the Old and New Testament, therefore our translators also, all along, render Jehovah, by 'the LORD.' But that the reader may always know when it is the proper Name of God, they took care, that whensoever JEHOVAH was used in the original text, 'the LORD' is always written in capitals or great letters; so that whensoever you read the LORD so written, you may conclude that it signifies Jehovah (which is more than can be said of any other translation that I ever saw or heard of): as in my text, 'the LORD,' you see, is written all in great letters, which shews that in the original it is, 'Jehovah reigneth.' And so all over the Old Testament. But wheresoever the original hath any other word that signifies a lord, there 'Lord' is always written in smaller characters, on purpose to distinguish it from Jehovah.

But for our better understanding the meaning of this great Name JEHOVAH, there are several things much to be observed in the use of it all along in the Holy Writ: as first, that it is never used with any genitive case after it, except Sabaoth, or Hosts. He is never called Jehovah, the LORD of Angels, of Men, of Heaven, of Earth, but always simply or absolutely, 'JEHOVAH, the LORD.' It is true, in this very Psalm He is called "the Lord of the whole Ps. 97.5. earth." But in the original it is not Jehovah, but אדון, and therefore it is written in smaller characters, as other words are, not as in my text, where the LORD is written all in great letters, to shew, as I observed before, that the Hebrew word is Jehovah, which signifying Being in general, cannot properly have any particular genitive case after it; for that would restrain it to some particular thing, as if He should be called Jehovah, the Being of the earth, that would imply as if He Himself was the very Being of the earth, or at least as if He gave being to that in a more particular manner than to any thing else; whereas He equally gives being to every thing that is, and is Himself not the Being or Essence of any thing,

SERM. but Being in general, the Being of all Beings. And that is the reason why, although He is never called Jehovah, the LORD of any thing else, yet He is frequently called, 'The LORD of Hosts,' or 'Sabaoth,' because Sabaoth or Hosts, most properly signifies all things; all things in the world, in their several ranks and orders, being as so many hosts or armies, which He, as Generalissimo, commands and governs. And hence it is that Plato seems to have borrowed that notion of God, when he called Him or overw, 'the Being of Beings,' that being the most proper signification of this Divine expression, "The LORD of Hosts."

> But here we may farther observe, that although Jehovah hath Sabaoth or Hosts often following, yet is never changed according to the idiom of the Hebrew tongue in the like For when any other word hath a genitive case following it (especially such as end in π , as this doth) it admits of some variation at the end of it, whereby it is known to have so; whereas this never admits of any, but is always just the same wheresoever it occurs; as God Himself is, whatsoever He doth; which shews, that this Name is properly adapted, and used in a peculiar manner, to represent Him to us, "with Whom is no variableness or shadow of change."

[James 1. 17.]

Another thing worthy of observation in this Name is, that it is always used by itself, without any adjective joined with God is often called a wise, a merciful, an almighty, an eternal God, but never a wise, a merciful, an almighty, an eternal Jehovah, but absolutely Jehovah the LORD, at least in the original; and if it be otherwise in any translation, it is certainly a great mistake: and the reason is, because every adjective implies something added to the word it is joined with; whereas nothing can be added to Jehovah, all properties and perfections whatsoever being fully contained in the word itself: for that signifying, as I have observed, Being in general, it must needs comprehend under it, wisdom, and power, and greatness, and glory, and goodness, and justice, and mercy, and immensity, and eternity, and all other perfections that are or have any being at all. And therefore, it would be very improper to add any one or more of them to that Name under which they are all contained; except it be unity itself, which doth not signify any particular property, but the absolute perfection of the

Divine Essence itself, and its identity and equality in the Three Persons which subsist in it; as where it is said, "Hear, O Israel, the LORD our God is One LORD." Deut. 6. 4. Where the word שלהים, which we translate 'God,' being in the plural number, plainly signifies the Three Persons, of which it is here said, that they are "One LORD, One JEHOVAH, One BEING;" that is, although they be distinguished from each other by their personal properties, yet they have all one and the same individual essence. And hence it is that all and every one of them are equally called Jehovah, the LORD; even the Son and the Holy Jer. 23.6. Ghost as well as the Father. As it is said, that the Saviour of the world shall be called יהוה צרקני, 'THE LORD OUR RIGHTEOUSNESS,' which can be understood of none but the Son, "Who of God is made unto us wisdom 1 Cor. 1. 30. and righteousness," and Who is therefore expressly called THE LORD: and so He is in many other places of the Old Testament. And as for the Holy Ghost, the Prophets all along call Him the LORD; saying, "Thus saith the LORD:" for seeing they "spake as they were moved by 2 Pet. 1. 21. the Holy Ghost," it must needs be He Whom they call the LORD, whensoever they use that Divine expression.

And besides, He is called One LORD also, in respect of the properties or perfections which are commonly attributed to Him. For although, as I observed before, He is never called a wise, a merciful, an almighty Jehovah, nor hath this Name any other adjective, except One, ever joined with it; yet these and all other perfections are usually predicted upon it; so that it is often said, that Jehovah is wise, and merciful, and almighty, and good, and just, and eternal, and the like. But, howsoever, these perfections are severally attributed to Him; yet, really, as they are in Him, they are Himself, One Lord, One Being. And all the difference or distinction there is betwixt them, is only in our different apprehension of this One Being; which acting severally upon several objects, we apprehend it as acting from several properties, by reason of the finiteness of our understandings, which cannot conceive of an Infinite Being wholly as it is in itself, but as it were by piecemeal, as it represents itself to us: whereas, if we could look upon God as He is in

SERM.

Mal. 3. 6.

Himself, we should see all perfections whatsoever so concentred in Him, that they are all one and the same perfection; and so He is still, simply and absolutely, without any mixture or composition, One JEHOVAH, One LORD.

I shall observe only one thing more at present concerning this great name, and that is, that although God never promiseth to be Jehovah to us, nor is ever called our LORD, but only our God, yet He often makes use of this name to confirm what He saith or promiseth to His people, saying, "I am the LORD"—as we see all along both in Moses and the Prophets. And this doubtless is the highest asseveration that can be made of any truth: for when God saith, "I am the LORD," it is as much as if He should say, What I now say is as certain as that I am the LORD; and I who say it being the LORD, Being itself, whatsoever I say must needs be just as I say it; so that it is absolutely impossible it should be otherwise. And thus He Himself interprets it, saying, "I am the LORD, I change not; therefore ye sons of Jacob are not consumed;" that is, I being the LORD, I cannot change, and therefore what I say cannot but be as I say it shall: and that is the reason why ye sons of Jacob are not consumed, because I have promised ye shall not be consumed, and have confirmed that promise by My great Name, saying, "I am the LORD."

This observation, duly considered will give great light to many obscure places, and particularly to that where we Exod. 6.2,3. read, "And God said unto Moses, I am the LORD. And I appeared unto Abraham, unto Isaac, and unto Jacob, by the name of God Almighty, but by My Name JEHOVAH was I not known unto them." That which makes this place so difficult is, because this Name of God, Jehovah, was certainly known to Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob; for God often used it when He spake to them, and they too when they spake to Him. How then could it be here said, "By My Name Jehovah was I not known unto them?" To understand this, we may consider, that when God entered into covenant with Abraham, He said unto him, Gen. 17.1,4. "I'm, "I am the Almighty God; walk before Me, and be thou perfect. As for Me, behold, My covenant is

Digitized by Google

with thee, and thou shalt be a father of many nations." Where He plainly useth this expression, אניאל שדי, 'I am God Almighty,' to confirm His covenant, that Abraham might more firmly believe that He was able to perform what He promised, seeing He was God Almighty. Before this God had said to Abraham, "I am the LORD that Gen. 15. 7. brought thee out of Ur of the Chaldees." And afterwards He said to Jacob, "I am the LORD God of Abraham ch. 28. 13. thy father, and the God of Isaac; the land whereon thou liest, to thee will I give it, and to thy seed." In both which places, though He uses the expression, "I am the Exod. 6. 2. LORD," yet He adds something else to it to make up the proposition; and we never find it used by itself, for the confirmation of what He said, till the place above-mentioned: where God first of all saith, "I am Jehovah," or "I am the LORD." And therefore, the meaning of what follows must needs be this, that God appeared to Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob, so as to confirm His promise to them, by saying, "I am God Almighty," but not by His Name Jehovah, saying, "I am Jehovah," or "I am the LORD," as He doth now to the children of Israel. So that, though they did know this to be His Name, yet they did not know that God would establish His covenant with them by it, as He doth now, saying, "I am the LORD." And I am the more induced to believe this to be the true meaning of the place, because God is pleased both to begin and end what He here promiseth by this expression. And though it was never used before, yet from this time forward, nothing is more frequent, both in Moses and the Prophets, than for God to confirm what He saith to His people, by saying, "I am the LORD."

From what we have hitherto briefly discoursed concerning this great and glorious Name, whereby the Most High God is pleased to reveal Himself to us in His Holy Word, and particularly in my text, calling Himself JEHOVAH, the LORD, we may easily gather what kind of thoughts He would have us, His creatures, entertain in our minds concerning Him; that when we think of Him, we must raise our thoughts above all things else, and think of Him as the Universal Being of the world, that gives essence and



SERM. existence to all things in it:—as Jehovah, the Being, in Whom we particularly, as well as other things, live and move, and have our being: - as Jehovah, the Lord paramount over the whole world, to Whom all the Angels and Arch-angels in Heaven, with all the kings and kingdoms upon earth, are entirely subject:—as Jehovah, in Whom all perfections are so perfectly united, that they are all but one infinite perfection: - as Jehovah, knowledge itself, always actually knowing all things that ever were, or are, or will be, or can be known:—as Jehovah, wisdom itself, alway contriving, ordering, and disposing of all, and every thing, in the best order, after the best manner, and to the best end that is possible:—as Jehovah, power, Omnipotence itself, continually doing what He will, only by willing it should be done, and always working either with means, or without means, as He Himself sees good: - as Jehovah, light and glory itself, shining forth in, and by, and through every thing that is made or done in the whole world: - as Jehovah, holiness, purity, simplicity, greatness, majesty, eminency, super-eminency itself, infinitely exalted above all things else, existing in, and of Himself, and having all things else continually subsisting in Him: -as Jehovah, goodness itself, doing and making all things good, and so communicating itself to all His creatures, as to be the only fountain of all the goodness that is in any of them: - as Jehovah, justice and righteousness itself, giving to all their due, and exacting no more of any than what is absolutely due to Him: - as Jehovah, mercy itself, pardoning and forgiving all the sins that mankind commit against Him, so soon as they repent and turn to Him:—as Jehovah, patience and long-suffering itself, bearing a long time, even with those who continue in their rebellions against Him, waiting for their coming to a due sense of their folly and madness, that He may be gracious and merciful to them: as Jehovah, love and kindness, and bounty itself, freely distributing His blessings among all His creatures, both good and bad, just and unjust, those that love Him, and those that love Him not:—as Jehovah, truth and faithfulness itself, always saying as He means, always doing what He saith, always performing what He promiseth to His people:

—as Jehovah, infinitude, immensity itself, in all things, to all things, beyond all things, every where, wholly, essentially, continually present:—as Jehovah, constancy, immutability, eternity itself, without any variableness, or shadow of change; yesterday, to-day, and for ever the same. In a word, when we think of the Most High God, Father, Son, and Holy Ghost, we should think of Him as Jehovah, Unity in Trinity, Trinity in Unity, Three Persons, One Being, One Essence, One Lord, One Jehovah, blessed for ever. This is that glorious, that Almighty Being, which the Psalmist here means when he saith, "The LORD reigneth."

The word in the original, מלך, which we translate ' reigneth,' is commonly used to signify the exercise of supreme authority and power; especially that which is originally and most eminently in God Himself, Who is therefore frequently said to reign. As, " the Lord reigneth, Ps. 93. 1. He is clothed with majesty: the Lord is clothed with strength." "The Lord reigneth; let the people tremble." Ps. 99. 1. And this is that which He would have all people take special notice of, "Say among the Heathen, the Lord reigneth." Ps. 96. 10. But the word is commonly used also of sovereign princes and emperors upon earth, who derive their titles from it, being called מלכם, persons that reign, or, as we translate it, 'kings.' And therefore God Himself is pleased to call Himself "a Great King;" " the King of Glory," or the Glorious Ps. 95. 3. King; and absolutely, "the King." "Mine eyes," saith Ps. 24.8. the Prophet, " have seen the King, the Lord of Hosts." Isa. 6.5. And our blessed Saviour hath taught us to acknowledge this in our daily prayers to God, saying, "for Thine is the Kingdom, the power, and the glory, for ever and ever." "Thine is the Kingdom," Thou reignest in a more special and peculiar manner than any other persons can be said to do. "Thine is the Kingdom," so as that in comparison with Thee, none else can be said to reign at all.

II. But that we may the better understand the nature of this Kingdom, and so in what sense it is here said that "the Lord reigneth;" we shall by His assistance, consider,

- 1. The extent of it.
- 2. The title He hath to reign over it.

SERM CIV.

- 3. The laws whereby He governs it.
- 4. The form of its government, or the way and manner whereby He reigns over it.
- 1. First, therefore, this Kingdom, over which the Lord reigneth, is of very large extent, for it is spread over the face of the whole earth: as King David himself confesseth, saying, "God is the King of all the earth." So that all the kingdoms, states, empires, and commonwealths, that are in

Ps. 47. 7; saying, "God is the King of all the earth." So that all the kingdoms, states, empires, and commonwealths, that are in Europe, Asia, Africa, or America, or in the unknown parts of the earth, they are all but parcels of God's Kingdom, Who disposeth of them, and sets over them whom He pleaseth: as Daniel told King Nebuchadnezzar, that God Dan. 2. 21. "removeth kings, and setteth up kings." And so did the

ch. 4.17. Holy One that appeared to him, acquainting him, "that the Most High ruleth in the kingdom of men, and giveth it to whomsoever He will." Yea, God Himself asserts the same thing to His Own people, by His Prophet,

Hos. 13. 11. saying, "I gave thee a king in Mine anger, and took him away in My wrath." From whence it appears, that all the kings and emperors upon earth, although they be sovereign princes in respect of one another, yet they are all subject to the Lord of Hosts, and hold their crowns and sceptres of Him, and that too, only during His pleasure. They are all but His vicegerents, or deputies, receiving their power and commission wholly from Him; and therefore are bound to do Him homage both for the kingdoms over which they reign, and for all the authority they have, or can exer-

Prov. 8. 15, cise in them. "By Me," saith He, "kings reign, and princes decree justice. By Me princes rule, and nobles, even all the judges of the earth." They are all but His commissioners, and as He gives, so He can take away their commissions when He will: and while they hold it, they hold it so perfectly under Him, that they cannot go beyond it if they would: for "the hearts of kings are in the hand of the

ch. 21. 1. they would: for "the hearts of kings are in the hand of the Lord; as the rivers of water, He turneth them whithersoever He will." Though He puts great power into their hands, yet He holds both them and their hearts too, so that they cannot design, much less execute, any thing beyond their commission: as our Lord Himself told Pilate, saying,

John 19.11. "Thou couldst have no power at all against Me, except it

were given thee from above." And therefore no people upon earth are in such perfect subjection and vassalage to their princes, as their princes are to Almighty God, Who hath absolute dominion over their souls, as well as their bodies: "for He cuts off," or refrains, "the spirit of princes, and is Pa. 76. 12. terrible to the kings of the earth." And hence it is that He is called "the King of kings, and the Lord of lords." Be-1 Tam. 6. 15; cause all the kings upon earth are His subjects, and their ch. 19. 16. kingdoms but part of His.

Yea, and but a very small part too; for His Kingdom is not confined to the earth, but reaches as high as Heaven, and spreads itself over the whole world. Indeed, Heaven is the chief seat of His Kingdom; as He Himself saith, "Heaven is My throne, and earth is My footstool." So that Im. 66. 1. this part of His Kingdom exceeds the other, as much as the throne a king sits on exceeds the footstool whereon he stands. And so it doth, not only in respect of all quantity, the earth being but a very little inconsiderable thing in comparison of Heaven, but likewise in respect of the quality of it: for as there are an innumerable company of inhabitants in Heaven, the least of them excels the greatest kings and emperors upon earth in power and glory; they being all endowed with all the perfections that creatures are capable of: perfectly wise and prudent, perfectly good and holy, perfectly pure and happy. There are Angels, Arch-angels, Cherubim, Seraphim, thrones, dominions, principalities, powers, all most mighty, most excellent, most glorious princes indeed: and vet they are all subject to this Almighty King, the LORD. They are but His ministers of state, waiting continually upon Him, and performing their homage to Him, by prostrating themselves before Him, and being ready, upon all occasions, to receive and execute His Commands: as we learn from the Holy Spirit of God, saying, by David, "Bless the Lord, Ps. 103. 20. ye His Angels, that excel in strength, that do His Commandments, hearkening unto the voice of His Word." Hence they are called Assroveyina sosúpara, " ministering Heb. 1. 14. spirits, sent forth to minister for them who shall be heirs of Salvation;" and are charged "to keep" such "in all their Ps. 91. 11. ways." It is true, this may seem to us but a mean employment for such glorious creatures as they are; but howsoSERM.

ever, they do it with all the cheerfulness and alacrity imaginable, looking upon every thing as great that God commands, and accounting themselves happy to be employed by Him in any thing. And, therefore, they live in perfect obedience and subjection to Him, without ever neglecting or transgressing any of His commands, but doing every thing just as He would have it done; by which means they always enjoy His love and favour, and have the light of His countenance shining continually upon them; and so are as happy as it is possible for creatures to be. And though their number be vastly great of themselves, so great that I question whether they themselves can reckon it up; yet it is very much augmented by the spirits of just men, who departing out of this life, in the true faith and fear of God, are made equal to them, and fellow-subjects with them in this Kingdom of Heaven, over which the Lord reigneth. But many of those who were first planted in the Kingdom

of Heaven rebelled against their Almighty King; Who therefore banished them from thence, and "hath reserved Jude 6. them in everlasting chains under darkness unto the judgment of the great day." These, therefore, being thus condemned to the infernal pit, constitute there a kind of kingdom, or rather a conspiracy and combination of wicked spirits, of so great power and malice, that they are called Eph. 6. 12. "principalities and powers, the rulers of the darkness of this world, and spiritual wickedness in high places;" and "the ch. 2. 2. prince of the power of the air, the spirit that worketh in the [1Pet. 5. 8.] children of disobedience." Now these go about daily " seeking whom they may devour," doing all they can to keep mankind in darkness, entice them into sin, or withdraw them from their duty to God. But though they go about for these wicked purposes, they always go in chains, fettered and hampered by the Lord, so that they can do nothing without His order or permission, Who employs them only as His executioners, to execute His judgments upon impenitent and obdurate sinners like themselves. But He still keeps so strict a rein over them, that they cannot stir a jot farther than He suffereth them. They could not Job 1 and 2. meddle with Job's goods till they had obtained a license from God, nor with his body afterwards, until their license was

enlarged. Yea, a whole legion of them could not so much Mark 5. 12. as enter into swine, without Christ's leave; which plainly shews, that although it be against their wills, yet they are kept in perfect subjection to the Lord Jehovah, Who reigneth as absolutely over them as any other creatures whatsoever. And they certainly of themselves are very many; and yet their number also is increased by a great part of mankind, who dying in their sins, are condemned to live for ever in the company of these fiends of Hell; whereby this kingdom of darkness, though it be not so great as that of light, it is doubtless of vast extent; and yet nevertheless it is but one part of that over which the Lord reigneth.

For He reigneth not only over all the kingdoms of men, of holy and of apostate angels, but likewise over all things else: as David in his prayer to Him confesseth, saying, "Thine is the Kingdom, O Lord, and Thou art exalted as 1 Chron. 29. Head above all. Both riches and honour come of Thee, and Thou reignest over all." He reigneth over all, not only rational, but mere sensitive and inanimate creatures too, and doth whatsoever He will with all and every one of them. "Whatsoever the Lord pleased, that did He," saith David, Ps. 135. 6. "in Heaven, in the earth, in the seas, and in all deep places." And good reason why He should do what He will with every thing, for all things are His. "The earth is the ch. 24.1. Lord's, and all that therein is; the compass of the world, and they that dwell therein." The earth is of itself of very great extent, being commonly reckoned to be above twentyone thousand miles round; and it hath a vast company of beasts living upon it, birds flying about it, fishes swimming in its waters, insects creeping on its plants, stones, metals, semi-metals, minerals, and many other things engendered in its bowels, from the surface to the centre; which are all under the inspection and care of Almighty God, who orders and disposeth of them as He pleaseth: and this, one would think, was a very large kingdom for one to reign over. But then what shall we think of the prodigious compass of the Heavens? What vast bodies are the sun and moon, and stars, that are in it! What a vast number is there of them! And what a vast space is there between them, and beyond them too! Who can think of this without astonishment and

SERM. CIV. admiration? And yet all this is the Lord's; and so the system of the whole world is His, and all and every thing that is in it belongs to that Kingdom, over which, as it is here said, "the Lord reigneth."

2. And certainly He hath all the right and title in the world to reign over the world, and all things in it, seeing the world and all things in it were made by Him, as appears from the first words of the Bible, "In the beginning God created Heaven and earth;" where by "Heaven and earth," Gen. 1. 1. according to the idiom of the Hebrew language, is meant the "whole world and all things in it." It was all created by God in the beginning, and, by consequence, out of nothing; for though we should grant that the Hebrew word אחם, which we translate "created," doth not always signify the production of a thing out of nothing, yet that must needs be the meaning of it in this place: for if there had been any thing before, out of which the world was made, there must have been a beginning before; and then it could not have been said, that "In the beginning God created Heaven and earth." But it is expressly said, that He did it in the beginning, and therefore it could be no otherwise than out of nothing: and this is the first great truth that God is pleased to reveal unto us in His Holy Word, as being the foundation of all true religion; the grand reason of that obedience, subjection, and homage which all creatures owe to God, being grounded upon this, that they are created or produced out of nothing by Him; they are His creatures. and therefore must needs be subject to Him, and do what He commands, from Whom they receive their being, and all the power they have of doing any thing. This is the reason Ps. 24. 1, 2, which David gives, why "the earth is the Lord's, and the fulness thereof;" because "He founded it upon the seas, and established it upon the floods;" He made it, therefore it is wholly His; and if it be His, it must needs be at His command, He may do with it what He pleaseth. The same may be said of the whole world, it is all the workmanship of His hands, and therefore is wholly under His care and government.

Especially, considering that He did not only make all things at first, but continually preserveth and "upholdeth all

things" in their being, by the same Almighty Word whereby He made them. He made all things at first, by saying they Heb. 1. 3. should be; and so He continueth all things in their being, by saying or willing they should continue. He said, "Let there be light, and there was light:" and should He once say, "Let there be no light," there would be no light, but all the lights of Heaven would immediately go out, and darkness would overspread the face of the whole world. Yea. should God but cease to keep up any thing in its being, or not actually will it to be, it would, in the twinkling of an eye, fall down to nothing, or soon cease to be. Hence the Apostle saith, that "in Him we live and move, and have our Acts 17. 28. being." It is in Him we live; for it was He that breathed the breath of life into us, and so united our souls to our bodies; and it is He that keeps them so united. It is He that gives us food, and it is He that gives His blessing unto it, that it may nourish and preserve us alive: it is in Him we move either our souls or bodies: it is in Him that we understand, or think, or choose, or love, or hate, or exercise any other passion: it is in Him that we walk, or stir either our heads, or hands, or feet, or any other part of our body: yea, it is in Him that we are, or have our very being; so that we cannot subsist, or be one moment without Him; but we, and all the creatures in the world, depend continually upon Him, and are continually beholden to Him, not only for what we have, and for what we are, but for that we are at all. And seeing all things thus continually derive their very being from Him. He must needs have absolute power and dominion over all things. And this is the reason which the choir of Heaven gives, why the Lord deserves to reign so gloriously as He doth over the whole world; saying, "Thou art Rev. 4. 11. worthy, O Lord, to receive glory, and honour, and power, for Thou hast created all things, and for Thy pleasure they are and were created." As if they should have said, "Thou art worthy, O Lord, to reign over all things, and to be glorified and honoured by all things; because all things were not only created by Thee, but all things continually are, or subsist in Thee: yea, all things are both made and preserved, διὰ τὸ θέλημά σου, for Thy pleasure, or rather for Thy will, because Thou wouldst have it so." So that both the first

SERM. CIV. production of all things out of nothing, and the continual preservation of them in their being, depends wholly and solely upon the will of God, and therefore must needs be subject to Him.

But why did God make all things? "He did it," as the Prov. 16. 4. wise man saith, "for Himself, for His Own sake," that is, for the exercise and manifestation of Himself. He was infinitely happy in Himself before He made the world, and therefore could have no other end in making of it, but only that He might thereby communicate of His goodness, and shew forth His glory unto others; which, for that purpose, He made capable of beholding what He hath done, and of reflecting upon that infinite wisdom, power, and goodness, which He exerted in the doing of it. And for the same end it is that He is still pleased to support and maintain all things in their being, that so His glory might continually shine forth in them, and be acknowledged, admired, and praised by all But this end could not be accomplished, unless He always reigned over all things: for if He did not, some things might fall out otherwise than He designed at first, and so would not answer the end wherefore He made them: whereas, by reigning over the world, He so orders and disposeth of every thing in it, that all things concur to promote His great and holy design, by setting forth the glory of His Divine perfections. And therefore it must needs be acknowledged, that there is all the reason in the world that He should reign over all things in the world, that so He may accomplish His end in the making and preserving of them.

3. Which brings me to the next thing I promised to shew, by what laws the Lord governs the world, or as it is here expressed, "reigneth over it." Concerning which, we may observe in general, that they are all such as He in His infinite wisdom saw necessary to be enacted, in order to the better discovery of Himself, and the displaying His glory in the world; which was His end, as in making and preserving all things, so likewise in His prescribing laws for every thing to observe: for which purpose, therefore, He gave certain rules and orders to all things He made, at the same time, and after the same manner that He made them, even by His Word: as we see in the first of Genesis; where we

must distinguish betwixt His saying, "let" such a thing "be," and "let" such a thing "do" so or so. By the first, He produced the thing out of nothing; by the other, He gave laws to it, then in being. As when He said, "Let there be light:" by that word, the light which was not before, began to be; but when He said, "Let there be lights in the ver. 14. firmament, to divide the day from the night; and let them be for signs, and for seasons, and for days, and for years," He thereby gave laws to the light He had before made, where He would have it be, and what He would have it do. And so, when He said, "Let the earth bring forth grass, ver. 11. and herb vielding seed after his kind, and the fruit-tree yielding fruit, whose seed is in itself, after his kind;" "And ver. 24. let the earth bring forth the living creature after his kind;" He thereby laid His command upon the earth, by virtue whereof it was both empowered and required to bring forth grass, and every living creature after his kind: and so it hath done ever since. The same may be said of all other parts of the creation; for the Almighty Creator, at the same time that He created any thing, signified His pleasure what He would have it to be, or to do. And this is that which we call the Law of Nature; that law which God hath put into the nature of every thing, whereby it always keeps itself within such bounds, and acts according to such rules, as God hath set it; and by that means sets forth the glory of His wisdom and power, and therefore may be properly said to praise or glorify Him. Hence it is, that David saith, "The Heavens declare the glory of God; and the Ps. 19. 1. firmament sheweth His handywork." And elsewhere, "Praise the Lord, ye sun and moon, praise Him, all ye Ps. 148.3-6. stars of light. Praise Him, ve Heaven of Heavens, and ye waters that be above the Heavens. Let them praise the Name of the Lord; for He commanded, and they were created. He hath also established them for ever and ever: He hath made a decree which shall not pass." That is, He hath so ordered the nature of such things, and decreed such Laws to be observed by them, as shall never be broken, but shall always be punctually observed by them; for otherwise what would become of the world? If the sun, for example, should cease to give its light; if the earth should cease to

SERM.

bring forth grass; if animals should cease to increase and multiply; the whole frame of the creation would immediately be unhinged, the world would cease to be what it is, and become a mere chaos again, a dark confused heap, without any form or order, and so would not answer the end of its creation: for the prevention whereof, God hath so firmly established this law of nature in all inanimate and mere sensible creatures, that it can never be altered, but all things naturally move and act continually, just as He at first designed and ordained they should.

But all these sorts of creatures, although they are, every one in its place and station, great monuments of the Divine perfections, exerted in the framing and government of them, yet they themselves do not know it, not being endued with any such principle whereby to reflect either upon themselves, or Him That made them: so that if there had been no other sorts of creatures made, none but God Himself could have seen His glory shining in them. Hence, therefore, He was pleased to make other creatures of such a nature as to be able to understand, acknowledge, and admire His Divine wisdom, and goodness, and power, both in themselves, and in all other creatures which He hath made: and they are Angels and men.

Of which, the first are purely intellectual or spiritual creatures, endued with power to understand and consider both the works and the commands of God, to distinguish between good and bad, what He would have them do, and what not to do, and to prefer and choose the one before the other: to whom He hath therefore given another kind of laws suitable to their nature, requiring them to consider and contemplate upon what He hath done; to acknowledge and admire the Divine perfections which He exercised in the doing of it; and to love, and honour, and praise, and glorify Him for all the goodness, and the wonderful works that He hath shewn to them; and to be ready, upon all occasions, not only to do what He commands, but to do it in pure obedience to Him: all which, the greatest part of these glorious creatures have always punctually observed; and so have always continued in His love and favour. of them swelling with the conceit of their great power, and abusing it so far as to transgress His Laws, were immediately disgraced and cast into prison, in the pit of Hell; where, although they never willingly obey His commands, yet their hands are so tied, that they can do nothing but what He permits them. By which means they also live under some kind of government, though against their wills; being so confined and restrained by Almighty God, that they can never go beyond the bounds which He hath set them.

The other sort of creatures which God hath made capable of apprehending, respecting, and owning Him in all that He hath made or done, are men, partly spiritual, and partly earthly creatures; being Angels, as it were, incorporated, or spirits united to matter, so as to make one person with it: and these God was pleased so to compose and put together, that the soul, or spiritual part, might always govern and rule over the body, or sensitive part; and so be always employed, as the holy Angels are, in loving and trusting on God, in rejoicing in Him, adoring, admiring, and praising. and giving Him thanks for His great glory and goodness, and the rest of His perfections; and in imitating of Him, as near as their finite capacities would reach, in being just, and merciful, and pure, and holy, and perfect, as He is. And so long as man continued in this state he needed no other revelation of his duty, his own natural constitution inclining him continually to think, and speak, and do as God would have him. And although, by the fall of the first man, the nature of man in general be very much disordered, and out of tune, yet there is so much still left of the first disposition, that they who have no other law, are still "a law unto themselves," in that they "do by nature the things contained in the Law," and thereby shew "the Law is written in their hearts," as the Apostle observes, Rom. ii. 14, 15. But this Law written upon the fleshly tables of man's heart, being so blotted and defaced by the fall, that none could read and understand it perfectly; God was afterwards pleased to transcribe it upon two tables of stone, in that which we now call the Decalogue, or Ten Commandments, all which are plainly nothing but a transcript of that Law which was first inscribed in man's nature, except the fourth, or last of the

first table, which God was pleased to add to the other three. by a positive command: and that seems to be the reason wherefore He requires us to remember that, saying, "Remember the Sabbath-day to keep it holy;" which is more than He saith concerning any other of His Commandments; because, that not being written in the heart, but only proclaimed in their ears, mankind might be apt to forget it, unless they had a particular caution to remember, at the return of every seventh day, that God had commanded to keep it holy. Whereas, the other being only written in our natures, we could not be said properly to remember, but to be sensible of them, or conscious to ourselves that we ought to observe them, whether we are ever put in mind of them by any one else, or no: for if we do but look into our hearts, we may there see, or rather feel ourselves bound to love and serve God, to honour our parents, and the like. But though all people have some such sense of their duty left them, yet generally it is so little, that it doth not put them upon the practice of it. And hence it is, that God promiseth in the New Covenant, to quicken and actuate it, Jer. 31. 33. saying, "I will put My Law in their inward parts and write it in their hearts." That is, He will write His Law in our hearts, as He did at first, by giving us so quick and strong a sense of our duty to Him, as shall excite and stir us up to the sincere performance of it; which He doth by expounding it to us in the Old and New Testament, and by His Holy Spirit co-operating with the means of grace, which, for that purpose, He hath settled in His Church. Law, thus written at first upon their hearts, and then upon two tables of stone, and explained in the Old Testament by the Prophets, in the New by Christ and His Apostles; by this Law, I say, it is, that God governs and will judge mankind; and therefore by it He may be properly said to reign over this lower world, the earth, and all the inhabitants thereof.

> 4. The next thing I promised to consider, is, the form of that government which the Lord exerciseth; how and after what manner it is that He reigns over the world. Which I must confess to be a very hard question, yea, impossible to be perfectly resolved by any, much more by us in our im-

perfect state; every thing relating to this Divine government being matter of wonder rather than of discourse and ratiocination. For it is not like the government of any city, or nation, or kingdom, upon earth, but quite of another nature; and that, too, so high, mysterious, and Divine, that although we be continually subject to it, we can apprehend but very little of it. David himself, in this very place, having asserted, that "the Lord reigneth," he adds in the next verse, that "clouds and darkness are round about Him;" intimating that He reigns so insensibly and unintelligibly to us, that we are all in the dark about the way and manner of His reigning: insomuch that the great Apostle himself, considering His wonderful way of working in the world, was forced to cry out & βάθος, "O the depth Rom. 11.33. of the riches both of the wisdom and knowledge of God! how unsearchable are His judgments, and His ways past finding out!" Which may be truly asserted, not only of the amazing revolutions of kingdoms and empires, and other great affairs of the world, but even of those which we think little and common: for those things which seem little or common to us, are managed and ordered by the same infinite wisdom and power that ordereth and manageth the greatest and rarest things in the world, yea the whole world And, could we take a fair prospect of them, we itself. should see the same Divine perfections shining forth in one thing as well as another. But, alas! we are so shortsighted, that we can perceive but very little of the most plain and obvious things that are before us; and at the best, but only the surface, and some few circumstances belonging to them. We cannot look so far as into the nature of any one thing, much less behold the rare contexture and dependence of one thing upon another; how every thing concurs to the preservation of all things, and all things to the good of every thing. Least of all are we able to reach so high as to behold the hand that moves this great chain of second causes, so as to make all and every thing produce what He pleaseth: and if we offer at it, we are presently at a loss, amazed, confounded at the infinite height of it, and His wonderful ways of working together with all things so infinitely below Him. And therefore expect not that I should

Digitized by Google

SERM. CIV.

give you any particular account of God's way and method in governing the world; or how it is that He reigns over it: but you must content yourselves with such general notions of it, as may affect your hearts with joy and gladness for it; such as these,

- I. He reigns absolutely, without control, receiving His power from none, nor being accountable to any for the exercise of it; for He hath it immediately from Himself, or rather He hath it all originally, essentially in Himself: His power being indeed the same with His will; so that He doth whatsoever He will, only by willing it should be done.
- Rom. 9. 19. And therefore the Apostle saith, "who hath resisted His will?" None certainly ever did or can resist it: for there can be no resistance without power to make it, but there is no power but what comes from God; and therefore none, be sure, can ever be exerted against Him: but, as the Psalmist
- Ps. 115. 3. saith, "He doth whatsoever He pleaseth." There is no withstanding or gainsaying of Him, all things being absolutely subject to His will and pleasure; as the Apostle inti-Rom. 9. 21. mates, where he saith, "Hath not the potter power over the
- clay, of the same lump to make one vessel unto honour, and another unto dishonour?" And, "who art thou, O man, that repliest against God? Shall the thing formed say to Him that formed it, Why hast Thou made me thus?" And
- Let the potsherd strive with the potsherd of the earth. Shall the clay say to him that fashioneth it, What makest thou? or thy work, he hath no hands." Implying, that God hath as much power over every creature, as a potter hath over the clay in his hand, to make what He will of it, and to do what He will with it: as much did I say? yea, He hath infinitely more, all things in the whole world being so perfectly at His command, that nothing can so much as subsist one moment without Him.
 - II. And hence it is, that as He reigns absolutely over all things, so likewise over every thing particularly. For we must not apprehend Him as residing only in Heaven, and from thence issuing forth His commands and commissions for the exercise of His authority in other parts of His kingdom, as earthly princes are forced to do from the place of their

residence. No; although He is pleased to unveil Himself, and shine forth in all His glory more especially in the highest Heavens, vet He Himself is actually present in every part of His Kingdom, in one as well as another, and exerciseth His power in and over every thing that is in particular, as well as over all things that are in general; insomuch that no one thing did or ever can happen in the world without His immediate order or permission: as we may see in those things which seem to us to be mere contingencies, or to fall out by chance, as we say, as not seeing any necessary cause why they should so happen; yet to God there is no such thing, for He Himself concurs to the effecting of it. What can depend more upon chance and contingency than the decision of a matter by casting lots? And yet the wise man tells us, that "the lot is cast into the lap; but the whole disposing Prov.16.33. thereof is of the Lord;" and, therefore, when the land of Canaan was "divided by lot" among the tribes of Israel, God Himself is said to have divided it: for it was He that gave to every one His inheritance. Thus, when a man is Acta 13. 19. cleaving wood, and the head of his axe happens to fall off and kill his neighbour, this may be truly brought in chancemedley, and yet it is expressly said, that "God delivered Exod. 21. him" that was slain into the other's hand. Many instances Deut. 19. 5. of the like nature might be produced to prove it; but we need go no farther to make it plain and undeniable than to the words of our blessed Saviour, where He saith, "Are not Matt.10.29, two sparrows sold for a farthing? and one of them shall not 30. fall to the ground without your Father. But the very hairs of your head are all numbered;" for, if every motion of every bird in the air be ordered, and every hair of every man's head be numbered by Almighty God, what can be, or move, or happen in the whole world without His special care and providence? Nothing, certainly; but we may, and ought most certainly, to conclude that He reigns over the world so as to order and dispose of every particular thing that happens in it according to His Own will and pleasure.

III. But whatsoever is according to God's will, be sure is good: for His will is always consonant to His infinite wisdom, whereby He contrives all things for the best, in the best manner, and to the best end that can be; but the



best end that can be, is His Own glory. This is that He propounded to Himself in the creation of the world: for He Prov. 16. 4. " made all things for Himself;" that is, for the setting forth His Own glory: and to this end every thing He made did conduce in the highest manner that it was possible for it to do, and therefore was the best that it was possible for it to be. And hence, when He had finished the creation, it is Gen. 1. 31. said, that "God saw every thing that He had made, and, behold, it was very good;" that is, every thing was the best in its kind that could be, as contributing as much as it could to the manifestation of His glory, and therefore such as He would have it to be: and the same may be said of every thing that He still doth; it is all very good, as most effectually tending to the great end for which He doth it. It is true, there are many things happen in the world which we can assign no reason for, but wonder how and why they come to pass; but He that is the first and supreme cause of them most certainly designs some great good by them, and makes them as certainly to produce it; insomuch that if any one thing should happen otherwise than it doth, it would doubtless be much worse for the world, if it did not dissolve the whole fabric. But there is no fear of that; for it is as impossible that any thing should fall out otherwise than God would have it, as it is impossible for Him to do otherwise than well, Who being goodness itself, whatsoever He doth cannot but be well done; yea the best that it was possible for it to be: and although we cannot dive into the secrets of Providence, nor understand the reasons of all the changes and chances which happen in the world, yet we must conclude in general that there is great and good reason for all and every one of them, in that they come from Him Whose works are all, like Himself, infinitely wise and good, Who never did nor can do a vain or ill thing; and therefore must be acknowledged to reign over the world both wisely and well; every thing that He doth being so wisely done that nothing can be wiser; every thing so well, that nothing can be better.

1V. Hence, also, it necessarily follows, that His reign is most perfectly just and righteous. It is true, "He hath mercy only on those on whom He will have mercy," but He

is just to all indifferently; never punishing any one more, nor rewarding any one less than he really deserves, but rather distributing His punishments so equally that none hath cause to complain, and His rewards so bountifully that every one hath cause to thank Him, and to say with David, "The Lord is righteous in all His ways, and holy in all His Ps. 145. 17. works;" which holds good in all cases without any exception whatsoever; for, as Abraham said to Him, "Shall not the Gen. 18. 25. Judge of all the earth do right?" Yes surely, He always doth that which is most strictly just and right; otherwise He would act contrary to His Own will and nature, which is the rule and standard of all justice and equity; so that He never did nor can do an unjust act: and, therefore, whatsoever happens to any particular nation or person in the world, how hard soever or severe it may seem to our corrupt imaginations, yet we must conclude it to be highly just and equitable; as in the case of Job, of whom God Himself gave this testimony, that "he was a perfect and upright man, one [Job. 1. 1.] that feared God, and eschewed evil:" and yet, nevertheless, He suffered him to be deprived of all the comforts of this life in one day. And what did Job do? Did he censure God for it? No, but it is particularly observed of Him, that "in all this Job sinned not, nor charged God foolishly:" Job. 1. 22. whereby it is intimated to us, that it is a very foolish thing indeed for any one to charge God with injustice for any thing He doth; and so certainly it is, it being as impossible for God to be unjust, as it is for Him not to be: and therefore He being so infinitely, so essentially just Himself, the great kingdom over which He reigneth must needs be governed according to the strictest rules of justice in every punctilio and circumstance relating to it.

But if so, what must we do, and the rest of mankind, who have all rebelled against this the universal Monarch of the world, and so have justly deserved the severest of His judgments to be inflicted upon us? How can we escape the hand of His justice, or avoid the punishments that are due unto us? Blessed be His Name, He Himself hath found out a way for it: for being equally wise and just, and merciful too, He by His infinite wisdom hath so contrived it, as to execute His justice upon our sins, and yet at the same time

SERM. CIV. Ps. 99. 8.

shew mercy to our persons, or as the Psalmist words it,

"forgive us, although He take vengeance of our inventions."

This is the great mystery revealed in the Gospel of Christ, which is as a court of equity, erected in this great Kingdom, on purpose to mitigate the rigour of the common law, by transferring the punishments our sins have deserved upon another, and His merits upon us for the pardon of them; by which means His justice may have its free course, and yet His mercy also be extended towards us.

For this Almighty and All-glorious Monarch of the world, having only one Son, begotten of His Own Essence from all eternity, and so of the same Divine Nature or Substance with Himself, He was pleased to send Him into this lower world to take the nature of man upon Him, and in it to suffer all the punishments that were due to the sins of mankind, even of all that partake of that nature which He assumed and in which He suffered; Who is therefore said to have "tasted death for every man." But He Who thus suffered being both God and man in one Person, although He suffered only in His human nature, yet that nature being at the same time united to His Divine Person, His said sufferings were really more and of greater value than the sufferings of all mankind could have been, although every man had undergone the punishment due to his sins to all eternity: for all their sufferings, how many, how great, how long soever they were, could have been no more than the sufferings of finite creatures; whereas, those which He underwent were the sufferings of a Person that is infinite, and therefore could not but be as much as the justice of God could require for the sins of all mankind: and therefore He 1 John 2.2. is said to be a " propitiation for our sins, and not for ours only, but for the sins of the whole world;" that is, He, by the one oblation of Himself once offered, hath made so full, perfect and sufficient sacrifice, oblation, and satisfaction for the sins of all mankind, that God may now be justly propitious to them, or so merciful as to pardon their sins and receive them into His favour again, without any violation of His justice: for, that being now fully satisfied by Christ's suffering in our nature, it cannot be violated by remitting the punishments which were due to our persons: but God

may justly acquit and discharge us from all our sins, and advance us to the same degree of honour and happiness, as He would have done if we had never offended Him. And hence it is that His government is so mild and gentle, so gracious and merciful, even to His rebellious subjects upon earth, which otherwise must all have died as they are born in sin, and so have been miserable for ever; whereas, now, there are none of them but who, by the means of what Christ hath done and suffered for them, may find so much mercy at the hands of God as to be absolved from all their sins and restored to the love and favour of God, and in Him enjoy a perpetual rest and felicity, the highest their nature is capable of. Neither doth He require any great matter of us in order to it, no more than what we may easily do; for all that He requires of us, is only "to repent and believe the [Mark 1. Gospel;" that is, to do what we can ourselves to leave off our [5.] former sins, and to put our whole trust and confidence in this our Almighty Saviour, for grace to live a new life, for God's acceptance of our sincere though imperfect endeavours to serve Him, for the pardon of all that we have done amiss. for God's receiving us into His favour here, and into the Kingdom of Heaven hereafter; all which, if we truly believe in Christ, He will most faithfully perform to us, according to the promises He hath made us to that purpose: insomuch, that upon the account of His merits and constant intercession for us, God is always ready to be propitious and merciful to us, and as kind and gracious as if He had never been offended with us. And, indeed, as no mercy would ever have been shewn to any man without Christ, so by Him there is no mercy whatsoever but any man upon the terms beforesaid may have it; Almighty God, for His sake, being so far reconciled to mankind, that all men receive some mercies at His hands, and some all they can desire. So that the government which He exerciseth over this lower part of His kingdom, even upon earth, is altogether as merciful, as it is just and righteous.

III. Having thus considered the extent of that kingdom over which the LORD reigneth, by what laws, and after what manner He reigneth over it; it will be easy to shew, what I promised in the last place, how the latter part of my

Digitized by Google

SERM. text follows upon the former; even that, seeing "the Lord reigneth," therefore the "earth" may well "rejoice, and the multitudes of the isles be glad thereof;" or that it is matter of great joy to all the inhabitants of this lower world that the Lord reigneth. For here, by the "earth, and the multitude of the isles," we are to understand all mankind living here below, whether upon the continent or main land, here called the earth, or in any of the many islands that are in the seas; wheresoever they live, whatsoever kindred or family they are of, whatsoever state or condition they are in, whether Jew or Gentile, bond or free, rich or poor, male or female, they have all cause to "rejoice and be glad, that the Lord reigneth." It is true, at that time the Jews were His peculiar people, and therefore He reigned over them in a peculiar manner: but the royal prophet in this place takes no notice of that, but speaks only of that universal authority which He exerciseth over the whole world, wherein all mankind are equally concerned, as being all equally made and maintained by Him, and also redeemed by the blood of His only-begotten Son, in "Whom," as the Apostle speaks, "all are one," and so are equally interested in the mercifulness, as well as in the justice of His government. And, indeed, the Psalmist here seems to have a particular respect to this, as, without which, the inhabitants of the earth would have no more cause to rejoice that "the Lord reigneth" than the devils in Hell have, who can never hope for any mercy at His hands; forasmuch as Christ took not on Him the nature of Angels, but the seed of Abraham. And that seems to be the reason that the Psalmist mentions only the earth, and the isles belonging to it, not those regions of darkness which we call Hell; the inhabitants whereof have no cause to rejoice, but rather to be troubled, as they doubtless are, that "the Lord reigneth," by reason of that justice and severity He continually executeth upon them for their rebellions against Him. But as for mankind, who inhabit the earth, and the isles about it, it must be matter of unspeak-John 3. 16. able joy to them that He reigns Who "so loved them, that He gave His only-begotten Son, that whosoever of them believeth in Him, might not perish, but have everlasting Rom. 8. 32. life." For, as the Apostle rightly argues, "He that spared

Digitized by Google

not His Own Son, but delivered Him up for us all, how shall He not with Him also freely give us all things?" And seeing He, Who is thus infinitely kind and merciful to mankind, reigns over all the whole world, well might the Psalmist say, "Let the earth rejoice, let the multitudes of the isles be glad thereof."

And certainly nothing in the world can raise up our souls to so high a pitch of joy and comfort as a firm belief and due consideration of this great truth, that "the Lord reigneth:" as we may easily perceive, if we do but consider, that our souls being of a pure and spiritual nature, they are apt of themselves to be cheerful and pleasant, singing, and praising, and rejoicing in Him that made them; and would always be so if they were not hindered and diverted by false ideas and representations of external objects, which the serious consideration of this great truth would either remove or rectify. There are two things especially that deprive the soul of true joy and comfort, and make it often sad and disconsolate; and they are, the apprehension of some future danger, and the sense of some present trouble; both which will be corrected or dispersed by this one consideration duly weighed.

First, therefore, we are apt to be affrighted and cast down at the apprehension of some imminent danger, or some great affliction or calamity that we think ready to fall upon us. If we apprehend any potent and malicious enemies upon earth, striving all they can to undermine and ruin us; this puts us into such frights and fears, that we can take no comfort in our very friends, but are apt to say with David, " I shall now perish one day by the hand of Saul." If we 1Sam.27.1. apprehend any great revolutions in the Church or State we live in, that are likely to turn all things upside down, this puts us also into such confusion and disorder as leaves no room for joy or satisfaction in our own private enjoyments. If we apprehend any great loss in our estates, or any likelihood that we may be reduced to want and penury, this suppresseth our spirits so that we can take no pleasure in what we still possess, nor in the hopes we have that it will be continued to us. If we apprehend the powers of Hell let loose upon us, and Satan standing at our right hand ready

SERM. to devour us, this disquiets and disturbs our minds so that CIV. all things seem black and melancholy about us. If we apprehend any dangerous distemper seizing upon us, and threatening to carry us into the other world, this deprives us of all manner of comfort, and makes us spend the residue of our days in grief and sadness; yea, in horror and confusion of mind.

But now a constant belief and persuasion that "the Lord reigneth" will rectify these, and such like false apprehensions of things, and so prevent our being troubled or disquieted about them. For what if we have never so many, and so powerful enemies? What if they conspire together to take away your good name, your estates, your liberty, or your life itself? remember, "the Lord reigneth, and if He be for you, who can be against you?" If He protect you, what harm can fall upon you? He hath the hearts of all your enemies in His hand, and their designs always under His eye, and can wind and turn them as He sees good; He can abate their pride, assuage their malice, and confound their devices against you: He can prevent the mischief they hatch against you, or alter the nature of it so as to make it really good and profitable for you; He can tie up their hands that they cannot act, their tongues that they cannot speak, yea, their very hearts, that they cannot so much as imagine any evil against you: for He reigns over the whole world, and therefore over them, so that they can neither act, nor speak, nor think, nor will, nor love, nor hate, nor stir one jot without Him. This is that which made David rejoice Ps. 27, 1-3, and triumph in the midst of all his enemies: "The Lord," saith he," is my Light and my Salvation; whom then should I fear? The Lord is the strength of my life; of whom shall I be afraid? When the wicked, even mine enemies and my foes came upon me to eat up my flesh, they stumbled

heart shall not fear; though war should rise against me, Ps. 46. 1-3, in this will I be confident." "God is our refuge and strength, a very present help in trouble. Therefore will we not fear, though the earth be removed, and though the mountains be carried into the midst of the sea; though the waters thereof roar and are troubled; though the moun-

and fell. Though an host should encamp against me, my

tains shake with the swelling thereof." "In God will I ps. 56. 10, praise His Word, in the Lord will I praise His Word. 11. In God have I put my trust, I will not be afraid what man can do unto me:" as if he had said in short, "The Lord reigneth;" therefore I will not fear any mortal men, but rejoice and be glad in Him continually.

And what if storms and tempests should be even raised against the Church, as they lately were, threatening its ruin and destruction? What need we fear, seeing "He reigneth," Who hath built it upon a rock, and promised that "the gates of Hell should not prevail against it?" [Matt. 16. What then "if the Heathen rage, and the people imagine Ps. 2. 1, 4. a vain thing? He that sitteth in the Heavens shall laugh them to scorn, the Lord shall have them in derision." And what if a dark cloud, full of vengeance and fury, hang over the nation or city where we dwell? And what if it should seem ready every moment to empty itself upon us? What need we regard that, when "the Lord reigneth, Who holdeth all the clouds in a balance, and can disperse them with the breath of His nostrils," or send them where He pleaseth? "Who stilleth the raging of the sea, and the noise of His Ps. 65. 7. waves, and the madness of the people." Who can bring light out of darkness, good out of evil, order out of confusion, and hath promised to do so for His Own people.

But some perhaps may not be concerned so much for the public, as for their own private affairs, being apprehensive of a great decay in their trade, disappointments in their hopes, and losses in their estates, whereby they may be brought into extreme poverty. But why should any one fear that? "The Lord reigneth, Who giveth fodder to the Ps. 147. 9. cattle, and feedeth the young ravens that call upon Him." "Behold then the fowls of the air; for they sow not, neither Matt. 6. 26. do they reap, nor gather into barns, yet your Heavenly Father feedeth them: and are not ye much better than they?" Behold, what care He takes of the whole creation! How every thing subsists in Him, and by Him! How constantly He measures out to every one such a proportion of temporal blessings as He knows to be best for them! Why then should you fear, lest you should be exempted from that

SERM.

general provision He makes for all His creatures? Why rather do ye not rejoice that "the Lord reigneth," and say, Hab. 3. 17, and sing continually with the Prophet, "Although the figtree shall not blossom, neither shall fruit be in the vines; the labour of the olive shall fail, and the fields shall yield no meat; the flocks shall be cut off from the fold, and there shall be no herd in the stalls; yet I will rejoice in the Lord, I will joy in the God of my Salvation."

But there are others to whom all these temporal troubles seem, as they are, even as nothing, in comparison of the great danger their souls are in, especially from that subtle, inveterate, and implacable enemy of mankind, the Devil, 1 Pet. 5. 8. "who goes about like a roaring lion, seeking whom he may

And it cannot be denied, but that his cunning is as great

devour."

as his power, and his malice as either, so that he takes, or makes occasion continually to ensuare and destroy men. But what then? It is not He, but the Lord that reigneth, and that reigneth over him, as well as over any of His other creatures: yea, and keeps him perpetually in chains and fetters, that he cannot move a foot or hand, until he hath first obtained leave of the Lord of Hosts; as we see not only in Job, but also in that remarkable history in the Mark 5. 13. Gospel, where a whole legion of devils were forced to come out of a man at Christ's command, and could not so much as enter into swine till He had given them leave to do it. What then, if all the devils in Hell should set themselves against one man, and employ all their agents upon earth, as witches, and wizards, and such like wretched creatures, to destroy or hurt him? They may as well undertake to dissolve the whole creation, as do him the least mischief imaginable, without God's permission: as Balaam found by Numb. 23. experience, and therefore said, "Surely there is no enchantment against Jacob, neither is there any divination against Israel." No, if a man live in the true faith and fear of God, the Devil may grin at him, and shew his teeth, but can do him no more hurt than a dog doth to the moon, when he barks at it: for such an one lives on high, far above

the Devil's reach, under the immediate protection of Him

Digitized by Google

that reigneth over the whole world, and keeps all the powers of Hell in as much subjection, as the weakest insects upon earth.

And what if we should, as ere long we shall, be seized by some mortal distemper, that by degrees will dissolve "these [2 Cor. 5. earthly tabernacles" we now live in, and make them unfit for our souls to inhabit any longer? "The Lord reigneth," He always reigneth, He never dies nor decays, but is continually the same, health in sickness, strength in weakness, life in death itself. Which therefore will be so far from doing us any hurt, that it will but bring us nearer to our chiefest good, and possess us with a clearer vision, and more perfect fruition of His eternal Godhead, Who is the only joy, and crown, and glory, and happiness, and life of our immortal souls. And then we shall fully experience what cause we have to "rejoice and be glad that the Lord reigneth."

"That the Lord reigneth!" Methinks the very repeating of these words is sufficient, not only to support our spirits against the fear of all future danger, but also to rejoice and delight our hearts in the midst of trouble: for seeing He reigneth, whatsoever our trouble be, we may be confident that He is in it, to bless and sanctify it to us, to comfort us under it, to make us better by it, and in His good time to ease us of it. "For whom the Lord loveth He chasteneth, Heb. 12. 6. and scourgeth every son whom He receiveth. And He never chasteneth us for His Own pleasure, but only for our own profit, that we might be partakers of His holiness." And what a mighty comfort is this in all our troubles, that they come from the love of God, and are designed by Him to make us like unto Himself, holy as He is holy! Whereby our very troubles afford us real matter of comfort, the highest we can ever have, comfort in God Himself. And we may always say with David, "In the multitude of my Ps. 94. 19. thoughts within me Thy comforts delight my soul." "This Ps. 119. 50, is my comfort in mine affliction; for Thy Word hath quick-52. ened me. I remembered Thy judgments of old, O Lord; and have comforted myself."

Thus, when Shimei cursed king David, the king was so far from being discomposed and disturbed at it, that he

Digitized by Google

comforted himself with this, "That it was the Lord's doing, SERM. and that He would turn it to good. Let him alone," saith he, "and let him curse, for the Lord hath bidden him. It may be that the Lord will look on mine affliction, and the Lord will requite me good for his cursing this day." Thus when Job was deprived of all his children and his whole estate in one day, he comforted himself with this, that it was the Lord that did it: "The Lord gave, and the Lord hath taken away; blessed be the Name of the Lord." Thus also, when old Eli heard that his house and family should be 1 Sam.3.18. destroyed, he said, "It is the Lord; let Him do what seemeth Him good;" implying, that what God doth, must needs be good, and therefore he could not but submit to it, and be thankful for it; as that which God Himself knew to be really good, and would make it so to him. Thus, whatsoever happens, we have still cause to "rejoice and be glad, that the Lord reigneth," that it is He that doth it, and therefore it cannot but be well done. And with this we may and ought to comfort ourselves in all the occurrences of this mortal life, how grievous soever, at first sight, they may seem unto us.

As, for example, are we brought into such straits and difficulties, that we know not which way to take, nor what to do, whereby to extricate ourselves? "The Lord reigneth." He brought us into them; He will carry us through them; He will do us good by them; and then He will bring us out of them again. Do we want the necessaries or conveniences of this present life, as meat, drink, and clothing, for ourselves and families? "The Lord reigneth;" He knows it is not convenient for us at present to have conveniences, but rather necessary for us to want those things which are necessary for other people: and when they become so to us, He will supply us with them: for "the earth is the Lord's, and the fulness thereof." Are we cursed, reproached, and slandered by our neighbours? "The Lord reigneth;" He bade them, or at least permitted them to do it, to exercise our patience, and make us humble; and when they have had their due effect upon us, He will turn their cursings into blessings, their reproachings to our honour, and all their slanders into matter of joy and triumph. Are we hated and contemned by all about us? "The Lord

Ps. 24. 1.



reigneth," and therefore would not suffer it, but that their hatred is better for us than their love would be, and their contempt will do us more good than ever their honour or high esteem could do. Have we lost the best friends or the dearest relations we had in this world? "The Lord reigneth," the best, the greatest, the surest Friend we ever had, or can have, in all the world; and we can never lose Him, for "He will never leave or forsake us." Do we lan- [Heb. 13. guish under some chronical distemper, that fills our bodies with aches and pains, or makes them consume or pine away? "The Lord reigneth;" He sent these distempers into our bodies to cure the distempers of our souls; He fills us with pain, to keep us from sin, and causes our flesh to decay, that the sense of our weakness may add "strength to our faith, and seriousness to our repentance." Are we afflicted with some acute disease that will certainly part our souls and bodies in sunder? "The Lord reigneth," and will then take us to reign with Him, and to enjoy Him for ever. Are we still troubled with the reliques of sin within us, and ready every moment to be overcome by them? "The Lord reigneth," and will not suffer sin to reign any longer in our mortal bodies, that we "should obey it in the lusts thereof." Rom. 6. 12. Thus nothing can happen to the trouble and disturbance of our minds, but this is still our comfort, that "the Lord reigneth;" so that we may always say with David, "Why Ps. 42. 11. art thou cast down, O my soul, and why art thou disquieted within me? Hope thou in God; for I shall yet praise Him, Who is the health of my countenance, and my God." The LORD, the LORD GOD Omnipotent reigneth; God the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Ghost reigneth; infinite Wisdom, and Power, and Goodness, and Justice, and Love, and Mercy reigneth; JEHOVAH reigneth; He reigneth over all, and every thing in the whole world; "Let the earth rejoice, let the multitude of the isles be glad thereof."

But some perhaps may say, It is true indeed, this is certainly a great cause of joy to all people, and to us as well as to any other; and we should be very happy if we could always rejoice at it: but we find by experience, that our own minds are often so dejected and cast down, that

SERM. nothing will raise them up again; no, not the consideration of God's general and special Providence over the world, and over us particularly. What therefore must we do, to bring our minds into such a frame, that we may always rejoice in the Lord, and be glad that He reigneth?

> To this I answer, that in order thereunto, it is first necessary that you avoid whatsoever you know to be offensive to this the Almighty Governor of the world, or contrary to His revealed will: otherwise, instead of rejoicing that He reigneth, you will be troubled at it, being conscious to yourselves that you lie under His displeasure, and may justly expect to feel the sad effects of it every moment. Neither is it enough that you avoid the outward acts of sin, but you must get your hearts purged from all corrupt and sinful affections, and made in some measure "holy and pure, as He is:" otherwise, you will not be capable of discerning that infinite wisdom and goodness which He exerciseth in the government of the world, and so can take

Matt. 5. 8. no comfort in it: for none but "the pure in heart can see God," all others living in the dark, as without God in the world, having no due sense of Him or His government upon their hearts; and then it is no wonder that they are not affected with it, nor delighted in it: wherefore, if you desire to take pleasure, as you ought, in the dispensations

2 Cor. 7. 1. of Divine Providence, you must "cleanse yourselves from all filthiness, both of flesh and spirit, perfecting holiness in the fear of God." And then, being rightly disposed for it, God Himself will manifest Himself unto you, as His Only-

John 14.21. begotten Son hath assured us, saying, "He that hath My Commandments, and keepeth them, he it is that loveth Me; and he that loveth Me shall be loved of My Father, and I will love him, and will manifest Myself unto him." And when God is once pleased to unveil and manifest Himself unto you, then you will soon behold the beauty and glory that shines forth in all His works, and be highly ravished and delighted with it.

> But for that end, you must look upon this Almighty Being, not only as reigning over the world in general, but as One in Whom yourselves have a particular interest,

through the merits and intercession of His beloved Son, Jesus Christ, steadfastly believing and trusting on Him to reconcile this infinite and all-glorious Monarch to you, that He may be your God, your Guide, your Governor, your Father, and so that whatsoever He doth, is really for your good and advantage; which will not only afford you constant matter of rejoicing, but will make you actually to rejoice and be glad that He reigneth, to Whom you yourselves are so nearly related, and with Whom you have so sure a friend as His Only-begotten Son, "Who loves you, [Gal. 2.20.] and gave Himself for you."

But in order to the purifying our hearts by such a faith, whereby we may be duly qualified and disposed to rejoice continually, and to "be glad" that "the Lord reigneth," we must be sure to converse as much as possibly we can with Him in the use of those means which He hath appointed, whereby to make known Himself to us, and to incline our hearts to Him. We must take all opportunities of praying to Him, and of praising His holy Name, and of reading and hearing His most holy Word, and of receiving the mystical Body and Blood of His beloved Son: by which means, duly sincerely, and constantly performed, our souls by degrees will be possessed and filled with a due sense of His Divine wisdom and goodness, and the rest of those infinite perfections which He displayeth in the government of the world. and in the ordering and disposal of all and every thing that is in it; and then we shall behold, admire, and rejoice in every thing that He doth, and in Him that doth it. therefore we must strive to do, not only now and then, but continually, so as to have Him and His wondrous works always in our thoughts; still thinking with ourselves, when any thing happens to us, or to any other, "This is the [Ps. 118. Lord's doing, and it is marvellous in our eyes." "The Lord 23.] reigneth," it is He that hath done this, and therefore I am sure it is wisely and well done. It is my Lord, it is my God and Father that hath brought this to pass, "I will rejoice and be glad in Him, I will praise and magnify His Name for it." By thus accustoming ourselves to call God to mind upon all occasions, and to look upon Him as the



SERM. First Cause of all things, we shall soon learn the Divine art of taking comfort in every thing that happens in the world, one as well as another, so as never to be thoughtful or solicitous about what may, nor troubled for what doth, fall out; but in the midst of all the changes and vicissitudes of this mortal life, still to say and sing, not only with our mouths, but from the very bottom of our hearts, "The LORD reigneth, let the earth rejoice, let the multitude of the isles be glad thereof."

SERMON CV.

GOD'S OMNIPRESENCE THE BEST GUARD AGAINST SIN.

PSALM XVI. 8.

I have set the Lord always before me: because He is at my right hand, I shall not be moved.

As we are all conceived and born, so naturally we all live SERM. in sin; our whole lives being nothing else, in a manner, butone continued sin against Him in Whom we live; against Almighty God Who made us, and Who made us on purpose that we might glorify, serve, and worship Him, by observing those wise and good laws which He for that purpose hath prescribed to us: whereas we cannot but be conscious to ourselves that we have either totally neglected, or else transgressed, or at least come so far short of all His said laws, that we have not punctually observed any one of them, since we came into the world, to this day; but have rather "followed the devices and desires of our own sinful hearts," and have been hurried about by our corrupt humours and passions, which carry us headlong directly contrary to the rules which God hath set us; so that we are always either "doing what we ought not to do, or not doing what we ought," or at least not so as we ought to do it; and so no way answer the end of our creation, but live to no purpose in the world, but rather to a very ill one: for instead of serving and glorifying our Great Creator, we live in open rebellion against Him, and do what we can to reproach and dishonour His Sacred Name; which is so offensive and displeasing to His Divine Majesty, that it is no wonder that He so orders it in His Providence, that we meet with many troubles and crosses in the world.

SERM. CV. rather a wonder that we meet with no more: for if He should punish us according as our sins deserve, He might justly strip us of all the mercies we enjoy, and inflict all manner of judgments upon us: He may justly divest us of our estates, and reduce us to the extremity of want and poverty: He may justly deprive us of our health, and cause us to lie languishing upon a sick-bed all our days: He may justly take all our friends and relations from us, or make them enemies and scourges to us: He may justly blast our credit and reputation in the world, and make us the scorn and derision of all that are about us: yea, He may justly condemn us immediately to everlasting shame and torment, and not suffer us to breathe any longer in His air, or tread any longer upon His earth, but command us to go out of this place into the infernal pit, "where the worm dieth not, and the fire is not quenched." If He should lay any, or all of these punishments upon us, we must still acknowledge Him to be "just in all His ways, and righteous in all His judgments:" for we have sinned against Him, and therefore lie perfectly at His mercy: He may do with us what He pleases, and if He should execute the severity of His wrath upon us, it is no more than what our iniquities have deserved from Him.

[Mark 9. 44.]

> Now, this being our present state and condition by nature. it cannot surely but be worth the while to bethink ourselves what to do in it, and to consider, whether there may not be some way found out whereby we may, at least in some measure, keep ourselves from those sins which we have hitherto been so apt to fall into, and so prevent those many and great judgments, which God hath threatened, and may justly every moment inflict upon us for them. thing is possible to be done we know, because others have done it before us: and that we are as capable of doing it as they were, we know likewise, because we have the same power and means to do it, as they had. The only question is, what course they took for the effecting of it; and by consequence, what course we must take, if we desire to do it effectually. For this, therefore, our best way will be to consult such of whom we are fully assured that they really did it; amongst whom we cannot but acknowledge David

to have been one of the most eminent, as being able to say, by the Spirit of Truth itself bearing witness with him, " I Ps. 18.23. was also upright before God, and I kept myself from mine iniquity," and who therefore elsewhere saith, " I will not be Ps. 3. 6. afraid of ten thousands of people, that have set themselves against me round about." "Yea, though I walk through Ps. 23. 4. the valley of the shadow of death, I will fear no evil." But how did David thus keep himself from sin, yea, from his own, his beloved sin, so as to fear no evil that could befall him for it? What course did he take? What method did he use for the doing of it? To understand that, we need go no farther than my text, wherein he plainly acquaints us with it, saying, "I have set the Lord always before me: because He is on my right hand, I shall not be moved." As if he had said, Although by nature I am very apt to be moved from my duty into sin, and so into all the troubles which attend it, yet I keep myself from it, by setting the Lord always before me; for so long as He is at my right hand, I am sure not to be moved, so as to fall either into sin. or any real misery.

This therefore being the great means that David used, and found so effectual in this case, I shall endeavour to explain it more particularly to you; and for that purpose shall consider,

- I. What it is properly to set the Lord always before us.
- II. How much this conduceth to our continuing steadfast both in our duty to God, and in His love and favour towards us, so as not to be moved either to do or suffer any real evil in the world.
- I. In speaking to the first, I suppose I need not tell you whom we are here to understand by the Lord; even the Lord of Hosts, the Most Mighty and Eternal God, Who made all things by the power of His word, Who upholdeth all things by the word of His power, and ordereth all things in the world according to the pleasure of His Own will; Who is not only infinitely wise, and powerful, and great, and just, and merciful, and good, and glorious in all perfections, but Infinite Wisdom, and Power, and Greatness, and Justice, and Mercy, and Goodness, and Glory, and Perfection itself: such Infinite Wisdom, that in every thing

SERM. He doth He proposeth the best ends, chooseth the best means, and useth them in the best manner that can be: such Infinite Power, that He can do what He will, by willing it to be done: such Infinite Greatness, that He comprehendeth all things, and is comprehended of nothing: such Infinite Justice, that He punishes every sin that is committed: such Infinite Mercy, that He pardoneth every sinner that repenteth: such Infinite Goodness, that every thing He is, or doth, or makes, is good; yea, the best that it is possible for it to be: so that His goodness is over all His works: such Infinite Glory, that He displays Himself, and shines forth in, upon, through, and beyond all the creatures in Heaven and earth: such Infinite Perfection, that as He hath infinite perfections in Him, so every perfection in Him is infinite: and therefore, when we speak of the Lord, we are not to apprehend Him as like to any thing we know, but as One infinitely greater, and higher, and better, and holier than any thing that we are able to comprehend; in comparison of Whom, nothing else is great, or high, or good, or holy, or any thing at all. This is the Lord, that Almighty God Whom David did,

> not before us unless we set Him there, nor yet as if we could set Him before us more than He really is; but we are said to set the Lord before us, when we actually believe, and are fully persuaded, that He is with us, and sees us, as He really is and doth continually; when we exercise that faith, which, as the Apostle saith, " is the evidence of things not seen," and so possesseth us with as firm a confidence and as great a certainty that God is present with us, as that any thing we see is so, although we cannot perceive Him by any of our senses: as Job observed of Him, saying, "Lo, He goeth by me, and I see Him not; He passeth on also. but I perceive Him not." And the reason is, because our senses cannot perceive any thing but their own respective objects, which are all matter diversely put together, modified, and agitated so as that each of them may move and affect its proper sense, or that part of our bodies which is fitted for it, by being so composed and ordered, that it is apt to be

> affected with such particular impressions as are made upon

and we ought, always to set before us: not as if He were

[Heb. 11. 1.]

Job 9. 11.

it, and no other. And hence it is that no sensible object can be perceived by any other than its own proper sense; we can no more see a sound or hear a colour, than as if there was no such thing in nature.

But now, God being a most simple and pure Spirit, and so having no body nor matter in Him, He is not a proper object for any of our bodily senses, and therefore can be no more perceived by them, than as if there were no such being in the world. But is there no way then whereby it is possible to perceive Him? Yes, surely; we may and ought to perceive Him by that spiritual sense, as I may call it, which He hath implanted in us, suitable to His Own nature, even by a firm and steadfast belief in Him, whereby we are as fully persuaded that He is, as that we are; and that He is wheresoever we are, as that we ourselves are there: for this we are fully assured of from His Own mouth, saying, "Hea- Isa. 66. 1. ven is My throne, and earth is My footstool," and, "Can any Jer. 23. 24. one hide himself in secret places that I shall not see him, saith the Lord? Do not I fill Heaven and earth, saith the Lord?" And by His Holy Spirit, speaking in David, and saying unto Him, "Thou hast beset me behind and before, Ps. 139. 5, and laid Thine hand upon me. Whither shall I go from Thy Spirit? or whither shall I flee from Thy presence? If I ascend up into Heaven, Thou art there; if I make my bed in Hell, behold, Thou art there. If I take the wings of the morning, and dwell in the uttermost parts of the sea; even there shall Thy hand lead me, and Thy right hand shall hold me." Neither are we assured of this only by His Word, but likewise His works; for "all things were made," and all things are continually preserved and governed "by Him," and therefore nothing be sure can be remote or distant from Him: it is in Him "we live, and move, and have our being;" and there- [Acts 17. fore, it is impossible that we should either live, or move, or 28.] be any where but where He is: for, to suppose ourselves to be where God is not, is to suppose ourselves to be and not to be at the same time; for our very being is in Him, and depends altogether upon His presence with us, and so giving existence to us; insomuch, that should He withdraw His presence from us but one moment, we should in that moment drop down to nothing, and so cease to be: and therefore, nothing

 $\mathsf{Digitized}\,\mathsf{by}\,Google$

SERM. can be more present to us than God is, nor indeed so much; He being not only always with us, but in us, and we in Him.

And seeing God is always thus present with us, and in us, we are thereby assured, likewise, that He being all wisdom and knowledge, must needs be intimately acquainted with every thing we do, with every thing we speak, and with every thing we think, or will, or nill, or desire, or abhor; even with all the several affections, and inclinations of our souls, as well as with the several actions, gestures, or motions of Ps. 94. 11. our bodies: as David saith, "The Lord knoweth the thoughts

of man, that they are vanity." "He saw," before the flood, Gen. 6. 5. " that the wickedness of man was great upon the earth, and that every imagination of the thoughts of his heart was only evil continually." Which He could not have done, had He not seen every thought of every man's heart in the whole world, which He doth more plainly than any man knows what he himself thinks; which, therefore, every man ought

Ps. 139.1-4. to be constantly assured of, as David was when he said, "O Lord, Thou hast searched me and known me. Thou knowest my down-sitting and mine uprising; Thou understandest my thoughts afar off. Thou compasseth my path and my lying down, and art acquainted with all my ways. For there is not a word in my tongue, but lo, O Lord, Thou knowest it altogether." And as there is no man, nor any thing in man, so neither

is there any creature, that is not manifest in His sight: for " all things are naked and opened unto the eyes of Him with Whom we have to do;" as we read, Heb. iv. 13. creatures have to do with God, and He with them: and whether they know Him or no, be sure He always knows them, and takes particular notice not only of all things in general, but of every thing particularly: as He did at the Gen. 1. 31. beginning of the world, when it is said, that "God saw every thing that He had made, and, behold, it was very good." So He doth to this day: He continually looks upon every thing that is, what it is, and where it is, and whether it be good or evil: He every moment sees every Angel and glorified Saint in Heaven; every devil and damned soul in Hell; every fowl in the air; every fish in the sea; every animal, and whatsoever also is upon or within the earth, from

the highest to the lowest, from the greatest to the least thing Matt.10.30. that is. And among other things, He sees every one of us particularly, and knows every thing that every one of us ever thought, or spake, or did, since we were born, to this moment; and at this moment He looks into every one of our hearts, and sees what we are thinking, and how we are affected with what we hear concerning Him: and so He doth as to every man, woman, and child, that ever was, or at this day is upon the face of the earth. How well then may we here cry out with David, "Such knowledge is too Ps. 139. 6. wonderful for me; it is high, I cannot attain unto it;" and with St. Paul, "O the depth of the riches both of the wisdom Rom.11.33. and knowledge of God! How unsearchable are His judgments, and His ways past finding out."

From hence, therefore, it appears, what ground we have to believe that God is always certainly present with us, so as perfectly to know every action and circumstance of our whole lives: and so long as we actually think upon, and really believe this, so long we may be truly said to " set the Lord before us:" and such a persuasion as this will have the same force and power upon us, as if we saw Him with our eyes. But that it may have its whole effect towards the keeping of us from being moved, we are farther to observe, that by JEHOVAH, the LORD, we are here to understand, as the Divine nature in general, so each Divine Person subsisting in it, the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost, they being all equally one and the same JEHOVAH, the LORD. And, therefore, in order to our setting the Lord before us as we ought, we must believe that all and every one of these Divine Persons is always present with us.

First, we are to believe that God the Father is always present with us as such, even as He is the God and Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, and in Him our God and Father, as Christ Himself hath assured us, saying, "I ascend unto John 20.17. My Father, and your Father; and to My God, and your God." And therefore commands us, wheresoever we are, to Matt. 6.9. address ourselves to Him as our Father, saying, "Our Father Which art in Heaven." And soon after tells us, that our "Heavenly Father seeth in secret, and knows what ver. 18.32. things we have need of." Whereby He plainly signifies

ch. 11. 14.

ch. 13.11.

ch. 21. 17. ch. 2, 24,

His pleasure, that He would have us set God before us, under that consideration and relation to us, as He is our Father; which will contribute much towards our not being moved at any thing that shall happen to us.

And as we are to believe God the Father, so likewise God the Son, to be always with us, even the Eternal Son of God, Who was pleased to become the son of man too, by assuming our human nature into His Divine Person, so as to be both God and man in one and the same person: by which means, although the human nature which He assumed never was or can be in any more than one place at once, yet the same Divine Person, to which that nature is united, always was, and is, and ever will be in all places, and know all things in Heaven and earth. And therefore we read, that when He was in His mortal body upon earth, He was at the same John 3. 13. time in Heaven, and every where. He knew the very Matt.18.20. Matt. 9. 4; thoughts of the Scribes and Pharisees. He saw Nathaniel under the fig-tree, and knew his heart so well, as to say, he John 1. 47. was an "Israelite indeed, in whom there was no guile." He knew that the woman of Samaria that talked with Him ch. 4. 17, 18. had had five husbands, although she herself said she "had never a one." He knew that Lazarus was dead before any body had told Him so. He knew which of His Disciples intended to betray Him, for all that he endeavoured to keep it from Him as much as he could. Yea, St. Peter appealed to His omniscience, whether he did not love Him, saying to our Saviour, "Lord, Thou knowest all things, Thou knowest that I love Thee." And as Christ was thus in all places, and knew all things, whilst His human nature was still upon

tinue with His Church upon earth, saying to His Disciples, Matt.28.20. " Lo, I am with you alway, even to the end of the world."

> Hence, therefore, although the manhood of Christ be now at the right hand of God in Heaven, and will not come down from thence till the end of the world, yet He Himself, in His Divine Person, to Whom that manhood in which He suffered for us is united, is alway present with us: so that whatsoever other company we are in, He still makes one; or, if we have no other, be sure we have His company wheresoever

> earth; so when He was to ascend in that to Heaven, He promised, notwithstanding, that He Himself would still con-

we are; and therefore can never be alone: for He that is at God's right hand in His human nature, in His Divine is always at ours too, ready to aid and assist us upon all occasions, if we do but make our applications to Him, as we well may to one that is never out of sight or hearing. this I look upon as our great preservative and security from evil and danger, that He Who so loved us as to give Himself for us, never leaves us, nor forsakes us, but always keeps close to us, and nearer than any danger or evil can be. For by this means we are always sure of a true and Almighty Friend at hand, Who, "in that He Himself hath Heb. 2.18. suffered, being tempted, is able to succour them that are tempted," Who was once subject to all the infirmities of our nature, but without sin; He was hungry and thirsty, and weary and sleepy; He felt pain and sorrow, and at last the very pangs of death itself; and therefore cannot but be touched with the feeling of our infirmities, and know how to give suitable relief to all and every one of them; Who also is still in our nature, and therefore cannot but have a great love and kindness for it, and for all that partake of it; yea, Who is always interceding for us in Heaven, and always present with us upon earth too; and therefore we cannot doubt but He will do all He can for us. And what can He not do for us that He will? And what can He not enable us also to do, when St. Paul could say upon his own experience, "I can do all things through Christ Which Pail. 4. 13. strengtheneth me?" Which plainly shews, that Christ was always so present with him, as to supply him continually with grace and power to do good, all the good that was required of him. And we certainly may have the same experience as he had, if we do but as he did, even set Christ always before us, by believing that He is always present and ready to assist us; which, as I have now shewn, we have all the reason in the world to believe, and therefore must act against reason grounded upon God's Word, unless we do it.

The same may be said, likewise, concerning the Third Person in the most Sacred Trinity, even the Holy Ghost, Who, proceeding from the Father and the Son, and being of the same nature and substance with them, must needs be

 $\mathsf{Digitized} \ \mathsf{by} \ Google$

John 14. 16, 17.

SERM. where they are; that is, wheresoever any thing in the world is: but as to all those who believe in Christ, He is in a peculiar manner with them, according to Christ's Own promise, saying unto them, " I will pray the Father, and He shall give you another Comforter, that He may abide with you for ever, even the Spirit of Truth." From whence it appears, that the Spirit of God, even as such, doth not only come to us now and then, but makes His constant abode with us; yea, He dwells in us, so as to consecrate our very bodies into temples, places of God's special residence, as the

1 Cor. 6. 19. Apostle informs the believing Corinthians, saying, "What, know ye not that your body is the temple of the Holy

Ghost Which is in you?" And elsewhere; "Know ye not that ye are the temple of God, and that the Spirit of God dwelleth in you?" And if the Spirit of God inhabits or dwells in us, be sure He is always ready to enlighten our minds, to inform our judgments, to direct our thoughts, to awaken our consciences, to regulate our passions, to purify and comfort our hearts, and to sanctify us wholly in soul, body, and spirit. And we may well set Him before us, Who is always thus by us, and in us: as David did, when He said to God, "Whither shall I go from Thy Spirit?" Where-

by He Himself hath taught us how He did, and we ought to set God alway before us; even by being fully assured that He and His Holy Spirit is always with us wheresoever we are; and that it is as impossible for us to be where He is not, as it is for Him not to be.

From these things, therefore, duly considered, we may easily gather the full sense and meaning of these words, "I have set the Lord alway before me;" according to the exposition which St. Peter himself hath given of them, where he renders them, " I foresaw the Lord always before my face." So that in order to our doing of it aright, it is necessary that we firmly believe, and be fully persuaded in our minds, that the Lord, the Almighty Creator and Governor of the world, is every where; and particularly in the place where we are, just by us, and with us, and in us: that He clearly sees every act we do, hears every word we speak, and knows every thought, passion, and motion of our minds: that He is perfectly acquainted with all our purposes and

designs, with what we intend to do, whether we do it or not: that He takes particular notice of every particular action and circumstance of our whole lives: that God the Father is always present with us, to preserve, maintain, and provide for us: that God the Son is always with us, to defend, govern, assist, and strengthen us: that God the Holy Ghost is always present with us, to sanctify, direct, and comfort us. And all this we must believe, not only now and then, but, as it is here expressed, "always:" so as never to doubt of the truth of these things, nor suffer them to go out of our minds, but to be always acting our faith in God, as present with us, and to be always looking upon Him as always looking upon us. And then we may be truly said to "set the Lord always before us."

And if He be thus at our "right hand," we shall "not be moved;" as David had found by experience, and therefore confidently asserts of himself, "I shall not be moved." From what? A fide ad infidelitatem, à bono ad malum, 'from faith to infidelity, from good to evil,' as St. Hierom expounds. And so certainly the words, being spoken indefinitely, ought to be understood in their full extent: I shall not be moved upon any account, in any respect whatsoever, from no manner of good, nor into any manner of evil, but shall alway remain steadfast and unmoveable as a rock, established and supported by that Almighty Power that is always with me.

The same may be said of all that "alway set the Lord before them." They "shall never be moved," so as to fall into, and live in any gross sin; they "shall never be moved," so as to fail in any necessary duty unto God: they shall "never be moved" from a good to an evil state and condition of life: and all, because they "set God alway before them," and so have Him alway at "their right hand."

II. Which is the other thing I promised to shew, and may easily do it.

For, first; he who "sets God alway before his eyes," so as always to be thinking of Him that is the only good, how can he so much as think of any thing that is evil? For this would be to think at the same time of two things directly contrary, yea, contradictory to one another; which is

SERM. impossible. But how then can he do any evil, and so act contrary both to Him he thinks of, and to his own thoughts of Him? Alas! the thoughts of God as always present with him fill his soul with such a sense of His greatness and glory, that he cannot but dread the thoughts of doing any thing offensive or displeasing to Him; and can never be moved to do it by any temptation whatsoever: for whensoever he is tempted to any sin, he still considers that God Gen. 39. 9. sees him, and saith within himself as Joseph did, " How can

I do this great wickedness, and sin against God?" And, therefore, whensoever you commit any sinful act, you may conclude that you did not think of God at that time, nor believe Him to be present with you; as David observed,

saying, "The transgression of the wicked saith within my Ps. 36. 1. heart, that there is no fear of God before his eyes." That is, every sin that a man committeth, is a plain demonstration to me, that he doth not set God before his eyes; for if he did, he could not but fear Him, so as not to dare to break His laws, and so incense His wrath and indignation against himself; but would rather abhor himself that he ever hath offended God, and resolve to do so no more: as we see in

Job 42. 5.6. Job; "I have heard of Thee," saith he, "by the hearing of the ear; but now mine eye seeth Thee; wherefore I abhor myself, and repent in dust and ashes." Where we may observe what a mighty force the sight of God had upon him, it struck him as it were down, he was not able to stand under it, but fell down into an utter abhorrence of himself before Him; and it was this that kept him from oppressing or injuring the poor, by withholding his alms from them; as he himself saith, " If I have seen any perish for want of clothing, or any poor without covering: if his loins have not blessed me, and if he was not warmed with the fleece of my sheep: if I have lift up my hand against the fatherless, when I saw my help in the gate: then let my arm fall from my shoulder-blade, and mine arm be broken from the bone.

> For destruction from God was a terror to me, and by reason of His highness I could not endure." He saw, it seems, the highness and majesty of God, which struck such a terror into him, that he could not endure himself, nor the thoughts of doing any thing that might offend Him: and so it is

ch. 31. 19, 20, 23.

doubtless with all who set God always before them; His presence cannot but strike that awe into them, that they will not dare to break His laws, and so provoke and affront Him to His face. As for example,

How can they blaspheme or prophane the Sacred Name of God, who believe at the same time that He hears every word they speak against Him, and will certainly one time or other be revenged upon them for it? How can they be high and proud in their own conceit, who believe themselves to be in the presence of the Most High God, Who is not only infinitely above them, but hath told them, that He "resists [James 4. the proud, and gives grace only to the humble?" How can 6.] they indulge themselves in lust or luxury, in drunkenness or debauchery, who believe at the same time that God sees them, and will ere long call them to an account for it? How can they oppress the poor, or wrong their neighbour, by lying, stealing, cheating, or the like, who believe that the eye of God is upon them, and His hand ready to strike them for it? How can they play the hypocrite, and dissemble with God, or retain any revenge, malice, envy, or hatred against their neighbour, who believe that God sees their hearts, and knows how they stand affected, both towards Himself, and towards all men? In a word, how can they allow themselves in any vice or wickedness whatsoever, who set God always before them, and believe that the Judge of the whole world takes particular notice of them all the while? A constant belief of this would soon make them weary of their sins, and turn their inclinations to them into utter abhorrence and detestation of them.

As, suppose a company of traitors should meet together to consult how to carry on a rebellion against the king, and while they were at it, the king himself should always happen to come in among them; how confounded would they be at his presence! how soon would they leave off consulting any more about it! Every sin is an act of treason and rebellion against the Supreme Monarch of the World, Who is always privy to every step that is made towards it, and is constantly present both at the designing and acting of it: and if men did but see Him as really as He is there, they would not dare so much as to think any more of it.

Digitized by Google

54 God's Omnipresence the best Guard against Sin.

SERM. CV.

Ps. 10. 4.

than ever.

Hence, therefore, we may see one great reason wherefore virtue is so rare and vice so common in the world; why there are so few pious, so many wicked persons in it, even because most men live as without God in the world, never thinking of Him, at least not so as to believe Him to be always with them. "The wicked," saith David, "through the pride of his countenance, will not seek after God: God is not in all his thoughts." And elsewhere, speaking to God, he saith, "O God, the proud are risen against me, and the assemblies of violent men have sought after my soul; and have not set Thee before them." That is the reason why they are so wicked, so proud, and violent, because they never think of God, nor set Him before them; if they did that, they would soon become more holy, more humble and meek: the very thinking of Him would of itself contribute very much towards it, much more when it is influenced and assisted by the Spirit of God, Which usually moves upon our souls while we are thinking and acting our faith upon Him, and so diverts our thoughts, and by consequence our affections, from every thing that is contrary to His Holy Nature, and inclines our hearts to keep His laws: and, therefore, all who constantly set God before them, can never be moved so as to fall quite from Him, because they are still supported and assisted by Him that is at their right hand; and though He may sometimes see good to let go His hold of them, and suffer them to slip and stumble into sin, yet if they do not

let go their hold of Him too, but continue to act their faith on Him, they will soon get up again, and walk more steadily

A remarkable instance of which we have in St. Peter, to Luke 22.31, whom our Lord said, "Simon, Simon, behold Satan hath desired to have you, that he may sift you as wheat: but I have prayed that thy faith fail not; and when thou art converted, strengthen thy brethren." From whence it appears, that although a great temptation should befall him, which should shake him very much, and endanger his total ruin, yet that his faith should not fail, and by that he should recover himself, and grow stronger afterwards: and so it came to pass; for when he had denied his Master thrice, he turned his eyes towards Him, and saw Christ

turning Himself, and looking upon him, upon which he immediately called to mind the words of our Lord, how He said, "Before the cock crow, thou shalt deny Me thrice; Luke 22.61, and he went out and wept bitterly;" and from that time forward could never be moved to deny his Master any more, but continued His faithful servant all his life long, and at last too laid it down for His sake. And as St. Peter, so soon as ever he saw Christ looking upon him, immediately called his sin to remembrance and repented of it, so let any one also who is fallen into any grievous sin but look up to God or Christ, and firmly believe that He sees Him, and he will soon call his sin to mind, as St. Peter did, and be as much troubled for it, and as really converted from it, as he was.

And seeing this prevents our falling into, or lying long in sin, it must needs keep us likewise firm and steadfast in our duty to God; for the neglect of that being a sin, and a great one too, whatsoever conduceth towards the preserving us from sin, cannot but conduce also towards the performance of our duty; as setting of God always before us, doth in an eminent manner, insomuch that we can neither perform any duty well without it, nor ill with it. He that setteth upon any duty, without setting of God at the same time before him, goes so awkwardly about it, and is so dull and heavy, so cold and stupid, in the performance of it, that it is the mere outside and shell of a duty that hath nothing of life or vigour in it, nor indeed any thing of real duty; but it is a mere flat and insipid performance, neither acceptable to God, nor any way profitable to him that doth it: whereas, he that sets God always before him, as he dare not omit any duty which God requires of him, so he dare not perform it in a careless, indifferent manner, nor any other way than as God requires it to be done; as knowing that He takes notice all along, not only of what he doth, but likewise how he doth it: which if you would always remember and think of, while you are performing any duty unto God, you would be so far from running it over in a superficial manner, that you would think your whole souls too little to be employed in it.

While you are at your private devotions, where none sees you but God, if you would set yourselves solemnly, as in His presence, and duly consider, that He hears every word you

SERM. speak to Him, and observes every motion both of your soul and body before Him; how grave, how serious, how devout would you be! how careful to say nothing to Him, but what becomes you to speak, and Him to hear! how impartial would you be in examining yourselves! how heavenly in your meditations! how earnest in your petitions! how free from distractions! how cordial and sincere in the whole performance!

While you are praying or praising God in public, where

He hath promised to be present with you in a more peculiar manner, did you really believe that He is so, and accordingly set Him all the while before you, how humbly would you prostrate yourselves before Him! with what reverence and godly fear would you serve and worship Him! Your thoughts would be so composed, your minds so raised, and your whole souls so enlarged towards Him, that you would think yourselves in Heaven, joining with the glorified Saints and Angels, in admiring, adoring, praising, and magnifying the Almighty Creator of the World; and say with Ps. 84. 10. David to Him, "A day in Thy courts is better than a thousand. I had rather be a door-keeper in the house of My God, than to dwell in the tents of wickedness." While you hear God's Holy Word read or expounded to you, did you really believe that He is there present with you, and speaks to you particularly, and acquaints you with His Divine will and pleasure, what He would have you to believe and do, that you may continue in His love and favour; how attentive would you then be, and ready to catch at every expression! You would then "receive it, not as the word of men, but as it is in truth the Word of God, which effectually worketh in them who thus believe, and none else."

1 Thess. 2. 13.

> When you are invited to our Lord's Table, did you really believe that Christ Himself will meet you there, and apply all the merits of His death and passion to you, for the pardon of all your sins, how readily would you accept of so gracious an invitation! With what care and diligence would you prepare yourselves for it! And while you were there, did you really believe that you were then in the special presence of Christ Himself, your all-sufficient, almighty, all-merciful, all-glorious Saviour; with what shamefacedness and modesty,

with what reverence and humility would you carry yourselves before Him! How would you wonder to see the Son of God Himself going about by His minister, and offering the bread and water of life to all that hunger and thirst after it! And how would you hunger, and thirst, and long, till it came to your turns to receive it! And, how sweet would it be to your souls! What pleasure and delight would you take in eating and drinking of it! The Sacrament would then seem quite another thing to you than what it used to do, and you would esteem it the greatest happiness of your lives that you have so many opportunities of being made partakers of it.

Thus you see how acting our faith in God and Christ, as really present with us all the while that we are using of them, quickens and invigorates the means of grace and Salvation, and makes them effectual to the great ends for which they are appointed; so that we actually obtain the grace and Salvation which is administered by them. Indeed, the setting of God alway before us is itself one of the best means we can ever use, both to procure and preserve in us a true sense of His Divine perfections, and by consequence all manner of grace and virtue which naturally flows from it.

For if we could be always looking upon God, and beholding His infinite wisdom, and greatness, and love, and goodness to us, our affections would soon be taken off from all things else, and placed only upon Him; for nothing would seem wise, or great, or lovely, or good, or any thing, but only He: by which means our whole souls would be inflamed with love to Him above all things in the world, which can never be abated, much less extinguished, so long as we keep our eye fixed upon Him; for our eye will still affect our heart, and so our love to God will be rather always growing stronger and stronger, until at length it comes to its highest perfection; which cannot be till we get to Heaven, where, as we shall see God perfectly, we shall love Him perfectly.

But even while we are upon earth, He Whom our souls love is alway present with us, and manifesting His love to us: and if we really believe that He is so, how can we forbear to rejoice in Him, and to please ourselves in pleasing

SERM. Him? We cannot but delight in the company of those we love, though they be but our fellow-creatures: what delight then must they needs have who love God above all things, in having Him always in their company! Wheresoever they are, the best friend they have in the world is always present with them; and though they cannot see Him with their bodily eyes, yet believing Him to be so, as the Apostle 1 Pet. 1. 8. speaks, they "rejoice with joy unspeakable and full of glory."

And as this is the way whereby to live and rejoice in the Lord alway, so this is the way also whereby to have the fear of God always before our eyes, even by setting Him always before them.

So long as men do not think of God, nor believe Him to

be near them, it is no wonder if they do not fear Him, nor regard whether He be pleased or displeased with them: but for a man to be fully persuaded, that the Almighty Creator and Governor of all things is present with him, and yet to stand in no awe of Him, is impossible; as He Himself intimates by His Prophet, saying, "Fear ye not Me, saith the Lord? will ye not tremble at My presence?" Can a guilty prisoner see his judge, and not fear him? Can a known rebel behold his prince frowning upon him, and not fear him? How much less can sinful mortals look upon the King and Judge of the whole world, as present with them, and not tremble before Him? It cannot be: the thoughts of our being always under His eye, would be enough certainly to strike us dead, unless we had some grounds to hope for favour and mercy at His hands; as, blessed be His great Name, we have.

Luke 1. 50. For we have His Own word for it, that "His mercy is on them that fear Him from generation to generation;" and Ps. 147. 11. that "He taketh pleasure in them that fear Him, in those that hope in His mercy." And therefore, as the wise man Prov. 14.26. observes, "In the fear of the Lord is strong confidence."

For the more we fear Him, the more cause we have to trust on Him, and to hope for mercy, and all good things we can desire from Him: and therefore they who alway set God before them, as they cannot but alway fear Him, so they cannot but also put their trust and confidence on Him, as

always ready to protect and defend them; so that they shall never be moved from that state and condition of life, which He in His infinite wisdom and goodness sees best for them.

This David found by experience, and therefore was confident of it; "Because He," saith he, "is on my right hand, I shall not be moved." And this hath been the constant experience of all good men in all ages, even of all who alway set God before them, and so have Him alway on their side: and if God be for them who can be against them? If He be with them, what evil can come near them? What need they fear, who have Omnipotence itself alway ready to preserve them, wheresoever they are? This is the argument which He Himself makes use of to encourage His people, that they may fear nothing but Him: "Fear thou not," Isa. 41. 10. saith He, "for I am with thee: be not dismayed, for I am thy God; for I will strengthen thee; yea, I will help thee; yea, I will uphold thee with the right hand of My righteousness." "When thou passest through the waters, I will be ch. 43. 2. with thee; and through the rivers, they shall not overflow thee; when thou walkest through the fire, thou shalt not be burnt; neither shall the flame kindle upon thee." He may suffer them to pass through fire and water, but He will not suffer them to be hurt by either of them: He may bring them into trouble, but He will preserve them from the evil of it, and make it really good for them; and all, because He is still with them in it. Thus He was with Noah in the ark, with Joseph in prison, with Israel in the midst of the sea, with Job upon the dunghill, with David upon the mountains, with the three children in the fiery furnace, with Daniel in the lions' den, with Jeremiah in the dungeon, with Jonah in the whale's belly, and with the Apostles in the common prison: and being alway with them, how wonderfully did He preserve them, altering often the very course of nature, rather than any thing should hurt them, who set Him alway before them!

And if we set Him before us as they did, He will be with us as He was with them; and then how securely may we walk through all the changes and chances of this mortal life, when we really believe that Almighty God, and Jesus Christ, our most gracious and most merciful Father, is always prePs. 27. 1.

sent with us, by His wisdom to direct us, by His mercy to pardon us, by His grace to assist us, by His Spirit to conduct us, and by His power to defend us from all evil, or to turn it into good. What need we trouble our heads about what may, or what may not happen upon earth, when we know that our heavenly Father always stands by us, and orders every thing that occurs, to our advantage? What need we fear the Devil, or all the fiends in Hell, so long as the Son [Gal. 2.20.] of God, "Who loved us, and gave Himself for us," is always with us, ready upon all occasions to fight for us, and to enable us to fight for Him against His and our ghostly enemies? What need we be discouraged at the relics of sin within us, seeing the Holy Spirit of God is always with us, and His grace is always sufficient for us? What need we fear either

shame, or pain, or trouble, or want, or weakness, or sickness, or death, or any evil whatsoever, who have glory, and ease, and joy, and all-sufficiency, and strength, and health, and life, and goodness, even God Himself, continually with us? Let us but alway set Him before us, and we may alway say with David, "The Lord is my light and my Salvation,

whom then shall I fear? The Lord is the strength of my Ps. 46. 1-3, life, of whom then shall I be afraid?" "God is our refuge and strength, a very present help in time of trouble: therefore will not we fear, though the earth be removed, and though the mountains be carried into the midst of the sea; though the waters thereof roar and be troubled, though the mountains shake with the swelling thereof: the Lord of

Hosts is with us, the God of Jacob is our refuge." "In God have I put my trust; I will not be afraid what man can do unto me." "I have set the Lord alway before me, because He is at my right hand, I shall not be moved."

> Who then would not set the Lord alway before him? And who may not do it if he will, seeing no more is required to it, but constantly to believe what we cannot deny, even that He is alway with us? For which purpose therefore let us not suffer ourselves to be led any longer by our senses, but let us live by faith, acting it continually upon God, as present with us, looking over us, and into us, and observing all the passages of our life. Whatsoever employment we are about, let us still remember that God sees both what it

is, and how we do it. Whatsoever company we are in, let us still remember that God is in it, and takes notice of every thing we think, or speak, or do together. Whithersoever we go, let us still remember that God goes along with us; when we sit down, that He stands by us; and when we rise up, that He helps us. Whensoever any trouble falls upon us, let us still remember, that God is present to support us under it, to make us better by it, and when He sees good, to deliver us from it. Whatsoever danger we are in, let us still remember, that no danger can be so near us as God is, Who is always at hand to defend us from it, and to bless it to us. In short, whatsoever our condition be in this life, let us still remember and believe, that the all-wise God, and our most merciful Father, knows it to be good for us, and is always with us to make it so.

Could we thus accustom ourselves to call God to mind upon all occasions, and actually believe that He is then present with us, as He really is, we should soon learn the Divine art of setting Him alway before us; and then how circumspectly should we walk! how comfortably should we live! how steadfast and unmoveable should we be in the midst of all the storms and tempests we meet with here below! We should indeed live next door to Heaven, and want nothing to complete our happiness, but to do that which we endeavour perfectly: for to have God alway perfectly in our eye, so as clearly to behold His glory and goodness, is the happiness of Heaven; where our faith being turned into vision, we shall see God face to face, and so be perfectly happy in Him. And so far as we set God alway before us upon earth, so much we partake of the joys of Heaven, and are so far happy, according to our weak capacity in this world, and in the ready way to be fully, perfectly, eternally happy in the next, through His merits and mediation for us, Who is always with us, even Jesus Christ our ever blessed Lord and Saviour.

"To Whom, with the Father, and the Holy Ghost, be all honour and glory, world without end."

composed, refreshed, and delighted with the sight and fru-SERM. ition of it.

> But this nothing in the world can do, but God, the chiefest good. Who hath made our souls of such a temper, and of so large capacities, that nothing can fill and satiate them but Himself; and therefore, intending Himself to be the only object of their joy and happiness, hath made nothing capable of contributing towards it, any farther than by discovering His Divine perfections to us, that we may be able to see so much of Him, as may fill our hearts with joy and comfort in Him: but still it is only in Him that we can truly rejoice, as we are here commanded to do.

> II. This will give us some light into the next question to be considered, even who are here commanded to rejoice in

the Lord: for it is plain that neither the unclean spirits, nor wicked or sinful men, can do it if they would: for although they have the same powers and faculties in their souls as other men have, yet by conversing with nothing but the things of this world, they are so immersed in matter, that they are not capable of any sort of spiritual joys; and being disordered and out of tune, they are so disagreeable and contrary to the holy nature of God, that they cannot possibly rejoice in Him, nor so much as think of Him without horror Isa. 57. 20, and confusion. "The wicked," as the Prophet observes, " are like the troubled sea, when it cannot rest, whose waters cast up mire and dirt. There is no peace, saith my God, to the wicked," nor can be, so long as they are wicked. They may seem to live at ease, and may enjoy the pleasures, as they are called, of this life; they may, like the rich man in the Gospel, "be clothed with purple and fine linen, and fare sumptuously every day;" they may laugh and be merry, and look as if they were the happiest people upon earth; yet all this while they have no true peace and joy in their hearts: for they can never rejoice in the Lord, He is not in all their thoughts; or if He happen to come in, as He sometimes may, against their wills, they are so far from rejoicing, that they are terrified and troubled at it: for being conscious to themselves that they have offended Him, and still continue to do so, they can see nothing in Him but wrath and vengeance; and therefore, instead of rejoicing, they should

[Luke 16. 19.]

rather be afflicted, and mourn, and weep for their sins, so as to repent of them, and turn with all their hearts unto the Lord, that they may be capable of rejoicing in Him, which till then they are not.

I could not forbear to take notice of this, though at the same time it puts me into a great fear, that all I shall say upon this subject, will be lost as to a great part of the congregation, if not to the greatest, even to all such who are still in their sins, who have not their eyes yet opened, so as "to turn from darkness to light, and from the power of [Acts 26. Satan unto God:" for such will not be able to understand hat I say, nor know what I mean by rejoicing in the Lord: they could never do it themselves, and therefore cannot imagine how others should. So that all such, I fear, will go out of the Church just as they came in, without being any ways affected with what they hear.

But howsoever, in the midst of my fears, I have some hope, that whilst I am speaking to your ears, Almighty God may open some of your hearts, to see the things which belong to your everlasting peace, and how much it concerns you, in interest as well as duty, to leave off your sins, and to strive all ye can to get into the number of those happy souls, who always may, and are always bound to "rejoice in the Lord."

III. But whatsoever may be the issue as to such, there are some, I hope, here present, who are "fellow-citizens [Eph. 2. with the Saints, and of the household of God." These will 19.] be glad to hear of their duty, that they may better know how to do it; especially such a duty as this, which is likewise their happiness and privilege. These also will soon apprehend what is said about rejoicing in the Lord, it being a thing which they frequently do: and having often felt the sweetness of it, they will be the more easily persuaded to do it always, as they are here commanded.

For that this command is given to the Saints, and to them only, is plain, in that the Apostle writes only to them. He directs this Epistle "to all the Saints in Christ Jesus, which Phil. 1. 1. are at Philippi." And looking upon them as his brethren in Christ, he saith to them, "Finally, my brethren, rejoice ch. 3. 1. in the Lord." And again, in the beginning of this chapter,

Digitized by Google

.

SERM. he calls them "his brethren, dearly beloved and longed for,

CVI. [Phil. 4.1.] his joy and crown:" which none could be, but the Saints before-mentioned: and to them he here saith, "Rejoice in the Lord always, and again I say, rejoice." And so the Scripture all along calls upon the Saints or righteous, and upon none else, to rejoice in the Lord. "Rejoice in the Ps. 33.1; 97. 12. Lord, O ye righteous," saith David; " for praise is comely for the upright:" for the upright; not for the wicked and unrighteous. Grief and sorrow becomes them better than joy and praise. And elsewhere, he saith to God, "Let all Ps. 5. 11. those that put their trust in Thee, rejoice: let them ever shout for joy, because Thou defendest them: let them also that love Thy Name, be joyful in Thee." They who love Him, as be sure all His Saints and servants do, they must needs be joyful in Him, for that very reason, because they love Him, and because they are here commanded to "rejoice in the Lord always."

"Rejoice in the Lord," in Jehovah, the Almighty and Everlasting God; the first cause of all things; the chiefest, the only good, and so the only object of all true joy. Rejoice in His wisdom that is infinite; in His power that is boundless; in His Word that is infallible; in His judgments that are unsearchable; in His Name that is great, wonderful and holy; in His goodness that is over all His works.

"Rejoice in the Lord," the Maker of Heaven and earth; Who commanded all things out of nothing, by the word of His power; Who hung the earth upon nothing; gave bounds to the sea; life and breath to animals; being to all things that be: Who spread out the Heavens like a curtain, and therein set the sun and moon, and an innumerable company of stars, giving them light, and heat, and laws which cannot be broken: Who made man of the dust of the ground, and breathed into his nostrils the breath of life, whereby he became a living soul, capable of reflecting upon, Ps. 149. 2. and rejoicing in Him that made him. "Let Israel there-

fore rejoice in Him that made him; let the children of Ps. 92. 4, 5. Zion be joyful in their King." "For Thou, Lord, hast made me glad through Thy work: I will triumph in the works of Thy hands. O Lord, how great are Thy works! Thy thoughts are very deep."

"Rejoice in the Lord," the Almighty Preserver of the whole world: Who upholdeth all things He made, with the power of the same Word, by which He made them: Who causeth the grass to grow for the cattle, and herb for the service of men: Who giveth food to all flesh, and blesseth it to the maintenance and support of life. "The Lord also is Ps. 46. 1. our refuge and strength, a very present help in time of trouble." "He is my strength and shield; my heart trusted Ps. 28. 7. in Him, and I am helped: therefore my heart greatly rejoiceth, and with my song will I praise Him." "Because Ps. 63. 7. Thou, O Lord, hast been my help, therefore in the shadow of Thy wings will I rejoice."

"Rejoice in the Lord," the Lord of the whole earth; the Lord of all the world, Who rules and reigns over all things that are, and "doth whatsoever He pleaseth in Heaven and [Ps. 135. in earth, in the sea, and all deep places;" ordering and disposing of all and every thing that is, with such infinite wisdom and goodness, that nothing can happen, but what shall tend some way or other to the glory of His great Name, and to the benefit of all those who serve and honour Him. How then can such forbear to be glad and rejoice in Him? "The Lord reigneth, let the earth rejoice; let the multitude Ps. 97. 1. of the isles be glad thereof." "O let the nations rejoice and Ps. 67. 4. be glad, for Thou, Lord, shalt judge the folk righteously, and govern the nations upon earth."

Above all, "rejoice in the Lord our Saviour; the Saviour 17mm. 4.10. of all men, especially of those that believe;" the strength, the God of our Salvation; our Salvation itself. "For the Ps. 118. 14. Lord is my strength, and song, and is become my Salvation." The very naming of which is enough to fill our hearts with joy and gladness, as much and more than they are able to hold: that the Almighty Creator, Preserver, and Governor of the whole world in general, should in a particular and wonderful manner, become the Saviour, yea, the Salvation of mankind: that He, for that purpose, should be conceived of His Own Spirit, and born of a woman, so as to be both "perfect God, and perfect man, of a reasonable soul, and human flesh subsisting:" that having thus taken our nature upon Him, He in that should perform exact obedience to His Own Laws, and then offer it up as a Sacrifice for our

SERM. transgressions of them: that as He was delivered for our offences, He was raised again for our justification: that He was made sin for us, that we might be made the righteousness of God in Him: that being raised from the dead, He went up into Heaven, and was there set at the right hand of God the Father, the next in power and honour to Him: that the man Christ Jesus is there exalted above all the creatures in the world, Angels, principalities and powers being made subject to Him: that He is now there appearing in the presence of God for us, the Mediator between God and us, our Advocate with the Father, ever living to make intercession for us: that we have such a glorious, such an Almighty Saviour in Heaven, continually taking care of all things necessary to bring us thither: that He is there making such effectual intercession for us, by virtue of the death He suffered for our sins, that they are all pardoned as soon as repented of: that He is there exalted by the right hand of God, to be a Prince as well as Saviour, to give repentance also, as well as forgiveness of sins: that nothing can happen in the world, by the general Providence of God, but He is there ready to bless it to us, and make it turn to our advantage: that by Him we have access to God the Father, and can truly call Him "our God," and "our Father" too: that whatsoever we ask in His Name, we are sure to have it, so far as it is good for us: that He from thence supplies us with all things necessary both for life and godliness, that we may never want any thing that can contribute to our sanctification and Salvation by Him: that He from thence sends down His Holy Spirit upon us, and so by it is alway present with us, to direct us what to do, and to assist us in the doing of it: that His grace is alway sufficient for us, and His strength made perfect in our weakness, "so that we can do all things through Christ that strengtheneth us:" that He also, as the Sun of Righteousness in Heaven, reflects such a lustre upon what we do, that although we be imperfect in ourselves, yet we are accepted of as righteous through Him: in short, that He is now in Heaven preparing a place for us, that we may live with Him there, and rejoice in Him for ever!

[Phil. 4. 13.]

Can we hear all this, and our hearts not burn within us?

How well might the Angel say to the shepherds at the birth of Christ, "Behold, I bring you glad tidings of great joy [Luke 2. that shall be to all people!" For what greater joy can there 10.] be than this, that we have such a Saviour, Who is " able to [Heb. 7. save to the utmost all that come unto God by Him?" How 25.] well then may we say with the blessed Virgin, "My soul doth magnify the Lord, my Spirit rejoiceth in God my Saviour!" And with the Prophet, "I will greatly rejoice Isa. 61. 10. in the Lord, my soul shall be joyful in my God, for He hath clothed me with the garments of Salvation, He hath covered me with a robe of righteousness." And with the Psalmist, "O come, let us sing unto the Lord, let us heartily rejoice Ps. 95. 1, 2. in the strength of our Salvation. Let us come before His presence with thanksgiving, and shew ourselves joyful in Him with Psalms." And with the Apostle in my text, "Rejoice in the Lord alway, and again I say rejoice!"

IV. Rejoice in the Lord alway;" or as it is elsewhere expressed, "Rejoice evermore." This is not a duty to be 1 Thess. 5. performed only now and then, but at all times, upon all 16. occasions, in all conditions; whatsoever happens, we must still take care to keep our hearts in such a temper that we may rejoice in the Lord, whether we have, or have not any thing else to rejoice in. It is the wise man's advice, "In Eccles. 7. the day of prosperity be joyful, but in the day of adversity 14. consider." When we prosper in the world, and all things fall out according to our desire, it is an easy matter to be joyful, and we commonly are so; but it is not so easy then to rejoice in the Lord, but rather the more difficult. For when He gives us all things richly to enjoy, we are apt to set our hearts upon them, and to take so much pleasure in them, that we forget Him that gave them. So that it is a very difficult thing to get, and keep our hearts in such a frame, that in the midst of all our temporal enjoyments, we can rejoice in the Lord more than in them, and in them only as they come from Him, and are tokens of His love and favour to us: which therefore we should strive all we can to do, that we may not take up with the seeming pleasures of the world, instead of that real and substantial joy that is to be had in Him Who gave them, and Who gave them on purpose that we might rejoice the more in Him.

And if they who are in adversity would rightly consider, SERM. CVI. they will find that they have then also cause to rejoice in the Lord, the same as when they are in the greatest prosperity; forasmuch as that also is a sign of that fatherly care Heb. 12.6. and love that He hath for all His sons and servants; "For whom the Lord loveth He chasteneth, and scourgeth every son whom He receiveth;" and who can but rejoice in every token of God's love, and in Him Who is pleased to shew it; especially when any trouble befalls them for His sake, and He enables them to bear it to His honour and glory? This is so great a favour, that the Disciples "rejoiced that they were counted worthy to suffer shame for His Name;" and 2 Cor. 12.10. St. Paul could truly say, "I take pleasure in infirmities, in reproaches, in necessities, in persecutions, in distresses for Christ's sake." To some people these may seem strange things for a man to take pleasure in; but they who are the faithful servants of Jesus Christ, find so much pleasure in doing and suffering any thing they can for Him, that they have little or no sense of the suffering, but that is swallowed up with the joy they have in Him, for honouring them so

far as to lay it upon them for His Own sake.

But after all, it is much the same thing as to our rejoicing in the Lord, the chiefest good, whether we have or have not the good things, as they are called, here below; for if we have them, they can afford us no manner of comfort without Him: and if we have them not, we can rejoice in Him as much as if we had, or rather more; for being all naturally desirous of joy and comfort, and having nothing else from whence we can have it, but only God, our own inclinations will put us upon applying ourselves to Him for it, which otherwise, perhaps, we should not think of; which may be one great reason wherefore God is often pleased to deny the comforts of this life to His best and dearest children, even lest they should take up with them instead of Him, with the streams instead of the fountain; but that they may alway rejoice in Him, and in Him alone; which they endeavour, therefore, all they can to do, in the midst of all the changes and chances of this mortal life; whether they have more or less; whether He gives or takes from them; whether they live in plenty or poverty, in honour or disgrace; whether He grants or disappointeth them of their expectations and desires, it is all one to them: they can still sing with the Prophet, "Although the fig-tree shall not blossom, neither Hab. 3. 1, shall fruit be in the vines; the labour of the olive shall fail, 18. and the fields shall yield no meat; the flock shall be cut off from the fold, and there shall be no herds in the stalls; yet I will rejoice in the Lord, I will joy in the God of my Salvation."

O divine temper of mind! Thrice happy they who can attain unto it! But,

V. How is it possible that we should thus rejoice in the Lord? We, frail and sinful creatures! We, who are tossed to and fro with so many storms and tempests! We, who never continue in one stay! We, who are so often ruffled and discomposed by one cross accident or other, though we may perhaps sometimes rejoice in the Lord; how is it possible that we should do it alway? To that I answer, that whatsoever God hath commanded us to do, it is possible for us to do it, otherwise He would not have commanded it. But as we can keep none of His Commandments without great care and diligence; so neither can we keep this, except we set ourselves in good earnest about it, and use all such means as conduce any way towards it.

Among which the first is, that "we keep our consciences [Acts 24. alway void of offence both towards God and towards man." ^{16.]}

For he whose conscience accuseth him of any habitual sin and offence against God, can look upon God no otherwise than as angry and displeased with him, and, therefore, instead of rejoicing in Him, will rather be troubled at the thoughts of Him; like the devils, who "believe and tremble." But as [James 2. I observed before, this command is given only to such whose hearts are right with God, and can therefore say with His Apostle, "Our rejoicing is this, the testimony of our 2 Cor. 1. 12. conscience, that in simplicity and godly sincerity, not with fleshly wisdom, but by the Grace of God, we have had our conversation in the world."

But such also, in order to their rejoicing always in the Lord, must keep a strict watch over themselves, and live as much as it is possible above the temper of their own bodies. For while we are in the body, our souls are subject to the

SERM. humours that are predominant in it; some of which are very apt to impede and hinder us in the exercise of so spiritual a duty as this is. The sanguine are too airy for such solid joys, and the melancholy too dull and heavy for such high flights as are necessary to our reaching of them. I do not deny but that a little melancholy may be sometime good, as ballast to a ship, to keep it steady; but too much is apt to sink the soul into so much grief and sorrow, that it is very difficult for it to raise up itself so high as to rejoice at all, much less in God Himself. And, therefore, they who are subject to this distemper, must take special heed that they do not give way to it, nor indulge themselves, as they commonly do, in it; but must do all they can to suppress it, or at least to keep it so much under, that it may not overpower the soul, and divert it from thinking upon God, and rejoicing in Him. Which they may and ought to do, in the midst of all these dismal and troublesome thoughts, which this black humour is apt to suggest into them, so as to be able to say with David, "In the multitude of my thoughts within me, Thy comforts, O Lord, delight my soul." And 2 Cor. 6. 10. with the Apostle, "As sorrowful, yet always rejoicing." Though as men, they are full of grief and sorrow; yet as

Christians, at the same time, they rejoice in the Lord, and joy in the God of their Salvation. For Christians, as such, are alway the same, not carried

about with every wind that blows without them, nor with every humour that moves within them; but always sedate and calm, and so in a right disposition to enjoy God, and rejoice in Him, in whatsoever state or condition they are. This is that which the Apostle here requires in this very case: for having said, "Rejoice in the Lord alway," he adds, in the very next verse, "Let your moderation be known unto all men, the Lord is at hand." Τὸ ἐπιεικὲς ὑμῶν, let your equanimity, or evenness of temper in all conditions, be so constant and apparent, that all men may see it, and the Lord too, Who is at hand to assist you in it, and ere long will reward you for it. But for that purpose, he adds also, "Be careful for nothing; but in every thing by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving, let your requests be made known unto God." Whereby is intimated, that in order to

ver. 6.

Digitized by Google

our rejoicing in the Lord, as is before commanded, we must not suffer our hearts to be distracted with the cares of this life, but let them hang loose and indifferent to all things here below, and fixed only upon God. We must live above this world, and have our conversation in Heaven, where only these true joys are to be found: otherwise we can never have them.

For this purpose therefore, "if riches increase, set not [Ps. 62.10.] your hearts upon them:" if honours, suffer not yourselves to be puffed up with the conceit of them: if worldly pleasures, look not upon them as they come, but as they go, and leave a sting behind them: if troubles or afflictions befall you, consider whence they come, and whither they tend; that they come from your Heavenly Father, are designed for your good, and will effect it too, if you do but make a right use of them; that these "light afflictions, which are but for 2 Cor. 4 17. a moment, work out for us a more exceeding and eternal weight of glory," that "all things work together for good to Rom. 8. 28. those who love God." So that nothing can happen, but ye have cause to rejoice in the Lord, and thank Him for it.

Remember, also, the words of the Lord Jesus, how He said to His Disciples, "Ye shall be sorrowful, but your John 16.20. sorrow shall be turned into joy." For this is an exceeding great comfort in the midst of all our sorrow, that our sorrow will not only have an end, but it will end in joy, and in joy too that will never have an end; and all through the goodness and mercy of God, in Whom therefore we have alway infinite cause to rejoice, more than we can ever have to be sorrowful for any thing in the world.

The greatest and truest cause of sorrow is sin: that we have broken the Laws, dishonoured the Name, and so have incurred the displeasure of Almighty God: for this we can never be sorrowful enough; yet nevertheless, in the midst of this godly sorrow also, we have infinite cause to rejoice in the Lord our God and Saviour, in that He Himself hath reconciled us to Himself by His Own blood: that He, in our nature, suffered the punishment which was due unto our sins, and is now a propitiation for them at the right hand of the Father: that in Him we have redemption through His [Eph. 1.7.] blood, even the forgiveness of sins, of all our sins: they

SERM. Were all laid upon Him, and therefore none of them shall be charged upon us: for "who shall lay any thing to the charge of God's elect? It is God that justifieth. Who is He that condemneth? It is Christ that died, year ather, that is risen again, Who is even at the right hand of God, Who also 1 Pet. 1. 8. maketh intercession for us." "Whom, therefore, having not seen, we love; in Whom, though now we see Him not, yet believing, we rejoice with joy unspeakable and full of glory."

This is joy unspeakable indeed, and so full of glory that the world knows nothing of it: none but they who live with a constant and firm belief in God our Saviour, without which it is impossible to "rejoice in the Lord" at all, much more to do it "alway." And therefore, as ever we desire to do what we have now heard, we must alway keep our faith fixed upon Christ our Mediator and Advocate with the Father, and in His Name pray for the Holy Spirit, to cleanse the thoughts of our hearts, by His inspiration, that we may have a right judgment in all things, and evermore rejoice in His holy comfort. Who is therefore called the Comforter, because we can have no true comfort but by Him: but by Him we may have the greatest that any creature is capable of, comfort in God Himself, the fountain of all true joy and comfort; so as to rejoice always in Him, and that too, not only in a faint and weak manner, according to our narrow capacities, but by the sweet influences, and most powerful assistance of the Holy Spirit, Which proceedeth from Himself.

This, therefore, is that which I must advise you all to do; all such, I mean, as live in the true faith and fear of God, and make it your chief care and study to please, and serve, and honour Him. I speak not to them who are still in the gall of bitterness, and the bond of iniquity, and so are altogether unacquainted with those celestial joys, which are not only above them, but contrary to their corrupt and sinful inclinations. But as for such among you, who strive all ye can to walk in all the Commandments and Ordinances of the Lord blameless, take ye special care to walk in this, as well as in any other of them; this being not only one of His Commandments, but one of those without which the other can never be kept aright: for ye must not only do the will

of God, but delight to do it; which ye can never do without rejoicing in Him Whose will it is, and Who assists you all the while that ye are doing it.

You profess to serve God, take heed that ye do not dishonour Him, by living a melancholy and disconsolate sort of a life, as if ye served a hard taskmaster, that gives you work to do, without furnishing you with necessaries for it. this would be a great reflection upon Him and His service, and discourage others from entering into it. But as ye serve the greatest and best Master in the world, do it with all the cheerfulness and alacrity that ye can; rejoicing continually in His Holy Name, and in His infinite mercy and kindness to you, in that He is pleased to admit you into the number of His Own servants. This will make His service both easy and pleasant to you: and though it be far short of what ye owe Him, yet He will be well pleased with it for Christ Jesus' sake, and in Him also plentifully reward you for it. He will give you all ye can desire, to make ye happy. " Delight thyself in the Lord, and He shall give thee the Ps. 37, 4. desires of thine heart."

"Blessed," therefore "is the people, O Lord, that can Ps. 89. 16, rejoice in Thee, they shall walk in the light of Thy countenance: their delight shall be daily in Thy Name, and in Thy righteousness shall they make their boast." They live in Heaven while they are upon earth, and whilst other people feed only upon husks, like brutes, they enjoy the same kind of pleasures, though not in so great a measure, here below, which the glorified Saints and Angels do above,

And, as we desire to do it with them hereafter, we must begin it here; and spend the rest of our time so, that we may be duly qualified fully to partake of those pleasures which are at God's right hand for evermore; even that we may perfectly, continually, and eternally, rejoice in our Most Mighty Creator, Most Merciful Redeemer, and Most Gracious Comforter, one God, blessed for ever.

who are always rejoicing in the Lord, and singing forth the

praises of His Holy Name.

SERMON CVII.

UNIVERSAL THANKSGIVING THE DUTY OF CHRISTIANS.

1 THESS. v. 18.

In every thing give thanks: for this is the will of God in Christ Jesus concerning you.

SERM. CVII.

ALTHOUGH religion, or the constant devotion of ourselves to the service of God, be commonly thought to be a very disconsolate and melancholy course of life by those who never made trial of it; yet they who have, find by their own experience, that it is the most pleasant and comfortable way of living they can ever take to: forasmuch as it reduceth all the faculties of their souls, and members of their bodies, into their proper frame and temper, and exerciseth them continually in the great work which they were at first designed and fitted for. By which means they are not only quiet and at ease, always living as it were in their proper element, but likewise feel a sweet kind of joy and pleasure in their minds, arising from the apprehension, that He that made them is well pleased with them for doing the work He made them for, and so answering His end in making of them.

And hence it is, all who are truly pious, and sincerely endeavour to serve and obey God, take more delight in doing that than any thing, or all things else. As we see in David, who often professeth, that the commands of God [Po. 19.10;] were dearer to him than "gold and silver," and "sweeter [119.103.] then hence to him than "gold and silver," and "sweeter than honey or the honeycomb." Neither must we ascribe this to conceit or fancy, but to the will of God, Who hath so adapted our nature to His commands, or His commands to our nature, that every act of sincere obedience to His com-

mands is as pleasing and grateful to the pure and pious soul that duly performs it, as it is to God Himself: and whoso-ever doth not thus "delight in the law of God," as St. Paul [Rom. 7. did, "after the inner man," it is because his soul is corrupted and out of tune, and therefore cannot relish such pure and spiritual delights which naturally flow from a due observation of God's commands; and can never be separated from it without sin: for the same God Who hath commanded us to do His will, hath commanded us also to delight in the doing of it, and so hath made it as much our duty to live cheerfully and comfortably, as it is "to live soberly, right-[Tit. 2.12.] eously, and godly, in this present world."

This, I confess, at first sight may seem strange doctrine to many of you; men's minds being generally prepossessed with such prejudices against religion, as to fancy they cannot set about it in good earnest, but they must bid adieu to all the pleasures of human life: whereas, in truth, there is no true pleasure to be had without it; neither is there any thing in it, but what may and ought to be pleasant to them: which were you all convinced of, you would need no other arguments to persuade you to the constant exercise of true piety and virtue, as the only means whereby to obtain what you all desire, even to live pleasantly and happily, both in this world and the next.

This, therefore, is that which I shall now endeavour to demonstrate to you; and for that purpose desire you to observe, that the Apostle here, among other things, lays down three general rules for all Christians to observe, "Rejoice evermore. Pray without ceasing. In every thing give thanks." All which, being dictated by the command and inspiration of the Holy Ghost, are as necessary to be observed as any law or precept whatsoever in the whole Bible; and that too, not only now and then, but "evermore, without ceasing, in every thing:" so that all and every one of these duties ought to run through the whole course of our lives.

First; we must "rejoice evermore," continually, without intermission. Whatsoever happens in the world, we must still rejoice: in what? In Him that governs it: as the same Apostle elsewhere explains himself, saying, "Rejoice Phil. 4. 4.

Phil. 4. 6.

SERM. in the Lord alway: and again I say, rejoice." Where, as he presseth this duty upon us twice with the same breath, so he directs us likewise to the proper object of it, the Lord, the Lord of Hosts, the All-wise, All-good, Almighty, Allsufficient, and Eternal God; Who being always the only object of our joy, we ought always to rejoice in Him only, both when we have, and when we have not any thing else to rejoice in.

> And as we must thus "rejoice evermore," so we must "pray without ceasing." Not that we are bound to be always upon our knees, for we have many other duties to perform as well as prayer; and though we may and ought to rejoice, we cannot pray in them all: and therefore the Apostle here purposely alters the phrase from marrors, 'evermore,' or always, to ἀδιαλείστως, 'without ceasing,' not without intermitting, but without omitting or neglecting the duty whensoever it is required of us, or we have an opportunity to perform it: we must never leave off our daily prayers as long as we live; but whatsoever happens, we must be sure to implore the mercy and grace of God every day; or, as the Apostle elsewhere words it, we "must be careful for nothing, but in every thing by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving, make known our requests to God;" where we may observe, that the Apostle orders thanksgiving to be always joined with our prayer; and so he doth in my text. For as we are to "rejoice in the Lord always," so in order thereunto, we must "pray" unto Him "without ceasing," that being the means whereby to keep our minds always fixed upon Him, and so in a right frame and disposition to rejoice always in Him: but for that purpose, as we pray unto Him for what we want, we must likewise give Him thanks for what we have: and therefore he adds, "In every thing give thanks; for this is the will of God in Christ Jesus concerning you."

> Where we may first observe, in general, that all these duties have one and the same object, though not expressed, yet supposed as certainly known to all Christians, even the Most High God. It is in Him we must "rejoice evermore:" it is to Him we must "pray without ceasing:" it is to Him we must "give thanks for every thing." And

as they have all the same object, so they have the same obligation too. We are as much obliged to "rejoice evermore," as we are to "pray without ceasing:" we are as much obliged to "pray without ceasing," as we are to "give thanks in every thing;" and as much obliged to give thanks in every thing, as we are either to "rejoice" or to "pray without ceasing." So that whosoever doth not perform all these duties, performs none of them as he ought: for he that performs any one aright, must do it in obedience to God's command; but the same God that hath commanded one, hath commanded the other too: and therefore, he that performs any one of them in obedience to God's command, cannot but perform the rest also upon the same account.

Hence, therefore, we may see how necessary it is to "rejoice always," as necessary as it is to "pray," or "in every thing to give thanks;" which we can never do, except we rejoice in every thing: for no man can be truly thankful for what he is not really glad of. And therefore, seeing we are here commanded in every thing to give thanks, it necessarily follows, that whatsoever happens in the world, we must still be glad and rejoice in Him that orders it; and, by consequence, we have no time allowed us for melancholy and discontent: but as we desire always to live up to the rules of the Gospel as becometh Christians, we must always keep up our minds in a cheerful frame and temper, that we may be always disposed and prepared to "give thanks in Eph. 5. 20. every thing," and for all things.

Which, that you may all at least know how to do, we shall briefly consider what it is properly to "give thanks;" how that ought to be done "in every thing;" and then the reason here alleged for it, because "this is the will of God in Christ Jesus concerning you."

The first thing to be considered, is, what we are here to understand by "giving of thanks," or wherein that duty properly consists. For which purpose we may observe, that the first thing necessary to our giving thanks, is to acknowledge God in every thing: that nothing falls out but by His care and providence, and according to His will and pleasure: that it is "in Him we live, and move, and have our being:" [Acts 17. that we have nothing but what we receive from Him, Who 28.]



SERM. is the author and giver of every good and perfect gift: that

as all things were made, so all things are governed and
managed by Him: that nothing can be, or act, or move,
Matt.10.29, without Him: that not so much as "a sparrow can fall to
the ground without Him:" and, that "the very hairs of
our head are all numbered" by Him; as our Lord hath
taught us. He that lives not in a constant sense and firm
belief of this, can never heartily give thanks to God for any
thing that is.

But in order to our giving Him due thanks for every thing, it is not enough to acknowledge His care and providence over the world in general, but we must do it particularly in every thing that is, or happens in the world; so as still to behold and admire His Divine perfections shining forth in it; and especially His wisdom, power, and goodness: His wisdom, in the contriving, His power, in the effecting, and His goodness, in His ordering of it for the best.

First; we must acknowledge His wisdom in contriving and designing of every particular thing, so as to look upon it as the issue and product of the same infinite wisdom that projected the system of the world, and the rare harmony which appears in the whole creation. For His wisdom is certainly the same in every thing that it is in all things, and therefore ought to be so acknowledged, otherwise we can never be truly thankful for any thing, as not knowing but that it might have been better contrived than it is; whereas, if I be fully persuaded in my mind that every thing that happens proceeds from the same wisdom that made all things, and therefore must needs be the best that could happen at that time; so that if it had been any otherwise than just as it is, it would have been worse both for the creation in general, and for myself in particular; if I be fully persuaded, I say, of this, I must needs give God the praise and thanks that is due unto Him for every thing that is, or rather, my very acknowledging of it, is my thanking Him for it, because hereby I agnize and celebrate the glory of His wisdom appearing in it.

But then, we must not only acknowledge His wisdom, but His power too; for that also manifesteth itself in every

thing, as much it doth in all things, and in the least as well as in the greatest. As nothing is impossible with God, so neither is one thing more possible than another, but every thing is equally an argument and demonstration of His omnipotence, and ought to be so acknowledged; and whosoever doth that, may be truly said "in every thing to give thanks:" because hereby he professeth, that whatsoever falls out, it is brought about by God; that whosoever may be the instrument, He is the principal agent in it; that whatsoever secondary causes may concur towards the effecting of it, He is still the first; and therefore, that all the glory of it is due to Him alone.

But when we acknowledge His wisdom and power, we must not forget His goodness, which equally extendeth itself also to all and every thing that is. As in the beginning, when God had finished the creation, it is said, that "He beheld every thing that He had made, and, behold, it was Gen. 1. 31. very good;" so it hath been ever since, so it is now, and so it always will be: whatsoever God doth is very good, as good as it can be made; good in itself, and good for all His creatures in general, and good for every one in particular. And therefore the Psalmist observes, that "the Lord is good Ps. 145. 9. to all, and His mercy is over all His works;" which is so universally true, that if it was left to our own choice, we could not possibly desire any thing better, nor so good as what befalls us, with all the circumstances that attend it.

He that lives under a constant sense of this, must needs give thanks for every thing, as believing every thing to be for the best, and therefore adoring that Infinite Goodness that makes it so.

This therefore is the first thing required to our giving of thanks in every thing, even to acknowledge every thing to come from God, from wisdom, power and goodness itself, and, by consequence, that it is the wisest, the greatest, and the best thing in its kind that it could be, all circumstances considered. But that we may be duly affected with it, so as to be truly thankful for it, as we acknowledge the infinite perfections of God in every thing that is, so we must likewise acknowledge our own imperfections and unworthiness of any thing that is good for us. For whatsoever God doth

SERM. for us, if we think it is no more than what we have merited or deserved at His hands, we can never heartily thank Him for it, nor look upon ourselves as bound to do it: for no thanks are due to any one for paving what he owes us: but if it were possible for us to merit any thing at the hands of God. God Himself would be indebted to us, not we to Him, for that; and therefore, when He pays us, we must thank ourselves rather than Him for it: for, by this rule, we did more than what we were bound to do for Him, but He doth no more than what He was bound to do for us: in that He only pays us the wages which we, by our great care and pains, had merited from Him; for which we can be no way obliged to return Him thanks: insomuch, that they who look upon themselves as over-righteous, and their works as meritorious before God, whatsoever they may pretend, they can never perform this duty as they ought; for they can never really think it a duty which they ought to perform, in that whatsoever God doth for them, they still fancy it to be no more than the price of their own works, for the payment whereof they are no way obliged to give Him any thanks; or if they do, it is a work of supererogation, which He is bound to recompense some other wav.

But why do I speak so much of that? For how can we poor sinful mortals ever do more than what we are bound to do for Him from Whom we receive our very being, and by Whom alone it is that we can do any thing? Alas! although we had been perfectly free from both original and actual sin; although we were as pure and spotless as the holy Angels themselves; although all and every one of our thoughts, words, and actions, had been exactly conformable to these wise and righteous laws, which He that made us hath set before us: what is all this more than what we were before obliged to? Doth not reason itself dictate, doth not the Holy Scripture all along confirm it, doth not our Great Master Himself teach us with His Own mouth, that "when we have done all things" that are commanded us, we are Luke 17.10. still to acknowledge, we are but "unprofitable servants, we have done what was our duty to do," and no more.

But alas! how far are we from that? Which of us can

say that we have done all that was our duty to do? Or that we have done the thousandth part of it? Nay, which of us can say, that we ever did any one duty exactly as we ought to do it? "Is there a just man upon earth that doth good, [Eccl. 7. and sinneth not;" whose works are so pure and perfect, that God Himself can find no fault in them? I wish there were: but where to find them. I know not: but this I know, that our bad actions far exceed our good ones both in weight and number, and that the very best we ever did are so imperfect that they deserved not in themselves to be termed good: and, by consequence, if we do merit any thing at the hands of God by them, it cannot be His grace and favour, but rather His wrath and fury. He may justly punish us, but cannot be obliged to reward us for them. So that, if we look no farther than the good works, if they may be so called, that we have done since we came into the world, we must needs acknowledge ourselves unworthy of any of those blessings which God is pleased to bestow upon us; and therefore are bound to give Him thanks for them. As the Gen. 32. 10. Apostle himself also here intimates, in that he requires us to "give thanks" for every thing; which quite overthrows the pretended meritoriousness of good works: for if we must " give thanks for every thing," be sure we can merit nothing by what we do, seeing all the glory of it must be ascribed to God, and not to us, and we must thank Him, not ourselves. for it.

But that we may do that aright, we must not only acknowledge that we never merited any favour or blessing from Him by the good works which we have endeavoured to perform, but likewise, that by our manifold sins and offences against Him, we have justly deserved to have all the curses executed upon us that He in His Law hath threatened against wicked and sinful men, such as we cannot but all confess ourselves to have been; being conscious to ourselves that we were not only born, but also have lived in sin all our days, in all manner of sin, both of omission and commission; always doing what we ought not to do, or else not doing what we ought, at least not as we ought to do it. But every sin, as it is a transgression of God's Law, it must needs be likewise an offence to His Divine Majesty, Who

SERM.

gives us our very life and being, and all the good things we have; and Who may therefore justly deprive us of them, and lay all manner of punishment upon us for any one sin that we ever committed: what then may He do for all; for all those many and horrid sins, which we all stand guilty of before Him? Or rather, what may He not do? For we all lie at His mercy, and must confess, with the Prophet,

Now, he who thus acknowledgeth God's infinite wisdom, power, and goodness, in every thing that is, who acknow-

Lam. 3. 22. that "it is of the Lord's mercies that we are not consumed, because His compassions fail not." It is of His mercies, His infinite mercies and compassions, that we are here at this time, and not upon our sick-bed; that we are here, and not in prison; that we are here, and not in Hell.

ledgeth himself unworthy of having any thing that is good, and therefore acknowledgeth God's mercy also, as well as goodness in every good thing he hath, such a one may be truly said to give thanks in every thing; all the thanks that we can give to God, consisting only in such a recognition and acknowledgment of Him as I have now described. And, therefore, in all the Old Testament, as I remember, there is no other word ever used by the Holy Ghost for our giving of thanks to God, but only such as signify our acknowledgment of Him: as where it is said, "O give thanks unto the Lord, for He is good, for His mercy endureth for ever:" the words in the original are, חדר ליהוח כישוב Ps. 107. 1. בי לעולם חסדו "Acknowledge to the Lord that He is good, that His mercy endureth for ever:" where we may likewise see, what it is that we must acknowledge in God, in order to our thanking of Him, even His goodness and His mercy. And this, as I could easily shew, is the constant language of the Holy Scriptures, wherein God was pleased at first to reveal His will to mankind; whereby He hath plainly acquainted us how He would have us to give Him thanks, even by acknowledging Him in every thing; which, therefore, whosoever doth, may be properly said to perform the duty enjoined in my text.

But here we must farther observe, that though this acknowledgment of God, wherein our gratitude or thankfulness consisteth, be seated only in the mind, and is indeed nothing else but a quick and lively sense of His infinite wisdom. power, and goodness, in every thing that happens to us; and of His infinite mercy in every good thing he bestows upon us: vet wheresoever it is sincere and true, it always manifests itself in our words and actions. In our words, by praising and magnifying those Divine perfections which we acknowledge in all God's dispensations towards us: and, therefore, in Hebrew, the same word that signifies our acknowledging, or giving thanks, is used also for our praising God, to shew that they are both one and the same thing diversely expressed; the one in the heart only, the other also with the tongue, but so, that they always go together; for no man can be truly thankful to God but he must needs praise Him, and no man can heartily praise God without being thankful to Him: and, therefore, he that would do either, must be sure to do both. He that would give thanks in every thing, must praise God for every thing; this being one of the ways which God Himself hath prescribed whereby to express our thankfulness unto Him, even by praising and celebrating His great and glorious Name for His wisdom, and power, and goodness, and mercy, and for all His infinite perfections, and His wonderful works to the sons of men in general, and to us in particular, whom He hath made, redeemed, and still preserves on purpose to praise and glorify Him, as we do this day.

But though this be one, it is not the only way whereby we ought to express our thankfulness to God our Almighty Creator, our most merciful Redeemer, and our continual Benefactor; for we must do it, "not only with our lips, but in our lives, by giving up ourselves to His service, and walking in holiness and righteousness before Him all the days of our life." This is giving of thanks for every thing indeed, when we serve and glorify God in every thing we do; for this is an open and actual acknowledgment that we have nothing but what we receive from His goodness and mercy, by employing every thing we have to His honour and glory. By this means, as every thing God doth will afford matter of praise and thankfulness to us, so every thing we do will be an expression of it to Him; and so we shall fully and effectually perform the great and heavenly duty here

SERM. CVII. enjoined by the Apostle, saying, "In every thing give

"In every thing:" not only in some, or many, or most things; no, nor only in all things in general, but in every thing particularly, without any exception or mental reservation: we must give thanks in every thing; in every thing we have, in every thing we are, in every thing we do, and in every thing we suffer too. But then we must take special notice of the expression: it is not said, for every thing, but, "in every thing give thanks:" for sufferings, as such, cannot be properly the subject-matter of our praise and thankfulness, by reason of our natural aversion to them, and because, as such, they are the effects of God's displeasure, which we are bound to fear and dread above all things in the world, and therefore cannot be bound at the same time to praise and thank Him for them. But, howsoever, there is no suffering that befalls us in this world, but there is something in it that is designed for our good, and will really be so if we do but make a right use of it: and that seems to be the reason why the Apostle doth not say "for," but "in every thing give thanks;" because, although there may be some things for which we cannot be obliged properly to give thanks, yet there is nothing in the world but hath something in it for which we ought to do it: as we shall see more plainly in the whole series of this discourse, wherein I shall endeavour to shew what cause we have to give thanks in every thing that any ways concerns us; as, indeed, all things in the world some way or other do. But, howsoever, to make the discourse more useful and practical, I shall instance more especially in such things as more intimately concern us, as having a particular relation to our souls, bodies, or estates; and if we have cause to give thanks in all such things, there can be nothing in the world but we ought to do it in.

First, therefore, by these things which concern our souls, I mean all such things as have any relation to our present serving or future enjoyment of God; to our being made holy here, and happy hereafter: for those are the things wherein our souls are principally concerned. And, indeed, we can never be sufficiently thankful that we have souls

which are capable of such things as these, even of knowing, and honouring, and enjoying God, and of being thankful to Him that made them so, and that made them so on purpose that they might be thankful unto Him for it, and for every thing else wherein He hath manifested His love and mercy to them: as what love, what mercy did He not manifest unto our souls, when He sent His Only-begotten Son into the world, for no other end but to redeem and raise them up from that state of sin and misery into which they were fallen? In which one instance there were so many mercies contained, that we can never reckon them all up, much less acknowledge them as we ought: yet, howsoever, we ought to do it as well as we can, by giving thanks for every thing that the Son of God hath done or suffered for us: "for the mystery of His holy Incarnation; for His holy Nativity and Circumcision; for His Baptism, Fasting, and Temptation; for His Agony and bloody Sweat; for His Cross and Passion; for His precious Death and Burial; for His glorious Resurrection and Ascension;" for His sitting on the right hand of God, and there making intercession for us; for His sending the Holy Ghost, and still continuing it in His Church unto this day: in all, and every one of these, and such like things which Christ hath done, or still is doing for us, we ought to be always giving thanks; it being only upon their account that we have any thing at all to be thankful for, or grace to be thankful for any thing we have.

But as God would never have shewed us any mercy at all, except His Son had first satisfied His justice for our sins; so now there is no mercy whatsoever but God, for His sake, is always ready to bestow it upon us. And, whatsoever good things we have, we must acknowledge them all to come from God's mercy to us in His only Son, our only Saviour Christ; without Whom we could never have had any one thing that would have been really good for us; whereas there is nothing that either is or can be really good for us but we either have or may have it by Him. And, indeed, how many and great blessings do we all at this time enjoy by Him, for which we ought to be always giving thanks? By Him we were all born and bred in the best and purest part of His Holy Catholic Church, now militant upon earth: by Him our Church, after

it had been oppressed many years, was miraculously restored again, and is still as wonderfully preserved, and will be so, I hope, to the end of the world: by Him we enjoy the Oracles of God in our own native tongue, so as to be able to consult them every day: by Him we have His Holy Sacraments duly and constantly administered among us according to His Own institution and appointment: by Him we can meet together in God's Own house, to pray unto Him, to praise His Holy Name, and hear His Word every day in the week, and at His Own table every Lord's Day to feed upon His mystical body and blood, so as to partake of all the merits of that death which He suffered for us: by Him we are faithfully instructed in all things necessary to be known, believed, or done, in order to our Salvation by Him: by Him we have a constant succession of Bishops, Priests, and Deacons among us, to rule and govern us, to reprove, admonish, or correct us, if we do amiss; to resolve our doubts, to satisfy our scruples, to comfort the disconsolate, to relieve the afflicted, to strengthen the weak, and to guide and direct us all in the right way to bliss; by Him we are constantly put in mind of our whole duty both to God and man, how [Tit. 2. 12.] " to live soberly, righteously, and godly in this present world;" how to fast, and pray, and to give alms; how to be meek, and humble, and loyal, and charitable, and just in all our dealings; how to love, and fear, and serve, and honour, and obey God, "and in every thing to give thanks unto Him." In short, we have every thing, by the merits of our blessed Saviour, that can any way conduce to the making of our souls happy, and therefore must needs be obliged "in every thing to give thanks to God" for Him by Whom we have it, as well as for every thing that we have by Him.

> And although our bodies be not of so pure and spiritual a nature as our souls are, yet, they likewise being maintained and redeemed too by Almighty God, we ought to give thanks in every thing relating to them also. It is true, our bodies are made of very coarse materials, of nothing but a little dust and earth; yet they are so wisely contrived, so curiously composed, so neatly, so artificially, so admirably ordered and put together, that we cannot but acknowledge

and admire the wisdom and power of Him that made them, in every part of them; as David did, saying, "I will praise Ps. 139. 14, Thee, O Lord, for I am fearfully and wonderfully made: 15. marvellous are Thy works, and that my soul knoweth right well. My substance was not hid from Thee, when I was made in secret, and curiously wrought in the lowest parts of the earth." And, considering the frailty and weakness of our mortal bodies, how prone they are to moulder away into their first principles, we cannot but acknowledge the goodness and mercy of God in their daily preservation, as well as His wisdom and power in their contexture and composition: for we see, by daily experience, how little a thing is apt to disorder and put them out of tune; yet, nevertheless we see too, how long we live in health, and strength, and vigour, both of body and mind; how the organs of our senses, as well as other members, are kept in tune for many years together; yea, and the very animal spirits too, which the soul makes use of in its operations. But who can see this, and not cry out with the aforesaid Prophet, "This is the Lord's doing, Ps. 118, 23. and it is marvellous in our eyes?" It was He that made these earthly tabernacles at first, and it is He that upholds them every moment; insomuch that should He but once let go His hold of them, they would immediately drop down to nothing; and therefore to Him must the thanks and praise be given for every moment that we either live or move, or have any being at all.

And what if our bodies be sometimes sick and out of tune? What a miracle of mercy is it that they are not always so, as God might justly make them! And yet, in that very sickness, we have cause to give thanks that we are still in the body, though it be in pain, or sick, and that that very pain or sickness of our bodies is designed by God for the health and welfare of our souls, and that He is pleased by it to put us in mind of our latter end, and to prepare us for it, by "mortifying our flesh with its affections and lusts," which otherwise would destroy our souls. In which respects I verily believe that sickness is a greater blessing than health itself to many persons; yea, to all sincere Christians that make that use of it which God intends, and therefore cannot but give Him thanks for it.



SERM. CVII. But what if this sickness ends in death? Must we in that also give thanks? Yes, surely: for that also is no more than the death of the body, and so carries us only out of this vain, and troublesome, and sinful world, into that where all that sleep in the Lord Jesus enjoy perpetual rest and felicity. And they who desire to be there, cannot surely but thank God for all the methods that He is pleased to use whereby to bring them thither, and particularly for taking them out of the body in order to it.

And then, as for our outward estate, and condition in this world, it cannot be denied but that we are continually subject to changes and alterations in it; but it cannot also but be acknowledged, that we have as much cause to thank God for every one, as for any of them. Are you rich and prosperous in the world? How came ye to be so? Was it by your own wisdom and cunning, by your own care and industry? No surely. There are many as wise, and cunning, and careful, and industrious as you can be; and yet live in penury But whom then must you thank for your wealth Prov.10.22. and riches? None certainly but God: "It is His blessing Deut. 8. 18. that maketh rich." "It is He alone that giveth thee power to get wealth." So that you are beholden to Him for every foot of land, for every farthing of money, for every crumb of bread, for every drop of drink, for every rag of clothes you have in the world, and therefore must needs be bound to thank Him for every thing you have: yea, and for what you have not too: for what He gives you He knows it will be really good for you, if you do but make a good use of it; but what He thinks good not to give you, you may be confident it would do you no good if you had it, but rather much hurt; and, by consequence, your not having it is a greater mercy than if you had it: so that you have the same cause to give thanks for every thing you have not as for every thing you have.

> And herein, I dare say, I speak no more than what many here present have found true by their own experience; who having earnestly desired some temporal blessing, as they thought it to be, and being disappointed of it, have afterwards plainly seen that it was much better for them not to have it than to have it; and therefore that their disappoint

ment was a far greater mercy than the thing itself would have been: and by consequence, that they have more cause to thank God for withholding it from them, than if He had bestowed it upon them. This we ourselves may easily observe in many things; from whence we may conclude it holds good in all, though we do not always take notice of it; but though we cannot see the event of things, what will, or what will not do us good, God doth, and if we leave it to Him, we may rest satisfied in our minds, that He will take care that we shall have nothing that may do us hurt, as well as all things that are good for us; and so in every thing give thanks unto Him.

And what if God shall see good not only to withhold what we desire, but also to withdraw something from us, which He hath already bestowed upon us? That, I confess, at first sight may seem to us very severe and hard: but if God sees good to do it, we may be sure it is so: and therefore must give Him thanks, not only that we once had it, and that we had it so long, but likewise that we had it no longer; that He continued it to us so long as He saw it might be good for us, and took it from us so soon as He saw it might do us hurt. For this we have the famous example of Job, who was stripped of all his children and his whole estate in one day, and left as bare and naked as he came into the world, and yet was so far from repining at it, that he immediately gave God his humble and hearty thanks for it, saying, " Naked came I out of my mother's womb, Job 1. 21. and naked shall I return thither: the Lord gave, and the Lord hath taken away: blessed be the name of the Lord."

But while we are in this mortal body we are liable to many other troubles and calamities, besides these abovementioned. It is true we are so; but it is as true also, that no man suffered ever so much in this world, as God might justly have laid upon him: but whatsoever happens we may still say with Ezra, that "God hath punished us less than Ezra 9. 13. our iniquities deserve." So that in the midst of all the judgments we meet with here below, there is some mercy for which we ought to give thanks, if it was for nothing else, but that the judgment is no greater than it is, but far less than it might have been: but besides that, the very



punishment itself is a token of God's love: for "whom the SERM. CVII. Heb. 12. 6, Lord loveth He chasteneth, and scourgeth every son whom He receiveth. If ye endure chastening, God dealeth with you as with sons." And certainly that is no small favour, that Almighty God Himself should treat us like His Own children. But why doth He ever chasten us? His Own pleasure, but for our profit, "that we might be ver. 10. partakers of His holiness;" of His holiness, the greatest blessing that we can ever have; yet that is designed for us in every chastisement that God is pleased to lay upon us. He intends not only to do us good, but to make us good by it; to take off our minds from sin and the world, and to incline them wholly to Him, and His wise and righteous Laws: which David found to be the happy effect of all his Ps. 119. 67. troubles, saying, "Before I was afflicted I went astray, but now I have kept Thy Word;" and therefore, "it is good ver. 71. for me that I have been afflicted, that I might learn Thy statutes." From whence it comes to pass, that, as St. Paul 2 Cor. 4.17. assures us, "Our light affliction, which is but for a moment, worketh for us a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory." And this hath been the constant experience of all that truly love and fear God in all ages. They have still reaped more spiritual profit and advantage from their troubles, than from all the outward comforts they ever enjoyed. And although we cannot always see it so plainly here, yet when we come into the other world, where God will discover to us the reasons of all His dealings with us here below, we shall then perfectly behold and admire God's goodness and mercy to us in every thing that befell us: we shall then clearly see, that the very troubles and crosses we have met with, were not only profitable, but so necessary for us, that but for them, we had been ruined and undone for ever, and therefore would not have been without any one of them for all this world. In short, we shall then see the truth Rom. 8. 28. of the Apostle's assertion, that "all things work together for good to them that love God, to them who are the called according to His purpose," and by consequence, that no one thing ever happened to us, but what we have cause to give thanks for; and that too, in our spiritual estate, as well as temporal. For whilst we are in the body, we are subject, not only to the troubles of the world, but likewise to temptations from the Devil. But whatsoever may be his end in tempting, be sure God's end in suffering it is only for our good; to make us more humble and vile in our own eves, more sober and vigilant against our ghostly enemies, more fervent and sincere in our prayers to God, more frequent and devout in our addresses to Christ at His holy table, and more constant in the exercise of all such graces and virtues as are necessary in that case; as of meekness, and patience, and courage, and faith, and trust on the promises of God, and the merits and intercession of our blessed Saviour, to assist and enable us, not only to withstand but conquer the temptation, and grow better by it: by which means we have cause to give thanks, even in every temptation that assaults us: how much more, for every one of these spiritual mercies that God is pleased to vouchsafe unto us, for every motion of His Holy Spirit, for every check of our own consciences, for every reproof of His Holy Word, for every grace we have, for every good work we do, and for every bad one that we do not, for every truth that He hath revealed to us, for every promise He made us, for every command He hath laid upon us, for every advice and counsel that He hath given us to leave our sins, and to return to Him, to be holy and righteous in all our ways, and "in every thing to give thanks" to Him; as He doth this day!

For this is that which in His Name I now advise and beseech you all to do, that you would " not be only hearers, [James 1. but doers of the Word." Ye have heard that it is your duty to give thanks in every thing, and what cause you have to do it; go ye therefore, and do likewise. "In every thing give thanks; for this is the will of God in Christ Jesus concerning you." It is God's will, and therefore your duty. It is God's will in Christ Jesus concerning you, and therefore it must needs be your interest too. For now that Christ hath suffered all the punishments which were due to you, ve may be sure that nothing is either laid upon you, or required of you by God, but what is really for your good and profit: as this doubtless is as much, if not more than any other duty whatsoever: for to give thanks in every thing, is the way never to be discomposed or disturbed at

SERM. any thing; but always cheerful and pleasant, rejoicing in the goodness and love of God, manifested in every thing that happens to us. This is the way to turn all our seeming troubles into real mercies, and to make every thing that God either doth or gives to us, to be good for us: for.

- 1 Tim. 4. 4. as the Apostle says, "Every creature of God is good, and nothing to be refused, if it be received with thanksgiving;" so that by this means no evil can ever befall us; for, whatsoever befalls us, shall do us good. Yea, this is the way to antedate the joys of the other world; to live Heaven upon earth; to be fellow-commoners with the glorified Saints and Angels, even whilst we are in the body: for though we know but little else of what they do or have above, yet this we know, that they are always giving praise and thanks to God, and that it is their pleasure and delight to do it. For thus St. John beheld them employing and recreating themselves in singing hallelujahs to the Most High God,
- Rev. 4. 11. and crying out, "Thou art worthy, O Lord, to receive glory, and honour, and power; for Thou hast created all things, and for Thy pleasure they are and were created."
- Ch. 7. 12. And again, "Amen. Blessing, and glory, and wisdom, and thanksgiving, and honour, and power, and might, be unto our God for ever and ever. Amen." This is their work, and this is their pleasure too. And so far as we sincerely praise and thank God, so far we do as they do, and enjoy what they enjoy, before we come to them; and so shall be duly prepared and qualified to be admitted into their blessed society, and to join with them in adoring and magnifying the Almighty Creator, and most gracious Governor of the world, and in giving thanks to Him for every thing He ever did, either to us, or for us; through His only Son, our Saviour Jesus Christ: "To Whom, with the Father, and the Holy Ghost, be all honour and praise and thanks, for ever and ever."

SERMON CVIII.

ALL THINGS TO BE DONE TO THE GLORY OF GOD.

1 Cor. x. 31.

Whether therefore ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God.

As ever we desire to live well and do good in the world, we must take special care to direct our lives and actions all to a right and good end. For though a good end can never make a bad action good, yet a bad end always makes an action bad; be the matter of it never so plainly commanded by God, and the manner of our doing it never so agreeable to His revealed will; yet, after all, the action itself cannot be good, unless the end for which we do it be so. For it will fail in one of the most necessary causes and qualifications required to it: and that is one great reason that there is so little good ever done in the world, because men seldom make that which is truly good the end of any thing, much less of all things they do. All men, as they are understanding and free agents, propound some end or other to themselves in all their actions; and it is always something which they apprehend to be good and convenient for them, and think they may be better and happier with it than without it, otherwise they would not desire it, nor do any thing for it. But most men being led more by fancy, than by reason or religion, are apt to mistake that for good, which is not so; and through that mistake spoil all their actions, by directing them to a wrong end.

This is the case of all who labour only to get a livelihood



SER CVI

17

All Things to be Done to the Glory of God. 96 All who design nothing but to enrich serve. in the world; of all who lay out themselves wholly to adcivit themselves; families; of all who aim and all who aim all who aim and all who aim all who aim and all who aim and all who aim all who all who all who aim all who aim all who all who aim all who themselves; of all who aim no higher than at rance their families; of all who aim no higher than at vance their is who aim no higher than at sensual delights and pleasures; of all who aspire at the sensual across honour and grandeur of the world; of all who imaginary multitude, and strive above all things to be thought wise, or great, or good, or ingenious, or learned, or thought, or any thing more than ordinary among men: this indeed is the case of all that make any thing in this world the end of their living and labours in it. Their labours are all lost, they live to no purpose; for they never do any one good work: those things they aim at in all their actions, having nothing of real worth and goodness in them; nothing of truth or certainty; nothing of happiness or satisfaction to the mind; nothing but what is below and inferior to them as men; nothing that can either make them, or do them good, or contribute any thing towards it.

Ye cannot but all acknowledge the condition of such men to be very sad and deplorable: for as they never do any good in this world, they can never receive any in the next; but as they spend their time in doing ill, they must spend eternity in suffering for it. And yet this is the case of most men in the world, and I fear of most here present. Neither is there any way whereby it is possible for any of us to avoid it, without turning our eyes for the future to their proper object, and making that the great end and design in all our actions which God Himself hath prescribed to us. What that is, we need not go far to seek, having it here under His Own hand, and delivered to us by His Apostle, saying, "Whether therefore ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ve do, do all to the glory of God." From whence it is evident at first sight, that it is the will and pleasure of Him that made us, that His glory be the end not only of the greatest, but of the least, not only of some, but of all the actions of our whole life. So that whatsoever is not done to this end, is not done according to the will of God, and therefore can never be good and acceptable in His sight.

This therefore being a thing that is not only very good in itself, but that without which nothing we do is good, we cannot but look upon ourselves as highly concerned to understand the true nature and grounds of it; for which purpose therefore we shall consider,

- I. What we are to understand by the glory of God.
- II. What it is properly to do any thing for the glory of God.
- III. In what sense we ought to do all things for that end. IV. Why we ought to do so.
- I. The first question must be first resolved, because the others depend upon that; and it is not so easy a matter to do it as it may seem at first sight. For though the glory of God be often mentioned in Scripture, and we often speak of it in our common discourse, yet it is not so commonly understood. It is the glory of the Supreme Being of the world, and therefore so great, so resplendent, so infinite, that we cannot cast our eyes upon it, but they are immediately dazzled; we cannot think of it, but our thoughts are presently confounded: how then can we find words whereby to express and declare it? Howsoever, I shall, by His leave and assistance of Whom I speak, offer at something towards it, that we may understand what the Scriptures mean by the glory of God: but lest I should say any thing unbecoming of it, and so disparage rather than explain it, I shall keep as close as I can to God's Own word, Who best knows His Own glory, and has been pleased to give us as much light into it as He thought good and needful for us, as in other places of Scripture, so especially in that, where He condescended so far as to discourse with Moses upon this Exod. 33. very subject.

For there we read, that "Moses pitched the tabernacle without the camp, and called it, אחל מועד, the tabernacle of the congregation," or rather as the word signifies, "the ver. 7. tabernacle of meeting," where God would meet His people, and be "found" of those "who sought Him." And accordingly, when Moses entered into the tabernacle, "the cloudy ver. 9. pillar descended, and stood at the door of the tabernacle, and the Lord talked with Moses." We often find in Scripture, God's special presence signified by a cloud hovering over the place where He was pleased to exhibit it. And it is sometimes said, that "the glory of the Lord appeared in it," or with it, as Exod. xvi. 10, and xl. 34, 35, 1 Kings,



viii. 10, "like a devouring fire," Exod. xxiv. 17, or an extraordinary brightness and light shining in or near the cloud. As at our Saviour's birth it is said, "The glory of Luke 2. 9. the Lord shone round about the shepherds." But at this time Moses saw no such light or glory appearing in the cloud. He only saw a cloud, and heard a voice coming out of it, but did not see Him That spoke it: and therefore desired, and made it his humble request, that he might see His glory, and His way, so that he might know Him, say-Exod.33.13. ing, "Now therefore I pray thee, if I have found grace in Thy sight, shew me now Thy way that I may know Thee." He did not ask to see God Himself, but His way; that is, His way or manner of working and manifesting Himself in the world. So the Rabbins say, that by the "ways of God" are understood, מדוח, His properties or perfections, which He exerteth in the government of the world. And so doth Ps. 103. 7. David himself, where he saith, "The Lord made known His

ways unto Moses, His works unto the children of Israel."

After this, Moses desires the same thing again in other Exod.33.18, words, saving to God, "I beseech Thee, shew me Thy glory." To which God answered, "I will make all My ver. 19. goodness pass before thee, and I will proclaim the Name of the Lord before thee." This was a full answer to Moses's request; but lest Moses should mistake His meaning, He adds, "Thou canst not see My face: for there shall no man ver. 20. see Me, and live." As if He had said, If by My glory thou meanest My face, My very essence or nature, that cannot be seen by any mortal; but I will shew thee as much of My glory as mortals are capable of seeing, by causing My goodness to pass, and proclaiming My name before thee. ver. 21-23. For which purpose saith He, "Thou shalt stand upon this rock, and it shall come to pass, while My glory passeth by, that I will put thee in a clift of the rock, and will cover thee with My hand while I pass by. And I will take away My hand, and thou shalt see My back parts; but My face shall not be seen." Where, as by His "face" we are to understand His Essential Glory, or His Divine Itself, wherein all His perfections concentre, or rather are all but one and the same perfection; so by His "back parts" we may understand the emanations of His said Essential Glory, or the

manifestations it maketh of itself in the exercise of its Divine perfections, in the government of the world, and particularly in respect to mankind; which last shew forth the glory of God à posteriori, by its effects and consequents, although à priori we can see nothing of it. As we can neither see nor know any thing of the sun, what it is in itself, but we behold its glory in its light and heat, and many wonderful effects which it produceth upon the earth.

That this is the proper meaning of the promise which God here made to Moses, is evident from His manner of fulfilling it. God had promised him to make all His "goodness and His glory pass before him," and "to shew him His back parts." Now, in the next chapter, where this promise is fulfilled, it is written, "And the Lord passed by before Exod. 34. him, and proclaimed, The Lord, the Lord God, merciful and 6,7. gracious, long-suffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity and transgression and sin, and that will by no means clear the guilty (or as the words may be rendered, 'that he will not utterly destroy'); visiting the iniquities of the fathers upon the children, and upon the children's children, unto the third and to the fourth generation." Here the Jews reckon up thirteen properties of God, whereof only one is vindictive, and that too is the last. "These," be sure, " are the ways of God," as David himself observes, Psal. ciii. 7, 8; cxlv. 6-8. These are those Divine perfections which He displays and manifesteth in the world, and especially towards mankind; and that therefore is properly called the glory of God, which shines forth in the manifestation of these perfections. As where our Saviour said to Martha, "Said I not unto thee, that if thou wouldst believe, thou John 11.40, shouldst see the glory of God?" that is, His infinite power, and goodness, and mercy, manifested in raising her dead brother to life. Hence the Seraphims cried one to another, "Holy, holy, holy is the Lord of Hosts, the whole earth is Isa. 6. 3. full of His glory;" that is, of His Divine properties exerted and manifested in all His works. This is properly the glory of God, and that so great, so infinitely great, that although it shine continually about us, so that unless we shut our eyes, we cannot but see it as clearly as we do the light of the sun at

SERM. CVIII.

Rom. 11. 33. 36. noon-day; yet we are not capable to comprehend it, but must cry out with the Apostle, where, speaking of God's mercy, he saith, "O the depth of the riches, both of the wisdom and knowledge of God! How unsearchable are His judgments, and His ways past finding out! For of Him, and through Him, and to Him, are all things: to Whom be glory for ever."

But being got upon the place where God was pleased to proclaim His Name, and to make His glory and goodness pass before Moses. I cannot leave it till I have farther observed, that although there be several other names and properties of God commonly attributed to Him in His Holy Word, besides those which are there specified and particularly mentioned, yet they are all included or implied in one or other of them. His great essential Name JEHOVAH, the LORD, is twice used, once singly, or by itself, and again with א, GOD, the LORD, the LORD GOD. The first, I humbly conceive, signifies what He is in Himself, without respect to His creatures: as His existence in and of Himself, His Simplicity, His Immensity, His Omnipresence, His Omniscience, His Immutability, His Eternity, and many such perfections, which we are not able to comprehend, are all contained in His Name JEHOVAH, signifying Being, or Essence itself: but where it is used with the word GOD, it seems to denote all those perfections, which He manifesteth in the creation and government of the world, and all things in it, as His Wisdom, His Omnipotence, His Goodness, His All-sufficiency, His Authority and Supreme Dominion, which He exerciseth in and over all and every creature that is. And so the LORD GOD is the same as if He had said, The Lord, the Almighty, All-wise, All-good Creator, Preserver, and Governor of all things: this He speaks of Himself, with reference to the whole creation. But the rest of the properties here mentioned, as, His mercy, His grace, His long-suffering, His abundance in goodness, or bounty, and truth, His keeping mercy for thousands, His forgiving iniquities, transgression, and sin, &c. have all respect to mankind in a particular manner. And by the last I named, His "forgiving," or as the word signifies, "His taking away iniquity, transgression, and sin," He plainly shews His special love to them, in sending His Son, "the Lamb of God, that taketh away the sin of the world."

These are those Divine perfections wherein the glory of God appeareth especially to us, and wherein He is so transcendently, so infinitely glorious, that no man can think of them as he ought, but he must needs admire and adore As Moses did, who had no sooner heard them proclaimed, but he "made haste, and bowed his head toward Exod. 34. 8. the earth, and worshipped." And though we never heard them proclaimed as he did, yet we see them continually shining forth both towards ourselves and in all things else: as David saith, "The Heavens declare the glory of God, and Psal. 19. 1. the firmament sheweth His handy-work;" because His infinite Wisdom, Power, and Goodness, appear so clearly in them. And hence it is, that when we acknowledge any of His Divine perfections, and testify the same either by words or deeds, we are said to "glorify Him." As when Christ had raised a dead man to life at Nain, it is said, "that the Luke 7.15. people glorified God, saying, that a great Prophet is risen up among us, and that God hath visited His people." They acknowledged God's Truth, His Goodness and Mercy, in visiting His people, and raising up a great Prophet among them; and this is called their glorifying Him. And therefore, to glorify God, is opposed to speaking ill of Him: "On 1 Pet. 4.14. their part He is evil spoken of, on your part He is glorified." And wheresoever God is said to be glorified, as He often is in the Holy Scriptures, this was the way whereby it was done: neither is there any other way whereby it is possible for us to glorify so glorious a being as He is, but only by acknowledging and admiring His glory; and therefore St. Paul saith, that "He shall be glorified in His Saints, and 2 Thess. 1. admired in all them that believe;" that is, He shall be glorified, by being admired in them for the infinite goodness that He hath manifested to them; I say, His goodness, because that implies all the perfections which He exerteth in them, and so is the same with His glory; as appears from His Own words to Moses before quoted. For having first said, "I will make all My goodness pass before thee," He Exod. 33. afterwards saith, "when My glory passeth by;" whereby ver. 22.

SERM. He gives us to understand, that His glory is nothing else but His goodness shining forth in all His works; and, by consequence, that His goodness in this place doth not signify any one, but all His perfections manifested in the world; and the more they are manifest, the more He is And therefore, our Blessed Saviour, in His prayer to His Father, having first said, "I have glorified Thee on the earth," He afterwards shews how He did it, saying, "I have manifested Thy Name unto the men which John 17. 4, 6. Thou gavest Me out of the world." And thus it is that we must glorify God, if we ever do it at all, even by manifesting His Name, that is Himself, or which is the same, His perfections in the world: for herein it is that His glory properly consisteth. And whensoever we speak of the glory of God, we mean nothing else but these His Divine properties, as displayed and manifested in the world, which are therefore Eph. 3. 16. called "His glory."

II. I have insisted the longer upon this, because it will help us to understand the next question aright, even what it is properly to do any thing "to the glory of God:" for, seeing that "the glory of God" is nothing else but the manifestation of Him and His perfections in the world, hence it necessarily follows, that he who doth any thing for that end and purpose, that God and His perfections may be better manifested in the world, may be truly said to do it "for the glory of God." Although God, as the Psalmist saith, be "good to all, and His mercy is over all His [Psal. 145. 9.] works," so that all reasonable creatures, whose hearts are pure and holy, cannot but see Him in every thing that is; yet mankind, being corrupted and defiled with sin, are apt to live as without God in the world, taking no more notice of Him than a blind man doth of the sun, which he cannot see though it shine never so clearly. Now, when a man doth any thing whereby the Goodness, the Wisdom, the Power, the Mercy, or any of the properties of the Most High God, is made more manifest and evident in the eyes of men than otherwise it would be, so that they may see and admire Him, such a one glorifies God; and if he doth it with that intention and design, and no other, then he properly doth it " for the glory of God."

Digitized by Google

That this is the true and genuine sense of the phrase, as it is used in my text, appears from the context itself: for the Apostle is here speaking of eating such things as are offered in sacrifice to idols; and saith, that "it is not unlawful to eat of them," but only in the case of scandal and offence which may be taken at it: as if a Christian be invited to eat with unbelievers, who sometimes had such meat at their tables as had been offered at an idol altar; the Christian might lawfully go thither: but if any one should say to him, this is offered in sacrifice to such or such an idol, as suppose to Jupiter, Diana, Ceres, &c., in that case the Christian ought not to eat of it, for his sake who shewed it: for in that he told him, that it was offered to such an idol, he thereby shewed that he thought if the Christian really believed what he professed he would not eat of it; that being accounted among the heathen, as an acknowledging the idol to be God, and a considerable honour done to it, as such. In which case, therefore, the Christian ought not to eat of it, lest he should seem to acknowledge any other God but the Creator of the world. and so give occasion to the unbelievers to think, that for all his professing to worship none but Him, the true God, yet he is not so fully persuaded of it, but that he can join with them in doing honour to other gods besides Him; at least, when he can thereby gratify his palate, and the company he is in: from whence the unbelievers might take occasion to think better of their idols, and worse of the true God. Whom the Christians profess to worship: which would be a great dishonour to Him, by encouraging others to continue in the worship of false gods, and so hindering them from giving that honour to the true God, which is due unto Him. this case, therefore, the Apostle would not have Christians eat of any thing that is offered to idols. And then having proved that this doth not infringe their Christian liberty, but that they may lawfully eat of any thing without scruple, where they can do it without offence: he lays down this as a general rule, to be observed upon all occasions, "Whether therefore ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God." And then he adds, "Give none offence, neither to the Jews, nor to the Gentiles, nor to the Church

SERM.

of God:" that is, do nothing whereby others may be offended at your religion, or from whence they may take occasion to think or speak evil of the God you worship: but rather carry yourselves so among all you converse with, that they may see and acknowledge His majesty and dominion over the world: as in this case; if upon notice given you, that such a thing is offered to an idol, you refuse to partake of it; both he that told you of it, and others, will thereby clearly see that you are fully persuaded in your conscience, that the God you worship is the only true God, and that He is so great, so glorious, so mighty, and so righteous a Being, that ye dare not do any thing whereby ye may seem to own any other God, and so dishonour and displease Him; which may be a means of putting others also upon thinking as highly and honourably of Him as you do, and so may be persuaded to serve and worship Him as they ought. This is, in short, the Apostle's scope and design in this place: from whence it plainly appears, that where he saith, "Whether ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ve do, do all to the glory of God," his meaning is, that all men, especially Christians, should make this the great end of all their actions, that Almighty God may be better known, acknowledged, admired, and honoured in the world: and therefore this must needs be the proper meaning of doing any thing to the glory of God. But lest this should not be so well understood by all as I

could wish it was, I shall endeavour to explain it by some known instances. When Abraham had received the promise from God, that " in his seed all the nations of the earth should be blessed," although, his age and circumstances considered, the thing might seem impossible to be done, yet, as Rom. 4. 20, the Apostle saith, "he staggered not at the promise of God through unbelief; but was strong in faith, giving glory to God; and being fully persuaded, that what He had promised, He was able also to perform." By this means, he gave glory to God, even by being strong in faith, and fully persuaded of His truth and power to perform what He had promised, how impossible soever it might seem to be. So here, he that doth any thing, whereby to demonstrate to the world, that he is fully persuaded of God's wisdom, goodness, truth, power, or the like, he doth it to the glory of God,

because God, by that means, may be better known and admired in the world.

Hence it is, that our Saviour calls His Disciples "the Matt. 5. 14. light of the world," because by them men may see the goodness of God, as they see His works by the light of the sun. And therefore He adds, "Let your light so shine before men, ver. 16. that they may see your good works, and glorify your Father which is in Heaven." Though He would not have them do good works therefore only that men may see them; yet He would have them do them so that men may see them, and glorify God, by acknowledging His grace and goodness in them. And this is properly their doing them " to the glory of God:" which plainly appears in every good work a man doth: because he thereby sets forth God's authority over the world. His goodness in what He hath commanded, and His grace, and mercy, and power, in enabling men to act accordingly. And therefore our Lord elsewhere also saith to His Disciples, "Herein is My Father glorified, that ye bear John 15.8. much fruit." And St. Paul prays that the Philippians "might be filled with the fruits of righteousness, unto the Phil. 1.11. glory and praise of God." And when our Lord had told St. Peter, that "when he was old, he should stretch forth his hands, and another should gird him, and carry him whither he would not," St. John saith, that "he spake this, signi- John 21.19. fying by what death he should glorify God." Because his laying down his life, as he afterwards did, upon a cross, for Christ's sake, was as great a demonstration as he could give of his being fully persuaded of God's truth and goodness revealed in the Gospel. By this the Apostle saith he should "glorify God," or this he should do to the glory of God. From all which it is evident, that the doing a thing to the glory of God, is the same with doing it therefore that God may be glorified: that is, as I have shewn, that these Divine perfections which He exerteth in the world, may be seen. admired, and praised as they ought.

III. This the Apostle saith should be the end of all our actions: "Whether ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God." He instanceth particularly in eating and drinking, because, as I observed, he is here speaking of eating things offered in sacrifice to an idol.

SERM.

But lest we should think that he intended it only for that case, he makes it a general rule to be observed in all and every action of our life, that "whensoever we eat, or drink," upon any other occasion as well as that, and "whatsoever else we do," we still must do it for this end, even for "the glory of God." But then the next question is, in what sense we ought to do all things for this end, that God may be thus glorified, and so to the glory of God: which may be justly made a question: for if we should understand it in the strictest sense, as if a man was bound, in every particular action of his life, to be still thinking and aiming at the glory of God, his thoughts would be so continually taken up with the end, that he would not have time enough to employ about the means of effecting it, and so fail in the manner of doing his duty, by being too intent upon the end for which he doth it. And, besides, there are many lawful and necessary things to be done in a man's life, which he may not at first sight perceive how they tend to the glory of God, although they really do so: and therefore, should a man do nothing before he is sure it will conduce to that end, he will be often forced to neglect or omit many necessary duties upon a groundless fear that they will not be for the glory of God: whereby he would be involved in such difficulties as would make his life both uncomfortable to himself, and useless to the world. These and many such inconveniencies would follow upon our taking this rule in so strict a sense. But how then is it to be understood?

First, It is to be so understood, that we ought always to be very tender of the glory of God, so as never to do any thing, nor suffer any thing to be done, if we can help it, which may tend to His dishonour, by giving others occasion to think or speak evil of Him, or of that religion and worship which we profess to perform out of duty to Him. That the words are to be understood at least in this sense, is plain from what I discoursed before, concerning the occasion of them in the context. And that it is as plain, that this is indispensably required of us, from the very nature of true religion, which we all profess, and from the constant practice of those who have sincerely professed it, I shall instance only in two or three.

When God had threatened to destroy the children of Israel for their rebellion against Him, Moses was so concerned for the glory of God, that he earnestly besought Him not to do it only upon that account: for saith he, "If Thou Numb. 14shalt kill all this people as one man, then the nations which 28. have heard the fame of Thee will speak, saving, Because the Lord was not able to bring this people into the land which He sware unto them, therefore He hath slain them in the wilderness." He feared it would be a dishonour to God. and therefore did all he could to prevent it. Yea, so zealous was he for the glory of God, that at another time he chose, he desired that his own name should be blotted out of the Book of Life rather than God's Name should be so dishonoured: "Yet now," saith he, "if Thou wilt forgive their Exod.32.32. sin; and if not, blot me, I pray Thee, out of Thy book which Thou hast written:" which was certainly the highest expression that could be of his great zeal for the glory of God, and of his fear lest any thing should be done which might reflect upon His power and goodness.

The same may be said of Joshua: when the children of Israel were smitten before the men of Ai, "Joshua rent his Josh. 7.8,9. clothes, and prostrated himself before the Lord, saving, O Lord, what shall I say, when Israel turneth their backs before their enemies? For the Canaanites, and all the inhabitants of the land shall hear of it, and shall environ us round about, and cut off our name from the earth; and what wilt Thou do unto Thy great Name?" As if he had said, Thou hast promised to give us this land; and if, instead of getting it, we be destroyed in it, what will the people say? How will they blaspheme Thy Name, as being unfaithful to Thy promise, or unable to perform it? This was that which he was most troubled at, as we should all be at every thing that may give "occasion to the enemies of the Lord to blaspheme" (as Nathan said to David, 2 Sam. xii. 14). Be sure St. Paul was so: for seeing many who professed themselves to be Christians, walking so as to be a scandal and reproach to Christ and His religion, it cut him to the heart, and drew tears from his eyes: "Many," saith he, "walk, of whom I Phil. 3. 18, have told you often, and now tell you even weeping, that 19. they are enemies to the cross of Christ; whose end is deSERM.

struction, whose god is their belly, and whose glory is in their shame, who mind earthly things." But what would St. Paul have said, if he had lived in this age, when there are so many millions who profess the faith of Christ, and vet so few, so very few, but who dishonour His sacred Name, [Heb. 6. 6.] "crucify to themselves the Son of God afresh, and put Him to an open shame," by their lewd and wicked lives? This would have gone near to have broke his heart; and so it must needs do to all who sincerely love God and Christ above all things, as he did, and all true Christians still do. And if we would manifest ourselves to be such, we must always have the same zeal for God, and our blessed Saviour. so as to do all we can in our several places, that His Holy Name may not be profaned and dishonoured by others; especially, we must take care that we never do it ourselves: and for that purpose, whensoever we meet with any thing, as we often do, wherein the honour of God is concerned, we must do all we can for it; but nothing against it, though we were sure to gain the whole world by it. As we see in the Holy Martyrs, who, rather than they would sacrifice, or burn incense to an idol, and so dishonour the true God, by seeming to own any other, they chose to part with all they had in the world, and with their lives too. And though we should never be so happy as to be put upon such a trial, yet howsoever we must shew our good-will and readiness for it, if there be occasion, by preferring the glory of God before our temporal interest, and every thing that is near or dear to us in this world: so that if it comes to that point, that we must either do something which may cast a reflection upon Almighty God, and His holy religion, or else suffer some great pain or shame, or loss to ourselves; we are cheerfully to choose the latter, so as to suffer any thing ourselves, rather than the glory of our great Creator, and most merciful Redeemer, should suffer any thing by us. For this is the lowest sense wherein we are to do all things to the glory of God, even by doing nothing at all against it.

> I call this the lowest sense in which these words can be understood: for they certainly require us to go higher, even so far, as in the next place, to make it the main scope and business of our lives to promote the honour and glory of

God, according to the several abilities and opportunities which He is pleased to give us for that purpose. And if we do that, whether we always think of it or no, we may be truly said to "do all things to the glory of God," because all things we do are designed in general for that end. covetous man, who makes it his great drift and design, through the whole course of his life, to get money, although he do not think of it in every particular action, yet he is properly said to do all things for that end, and no other. And it would be a horrid shame, if the men of this world should be more diligent and industrious in carrying on their little designs of advancing themselves and families in the world, than we are in promoting the great end of our lives, the honour of that Almighty Being in whom we live. This, therefore, is that which we are here commanded, even to propose this to ourselves, as the chief end and design of our lives, that God may be better known, admired, honoured, and glorified in the world, than He would be if we were not in it; and for that purpose to leave nothing undone, whereby that end may be attained.

As for example: God is glorified by the constant performing our public devotions to Him "with reverence and godly fear:" and therefore we ought constantly so to perform He is glorified by our praising His Holy Name, as He Himself saith, "Whoso offereth praise, glorifieth Me;" Ps. 50. 23. and therefore we ought to praise Him every day. He is glorified in the Holy Sacrament, as it is the Sacrifice of prayer and thanksgiving; and therefore we should take all occasions of receiving it. He is glorified by our submission to the higher powers, in obedience to Him who set them over us: and therefore we ought to be subject "not only for [Rom. 13. wrath, but for conscience' sake." He is glorified by our patient 5.] and cheerful bearing whatsoever He sees good to lay upon us; and therefore, whatsoever it is, we are to bear it patiently and cheerfully. He is glorified by our believing what He hath said, and trusting on what He hath promised; and therefore, whatsoever He hath said or promised, we are to believe and trust on it. He is glorified by our abstaining "from all appearance of evil;" and therefore whatsoever [1 Thess. 5. appears to be evil, we must abstain from it. He is glorified 22.]

Ps. 16. 9.

Col. 3, 17.

by all the good works we do; and therefore we must do all we can. In short, He is glorified by our living in a constant and sincere obedience to all His laws; and therefore we must constantly and sincerely endeavour to obey them all, through the whole course of our lives: for, as the Apostle

Rom. 2. 23. saith, "by breaking the law we dishonour God." So by keeping it, we glorify Him; because hereby we demonstrate to the world that we are fully persuaded that He is our supreme Lord and Governor; and that all the laws that He hath set us are like Himself, holy, and wise, and just, and good. And therefore in order to our doing all things, as we ought, "to the glory of God," it is necessary that we make it the great end we aim at, and design all along in all our thoughts, words, and actions, to approve ourselves to Him, by observing His laws to the utmost of our knowledge and power, in the respective places, relations, offices, conditions, and circumstances, wherein He hath set us: according to that excellent rule in St. Peter, which may serve as a com-

1 Pet. 4. 11. mentary upon my text, " If any man speak, let him speak as the oracles of God; if any man minister, let him do it as of the ability which God giveth: that God in all things may be glorified through Jesus Christ: to Whom be praise and dominion for ever and ever."

But this is not all neither; for this command, "Do all things to the glory of God," plainly implies, that we must not only make this the chief end of our actions in general, but we must aim at it as much as we can in every thing we do that is of weight and moment: as "David set the Lord always before him;" so we ought to have Him and His glory always in our eye; and undertake nothing of consequence, but with respect to that end. Much to the same purpose is that of the Apostle, where he saith, "Whatsoever ye do in word or deed, do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks to God and the Father by Him;" which command I do not see how it can be observed as it ought, unless we have an eye to Christ in whatsoever we do, and give thanks, or glorify God the Father by Him, for enabling us to do it. So here, where we are commanded by the Most High God, our Maker, to "do all things to His glory," it is plainly His Divine will and pleasure, that whatsoever we set about, we

Digitized by Google

should look up to Him, and therefore do it, that we may some way or other glorify Him by it.

As, if a man goes to Church, he must go with a design to glorify God there, and to be instructed, directed, and assisted to do it better afterwards. If a man follows his particular calling, as all ought to do, he must therefore do it that he and his family may have wherewith to serve and glorify God in their generations. If a man undertake an office, or charge, or trust, he must therefore undertake it, that he may glorify God in the faithful discharge of it. If a man buys, or sells, or makes any contract, or bargain, he should do it so justly and honestly, as to shew he fears God, and so glorify Him in the doing of it. If a man sets upon the learning of any art, or trade, or science, or language, he should therefore do it, that he may be better qualified and capacitated to glorify God, than otherwise he would be. a man erects a school, or hospital, gives an alms to the poor, or exerciseth any sort of charity, he should do it only in obedience to God, and for His glory. If a man be in any company, he should discourse and converse with them so as may most conduce to this end; according to the Apostle's rule, "Let no corrupt communication proceed out of your Eph. 4. 29. mouth, but that which is good to the use of edifying, that it may minister grace unto the hearers," and so glory to God. The Apostle in my text goes much lower, saying, that if a man "eats or drinks, he should do it to the glory of God;" not only by begging His blessing upon it, and returning Him thanks for it, but by doing it for that end and purpose, that he may serve and glorify God both in his soul and body, which are His.

Thus I might instance in all the main actions of a man's life, and shew that they ought to be all directed to this, as their ultimate end; I say ultimate, because a man may, doubtless, propose other ends besides this to himself in what he doth: but they ought to be such as resolve themselves at last into this. As in eating and drinking, a man may aim at the preserving his body in health and vigour; but so that he may employ that health and vigour in the service and for the glory of God. In the use of the means of grace, a man may aim at his obtaining the grace of God; but he

SERM.

should aim at that, only that he may glorify God by it: and in whatsoever a man doth in order to it, he may lawfully aim at his own Salvation, and have an eye to the recompense of reward; but that should be in order to his glorifying God for ever. So that this ought to be the ultimate or last end of all our actions, in respect of which, all other ends which we propose to ourselves should be but as means that tend to it: otherwise we can never obey this command which our Almighty Creator hath here laid upon us by His Apostle, saying, "Whether ye eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God."

This I confess, at first sight, may seem a very hard lesson: at least, I fear it is but seldom practised; mankind in general looking no farther than to gratify their flesh with the pleasures, their eyes with the riches, or their fancies with the honours of this world. One or other of these is the only end that most men aim at in every thing they do. But that reasonable creatures, and such too as pretend to be Christians, should make such things as these the end of any, much more of all their actions, is one of the most unaccountable things in nature. There can be no reason assigned for it, except this one, that reasonable creatures themselves will act without reason, and against it too; suffering their appetites, their passions, or their humours to overpower their judgments, and put out or stifle that little light that is within them; so that they can look no farther than to such things as are present, and lie just before them, even the little inconsiderable trifles of this world, which can never do them any real good, as their own reason, if it was duly consulted, would soon convince them: and so it would too, that there is nothing in this world worth our aiming at but the glory of God; but that that will answer all the ends we can in reason propose to ourselves in any thing we do, and by consequence ought to be first and chiefly intended; which is the last thing I promised to shew.

IV. And it is a thing that may be easily done. I need not go from my text for it: for we cannot but all acknowledge that there is all the reason in the world that the will of Him That made us and gives us power to act should be the rule and standard of all our actions. But here we see

that He hath declared it to be His will, that "whatsoever we do, we should do it to His glory." And if it be His will, it must needs be our duty: and we are bound always to observe it, as ever we desire that any thing we do should be good and acceptable in His sight.

Although this be reason enough why we ought to do all things to the glory of God, and we ought to do so only for that reason; yet, to explain and press it a little farther, we may observe, that God being infinitely wise, and good, whatsoever end He proposeth to Himself in what He doth, must needs be the wisest and the best that can be: and that we and all who are capable of it are bound to imitate Him as near as we can; to "be holy as He is holy," and to be 1 Pet. 1. 15. "followers of God as dear children;" and so to carry on the Eph. 5. 1. same designs, and to aim at the same end as He doth, in every thing that we do by Him. But whatsoever He doth, He doth it only for His Own glory; as the wise man saith, "the Lord hath made all things for Himself." "For Him- Prov. 16. 4. self," that is, for the manifestation of Himself, His Wisdom, His Power, His Goodness, His Mercy, and all His Divine Perfections: which, as I have shewed, is that which He Himself calls His glory, and which the Scriptures always mean by that word. So that to do all things for Himself, is the same as to do all things for His Own glory. Thus He Himself explains it, saving, "this people have I formed for Isa. 43, 21. Myself, they shall shew forth My praise." And in the same chapter again, "I have created him for My glory." And as ver. 7. it was for this end that He made all things, it is for this end that He governs and orders all things that He hath made. As He said to Pharaoh, "And in very deed for this cause Exod. 9. 16. have I raised thee up, for to shew in thee My power; and that My Name may be declared throughout all the earth." And so in the case of Lazarus, when our Saviour heard that he was sick, He said, "This sickness is not unto death, but John 11.4. for the glory of God, that the Son of God might be glorified thereby." The same may be said of every thing God doth; He doth it for His Own glory. Neither can we imagine for what other end He can do any thing, being infinitely happy in Himself; and therefore, in order to our imitating Him, as we are bound, according to our capacities, we must do so

114

SERM. CVIII. too: whatsoever we do, we must do it "to the glory of God;" and so carry on the same design in the world that God Himself doth, which must needs be acknowledged to be as much our interest as it is our duty; for we shall hereby "walk as Enoch" did, "with God," in His steps, and so continue always in His favour, and under His protection.

[Gen. 5. 24.]

> And, besides, as God made all things else, so He made mankind in general, and us in particular for Himself. He did not make us to rake in kennels, and to scrape together the dust and dirt of the earth; to stand gaping after popular air, nor yet to sit still and do nothing: He did not make us to wallow like swine in the mire, or to gratify our flesh with brutal pleasures: He did not make us for the devil, to be his slaves and vassals; nor for this wicked world, to follow the pomps and vanities of it; neither did He make us for ourselves, to humour and please ourselves, or to seek our own honour or applause: but He made us wholly and solely for Himself, to serve and glorify Him: and unless we do that, we do not answer His end in making us, and so live to no purpose in the world. And whatsoever it is we do, that doth not tend to that end, will turn to no account at all: it would have been better for the world if it had never been done, and for us if we had never done it; and, therefore, as ever we desire not to labour in vain, and to no purpose, or which is worse, to an ill one, "whatsoever we do, we must do it to the glory of God."

Especially considering, that as God made us for this end, so it is for this end that He still preserves and supports us in our being: it is for this end He gives us health, and strength, and life, and all things necessary to it: it is for this end He continues our senses and reason to us, and all the powers and faculties of our souls: it is for this end He hath revealed His will and pleasure to us, that we know how to do it: yea, it is for this end He redeemed us to Himself with the blood of His Only-begotten Son; so that we are none of our own, but are "bought with a price;" and 1 Cor. 6. 20. therefore, as the Apostle argues, should "glorify God both in our body and in our spirit, which are His." And if we be wholly His, as we certainly are, then we ought to be wholly employed in His service: but we are capable of

Digitized by Google

serving Him no other way, but only by promoting His honour and glory in the world: which, therefore, we are bound to endeavour in every thing we do: otherwise He will look upon us as idle and unprofitable servants, and "cast us," as such, "into outer darkness:" whereas, if we [Matt. 25. do all we can to honour Him, He Himself will honour us. 30.]
We have His Own Word for it, saying, "Them that honour 1Sam. 2.30. Me, I will honour." And, "if any man serve Me," saith John 12.26. Christ, "him will My Father honour." And what can we desire more, than to be honoured by God Himself? "This [Ps.149.9.] honour have all the Saints;" all who, "whether they eat or drink, or whatsoever they do, do all to the glory of God."

What now remains, but that knowing our duty, we should all resolve, by God's assistance, for the future to do it? For which purpose, in every thing we do, especially that is of weight and moment, let us remember the end for which God Himself would have us do it, and do it only for that end. Whatsoever we think will tend to His glory, let us set about it with all our might: but whatsoever may cast any dishonour upon Him, let us avoid and shun, although we were sure to get the whole world by it. Every morning let us consider what we can do that day for Him Who gives us all we have: and at night, whether we have done it or no. Whatsoever talents God hath put into our hands, let us remember that we are but stewards, not proprietors of them: and therefore improve them only for our Master's use. short, from this time forward, let this be the great end and design we carry on in the world, even to glorify Him That sent us hither, and redeemed us to Himself for that very purpose. Let us but do this, and then we may be confident that we shall live under His care and protection, and have His love and favour, His blessing and assistance attending us all our days upon earth; and at length shall get to Heaven, where we shall both glorify and enjoy Him for ever, through His Only Son: to Whom, &c.

SERMON CIX.

ALL THINGS TO BE DONE IN THE NAME OF CHRIST.

Col. iii. 17.

And whatsoever ye do in Word or Deed, do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus, giving Thanks to God and the Father by Him.

THERE are three ways whereby we come to the knowledge of things, and are moved to act accordingly; our senses, our reason, and faith: the first we have as animals; the second as men; the third as Christians. By our senses we perceive only gross and material objects, with their several accidents and qualities, as their colour, their smell, their taste, their sound; whether they be soft or hard, and the like: these we have in common with other animals, which are affected only with such kind of things, and with them only as they seem, every one to its proper sense, to agree or not to agree with their natural constitution and By reason we can lay many such things together, reflect upon them, gather inferences from them, and improve them to our best advantage, not only as we are single persons, but likewise as we are of societies, and converse together: by it we can abstract our thoughts from matter, and exercise them upon things that have no dependence upon it, such as the truth and falsehood of a metaphysical proposition, and the like: by it we can raise up our minds so far above all sensible objects, that we can contemplate upon Him who made and governs them, and from thence can see how much it concerns us to do what we can to please Him; and foresee, that we must one day give an account to Him of all our actions, and be happy or miserable in the other world, according as we have or have not pleased Him in this.

But this is the farthest that our reason can now carry us: for though we know it to be our interest to please God, and to provide for our future state; yet how to do either to any purpose, we could never know but from God Himself; Who hath therefore revealed to us all that is necessary for us to know for such purposes in His Holy Word. And from hence ariseth the third way of our coming to the knowledge of things, even by faith, or a firm persuasion of the truth and certainty of what God hath revealed to us, upon that account, because He hath revealed it. By which means we do not only know the greatest truths that we are capable of, and such as are most necessary for us to know; but this is the most certain, or rather, the only certain knowledge that we have of any thing in the world; for our senses we know are fallible, and so is our reason too. We find by experience, that they have often deceived us; but we know that God is infallible; that He can neither be deceived, nor deceive: and by consequence, what He hath said, we are sure is true, so far as we believe that He said it. But He in His Holy Word hath told us all that He would have us believe or do, that we may have His favour, and be happy for ever. And therefore, if we believe, as we have all the reason in the world to do, that the Scriptures were given by the Inspiration of God, and so is His Word; we thereby have more certain knowledge of such things, than we can have of any thing else: although many of them are beyond the reach of our reason, and such as we could never have thought, if they had not been there revealed: as the Apostle saith, "By faith we understand, that the worlds Heb. 11. 3. were framed by the Word of God." Which otherwise we should never have understood.

The same may be said of many other things, which are purely of Divine revelation. By faith we understand that God made man in His Own image, but that he corrupted himself, and fell from the state in which he was made. By faith we understand there is One God, and One Mediator between God and men, "the man Christ Jesus, who gave [1 Thm. 2. Himself a ransom for all." By faith we understand, that as 5, 6.]

SERM. CIX. [Rom. 4. 25.] [ch. 5. 1.] "He was delivered for our offences, so He was raised again for our justification." By faith we understand that "being justified by faith, we have peace with God through our Lord Jesus Christ." And, to name no more, by faith we understand what is required on our parts towards our being thus reconciled to God, and so to our obtaining eternal life; what we must do for it, and how we must do it. This Almighty God hath clearly revealed to us in the Holy Scriptures; particularly in this chapter, where He requires us, for that end and purpose, "to seek those things that are above, to mortify the deeds of the body, to put off anger, wrath, malice, blasphemy, filthy communication out of our

Col. 3. 1. Rom. 8. 13. Col. 3. 12, 14.] us, for that end and purpose, "to seek those things that are above, to mortify the deeds of the body, to put off anger, wrath, malice, blasphemy, filthy communication out of our mouth; and to put on bowels of mercy, kindness, humbleness of mind, meekness, long-suffering, and above all things charity:" and among other things, He requires, in the verse before my text, "that the Word of Christ dwell in us richly in all wisdom, teaching and admonishing one another in psalms and hymns and spiritual songs, singing with grace in our hearts unto the Lord." And then He gives us this general rule to be observed in all our actions, "whatsoever ye do in word or deed, do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks to God and the Father by Him."

Where we see it hath pleased the Most High God, by His

Matt. 12. 36, 37.

Apostle, to acquaint us how He would have us speak as well as act, that we may know how to please Him in word as well as deed. And to make us more careful to follow His directions herein, He hath elsewhere told us with His Own mouth, that "every idle word that men shall speak, they shall give account thereof at the Day of Judgment: for by thy words thou shalt be justified, and by thy words thou shalt be condemned." Which I therefore observe, because we are very apt to speak many words, and perhaps write and print them too, without considering the account that we must give to God, or the rules that He hath given to us about them; and particularly that here mentioned, whereby we are required, both in "word and deed, to do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus." Where our speaking also is called doing; as well it may in a large sense, our uttering words being doing something, as well as any thing else we do.

But to understand this rule aright, it will be necessary to consider what is here meant by the "Name of the Lord Jesus;" and then in what sense we ought, both in word and deed, to do all in His Name.

I. The Name of the Lord Jesus is often in our mouths; oftener, I fear, than in our hearts, we being very prone to name His Name, without ever thinking of Him Whose Name it is. Whereas, if we did but consider duly what it is that is signified by that Name, as we should never think that we could think enough of Him, so we would never take His Name into our mouths, but we should at the same time lift up our hearts with reverence and thankfulness unto Him.

Let us therefore consider, first, who this person is who is here called Jesus. Not a mere man; not an Angel, or Arch-angel, or any other creature that God hath made; but His Only-begotten Son, "Whom He hath appointed Heb. 1. 2-4. Heir of all things, by Whom also He made the worlds; Who being the brightness of His glory, and the express image of His person, and upholding all things by the word of His power, when He had by Himself purged our sins, sat down on the right hand of the Majesty on high; being made so much better than the Angels, as He hath by inheritance obtained a more excellent Name than they." "For God Phil. 2. hath given Him a Name which is above every name, that at 9-11. the Name of Jesus every knee should bow, of things in Heaven, and things in the earth, and things under the earth; and that every tongue should confess that Jesus Christ is Lord, to the glory of God the Father." From whence we may also see, wherefore the Apostle in my text calls Him the "Lord Jesus; every tongue is bound to confess that Jesus is the Lord;" the Lord paramount over the whole creation.

But when was this name "Jesus" given Him? It was given Him before He was conceived in the womb, by no less a person than the Angel Gabriel; who being sent from Heaven on purpose, said to the Blessed Virgin, "Behold, thou Luke 1.31. shalt conceive, and bring forth a Son, and shalt call His Name Jesus." Where, we see, he commanded her to call Him by that name. And that He might be sure to be called by that name, the Angel laid the same command upon Joseph

also, to whom the Blessed Virgin was espoused, saying to CIX. Matt. 1. 21. him, "She shall bring forth a Son, and thou shalt call His Name Jesus." And then acquainted them likewise with the reason, why He should be called by that name; even because "He shall save His people from their sins." For the word "Jeshua," or "Jesu," in the original signifies a Saviour. But lest any should think, as the Jews did of the Messiah, that He should save His people only from their temporal troubles, the Angel saith, that "He shall save them from their sins;" and, by consequence, from all sorts of punishments due unto them for their sins, so as to make them eternally happy. And for this reason it was that He was called Jesus the Saviour, the only Saviour of mankind. "Neither is there Salvation in any other: for there is none other Name under Heaven given among men, whereby we must be saved."

Heb. 7. 25.

"But He is able to save them to the uttermost who come unto God by Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them." So that no man ever was, or ever can be saved by any other; but by Him, any man may "be saved to the uttermost, that will come unto God by Him."

But that we may better apprehend how well He deserves this great Name, and what He hath done to make it good, we must farther observe, that as Almighty God, the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost, made all things by His Word, so He was graciously pleased to save fallen man also by His Word. For God the Son, or "the Word, was made flesh, and dwelt among us," so as to be both God and Man in one Person. How this could be, is not for us to inquire; it is sufficient that God Himself hath revealed it to us. Neither can it seem any greater wonder that the Word should be made flesh, than that all things should be made by the Word of God: no greater that God should be made in the likeness of men, than that men were made in the likeness of God. Every thing that God doth is wonderful to us, in that it is beyond our understanding and comprehension. greatest wonder of all is, that when He, "Who being in the form of God, thought it not robbery to be equal with God," had thus "made Himself of no reputation, but had taken upon Him the form of a servant, and was made in the likeness of men, that being found in fashion as a man, He should

humble Himself so far as to become obedient unto death, even the death of the cross." Yet, to our wonder and amazement, this did the Eternal Son of God for us, and for our Salvation.

For He having thus taken upon Him the nature of man, not of this, or that particular man, but the nature of man in general, and united it to His Own Person; He died in it upon the cross, and so offered it up as a sacrifice for the sins of all mankind. And by this means He became Jesus, our Saviour: for the death which He then suffered, being suffered by the whole nature of man in union with the Divine Person, was not only equivalent, but infinitely more than the death of all mankind would have been, if every man had died for his own sins. And therefore, by virtue of His said death, He can save any man from his sins, and will do so for "all that repent and believe in Him," so as to restore them to the favour of God, and bring them at last to His everlasting kingdom.

But for that purpose, as "He was delivered for our [Rom. 4. offences, He was raised again for our justification," went 25.] up to Heaven, and is there set at the right hand of God the Father, "far above all principality, and power, and might, Eph. 1. 20, and dominion, and every name that is named, not only in this world, but also in that which is to come. He hath all things put under His feet, and is given to be Head over all things to the Church, which is His body." He is the Head, not only of His body, the Church, but of all things else for the sake of His said body, and all the sound members of it. All things are now entirely under His power, and at His command; and therefore, nothing can impede His saving those who believe in Him, but rather all things concur and work together for the effecting of it; and not only all things that God hath made, but God Himself also that made them. For His Only-begotten Son, the Lord Jesus, being always in our nature at His right hand, He is the Mediator between God and men, continually making intercession with Him, by virtue of the sacrifice which He hath offered upon earth for us: by means of which His Mediation and Intercession for us, Almighty God is gracious and merciful to us, pardons all our sins, and

SERM. CIX.

[1Pet. 1. 3;
[Pet. 1. 3.]

"blessing us with all spiritual blessings in heavenly places in Christ Jesus," that we may partake of that inheritance which He hath purchased for us with His Own blood. So that whatsoever blessing we have, whatsoever we have that is really good for us, we are beholden to the Lord Jesus for it: whose Name is so great and powerful in Heaven, that not only all the glorious creatures which are there continually reverence and adore Him, but God the Father Himself always grants whatsoever He wills; and He, be sure, always wills, that all who believe in Him, may be where He is, that

John 17.24. they may "behold His glory," and be happy for ever. Such a glorious, such a mighty Prince is the Lord Jesus: Rev. 1. 5, 6. "The Prince of the kings of the earth; who hath made us also kings and priests to God, and the Father." "The only Potentate, the King of kings, and Lord of lords: by Whom kings reign, and princes decree justice: whose dominion is from one sea to the other, and from the flood unto the world's end: the Word, the wisdom, the power of God: the Son of the Father: the Lamb of God, that taketh away the sins of the world: the Lamb that sitteth upon the throne, at the right hand of God, in the glory of the Father; Angels, and authorities, and powers, being made subject unto Him: for He hath a Name given Him, that is above every name: His Name only is excellent, and His praise above Heaven and earth: His Name is called Wonderful, Counsellor, the Mighty God, the Everlasting Father, the Prince of Peace: holy and reverend is His Name:" His Name is Jesus; a Name which all the Angels and Saints in Heaven honour, and praise, and glorify; a Name that all the devils in hell fear and dread: as the seventy whom the Lord Jesus sent . out to preach the Gospel found by experience: for at their Luke 10.17. return they said to Him, "Lord, even the devils are subject to us through Thy Name." From whence it appears, that

by His Name when He was upon earth.

And what mighty works they who believed in Him should do by it after his departure hence, He acquainted His Mark 16.17, Apostles immediately before He left them, saying, "And these signs shall follow them that believe: in My Name

as He Himself cast out devils by His word, so others did

shall they cast out devils; they shall speak with new tongues; they shall take up serpents; and if they drink any deadly thing, it shall not hurt them: they shall lay hands on the sick, and they shall recover." And so it was. In His Name St. Paul cast out the evil spirit that had possessed a damsel; he only said to the spirit, "I command thee in the Name of Acts 16. 18. Jesus Christ to come out of her: and he came out the same hour." In His Name, all His Disciples spake with new ch. 2. 4. tongues upon the day of Pentecost. In His Name, St. Paul ch. 28. 5. shook off the viper that fastened on his hand, without feeling anv harm. In His Name, St. Peter healed the man that had been lame from his mother's womb; he only said, "In ch. 3. 6, 7. the Name of Jesus Christ of Nazareth, rise up and walk; and immediately his feet and ancle-bones received strength." In His Name the same Apostle cured Æneas of the palsy; he only said, "Æneas, Jesus Christ maketh thee whole, arise, ch. 9. 34. and make thy bed; and he arose immediately." There are many such instances of great signs and wonders done by the Name of the Lord Jesus. But lest we should think that only such extraordinary things are to be done by it, the Apostle in my text commands us to use it even in our ordinary conversation, saying, "Whatsoever ye do in word or deed, do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus."

II. How we may and ought to do so, is the next thing to be considered: and it deserves our most serious consideration; forasmuch as herein lieth the great art and mystery of doing good, and living as becomes the Disciples of the Lord Jesus. For this being expressly commanded, whatsoever we do, unless we do it in His Name, we shall fail in one of the main points required to the making it a truly good and Christian act: and therefore all that desire in good earnest, "to walk worthy of the vocation wherewith they are called," must strive, above all things, to learn and practice this noble and divine art of doing all things in the Name of Him Who hath called them, that what they do may be acceptable to God through Him.

To put you therefore into the right way of learning this, you must first observe, that when the Apostle saith that ye must "do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus," He means only such things as are commanded, or at least allowed of, by God in

SERM. His Holy Word: for what He hath forbidden ought not to be done at all, much less in the Name of Jesus: for that would make it a double sin, an abuse of His Name, as well a breach of His law; and must be accounted for accordingly at the Last Day. And how great things soever people may do in His Name, unless they observe the laws of God in it. they will be never the better, but the worse for it. Hear Matt. 7. 22, what He Himself saith; "Many," saith He, "will say unto Me in that day, Lord, Lord, have we not prophesied in Thy Name? and in Thy Name cast out devils? and in Thy Name done many wonderful works? And then will I profess unto them, I never knew you: depart from Me, ye that work iniquity." Whereby He hath forewarned you, that how much soever ve pretend His Name, and whatsoever else ve do by it, unless ye "depart from iniquity," and do that which [2 Tim. 2. 19.]

is good and righteous in it, He will never own you for His Disciples, but assign you your portion with hypocrites and unbelievers. The first thing therefore to be observed, in order to your doing all things in the Name of Jesus, is, that you do only such things as He hath commanded: and if ye do them also therefore only because He hath commanded them, ye may be truly said to do them in His Name, in that ye do them in obedience to His command and authority.

But that which is chiefly required to our doing any thing

in the Name of the Lord Jesus, is a firm belief or faith in His Holy Name. This He Himself intimates, where, speaking of the great things that should be done in His Name, Mark 16.17. He saith, "And these signs shall follow them that believe," and so excludes all other. He hath taught us the same thing also by His Apostle St. Peter, who having cured the lame man in the Name of Jesus Christ, afterwards explains Acts 3, 16. how it was done, saying, "And His Name, through faith in His Name, hath made this man strong, whom ye see and know: yea, the faith which is by Him, hath given him this perfect soundness in the presence of you all." From whence it plainly appears, that it was not done by the bare naming the Name of Jesus, but by faith in it; or rather, which is the same, Jesus Christ Himself did it upon the Apostles believing in His Name; without which it would not have been done: as we see in those vagabond Jews, exorcists, who did not believe in Him, and yet "took upon Acts 19. 13. them to call over them which had evil spirits the Name of 15-16. the Lord Jesus, saying, We adjure you by Jesus whom Paul preacheth. But the evil spirit answered and said, Jesus I know, and Paul I know, but who are ye?" He derided them; and was so far from going out upon their naming the Name of Jesus, that "the man, in whom the evil spirit was, leaped upon them, overcame them," and beat them; "so that they fled out of that house naked and wounded." Which is, doubtless, left upon record, on purpose that we may see, that notwithstanding the great power and virtue there is in the Name of the Lord Jesus, yet nothing can be done by it, without believing in it; but that such as presume to use it without faith, shall smart severely for it.

From hence we may learn, how necessary it is to believe in the Lord Jesus Christ in order to our doing any thing that is great by His Name, and by consequence, any thing that is good. For to do good, is certainly as great a work in the sight of God, as any thing we can do; if not the greatest of all; not only because of the rarity of it, which makes miracles seem so great to us, but likewise by reason of the extraordinary grace of Christ, as well as power of God, that is requisite to our doing any thing that is good and wellpleasing in His sight. It is indeed a great wonder, that weak and impotent men should cast out devils, cure diseases, and the like, in the Name of Jesus: but that corrupt and sinful men should work righteousness by it, such as the most righteous Judge of the world will accept of as such, is the greatest wonder of all. Yet this we may all do in the Name of the Lord Jesus, if we do but believe in Him, and exert our faith as we ought, in what we do according to His will.

Which therefore that we may, we must use all possible means to strengthen our faith in Him; that we may not only acknowledge, as I suppose we all do, that He is the Saviour of mankind in general, but be fully persuaded in our minds of all things revealed concerning Him in His Holy Word; believing that He died for our sins, as certainly as we ever committed them; that He is now in Heaven at the right hand of God, as certainly as that there is a sun in the

SERM. firmament; and that He is always there interceding for us. as certainly as the sun ever shines upon us. For though we [Acts 7.55.] cannot see Him there, as St. Stephen did, yet our faith, as it "is the evidence of things not seen," represents Him as [Heb. 11. clearly to us, as if we saw Him with our eyes; and not only His being there, but His appearing now in the presence of God for us, as our Mediator and Advocate, transacting the great work of our Salvation, and taking care that we may want nothing that may further it, nor have any thing that may hinder it; but that all things, which happen to us, may work together for the accomplishment of it; and therefore "is able to save to the uttermost them who come unto God by ch. 7. 25. Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them." For, having the Word of God for this, we have infinitely more ground to believe it, than we have to believe any thing we see or hear; and accordingly ought to live with a constant sense of it upon our minds, and with a full persuasion, that the Lord Jesus, as He is God, is with us wheresoever we are upon earth; as He is man, He is always appearing in the presence of God for us in Heaven; and as He is both God and man, in one person, He is our Almighty Saviour, able to order all things in Heaven and earth for our Salvation; can do in us and for us whatsoever may conduce to that end, and will accordingly do it, if we do but apply ourselves unto Him for it. But in order to our doing any thing in the Name of the

Lord Jesus, it is not enough that we have this faith in the habit, but we must exert or put it forth into act; actually believing and trusting on Him to direct and assist us in the doing it: that we who can do no good thing without Him, Phil. 4. 13. may be able, as Saint Paul was, "to do all things through Christ that strengthens us;" and particularly that which we now go about; that His grace may be sufficient for us, and His strength made perfect in our weakness: that His power may rest upon us, and carry us through the whole work. And when it is done, we must likewise actually believe in Him, to make up the defects and imperfections of it with His most perfect righteousness and merits; that although it 1 Pet. 2. 5. be not so in itself, yet it may be "acceptable to God through Jesus Christ;" not expecting that God should accept of it,

as from us, or for any thing in itself; nor doubting but He will accept of what we do, through the Mediation of His beloved Son, with "Whom He is well pleased," and in Whom He is pleased with what we do sincerely in His Name.

But that we may do any thing wholly in His Name, it is necessary also, that we do it to His glory: according to the rule that He hath given us by His Apostle, "Whether ye 1 Cor. 10.31. eat, or drink, or whatsoever ye do, do all to the glory of God." For what we do to the glory of the Lord Jesus, is done to the glory of Almighty God, the Lord Jesus being Himself God Almighty. Neither can we glorify God the Father but by the Son, Whom He hath sent into the world on purpose that He may be glorified in Him, and "hath Phil. 2. 11. exalted Him at His Own right hand, that every tongue should confess that Jesus Christ is Lord, to the glory of God the Father." And therefore as what we do in His Name, must be done for His glory, so whatsoever is done for His glory, is done to the glory of God the Father; which is the ultimate end of all His actions, and ought to be so of ours.

He who thus doth any thing in obedience to His command, and in faith on His promises for His assistance in the doing it, and for God's acceptance of it when it is done, and makes His glory the chief end of it; such a one may be truly said to do that thing in the Name of the Lord Jesus, in that it is both begun, continued, and ended in Him: to Whom be glory and honour for ever.

This will receive great light from the instances which we have in Holy Scripture, of such things as are more particularly commanded or affirmed to be done in the Name of the Lord Jesus; as where He Himself saith, "Where two or Matt.18.20. three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them." Whereby He hath signified His pleasure that all our religious assemblies should be held in His Name; that we should meet together as His Disciples, in obedience to Him our Lord and Master, to serve and worship Him with reverence and godly fear, and to exercise our faith in Him to enable us to perform that and all other duties acceptably to Him, and to God the Father by Him.

Elsewhere He saith, "Whatsoever ye shall ask in My John 14.14.

128

Name, I will do it." Whereby He hath taught us, that as all our devotions, both public and private, are to be performed in His Name, so He will take care that we shall have whatsoever good thing we want, if we ask it in His Name, for His sake, Who hath merited all blessings for us, and by Whom alone we can have any; steadfastly believing that He will intercede, that we may have it: which there-

Jam. 1.6: fore is expressed also by our "praying in faith," and "without doubting." So for the Sacraments, He ordained and com-

Matt.28.19. manded that Baptism should be administered in "the Name of the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost;" and therefore some

Acts 19.5. are said "to be baptized in the Name of the Lord Jesus;" because it was done according to His institution and command. And in the institution of His Last Supper, He said,

Luke 22.19. "This do in remembrance of Me," that we may always do it in His Name, and in memory of the death He suffered for us; and so exercise our faith in Him all along through the whole duty.

Eph. 5. 20. By his Apostle we are taught "to give thanks always for all things unto God and the Father, in the Name of our Lord Jesus Christ." And in my text, "Do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks to God and the Father by Him." From whence we may learn, that giving thanks to God in His Name, is the same with doing it by Him. "It

John 14. 6. is by Him only that we can go to God the Father," and it is only by Him that we can receive any mercy from Him; and therefore we must give thanks for all things we have, to God by Him, believing and acknowledging, that it is by Him only that we receive them; and then we are said to do it in His Name.

To this we may add the Censures of the Church, which St. 1 Cor. 5.4,5. Paul speaking of, saith, "In the Name of our Lord Jesus Christ (when ye are gathered together, and my spirit) with the power of our Lord Jesus Christ; to deliver such an one unto Satan," &c. For here we see that Excommunication, or the casting a person out of the Church, and so delivering him unto Satan, is done in the Name of the Lord Jesus, and by His authority and power; which therefore is the most dreadful punishment that can be inflicted upon earth.

Again, St. Peter speaking of the devil and his tempta-

tions, saith, "whom resist steadfast in the faith;" implying, 1 Pet. 5.9. that we should resist him by faith in the Lord Jesus, and so in His Name, as David went out against the giant "in the 1 Sam. 17. Name of the Lord of Hosts."

I shall only give one instance more: The Lord Jesus said to his Disciples, "Whosoever shall give you a cup of water Mark 9.41. to drink in my Name, because ye belong to Christ, verily I say unto you, he shall not lose his reward;" where He explains what He means by giving in His Name, by therefore giving it, because they belong to Him, and so for His sake, out of love and respect to Him: and whosoever thus gives any thing in His Name, they have His word that they they shall be rewarded for it.

From these instances we may see what it is properly to do any thing in the Name of the Lord Jesus, and what kind of things ought more particularly to be done in it: and therefore the words of my text are not to be so understood as if we were bound to have respect to Christ in every little indifferent thing that we do in the common affairs of this life, but in such things as are required in order to our Salvation by Him, or have any relation to them; such as we call good works. But that all such must be done in the Name of the Lord Jesus, is plain, not only in that it is here expressly commanded, but likewise in that we can neither do any thing well, neither can any thing we do be accepted of as good in the sight of God, without believing in Him for it, and so doing it in His Name.

Wherefore, as ever we desire to do any good in the world, we must be sure to observe this rule: we must look up to Jesus, the Mediator of the New Covenant, believing and trusting on Him to assist us with His grace in doing it, and then to perfume it with the incense of His Own Merits, that God may smell a sweet savour from it, or be well pleased with it: as when we pray to the Most High God in public or private, praise His glorious Name, or celebrate the memory of the death He suffered for us in the Sacrament of the Lord's Supper; when we set ourselves to mortify any sin, or to withstand the temptations of the world, the flesh, and the devil; when we undertake to convince and convert infidels or heretics, or to reprove and reform the vicious

130

and profane; when we go about to instruct the ignorant, strengthen the weak, or comfort such as are troubled in mind, body, or estate; when we devote any part of our estates to the service of God and His Church, or give any thing to the relief of the poor and indigent; when we speak, or write, or do, or suffer any thing for the defence of the Gospel, and those eternal truths that are revealed in it: these, and such like, are great works; but that they may be good too, they must be done in the Name of the Lord Jesus; otherwise, how great soever they may seem to men, they will be of little esteem with God: whereas, if we do them in His Name, we shall not only be enabled by Him to go through with them, but Almighty God in Him will both accept and reward them.

And indeed, this is the top of our holy religion; the highest pitch of true Christian piety and virtue, that we can arrive at in this life: which therefore we ought to strive all we can to reach, and never leave till we have got to it; still "pressing towards this mark for the prize of the high calling of God in Christ Jesus our Lord:" that having the said Lord Jesus always in our minds, and doing all things in His Name, we may always live, not as the offspring of the first Adam, but as the members of Christ, and in Him [Col. 1.12.] the children of the Most High God, and so be "meet to be partakers of the inheritance of the saints in light," through Him: to Whom be glory for ever.

[Phil. 3. 14.]

Digitized by Google

SERMON CX.

THE MEDITATION OF GOD'S LAW, THE GOOD MAN'S DELIGHT.

PSALM i. 2.

But his delight is in the Law of the LORD, and in His Law doth he meditate (or exerciseth himself) day and night.

In the Old Testament we find, that in former ages, when people had occasion and desire to know the mind of God in any difficult and doubtful case, they went to the High Priest, who asking counsel for them, "after the judgment of Urim Numb. 27. before the Lord," the Lord was pleased to give them such 21. responses or answers, as clearly discovered His will in the case propounded; which were therefore called His Oracles: or else if God had raised up ever a Prophet among them, as He usually did in every age, they would go and consult him, or "inquire of the Lord by him," and the Prophet, by Divine Jer. 21. 2. inspiration, would certainly tell them what the mind of the Lord was in the business they went about. Thus "God, at Heb. 1. 1. sundry times, and in divers manners, spake in time past unto the Fathers by the Prophets." It was God Who spake by the Prophets, and therefore whatsoever they said as such, was likewise an oracle of God. And therefore St. Paul, speaking of the advantages which the Jews had above other people, he reckons this as the chief, "because unto them Rom. 3. 2. were committed the oracles of God."

We have no such kind of oracles to consult in these latter days, as they had; neither have we any occasion for them: for now that God hath spoken to us by His Son, and hath caused what He spake by Him and His Apostles, as well as what He had before spoken by the Prophets, to be committed to writing, and faithfully brought down and delivered to us,

SERM. we may there know the mind of God in every thing that is CX. necessary for us to consult Him about, as certainly as if we received it immediately from Him by the mouth of a High Priest or a Prophet. For all that Holy Scripture being given by inspiration of God, it is all but as one continued oracle of God, wherein He hath delivered and declared His Divine will and pleasure in all things that are necessary for any man to know. And whatsoever is not there revealed, we may from thence conclude, that it is not necessary for us to know it; but rather, that it is the Divine will that we should not be inquisitive about it. But as whatsoever is there revealed, is therefore revealed that we might know it: so whatsoever we are really concerned to know, in order to our being happy, is there revealed, so as that we may know the mind of God Himself concerning it.

> As, for example: it highly concerns all men to know wherein true happiness consisteth, or who may be truly said to be a blessed or a happy man. This we can never know from men themselves, for they could never yet agree about it: some accounting one man happy, some another: and most esteem those only happy, who have most of the good things, as they are called, of this life; though they which have them, find, by their own experience, that they are as far from being happy, as they who have them not.

> Wherefore, our only way to be fully resolved in this case, is to consult the oracles of God Who made us, and therefore best knows what will make us happy. But there we find, that He never pronounceth any man happy for any outward enjoyments. He never saith, Blessed are the rich; blessed are they that are advanced to honour and authority over their fellow-creatures; blessed are they that fare deliciously every day; blessed are they that live in ease and plenty of all things they can desire in this world: there is nothing like this in all the Bible among the oracles of God which are there recorded.

> But what then saith the answer of God to this great question, Who is the blessed man? That we have here delivered, not in ambiguous terms, like the heathen oracles, but in words so plain and easy, that any one that reads them may certainly understand the mind of God in them.

thus saith the Lord, "Blessed is the man that hath not walked in the counsel of the ungodly, nor stood in the way of sinners, and that hath not sat in the seat of the scornful: but his delight is in the Law of the Lord, and in His Law will he exercise himself, or meditate, day and night." Where we see the blessed man described, not by what he hath or hath not in this world, but first by what he doth not. and then by what he doth: he doth not follow the counsel of ungodly men, that would entice him from his obedience to the truth and laws of God: he doth what he can to keep out of the way that sinners walk in; and if, through surprise or inadvertency, he happens to be got into it, yet howsoever he doth not stand or continue in it: he never sits or associates himself with scorners, such as make a mock at sin, deride religion, and scorn reproof. These are obstinate sinners, upon whom the curse of God will certainly fall; and therefore he who is blessed of God, will avoid such company and acquaintance, as he would do those which he knows to be infected with the plague.

Neither doth he only avoid that which is evil, but he delights in that which is good: for "his delight is in the Law of the Lord, and in His Law doth he exercise himself day and night;" which being the positive description made by God Himself of a blessed man, such as we all desire to be, it will be worth our while to treat more particularly of it, that we may fully understand His Divine meaning in it. For which purpose, we shall, by His assistance, consider both parts of it; how a man should delight in the Law of God, and how he should exercise himself in that Law day and night; and then it will be easy to shew, that he who doth so is certainly a blessed, a happy man.

I. First, therefore, by the Law, or as the original word signifies, the doctrine of the Lord, we are here to understand all that the Lord, the Almighty Creator and Governor of all things, hath taught us in His Holy Word. For although, when this oracle was first committed to writing, there were none other extant but only the five books of Moses, and perhaps Joshua and Judges, yet they then contained the whole Will of God; and all that were afterwards added by the Prophets and Apostles were only for the clearer expli-

SERM.

cation of what was delivered before in them. And in every age, as God was pleased to make clearer and clearer revelations of Himself and His Holy Will to mankind, the books wherein they were contained were still added to those before written, and reckoned part of His Law: so that when the Canon of the Scriptures was completed, as it hath been now for many years, it is all that Law or Doctrine of the Lord. in which every wise and good man delights, and which he prefers before all the books that were ever written, and all things else that can be desired in this world; as David did, Ps. 119, 72, saving to God, "The law of Thy mouth is better to me than thousands of gold and silver." "How sweet are Thy Words

ver. 103. unto my taste! yea, sweeter than honey to my mouth."

ver. 111. ver. 24.

"Thy testimonies have I taken as an heritage for ever, for they are the rejoicing of my heart." "Thy testimonies also are my delight, and my counsellors." And it is no wonder; for no man can look into the Law of the Lord, or that system of Divine revelations, that the Lord God Almighty hath given to the world, but he will every where find something or other that will afford extraordinary delight and pleasure to him. For, first, how are all men naturally delighted in knowledge, especially in the knowledge of great and necessary truths! This is such a pleasure to the minds of men, that he who doth but think that he hath found out something which he did not know before, his imagination is tickled and pleased with it; as they who give themselves to the study of natural philosophy, find by their own experience: for if they happen to light upon something which they imagine to be the cause of such an effect or phenomenon in nature, they find their minds strangely affected with it; though after all, the series of secondary causes, and the dependance of one upon another, and all upon the first, is established and managed with such infinite wisdom and power, as far exceeds the reach of human understand-

Wisd. 9. 16. ings: so that "we hardly guess aright at things that are upon earth," and all our knowledge of them at the best, is only opinion and conjecture. And yet this very conceit of our knowing them is a pleasure to us; how much more would it be so, if we were sure that our knowledge was right and perfect! But that we can never be of any knowledge

but that which we receive from God Himself. There is nothing in this world that we know so certainly, as that all our other knowledge is uncertain; for we have no other than what we receive from our senses or reason, or else from the testimony of other men: but we know by our own experience, that all these ways are fallible, and therefore can never be certain that we know any thing aright by them. But we know that God is infallible; what He hath said cannot but be true, just as He said it: and therefore, whatsoever we know upon His Word, we are sure that we know it aright. And such knowledge must needs exceed all other in pleasure and satisfaction, as much as it doth in truth and certainty.

Neither is the knowledge which we are taught, and so learn of God, only certain, and the only certain knowledge that we have of any thing; but it is the knowledge of the greatest and most glorious things in the world, and such as are most necessary for all men to know.

For, by the Law, or Word of God, we know God Himself. as far as finite creatures can know an infinite Being. we know that He is a Spirit, without body, parts, or passions; that He, simply, is Jehovah, Being, or Essence itself; that He is of infinite wisdom, power, and goodness; that the Father, Word, and Holy Ghost, these Three are One, all that one Being, Jehovah, the Lord; that He is every where, all the world over, the same, without any variableness, or shadow of change: this, and whatever else is either necessary or possible for us to know concerning God, is revealed to us by Himself in His Holy Word; and he that delights not in the Law of God upon this account, because he may thereby know Him, it is only because he hath not yet learned to know Him by it: for if He had, he could not but find himself affected with it, more than with all the pleasures of the world besides; the knowledge of God being itself the greatest good and happiness that the soul is capable of, insomuch that eternal life itself consisteth in the perfection of it.

By the Law of God we know also how the world was made, how it is still upheld in its being, and how all things in it come to be so wisely ordered as we see they are: by it we know how man was formed, how pure and perfect he was at first made, and how he fell into that wretched estate he is

now in: by it we know likewise how God was pleased to set - up another Adam, or man in general, even Jesus Christ, by Whom mankind might be restored to the same estate from 2 Cor. 5. 21. which they fell in the first; that "He Who knew no sin, was made sin for us, that we might be made the righteousness of Rom. 5. 19. God in Him;" that "as by one man's disobedience many were made sinners, so by the obedience of One, many are 1Cor.15.22. made righteous." That "as in Adam all die, even so in Rom. 4. 25. Christ shall all be made alive." That "He was delivered for our offences, and raised again for our justification." That 1 Tim. 2. 5. "He is the only Mediator between God and men." And is Heb. 7. 25. therefore "able to save to the uttermost them who come unto God by Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them." These are glorious and comfortable truths indeed, which no man can hear of, and believe, but he must 1 Pet. 1. 8. needs "rejoice with joy unspeakable, and full of glory." And therefore, whosoever is so wise as to mind his own good and welfare, cannot but take great delight in the Law of the Lord, where these, and many such great truths, are revealed and attested by God Himself. Moreover, such an one finds great delight in the Word of God, by reason of the laws or statutes which are there recorded; Laws enacted by the Supreme Lawgiver, the infinite, wise, and gracious Governor of the World; wherein He hath discovered His Divine Will and Pleasure, how all mankind should demean themselves both towards Him, and towards one another, while they are upon earth; and what they must do, that they may obtain eternal life in Heaven: all which statutes are so wisely composed and fitted to the nature of man, that, as Psal. 19. 8. David observed, "they rejoice the heart, they enlighten the eyes;" and are therefore "more to be desired than gold, yea than much fine gold, sweeter also than honey and the honevcomb."

Again; all men naturally delight in history; in reading what was done in former ages: and the older a history is, the more pleasure it commonly affords, provided it appear to be a true relation of what was done in the times it treats of. But the Holy Scripture exceeds all other histories in [1.Cap. 1.] antiquity, as well as in fidelity and truth. Thucydides, one of the most ancient of all the heathen historians, acknow-

ledgeth, that he could find nothing clear in history before the Peloponnesian war, which happened about the time of Nehemiah: wherefore the last history (as that is) which we have in the Bible, is as old as the oldest that is extant any where else, to which any credit can be given; the profane beginning where the sacred ends: but there we have many things faithfully recorded, that were done one thousand, two thousand, three thousand years before that, yea, from the very creation of the world.

Besides that, the historical part of the Holy Scripture exceeds all other histories in the things which are there related. There we read of what Almighty God Himself, and what His Holy Angels did by His command: there we read what punishments He inflicted upon obstinate sinners, and what care He always took of those who served Him faithfully: there we read how His faithful people carried themselves in all conditions, and what they did to approve themselves to Him, and to keep in His love and favour: there we read how the Son of God came into the world. what miracles He wrought, how He died, and rose again, and went up to Heaven, and all to perfect our redemption: there we have also His life described, the only life that ever man lived upon earth without sin, and so the only perfect exemplar and pattern of all true piety and virtue that was ever seen among men. And if all history be a pleasure, what a pleasure is such a history as this to any sober and considering man!

To all which we may add, that no man can have any solid peace, delight, or comfort in his own mind, but what he draws from the Law or Word of God; forasmuch as it is there only that we find any firm ground whereupon to trust and hope for His grace and favour. For we who are conscious to ourselves that we have so often offended the Almighty God, how can we expect any mercy at His hands? No way certainly, unless we have His Own word and promise for it. But we have no such promise from Him, but only in the Holy Scripture. But there He hath promised pardon, and grace, and all good things that can be desired, to those who repent, and believe the Gospel; and hath confirmed the same promises as He made them in

ver. 148.

SERM. Jesus Christ. And therefore all that are sensible of their sins, and desire mercy, cannot but take great delight in God's Holy Word, wherein alone He hath been graciously pleased to promise it to them: from all which we may Rom. 15. 4. conclude with the Apostle, "that whatsoever things were written aforetime, were written for our learning, that we through patience and comfort of the Scriptures might have hope."

Seeing, therefore, the Law of God affords so great delight to those who are exercised therein, when once a man hath tasted of it, his own inclinations will lead him to exercise himself as often as he can in it. And therefore the Psalmist here makes this the other part of the character of a blessed man; for having said, that "His delight is in the Law of the Lord," he adds, "and in His Law will he exercise himself day and night;" or, as the original word usually signifies, and is therefore rendered in our last translation, he will meditate in it: but the sense is the same, for he exerciseth himself in it by meditating upon it; which he therefore doth not only now and then, by the by, but very frequently, or as it is here expressed, "day and night." This the royal Prophet here asserts of every good man; and elsewhere Ps. 119. 97. confirms it by his own example and experience, saying, "O how I love Thy Law! it is my meditation all the day." And, " mine eyes prevent the night-watches, that I might meditate in Thy Word."

> But here it will be necessary to inquire how every good man doth, and we ought to exercise ourselves by meditating in the Word of God, so as that we may reap the benefit, and enjoy the delights of it: for this is a greater art, and requires more study and application than men are commonly aware of. But we may learn the whole mystery of it from our Church, which in the Collect for the Second Sunday in Advent, directs us to pray to God, "Who hath caused all Scriptures to be written for our learning, that we may in such-wise hear them, read, mark, learn, and inwardly digest them, that by patience and comfort of His Holy Word, we may embrace and ever hold fast the blessed hope of everlasting life, which He hath given us in our Saviour Jesus Christ." For, what we here beseech Almighty God

to give us grace to do, we must endeavour all we can ourselves to do it by the assistance of His said grace, which He hath promised to all those who ask it faithfully of Him. And if we thus hear the Holy Scriptures, read, mark, learn, and inwardly digest them, we shall do all that is required to the exercising our thoughts and meditations upon them, so as to receive both profit and pleasure from them.

First, therefore, we must hear the Word of God; that is, we must hear it read, declared, or preached, by a Minister or officer, sent from God Himself to do it. That this is the proper meaning of hearing the Word, appears from the Word itself, where it is said, "How shall they hear without Rom. 10. a preacher? And how shall they preach except they be 14, 15. sent?" From whence it is plain, that in the sense of Scripture, they only are truly said to hear the Word, who hear it from such as are sent to preach it to them. If they be not sent by God, they cannot truly preach in His Name; and then people may hear them as much as they please, it all signifies no more than as if a nation, having some great affair to transact with a foreign prince, should choose one from among themselves to transact it with them, who having no commission from the said prince, as his ambassador, to do it, whatsoever he doth is void, and of no effect: yet this is the case of many in our age, wherein that Scripture is fulfilled which saith, "The time will come when they will 2 Tim. 4. 3. not endure sound doctrine, but after their own lusts shall they heap to themselves teachers, having itching ears." And what little good people get by such teachers, which they heap to themselves, we are taught by the same Scripture, saying, "of this sort are they which creep into houses, chap. 3. 6.7. and lead captive silly women laden with sins, led away with divers lusts, ever learning, and never able to come to the knowledge of the truth." They are ever hearing and hearing, as if they could never hear enough, and yet after all, can never come to the true knowledge of God, because they hear such only as are of their own choosing, not such as God sends to them. Whereas, they who attentively hearken to the Word of God, as it is delivered and made known to them by His Own Ambassadors, and accordingly receive it.

not as the word of man, but as it is in truth, the Word of 1Thes. 2.13. God Himself; "it worketh effectually in them that believe." This, therefore, is the first thing required to the exercising ourselves, and meditating aright in the Law of God, even by hearing it repeated or explained to us by one of His Own officers, sent by Him to do it, and so receiving it as from Himself.

And as all ought thus to hear the Word of God; so they who can, ought to read it too: I say they who can, for in our age there are many who cannot read; and in former ages, especially the primitive, there were few who could: and yet by their bare hearing the Word read, or repeated to them, they both understood and practised their duty as well, if not much better, than most of them who can read do it now. And I do not doubt, but the solemn reading or declaring the will of God by His Own Ministers, hath always the same power and efficacy upon the attentive hearers, whether they can or cannot read it themselves: for it is not to the private reading, but to the public reading of it, that the promises are made; from whence it comes to pass, that we commonly find ourselves more affected with hearing, suppose a chapter, once publicly read, than we are with reading the same chapter by ourselves many times over. Yet, nevertheless they who can read have a great advantage over those who cannot; in that the impressions which are made upon their minds in hearing the Word, may be much confirmed and excited in them by their reading it over again. As the Bereans, when they had heard the Word from the Apostle's mouth, and received it Acts 17.11. with all readiness of mind, they then "searched the Scriptures daily, whether those things were so." Their hearts were first opened to receive the Word at their hearing of it; and when they afterwards read the Scriptures, and found that what they had heard, was the same that was there written, this confirmed them in it. Upon which, as well as upon other accounts, it is necessary that the Scriptures should be translated into the vulgar tongue, that people may read them, and thereby know, whether what they hear be agreeable to what God hath there revealed; otherwise they may be led blindfold they know not whither, as they are in

all places where they are not permitted to read the Word: at least, they can never be sure that they believe and practise according to it. But they must take heed, that they do not "wrest the Scriptures to their own destruction," as many 2 Pet. 3. 16. "unlearned and unstable" people do in our age, as well as in the Apostle's. And for that purpose, they must read them with all reverence, meekness, and humility of mind, beseeching God to direct and assist them in it, and to "open Ps. 119. 18. their eyes, that they may see the wondrous things of His Law."

And whatever it is they either hear or read out of God's Law, they must be sure to mark it. You must not hear so negligently, or read so cursorily and superficially, as if there was nothing worthy your notice in it; but you must mark or observe every expression, with the same care and diligence, as if you heard God Himself speaking from between the Cherubim, or upon the Mount. For it is He That speaks all along in His Holy Word, which being given by His inspiration, is of that infinite extent and fulness, that how oft soever a man reads it over, he may still find something remarkable which escaped him before. This therefore is absolutely necessary to our meditating aright in the Law of God, even to mark or take special notice of what He there saith, considering Whose Word it is, to what end it was spoken, what use is to be made of it, and how necessary it is to be observed.

For which purpose, as we mark, so we must also learn the Scriptures; we must learn so as to understand them, at least, as much of them as we can: which I therefore add, because there are some things in the other Scriptures, as well as in St. Paul's Epistles, which are "hard to be under-2 Pet. 3. 16. stood." There are some things revealed there, especially concerning Almighty God our Creator and Redeemer, which are above the reach of our finite understandings; which, therefore, we are not bound to understand, but only to believe, and to believe them only upon His Word Who hath revealed them to us; and Who therefore only revealed them, that we might believe them, though we cannot understand them; and so build our faith wholly upon His Word and testimony, to the honour of His truth and faith-

SERM. fulness. There are other things hard to be understood, only by reason of the weakness and corruption of our minds; which therefore are more or less understood, according as men are more or less learned in the original languages, and in such arts and sciences as may give any light to them; or else, are more or less enlightened by that Holy Spirit by which the Scriptures were given. And, therefore, when we meet with any thing which we do not understand, it doth not follow but other people may understand it; and if none can, it was written only for the exercise of our faith, that we may believe it upon His Word "Who cannot lie."

Tit. 1. 2.

But whatsoever things are hard to be understood in the Holy Scriptures, we may from thence conclude, that it is not generally necessary for all men to understand them: for whatsoever is so, is as plainly there revealed as words can do it. And therefore without troubling ourselves about other matters (as we are too apt to do), we should apply our minds wholly to learn such things as belong to our everlasting peace, what we must believe and what we must do, that we may be saved: all which are so clearly taught in the Holy Scriptures, that a man of the meanest parts may learn them as well as the greatest scholar in the world. Thus, therefore, it is that we ought to exercise ourselves, or meditate, in the Law of God, even so as to understand our whole duty to Him, and to one another. He that hath learned this, hath learned enough; and whatsoever it is that a man learns, without this, will signify nothing to him; neither will it signify any thing for a man to hear, read, mark, and learn the Scriptures, unless he also inwardly digest them, that is, unless he ruminate upon them, and by a strong and lively faith, fix them upon his mind, so as to turn them into proper nourishment for his soul, that he may thereby grow in grace, and in the knowledge of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ, and accordingly be fruitful in good works; in all such good works which are the fruit of that Holy Spirit by which the Scriptures were given; such as "love, joy, peace, long-suffering, gentleness, goodness, faith, meekness, temperance." This was the great end for which the Scriptures were at first written, and for which we are now to hear, and read, and meditate upon them;

Gal. 5. 22.

even that we may know the Will of God, and do it; that we may live with a constant sense of what is there written upon our minds, so as firmly to believe the truths, fear the threatenings, trust on the promises, and observe the precepts which are there revealed; and particularly that wherein this very thing is commanded by God, saying, "This Book Josh. 1. 8. of the Law shall not depart out of thy mouth, but thou shalt meditate therein day and night, that thou mayst observe to do according to all that is written therein: for then shalt thou make thy way prosperous, and then thou shalt have good success." Where we see that it is God's express command, that we should every one meditate day and night in His Law: that we are to meditate in it, so as to do what is there written; and that this is the way to have His blessing, prosperity, and good success: as our Lord hath taught us also with His Own mouth, saying, "If ye know John 13.17. these things, happy are ye if ye do them." And "Blessed Luke 11.28. are they that hear the Word of God, and keep it." And by His royal Prophet in my text, where describing the man that is truly blessed, he saith, that "his delight is in the ver. 3. Law of the Lord, and in His Law doth he meditate day and night."

II. Wherefore, that he who doth this is blessed, we cannot doubt, seeing He Who is the fountain of all blessedness, hath here pronounced him to be so. And if we had no such oracle for it, yet we could not but conclude, that he who delights in the Law of the Lord must needs be a blessed man, for that very reason, because he delights in the Law of the Lord: for this shews that he is regenerate and born again; that he is renewed, sanctified, and governed by the Holy Spirit of God, in that he delights in the Law that was given by His inspiration, which he could never do but by the same Spirit by Which it was given: and therefore the Apostle saith, "I delight in the Law of God after the inward Rom. 7, 22. man." After his inward man, his spiritual part, so far as he was purified and led by the Spirit of God, so far he delighted in the Law of God, and no farther; and, by consequence, he that really delights in the Law of God is certainly led by His Spirit: but "as many as are led by the Spirit of God, chap. 8. 14. they are the Sons of God." "And if Sons, then Heirs, ver. 17. Heirs of God, and Joint-Heirs with Christ," and therefore

SERM. as blessed as it is possible for creatures to be, all the blessings promised in the Gospel being entailed upon them.

And as delighting in the Law of the Lord is a certain sign that the man is blessed, so meditating in His Law day and night is the ready way to be blessed for ever: for exercising ourselves continually in meditating upon the Word of God, as I have shewn we ought to do, by this means we come to true wisdom and a right understanding of all things necessary to Ps. 119.99. Eternal Life. "I have more understanding," saith David,

Ps. 119.99. Eternal Life. "I have more understanding," saith David,
"than all my teachers; for Thy testimonies are my medi-

John 17. 3. tation." By this means we know "the only true God, and Jesus Christ Whom He hath sent;" which itself "is Eternal Life." We know Him as He Himself would have us know Him, according to the revelations which He hath given us of Himself. By this our minds are enlightened, our judgments rightly informed, our faith confirmed, our hearts cleansed, our affections kept in order, and our whole souls

chap. 17.17. sanctified through the truth; for His "Word is Truth."

By this we are preserved from all damnable errors and heresies; we are put in mind of our whole duty both to God and man; we are quickened and stirred up to the performance of it; we are armed against all temptations; we are directed which way to take in all straits and difficulties; we are protected, we are supported, we are comforted in all sorts of trouble and afflictions: in short, by thus hearing, reading, marking, learning, and inwardly digesting God's Holy Word, we embrace and ever hold fast the blessed hope of everlasting life which He hath given us in our Saviour Jesus Christ.

Wherefore, as ever ye desire to be blessed so as to obtain chap. 5. 39. Eternal Life, ye must "search the Scriptures," where alone ye can ever find it. Ye must delight in the Law of the Lord, and meditate therein both day and night; not only a little now and then by the way, but so constantly, so seriously, so effectually, that ye may believe, and love, and fear, and hope, and think, and speak, and act as ye are there taught: then ye will be blessed indeed, and declared to be so at the Last Day before all the world by Christ Himself pronouncing that blessed sentence upon you, "Come, ye blessed of My Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world."

SERMON CXI.

THE VANITY OF HEARING THE WORD OF GOD, WITHOUT DOING IT.

JAMES i. 22.

But be ye Doers of the Word, and not Hearers only, deceiving your own selves.

As it was by His Word that God at first created all things out of nothing, so it is by His Word that He now createth us again "in Jesus Christ unto good works." Or, as St. [Eph. ii. James here expresseth it, "He of His Own will begets us 10.] with the Word of Truth, that we should be a kind of firstfruits of His creatures," that we should be new creatures, creatures after His Own heart, such as He at first designed us to be; such He now makes, or begets us by His Word: by His Word, as at first spoken and written from Him by His Prophets and Apostles, and still repeated and published out of their writings by His ministers or ambassadors sent by Him for that purpose: by this it is, that He usually opens men's eyes, and "turns them from darkness to light, [Acts 26. from the power of Satan unto God:" and, therefore, one 18.] might reasonably expect, that all that hear this Word, the Word of Almighty God, should all become Saints, all pious and righteous persons, all living according to the Word they hear: and yet we see the contrary among ourselves. is no place upon earth where the Word of God is more commonly read and preached than it is in this kingdom, and particularly in this city; and yet there are but few that take care to frame their lives according to it: few, not in themselves, for I doubt not but there are many, absolutely considered, who by the blessing of God are "doers" as well as

SERM.

"hearers of the Word:" but they are but few, in comparison of many, who are only hearers and not doers of it: and so it was in the days of the Apostles themselves. Though St. Acts2.[41.] Peter at one short sermon "converted three thousand souls," and all the Apostles preached the Word so effectually all the world over, that many were thereby prevailed upon not only to profess but to practise what they taught; yet there were

others who only gave them the hearing, as appears from this caution which St. James here gives them, and which he would never have given, if there had not been some such among them; saying, "Be ye doers of the Word and not hearers only, deceiving your own selves." A necessary caution at all times, especially in our days,

when many place a great part, if not the whole of their religion in hearing; as if they served God only by hearing how to serve Him, or did any good only by hearing how to do it. And yet this is the case of too many among us, who never think they can hear too much, or do too little, which is certainly one of the greatest cheats that the devil ever put upon mankind; or rather, that men ever put upon themselves: for this is plain "deceiving their own selves," as the Apostle here assures us.

But that we may understand his meaning aright, we shall first consider what he here means by "the Word," what by "doing," what by "hearing" of it; and how it comes to pass that there are many "hearers," who are not "doers" of it: and then it will be easy to shew that all such "deceive their own selves."

I. By "the Word," therefore, we are to understand that which the Apostles preached, and which is now contained and delivered to us in the Books of the Old and New Testament; wherein it hath pleased the Most High God to speak His mind, to make known Himself and His Will to us, what He would have us to believe, what He would have us to do, and what He would have us not to do; which is called "The Word," by way of eminence, as infinitely exceeding all other words that were ever spoken by men or Angels: for this is Heb. 1.1, 2. the Word of Almighty God Himself, "Who at sundry times and in divers manners spake in time past unto the Fathers by the Prophets, and hath in these last days spoken unto us by His Son." It was God Himself that spake, and that spake on purpose that we might know His mind and act accordingly; and therefore it is not more frequently than properly called "His Word." And whensoever we hear any part of it repeated to us, we are to look upon it as His Word, and accordingly receive it, "not as the word of men, but as 1 Thess. 2. it is in truth the Word of God;" still apprehending the Almighty Creator of the World as speaking to us His creatures, and telling us what He would have us do.

II. By "doing of the Word," we are to understand the framing both of our minds and manners according as the Word directs: as we must do what the Word bids, and leave undone what it forbids us to do; so we must fear the threatenings it denounceth, trust in the promises it makes, and believe the truths it reveals to us, and all for the Word's sake, because we have the Word of God for them. So that we must order our very thoughts and affections, as well as our words and outward actions, according to the rules which the Word sets us; otherwise we cannot be properly said to be "doers of the Word."

As, for example, the Word saith, "Thou shalt love the Matt.22.37. Lord thy God with all thy heart, with all thy soul, and with all thy mind." Now, they who, hearing this, immediately fix their hearts and affections upon God above all things else, they are "doers of the Word." The Word saith. "Whatsoever ye would that men should do to you, do ye ch. 7.12. even so to them." Now, they who, upon hearing this, accordingly always do as they would be done by, they are "doers of the Word." The Word saith, that "all who know 2 Thess. 1. not God, and that obey not the Gospel of our Lord Jesus 8, 9. Christ, shall be punished with everlasting destruction." Now, they who out of an holy fear of this threatening Word, strive all they can to know God and to obey the Gospel, "are doers of the Word." The Word saith, "I will never leave thee Heb. 13. 5. nor forsake thee." Wherefore they who in humble confidence of this Word, can boldly say with the Apostle, "The ver. 6. Lord is my helper, and I will not fear what man shall do unto me," they are "doers of the Word." The Word saith, "I and the Father are One." Now, they who, firmly assent- John 10.80. ing to the truth of this proposition, upon the Word of Him

SERM. CXI. that spake it, do really believe the Father and the Son to be One Being, One God, they are "doers of the Word." And so all that, hearing any part of God's Word read or declared to them, believe and live according to what they hear, they are "doers of the Word, and not hearers only."

III. "And not hearers only;" as all they are who do not

take care to do it, but only hear the Word read or faithfully expounded to them: I say read or faithfully expounded, for ye must not think that hearing of sermons only, is hearing the Word: for there may be many things in them contrary to, or at least besides the Word; so that you can never be sure that when you hear a sermon you hear the very Word of God, any farther than you have firm ground to believe, that he who preacheth it both rightly understands and faithfully declares the mind of God as it is contained and revealed in His written Word, which we call the Holy Scripture; 2Tim. 3, 16, which "being given by inspiration of God," is therefore properly His Word, and nothing else can be truly called so, but as it agrees exactly with that. But when you hear any part of the Holy Scripture read, you are sure that you hear the very Word of God; and when you hear it read in God's House, by one of His Own ministers, commissioned and sent by Him to read it, you then hear God's Word from God Himself: it is He that speaks to you by His minister, and unless you frame both your faith and lives according to what you so hear, you are "not doers of the Word, but hearers only, deceiving your own selves."

But are there any such among us; men that hear God's Word, and will not do it? I heartily wish there were not: but the case is too plain to be doubted of. Blessed be God, His Word is publicly read in many places of this kingdom every day in the week, in all every Lord's Day, and often expounded too: so that all may hear it if they will, and there are none but do it sometimes. And if all that are hearers were likewise doers of the Word, what a glorious kingdom, what a special people should we then be! We should then excel and outshine all the nations upon earth besides. But alas! the Word is not more commonly heard, than it is rarely done among us: of the vast multitudes that go where it is read or preached, there are but few, very

few, that ever "lay it to heart," so as to "practise it in their lives:" though they hear it over and over again, it is all one, it makes no more impression upon the greatest part of those which hear it, than as if it was only an insignificant sound in the air, which they are no way concerned in.

This, I confess, at first sight may seem very strange; for, "Shall a trumpet be blown in the city, and the people not be Amos 3.6. afraid?" Shall Almighty God Himself speak, and men not mind it, nor take care to do what He saith? One would think it impossible, but that we daily see it before our eyes, and therefore cannot doubt but that it is so. The only question is, How it comes to be so? How it comes to pass that any who are hearers, are not likewise doers of the Word? for which several reasons may be given; some whereof hold good in one, some in another, and all in some or other of them.

First, therefore, of those who hear the Word, some do not understand it: though it be delivered in their own language, and in the plainest terms that can be invented, yet, notwithstanding, they are so stupid and ignorant, that they understand no more of it than as if it was spoken in an unknown tongue. "And in them," as our Lord observeth, "is fulfilled the prophecy of Esaias, which saith, By hearing ye shall Matt.13.14, hear, and shall not understand; and seeing ye shall see, and 15. shall not perceive: for this people's heart is waxed gross, and their ears are dull of hearing, and their eyes they have closed; lest at any time they should see with their eyes, and hear with their ears, and understand with their hearts, and should be converted, and I should heal them;" where we may likewise see the great reason why such people "do not" understand, even because they "will not." They wilfully shut their eyes against the Word, lest they should be converted by it, which they are resolved before-hand not to be; and then it is no wonder that the Word hath no power or effect upon them: for as it is in the parable of the sower, the Word to them is as seed "sown by the way-side, which the fowls of the air pick up and devour:" that is, as our Saviour Himself interprets it, "When any one heareth the Word of ver. 19. the Kingdom, and understandeth it not, then cometh the wicked one, and catcheth away that which was sown in his

heart; this is he which received seed by the way-side." It doth not fall upon him, but beside him: or at least he shifts it off from himself, by not understanding or apprehending any thing of it.

This is the case of too many among us, and it is a sad case indeed; for such people are incapable of receiving any benefit by the Word they hear: they may hear, and hear as long as they live, they can never do what they hear, for they do not know what it is, and all because they will not. They can take a great deal of pains to understand their calling, and how to manage their worldly affairs; but they will not take care to understand the Word of God, nor so much as the common principles of religion. They were not instructed in them when they were young, and think scorn to be so now, but choose rather to go blindfold to Hell than to have their eyes opened to see whither they are going. Such may be hearers of the Word as much as they please, it is impossible they should ever be doers of it. God grant this may not be the case, the woeful case of some here present. Again; of those who do, or at least can understand the

Word they hear, if they would mind it, there are but few that mind it, or take any more notice of it, than as if they did not, or could not understand it. Though their bodies are where the Word is read or preached, their minds are not there, but running about upon other things; upon their houses or shops, their land or money, their creditors or debtors, their friends or their enemies, any thing but what they should be thinking of. This the Prophet long ago Ezek.33.31. observed, saying, "They come unto Thee as the people cometh, and they sit before Thee as my people, and they hear Thy words, but they will not do them: for with their mouth they shew much love, but their heart goeth after their covetousness." This is the reason why they are not doers as well as hearers of the Word; because, while they are hearing it, their hearts are going after their covetousness, after their worldly affairs or business: and their hearts being full of other things, there is no room for the Word to enter in and work upon them.

I fear there may be some here present who know all this to be true by themselves: I judge no man, but appeal to

every one's conscience: since you came hither, how many places have your hearts been in? While you have been hearing God's Word repeated and explained to you, have not many worldly or vain thoughts been crowding in together with the Word, enough to stifle it? Yea, have they not stifled it altogether in many of you? Have not others of you been wholly taken up with other thoughts all the while? Are not some so still, thinking at this moment upon something besides the Word you hear, and not at all of that, so as to lay it to your hearts? How then can you expect any good from it? Your hearts are shut against the Word; and unless God be pleased to open them, as He did Lydia's, so that you may "attend to the things that are spoken," all that is Acts 16. 14. said is but as water spilt upon the ground, which you can never gather up or make any use of. And this is another great reason why of the many hearers there are so few doers of the Word; even because they do not seriously attend to it, but hear it so negligently and carelessly as if they were no way concerned in it.

But although a man both understands and likewise observes the Word he hears, yet unless he believe it, he can never do it: for the Word doth not work by any virtue inherent in itself, but by the special grace and power of God going along with it, and setting it home upon the hearts of those who hear it. And therefore, unless a man believes what he hears to be the Word of God, and accordingly receives it as such, so as to be fully persuaded of the truth and certainty of it, it can have no effect upon him: for God never exerts His power, nor manifesteth His grace in a special manner, but only to those who believe in Him, and in His Holy Word: but to them He always doth it, as we learn from the Apostle, saying, "For this cause thank we 1 Thess. 2. God without ceasing, because, when ye received the Word 13. of God which ye heard of us, ye received it not as the word of men, but, as it is, in truth, the Word of God, which effectually worketh also in you that believe." In them that believe it works effectually, but not in any other. And that is one great reason why many that hear the Word are not doers of it, even because whatsoever they may pretend, they do not really believe it; or, as the Apostle words it, "The Heb. 4. 2.

SERM.

Word preached doth not profit them, not being mixed with faith in them that hear it." From whence we may likewise observe, that faith is so necessary an ingredient to the making the Word we hear to work effectually upon us, that unless it be mixed with our hearing it, we can receive no benefit or profit at all by it, or, at least, not so much as to excite and enable us to do what we hear. Hence also, the Apostle useth this as an undeniable argument to prove the people had not obeyed the Gospel, because they had not Rom. 10.16. believed it, saying, "But they have not all obeyed the Gospel; for Esaias saith, Lord, who hath believed our report?" As taking it for granted, that as they could not believe it, but they would obey it; so that they could not obey it, unless they believed it.

> I heartily wish that we had not as much cause as the Prophet had, to say, "Lord, who hath believed our report?" But I fear that this also is the case of too many among us. who can be content to hear the Word, and will not deny but that it is holy, and true, and just, and good; but after all they do not believe it in their hearts; they do not really believe it to be the Word of the Almighty Creator of the world, that Word by which He will judge them at the Last Day: if they did, it would make their hearts ache when they hear it reproving them for their sins, and forewarning them of the judgment to come: it would inflame them with the true love of God, and with earnest desires to serve and honour Him above all things in the world: it would put them upon constant endeavours to avoid whatsoever God forbids, and do what He commands, lest they fall under His displeasure, and so be lost and undone for ever. Whereas we see by daily experience, that men can sit and hear the Word with a great deal of seeming attention, and yet take no more care of doing any thing it requires, than as if they were no way concerned in it; which plainly shews, that notwithstanding their profession of the Christian faith, they are not fully persuaded of the truth and certainty of it: and then it is no wonder that they are not "doers of the Word, but hearers only, deceiving their own selves."

> To which we may add, in the last place, that of those who in some measure believe what they hear whilst they are

hearing it, many have no sooner heard it, but they presently forget it, and therefore can never practise it. This reason the Apostle himself here suggests to us; for in the words following my text, he compares him that is only a hearer and not a doer of the Word, to "a man that having seen his face in a glass (or mirror), straightway goes away, and forgets what manner of man he was;" what dirt or spots he saw in his face, and therefore doth not wipe them off, but lets them continue just as they were before. And then he adds, "But whose looketh into the perfect law of liberty, Jam. 1. 25. and continueth therein, he being not a forgetful hearer, but a doer of the work, this man shall be blessed in his deed;" where he plainly opposeth a forgetful hearer to a doer of the word, as taking it for granted, that the great reason why men do not what they hear, is, because they forget it.

There are many such forgetful hearers among us, such as hear much, but forget all they hear: and the reason they pretend for it is, because their memories are so weak that they cannot retain it. But this is a groundless pretence, for they can remember other things well enough. Servants can remember what their masters bid them do, and masters can remember all they have to do in their temporal affairs: why then cannot they remember what Almighty God requires of them, the things that belong to their everlasting peace? Not because they cannot, but because they will not remember them. If men would set themselves in good earnest to mind what they hear, they would easily remember all that is necessary for them to do; though they do not remember the very words, they would keep the duty itself always in their minds, so as to put it into practice. And the reason why they do it not, is not because of the weakness of their memories, but because of the hardness of their hearts; as our Lord Himself intimates in the parable of the sower, saying, "He Mat. 13. 20, that receiveth seed into stony places, is he that heareth the 21. Word, and anon with joy receiveth it, yet hath he not root in himself, but dureth for awhile: for when tribulation or persecution ariseth because of the Word, by and by he is offended," whereby He gives us to understand, that the Word of God to some hearers, is like seed sown upon a hard rock, or some stony place, where it hath no depth of earth to take

ver. 22.

SERM. root in, but lies upon the surface or top of the ground, and therefore is carried away by the next wind that blows, and so comes to nought. And then Our Lord adds, "He also that received seed among thorns, is he that heareth the Word, and the care of this world, and the deceitfulness of riches, choke the Word, and he becometh unfruitful," which is another great reason why men so commonly forget all they hear, even because the things of this world crowd so fast into their heads, that they stifle and choke the Word, razing all the footsteps of it out of their brains, so that they remember no more of it than as if they had never heard it; as many, I believe, here present have found by their own experience; who having heard the Word, though they were at present affected with it, yet thinking immediately upon other things, they forget all they heard, and, by consequence, can never practise any of it.

It is upon some or other of these accounts that there are so many hearers and so few doers of the Word among us: it is either because, although they hear the Word, they do not understand it; or although they understand it, they do not mind it; or although they mind it, yet they do not believe it; or else, although they believe it, yet they do not remember it, and therefore do not practise it. Neither is this the case only of some few weak, inconsiderate persons, but of the far greatest part of our hearers: this is a sad truth, but it is too plain to be denied; we see it verified in the very last duty that you were put in mind of; it was pressed upon you in as plain terms as I could invent, out of God's Own Word, and that too at several times; and vet I perceive but few that do it, besides those that did it before; you know what I mean: but this is not the only instance; the same holds good in all things else. Whatsoever it is that we read or preach, or any way publish and declare out of God's Word, though many seem mighty attentive in hearkening to it, yet when they have done that, they think they have done enough, and concern themselves no farther about it, but go away very well satisfied that they have done their duty; they have been to hear, as if that was all that is required of them.

IV. But this is certainly a great cheat, a cheat that men

put upon themselves, to the ruin and destruction of their own immortal souls. This I know they will scarcely believe, because it is so great a reflection upon them; but whatsoever they may think. I am sure it is true; for it is attested by God Himself, saying, "Be ve doers of the Word, and not hearers only, deceiving your own selves." But wherein do they deceive themselves? in many respects: I shall instance only in two: in that they think they do good, when really they do no good but hurt: and in that they think they get good by such hearing, when they are so far from being better, that they are really the worse for it.

First; they who are not "doers of the Word, but hearers only, deceive their own selves," in that they think, by mere hearing the Word of God, they do that which is good and acceptable to Him, and for the honour of His Name. Unless they thought so, they would never hear at all, but live altogether as without God in the world, as many heathenish people in and about this city do; to our shame be it spoken: but they who only hear, are but little better; not but that it is good and necessary for all men to hear the Word of God. that so they may know His Will, without which they can never do it, this being the means ordained of God for that purpose; but then it is only the means, not the end. It is doing that is the end of hearing; and therefore they who only hear, hear to no end or purpose at all, but cheat themselves of their time, and deceive themselves with the conceit of doing something that is well-pleasing unto God, whereas indeed they do but play the hypocrites with Him, making as if they had a mind to do His Will, when really they have not; their design being only to hear it, not to do it; which He knowing, is so far from being pleased, that He is highly displeased with it: for this is plain mocking and affronting Him to His face, and a great dishonour to Him, that His creatures should come to hear His Will, and He is graciously pleased to make it known to them, and yet after all they will not do it. But "be not deceived, God will [Gal. 6. 7.] not be mocked." Though you may deceive yourselves, you cannot deceive Him: every time you hear, He takes particular notice how ye hear, and what ye hear, and whether you act accordingly or no; and if ye do, He is graciously

SERM. CXI. pleased to accept of it in Christ, and to bless it to you. But if you do it not, your hearing will not be reckoned among your good, but your bad works: it will add both to the number and to the weight of your sius, as you will find at the Last Day. And whatsoever ye may think at present, you will then clearly see how much ye deceived yourselves in thinking ye did well in hearing the Word of God without doing of it.

And if ye do none, ye may be sure that ye can get no good by such hearing. They who expect it, as men commonly do, will find themselves egregiously deceived; deceived by themselves, in flattering themselves with such vain hopes and expectations, for which they have not the least shadow of any ground or reason. For how can it possibly avail you to hear what ye must do to be saved, unless ye do it? Is a man ever the better for hearing of a good bargain or purchase, unless he makes it? Is a man ever the nearer his journey's end for knowing the way thither, unless he walks in it? Ye know he is not. How then can ye imagine, that the hearing the Word of God should do you any good, unless ye do it? No, deceive not yourselves, it is Rom. 2. 13. impossible. The very Word you hear, tells you, "Not the

hearers of the Law are just before God, but the doers of the Jam. 1. 25. Law shall be justified." And a little after my text, "Whoso looketh into the perfect law of liberty, and continueth therein, the same not being a forgetful hearer, but a doer of the work, this man shall be blessed in his deed." "This man," and he only, that both hears the Word, and doth the work, shall be blessed; and "he shall be blessed in his deed," not in his "hearing," but in his "doing" what he hears. He shall be blessed, but none else. To the same purpose is that of our Saviour Himself, the foundation and

John 13. 17. the Author of all blessings, saying, "If ye know these things, happy are ye if ye do them." Not happy are ye if ye "know" them, but if ye "do" them; implying, that although we cannot do them unless we know them, yet we shall be never the better for knowing, unless we do them.

But that is not all: "For they who are hearers only, and not doers of the Word," are so far from being better, that they are much the worse for hearing it. For this is an high aggravation of their crime, in that they heard, and so knew the Will of God, but yet would not do it. This is to sin against knowledge, to rebel against the light. Such are wilful, obstinate, presumptuous sinners, the worst sort of sinners in the world, and will accordingly have the worst sort of punishments inflicted on them. If they think otherwise, they do but deceive themselves; for He who cannot lie, hath said, "Every one that heareth these sayings of Mine, Matt. 7.26, and doth them not, shall be likened unto a foolish man, 27. which built his house upon the sand; and the rain descended, and the floods came, and the winds blew, and beat upon that house; and it fell; and great was the fall of it;" intimating that such shall not only fall, but their fall shall be great, greater than other men's: as He Himself elsewhere explains it, saying, "That servant, which knew his Lord's Will, and Luke 12.47, prepared not himself, neither did according to His Will, shall be beaten with many stripes. But he that knew not, and did commit things worthy of stripes, shall be beaten with few stripes." All that do not the Will of God, shall be beaten, both they that did, and they that did not know it: but they who knew it, and yet would not do it, they shall be most beaten, their punishment shall be the greatest: if there be one place in Hell hotter than another, as be sure there is, it shall be for them, even for all such as hear and know the Will of God, and yet obstinately refuse to obey it. And though they will not believe it now, they shall then find to their cost the saving of St. Peter to be true, that "it had been better for them not to have known 2 Pet. 2. 21. the Way of Righteousness, than, after they have known it, to turn from the Holy Commandment delivered unto them;" so grossly do they deceive themselves, who are hearers only, and not doers of the Word!

And yet how common is this among us! Men generally love to be deceived, and rather than not be deceived at all, they will deceive themselves; and that too in things of the greatest importance, such as concern their everlasting state; as appears in many instances, but in none more plainly than in this, that they satisfy themselves with the bare hearing how to get to Heaven, and so deceive themselves with the groundless conceit, as if that would bring them thither, without ever doing any thing they hear in order to it:

SERM. CXI. whereas that, as we have seen, will but sink them lower into the pit of Hell.

Hence therefore I pray and beseech you all, as ye tender your own eternal welfare, that you would not put this trick or cheat any longer upon yourselves: "but be ye doers of the Word, and not hearers only." Whatsoever truth ye hear revealed in the Word, be sure to receive it with a firm and steadfast faith; whatsoever sin ye hear reproved, be sure to forsake and avoid it; whatsoever duty ye hear commanded by Almighty God, be sure to live in the constant performance of it; that so ye may grow wiser and better by every chapter ye hear read, and by every sermon that is preached to you out of God's Holy Word. For which purpose I would advise you to observe and follow these few directions.

Whensoever you go into the House of God, there, among other things, to hear His most holy Word, consider whose Word you go to hear; not the word of a mortal man, nor the word of an Angel or Archangel, but the Word of your Almighty Creator and most merciful Redeemer, the Supreme Lawgiver and Judge of the whole world, that Word by which He will judge you at the Last Day. And therefore humbly Ps. 119. 18. beseech Him, as David did, to "open your eyes that you may behold the wondrous things of His Law," and likewise to open your hearts too, that ye may receive the Truth in the love of it.

Having thus prepared yourselves for it, while the Word is delivering to you, set yourselves in good earnest to hearken diligently to it; striving all ye can to apprehend the meaning of every sentence and expression in it. And if any thing be above your reach, as some of the Articles of our religion are, howsoever consider from Whom it comes; it comes from God, and accordingly believe it upon His Word, without searching any farther into it.

But when you hear of any plain truth that God is pleased to reveal to you, of any sin that he forbids you, of any duty that He requires of you, of any punishment that He threatens, or of any blessing that He promiseth to His people; be sure to mind it, and set it home upon your hearts and consciences; applying it every one to himself, as much as if it was spoken particularly to him, and to nobody else, and resolving with himself to act accordingly. Do not look upon any thing as meant only of other people, as some are apt to do; but every one should look upon every thing as directed immediately to himself: for without such a particular application of what ye hear, to yourselves, ye can never be truly touched or affected with it, so as to receive any real benefit or comfort from it.

Neither must you only thus take every one what he hears to himself, but you must take it as from God, you must receive it "not as the word of men, but as it is in truth the 1 Thess. 2. Word of God," and therefore you must receive it with such a faith as is due to God's Own Word, which being the firmest ground we can have whereupon to build our faith, it requires the strongest faith that can be built upon it: and accordingly, whatsoever it is that you hear out of His Word, you must not doubt, but be fully persuaded in your minds, that it is both infallibly true, and absolutely necessary for you to know and do, otherwise He would not have told you of it.

When ye have thus, by a quick and lively faith, received the Word into your hearts, be sure to keep it there. Do not suffer any vain thoughts, idle discourse, or worldly business to jostle it out again; but still continue to exercise your faith upon it; and that, by the Grace of God co-operating with His Word, will certainly put you upon doing of the work.

Wherefore, in short, as ever ye desire never to hear the Word in vain, whensoever ye go to hear it, carefully observe the Apostle's direction, in the words before my text, "Lay [James 1. apart all filthiness and superfluity of naughtiness, and receive with meekness the engrafted Word, which is able to save your souls." Receive it so by faith, that it may be engrafted in your hearts, and so bring forth fruit unto Salvation. For which purpose, always carry what ye have now heard in your minds; "Be ye doers of the Word, and not hearers only, deceiving your own selves;" that the Word you have now heard, may, by the blessing of God, be the means of your doing whatsoever else ye shall hereafter hear: by which

SERM. means this one sermon will make all others profitable to you, and effectual to the saving of your souls. And so our preaching will never be in vain, nor your hearing in vain: for being both hearers and doers of the Word, you will go from strength to strength, and every day grow more and more in grace, and in the knowledge of Our Lord Jesus Christ: to Whom be glory for ever.

SERMON CXII.

THE DUTY AND ADVANTAGE OF SEEKING THINGS SPIRITUAL.

MATT. vi. 33.

But seek ye first the Kingdom of God and His righteousness; and all these things shall be added unto you.

Although we are only strangers and pilgrims in this world, and know not how soon, but are certain that ere long, we shall be taken out of it; yet we are very apt to be as thoughtful and solicitous about the little affairs and concerns of it, as if we were to live in it for ever: insomuch that seeing we cannot live here at all without eating and drinking, nor conveniently without clothing, we commonly mind little else, but either to feed or clothe ourselves, or else to provide wherewithal to do it. Neither is this the sin and folly only of the age we live in. It was so among God's Own peculiar people, when His Only-begotten Son vouchsafed to converse with them in our nature. He could not but take notice that they also, as well as other people, were exceedingly addicted to it; and therefore, in this chapter, useth the most clear and proper motives that could be thought of, to dissuade them and us from it. First, saith He, "No man Matt. 6, 24, can serve two masters; for either he will hate the one, and 25. love the other; or else he will hold to the one, and despise the other. Ye cannot serve God and Mammon. Therefore I say unto you, take no thought for your life, what ye shall eat, or what ye shall drink; nor yet for your body, what ye shall put on." As if He should have said, Ye profess to serve God, but that ye cannot do, so long as you serve this world: "for no man can serve two masters." For he that

SERM. CXII.

hath two masters, will either "hate the one, and love the other;" or if he doth not do that, he will "hold to the one," so as to do his work, "and despise the other," so as not to do what he requires. This is a general rule that holds good in all cases, especially in this of serving God and Mammon; no man can possibly serve two masters that are so contrary to one another as they are. He whose mind is bent upon serving God, must needs despise and contemn this world: and he whose thoughts are distracted about the things of this world, it is impossible that his heart should be united in serving God. And therefore, as ever ye desire to serve God, as you profess to do, I say unto you, I advise and counsel you, do not distract and perplex your minds with taking care and thoughtfulness about this life, "what ye shall eat, or drink, or wear: for," consider likewise, "is not the life more than meat, and the body than raiment?" And therefore God, who doth the greater, cannot He do the less? He that gives you life, cannot He give you meat to preserve it? He that made the body, cannot He provide raiment for it to clothe it, without your being so anxious and solicitous about it, as to neglect his service for it?

Matt. 6. 26. "Behold also the fowls of the air; for they sow not, neither do they reap, nor gather into barns; yet your heavenly Father feedeth them. Are ye not much better than they?" Though the fowls of the air, as all other creatures, are good in their kind; yet are not you, who were made in the likeness of God himself, much better? And yet you see that he feeds them. How then can ye doubt but He will take care of you, without your being so over-careful for yourselves? And besides, consider how vain and foolish all such anxious care and thoughtfulness is; for, "which of you by taking thought can add one cubit unto his stature?" Which of you, by all your cunning and artifice, can make their bodies higher, or their lives one minute longer than God hath determined they

ver. 28, 29. should be? "And why take ye thought for raiment? Consider the lilies of the field, how they grow; they toil not, neither do they spin; and yet I say unto you, that even Solomon, in all his glory, was not arrayed like one of these."

ver. 30. "Wherefore, if God so clothe the grass of the field, which to-day is so fresh and flourishing, and to-morrow is cast into

the oven, shall He not much more clothe you, O ve of little faith?" Is not this a great instance of your infidelity, or at least of the weakness of your faith, that you should mistrust God's providence and care to provide sufficient clothing for you, notwithstanding that you see Him make such plentiful provision of it for the very flowers of the field, that the royal apparel of the wisest and greatest of kings, even of Solomon himself, could not shine so gloriously as they do? "There- Matt. 6. 31, fore take no thought, saying, what shall we eat? or what 32. shall we drink? or wherewithal shall we be clothed? after all these things do the Gentiles seek." The heathens. who do not know God, nor believe His Providence, they indeed are solicitous about these things. But will you be like them? No, surely; especially considering that "your Heavenly Father knoweth that you have need of such things." You have a Father in Heaven, who knows that you cannot live without these things, and therefore you may be confident that He will provide them for you, without your distracting and perplexing yourselves with anxious care and solicitude about them. But instead of that, I will direct you to an infallible way how you may be sure never to want any of these things which are necessary for you; which, in short, is this, "Seek ye first the kingdom of God and His righteousness, and then (ye have My word for it) all these things shall be added to you."

Where we may observe two things: first, the method prescribed by our Lord for that purpose, "Seek ye first the kingdom of God and His righteousness:" and then, the certainty of that method, "And all these things shall be added to you."

I. The first thing to be here considered is, the method which our Lord prescribes, whereby to have all things necessary for this life bestowed upon us, without our being too careful and anxious about them: I say, without our being too careful and anxious: for so the word μεριμνᾶτε, here used, properly signifies. So that our Lord doth not here forbid what we are elsewhere commanded, even to have a sober, prudent, and moderate care even of the things of this world, so as to be diligent in your respective callings, and by that means to provide necessaries both for yourselves and families; for he that doth not do that, "hath denied the faith, 1 Tim. 5. 8.

and is worse than an infidel;" as St. Paul himself, who perfectly understood our Lord's meaning, saith. But that which our great Master here requires of us and all His disciples and scholars, is, that our thoughts be not so taken up about the things of this world, as to be taken off from serving God, or distracted in the performance of it: as appears from the reasons which He Himself here gives, why He would not have us so thoughtful about the world, even because we "can-Matt. 6. 24. not serve God and Mammon." For from hence it is manifest, that He forbids only such excessive and immoderate care and thoughtfulness about the things of this world, as impedes and disturbs us in our serving God. But such a moderate care and providence for the necessaries of this present life, as is consistent with, or any way subservient to, the great end of living here, even to our serving and honouring Him in Whom we live, that certainly is not only lawful, but our duty; and our Saviour is so far from forbidding that, that He rather commands it, in that He commands us to serve God, which we cannot do without such things as are necessary to our present subsistence; which we have no ground to expect, without using the means which God hath appointed for that end, by being diligent and industrious in the calling, which He, for that purpose, hath placed us in. But even in this also, our Master hath here taught us how to carry ourselves, even to do our duty, to mind every one his own business, and not to trouble or torment ourselves with what may, or what may not be the issue of it; but to leave that to God, and trust on Him for His blessing upon our endeavours, to make them successful and effectual to all things necessary both for life and godliness. And indeed it is only a diffident and mistrustful care for the things of this life, which our Saviour here forbids; when men mind their calling, and yet fear they shall want, not believing or trusting in God for His blessing on what they do, but either thinking to provide necessaries for themselves without Him, or else, fearing that He, notwithstanding their endeavours, will not provide them for them: "Wherefore," saith He,

Matt. 6.30. " if God so clothe the grass of the field, shall He not much more clothe you, O ye of little faith?" Whereby He plainly shews, that the care which He there condemns, is that which is accompanied with the want or weakness of our faith in God; when, notwithstanding all the promises that He hath made us, and all the blessings He hath already bestowed upon us, we will not believe Him, nor trust Him for the future, but still are full of fears and jealousies of what may befall us hereafter, and whether we may not one time or other want even necessary food and raiment. This is that sinful care and thoughtfulness about the things of this life, which our Saviour here forbids: and that His Disciples may never be guilty of it, He directs them to a most certain way how to be sure of all things necessary, without their being so anxious and solicitous about them, even by "seeking the Kingdom of God and His righteousness" in the first place.

Now we, being all in the number of His disciples, cannot but look upon ourselves as obliged to learn and practise whatsoever He, our great Lord and Master, hath taught us, especially in a matter which doth so nearly concern us as this doth: for I dare say, we all desire to take the best course we can, whereby to secure to ourselves a sufficient maintenance, whilst we are in this world, so as to be sure never to want food, or raiment, or any thing that we shall have a real occasion for: and this is that which our blessed Saviour here directs us to; insomuch, that if we do but rightly understand His meaning in these words, and act accordingly, we may be confident that we shall never want any thing that is good for us.

For this purpose, therefore, we shall take the words apart, and consider what our Lord means by "the Kingdom of God and His righteousness," what by "seeking," and what by "seeking of it" in the first place; for then we shall easily apprehend what He would have us do, when He saith, "But seek ye first the Kingdom of God and His righteousness."

I. First, therefore, by the Kingdom of God, our Lord here means that kingdom of His, which He Himself saith "is not of this world;" that invisible and spiritual kingdom John 18.36. which He erects in the hearts of men, and governs by the sweet influences of His Holy Spirit, leading them into all truth, and goodness, and virtue; to every thing that is acceptable to God, and for the advancement of His honour

SERM. and glory. This is that Kingdom of God which Christ CXII. Luke 17.21. Himself saith is "within us;" and that which His Apostle Rom. 14. 17. speaks of, where he saith, that "the Kingdom of God is not meat and drink; but righteousness, and peace, and joy, in the Holy Ghost."

Now this Kingdom of God, although it be not of this world, it is begun in it, being first set up in the souls of men whilst they are united to their bodies, where it meets with much opposition; "The flesh," as the Apostle speaks, "lusting against the spirit, and the spirit against the flesh; and these are contrary the one to the other." By which means it comes to pass, that this kingdom is always embroiled with spiritual wars and tumults, so long as it is in this world; and although it doth not only keep its ground, but get the victory too even in this, yet it triumphs only in the other world, where all its enemies being perfectly subdued, it enjoys perpetual tranquillity and peace. And there it is, that all the subjects of this kingdom are advanced to the highest degrees of honours and happiness that creatures can be invested with; being all crowned with glory and immortality, and transported continually with the rays of Divine light shining upon them, and filling them with all the joy and comfort that their nature is capable of; and that too not only for some years or ages, but for ever and ever: Luke 1.33. for "of this Kingdom there shall be no end."

This is that Kingdom of God, which His Only-begotten Son hath purchased for mankind with His Own blood, and which He would have us therefore to look after before all things else, saying, "Seek ye first the Kingdom of God;" and that we may the better understand both the nature of this kingdom, and the way to it, He adds, "and His right-eousness," implying, that this Kingdom of God is composed altogether, and made up of righteousness. The crown of it is a crown of righteousness, the sceptre is a sceptre of right-eousness, and its whole form and constitution is founded and established in the righteousness of God; so that none can seek so as to obtain this Kingdom of God, but he must at the same time seek His righteousness too, without which it is impossible for any man to be admitted into, or to enjoy the privileges and immunities of this kingdom.

II. Where, by righteousness, we are to understand, as the word generally signifies, that habit or disposition of the mind, whereby we are always ready and willing to perform our whole duty both to God and man, and so to give what we owe to each of them: for though the world, in its strict sense, be sometimes restrained to our dealings with one another; yet in its general and enlarged notion, wherein it is here to be understood, it hath respect also unto God, to Whom we are more indebted, and therefore owe more than we do, or can do, to men: for we are indebted to Him for every thing we have, yea for every thing we are, for our very souls and bodies, and therefore should glorify Him in Insomuch that to our being just and righteous towards God, it is necessary that we apprehend and esteem Him as our chiefest good; that we desire and love Him with all our hearts, serve and honour Him with all our might; that we praise and thank Him for whatsoever we have, and pray to Him, and Him alone, for what we want; that we believe His Word, fear His threatenings, trust on His promises, and observe His precepts, to the utmost of our power; that we adore and worship Him with reverence and godly fear, and do all we can to promote His honour and glory in the world. In short, he that would render unto God His whole due, must give up all he is to Him, lay out all he hath for Him, and make it his constant care and study to please, obey, and glorify Him in every thing he thinks, or speaks, or doth.

For this we owe to God, and therefore ought in justice or righteousness to pay it, as well as what we owe to men; concerning whom God Himself commands us to "render Rom. 13.7. unto all their due, tribute to whom tribute is due, custom to whom custom, fear to whom fear, honour to whom honour;" that we "render to Cæsar the things which are Cæsar's, as Matt.22.21. well as to God the things that are God's;" that we "speak [Tit. 3. 2; evil of no man, but love and honour all:" that we do not 1 Pet.2.17.] deceive, or cheat, or defraud one another in any matter, but in all our dealings observe that golden rule, which our great Master hath set us, saying, "Whatsoever ye would that men Matt. 7. 12. should do unto you, do ye even so to them; for this is the Law and the Prophets." That is, this is the sum and sub-

and of His accepting.

[Acts 24. 16.]

stance of whatsoever is required of us, either in the Law or Prophets, as to our carriage and behaviour one to another.

He who thus exerciseth himself as St. Paul did. "to have always a conscience void of offence both towards God and towards men," by performing whatsoever he knows to be his duty to both; such a one may truly and properly be called a just or righteous man. And this is that righteousness which our blessed Saviour here speaks of, and calls "the righteousness of God;" not but that it may in some sense be termed also our righteousness, as being wrought both in us and by us; in us as the subjects, by us as the instruments, and in some measure the co-operative causes of it. But yet it is most properly here called the righteousness

1. First; it is of His commanding: it is that which the Most High God doth expressly require of us, both in His Law and Prophets, wherein He hath revealed His will and pleasure to us; what He would have us to do, and what not to do, both as to Himself and to one another. And he who therefore doth what God commands because He commands it, and avoids what He forbids because He forbids it; such a man is properly righteous towards God, and such righteousness may be truly called the righteousness of God, as being commanded by Him, and performed only in obedience to that command.

of God, because it is of His commanding, of His infusing,

2. And as it is God Who requires this righteousness of us, so it is He also Who infuseth it into us, and gives us both grace and power to do it; or, as the Apostle words it, Phil. 2. 13. "it is God Who worketh in us both to will and to do of His good pleasure;" that is, He both inclines our wills to do what He commands, and assisteth us also in the doing of it: for we are assured, not only from Scripture, but likewise 2 Cor. 3. 5, from our own experience, that "we are not sufficient of ourselves to think any thing as of ourselves, but our sufficiency is of God." And if we cannot so much as think, much less can we do any thing that is truly good, without God, Who, as He is the chiefest good in Himself, so is He the fountain of all the goodness that is in any of His creatures, and par-

ticularly in mankind; it all flows from Him, and is derived

to them by His Son our Saviour and Mediator Jesus Christ. Who therefore tells us, that "without Him we can do John 15.5. nothing;" that is, we can do nothing that is truly good without Him: but by Him there is nothing that is truly good but we may do it; as St. Paul found by experience, when he said, "I can do all things through Christ which Phil. 4. 13. strengtheneth me;" implying, that notwithstanding his natural weakness and inability to please and obey God, or to work righteousness by his own strength, yet he was able to do it by that grace and assistance which he received from God Himself, by means of Christ's merits and intercession for him. And so it is that we must do good, if ever we do any at all; it must be by the power of God enlightening our minds, influencing our wills, directing our intentions, strengthening our resolutions, co-operating all along with us, and so enabling us effectually to do it. Hence it is, that in the Collect which our Church hath appointed for the first Sunday after Epiphany, we pray to God, that "He would grant that we may both perceive and know what things we ought to do, and also may have grace and power faithfully to fulfil the same, through Jesus Christ our Lord." Wherefore, seeing all the righteousness that we either have or do proceeds from God, and is both begun, continued, and perfected by Him, it may most properly be called, as it really is, the righteousness of God.

3. And so it may be also because it is of His accepting, when it is done: for as it is done by us, it is so imperfect, that it doth not deserve the name of righteousness. It is true, God gives us sufficient power to do it: but we, by reason of our natural weakness and infirmities, do not so use that power, as to adjust what we do exactly to the rule that God hath set us: but every deviation from that rule is sin or unrighteousness; and therefore in the most exact righteousness that we perform, there is so much sin and unrighteousness mixed with it, that God may justly disown and reject it, and not accept of it as any righteousness at all: but, nevertheless, God is pleased to accept of it as well as if it was perfect, upon the account of that absolutely perfect righteousness and obedience which His Son performed to Him in our nature; in whom we are therefore said "to be 2 Cor. 5. 21.

SERM. CXII.

Phil. 3. 9.

made the righteousness of God;" that is, both we and our righteousness are accepted before God. Hence the Apostle calls it, "the righteousness which is of God by faith;" because it is by our believing in Christ, that His righteousness is made ours, and ours is made acceptable to God by it: so that, to speak properly, whatsoever righteousness we have or do, is more truly God's righteousness than ours; forasmuch as it is no farther true righteousness, than as the righteousness of Christ is superadded to it, and God is pleased to accept of it as such for His sake. And this I look upon as the great reason why our Saviour here calls it, "the righteousness of God;" and why He would have us to seek it, together with the Kingdom of God; because it is proper and peculiar to that kingdom, and can never be separated from it, nor any where attained but only in it: so that he who seeks the Kingdom of God without His righteousness, or His righteousness without His kingdom, is sure to lose his labour, for he can never find either; whereas, if we seek them both together, we shall likewise obtain them both together: for at the same time that we are admitted into the Kingdom of God, we shall also be invested with His righteousness, and so made fit subjects for such a kingdom as that is.

III. But then you will say, What doth our Lord mean by seeking of this Kingdom of God and His righteousness? And, how would He have us seek it, so as to be sure to find For that, we must know in general, that there are several things required as necessary to dispose and prepare us for the "seeking the Kingdom of God and His righteousness." It is necessary that we believe or know there is such a kingdom, and such righteousness to be had; that it is worth our while to look after it; and that if we do look after it as we ought, we may certainly have it: but these things, I suppose, you are fully satisfied in, and therefore do earnestly desire to attain this kingdom and righteousness, and are so steadfastly resolved to do all ye can for it. And verily such a resolution is the first step towards it; and if rightly pursued, will certainly bring you to it: whereas, unless you be resolved to seek it in good earnest, it will be in vain to tell you how to do it. But howsoever, whether you be

resolved upon it or no, I must explain my Master's meaning to you, and shew what it is that He would have you to do, when He commands you "to seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness," and that too in the first place, or before all other things.

- 1. First, therefore, when our blessed Saviour commands you to "seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness." His will and pleasure in short is this, that you constantly and sincerely make use of all means, such as He hath prescribed, whereby to obtain and practise true grace and virtue, that you may become such persons as God will accept of as righteous, and therefore admit into His kingdom, through Jesus Christ. For which purpose it is necessary that you consult and study the Word of God, wherein He hath revealed His will to you, and told you what He would have you to believe, and think, and speak, and do, that ye may be saved. Hence, as our Saviour here commands you to "seek the Kingdom of God," He elsewhere commands you to "search the Scriptures;" because they John 5. 39. direct you into the way that leads to that kingdom, and shew you likewise how to walk in it. It is by them also that ye may know how to work righteousness, and how to make it the righteousness of God, acceptable and wellpleasing unto Him; which, unless you know, it is impossible for you to do. But then, on the other side too, unless you do it, it is in vain to know it; and therefore, when by reading or hearing God's Holy Word read or expounded to you, you are acquainted with His Divine will, you must endeavour all you can to observe and obey it, and to order your whole lives and conversations according to it.
- 2. But seeing you cannot do it by your own strength, you must make it your daily prayer to Almighty God, that He, for His Son's sake, would assist you with His grace and Holy Spirit in the doing of it: but you must be sure to ask in faith, nothing doubting, but firmly believing our Saviour's words, where He saith, "If ye then, being evil, know how Luke 11.13. to give good gifts unto your children, how much more will your Heavenly Father give the Holy Spirit to them that ask Him?" that is, to them that earnestly desire and faithfully pray to Him for such a measure of His Holy Spirit,

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXII.

[Matt. 17. 21.]

whereby they may be sanctified throughout, and made really and truly holy, so as to serve and honour Him with a perfect heart and a willing mind. They who thus pray to God, and trust in the promises which He hath made us to that purpose, in Jesus Christ, cannot fail of what they so pray for; especially if they constantly make this the great subject of their private, as it is of our public devotions, wherein we daily implore His Divine Majesty to give us repentance, and His Holy Spirit, that what we do may always please Him, and that our lives may be pure and holy in His sight. But when we pray for so great a blessing as this is, either in public or in private, we must be sure to do it heartily, sincerely, and with that earnestness of desire that is suitable to the greatness of the blessing we desire, which is, indeed, the greatest we can ever have.

3. Wherefore, as you tender your own spiritual and eternal good, I advise and beseech you all to make conscience of frequenting the prayers of our Church, and to be as serious and intent in them as ye possibly can; and not only in praying, but likewise in praising God for all the expressions of His undeserved love and goodness already vouchsafed to you, as remembering that thankfulness to God for the blessings we enjoy, is a sure means whereby to obtain those we want. But to make both your prayers and praises more acceptable to God and beneficial to yourselves. it is requisite that you often join fasting with them, that so your bodies being kept under, your souls may exercise themselves more freely in such high and heavenly employments as those are; especially when ye pray, as ye ought always to do, for the illuminations and assistances of God's Holy Spirit. For as our Saviour saith, there is some kind of wicked spirits that will not go out without prayer and fasting; so there are some persons into whom God's Holy Spirit will not come without fasting as well as praying for Him: because, without that, their bodies being full of corrupt and sinful humours, they will not be fit temples for the Holy Ghost to dwell in, which St. Paul was so sensible of,

Holy Ghost to dwell in, which St. Paul was so sensible of, 1 Cor. 9. 27. that he always "kept his body under, and brought it into subjection, lest that by any means when he had preached unto others, he himself should be a castaway."

Digitized by Google

4. There is one thing still behind, that is of very great use in order to our partaking of the gifts and graces of God's Holy Spirit, and by consequence of His kingdom and righteousness; and that is the Sacrament of our Lord's Supper, ordained on purpose to put us in mind of, and so to exercise our faith in Him, Who with His Own blood purchased the power and right of bestowing the Spirit upon us, and therefore is always willing and ready to do it. And though I do not deny but that He often doth it in other duties as well as this; yet I dare positively affirm, that the frequent and worthy receiving of Christ's mystical body and blood is the most effectual means that we can ever use whereby to receive His Holy Spirit too: that being so spiritual and Divine a duty that it raiseth up our spirits, as I may so speak, to meet it, or at least qualifies or disposeth our minds so rarely for it, that unless we fail in receiving that holy Sacrament, we cannot certainly fail of receiving the Holy Spirit also, at least such a measure of it as is necessary for us in our present circumstances. These are, in short, those means of grace which God hath prescribed for our obtaining His kingdom and righteousness; and if we desire the end, we must use these means, not only by the by, and when we have nothing else to do, but diligently, industriously, constantly, believingly, trusting on God for His blessing upon them. Thus it is that Christ would have us "seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness." But then we must observe withal, that He would have us seek it in the first place; "But seek ye first," saith He, "the Kingdom of God and His righteousness;" that is, seek it before all things else, not only before riches, and honours, and pleasures, the impertinencies and superfluities of this life, but before those things which are necessary to this life; yea, and before that life itself to which they are necessary.

Wherefore, all such among you as desire punctually to observe what our great Lord and Master doth here command, must make it your first and great care and study, whilst you are in this world, to be wise, and holy, and good, and righteous, such as the Gospel requires and obligeth all to be; and for that purpose you must sincerely and constantly use those means which are appointed for that end.

You must not only read or hear the Scriptures now and then, but you must really prefer them before all other writings in the world, and so "mark, learn, and inwardly digest them," that you may understand how to serve and please God better than any other art or science whatsoever. Neither must you pray only sometimes, but it must be your daily employment, yea, the first and last thing you do every day. And living in a place where you have the opportunity of performing your public as well as private devotions every day, you must prize it before all temporal blessings, and not suffer every little worldly business to keep you from them. And seeing it is requisite that you often join fasting with your prayers, you must not look upon it as a severe task imposed upon you, but make it your pleasure and delight, so as to esteem a day spent in fasting and prayer beyond the greatest feasts you can be at. And as for the Lord's Supper, that is so heavenly, so Divine a banquet, that you must always hunger and thirst after it, and bless God that you are so frequently invited to it, that you may feed upon the bread of life, and derive grace and strength from Christ to withstand the temptations of the world, the [Tat. 2. 12.] flesh, and the Devil, and to "live soberly, righteously, and godly, in this present world:" which you ought to account, as really it is, the greatest happiness you can enjoy on this side Heaven; and, by consequence, neglect no opportunity of partaking of it: at least, never let the trifling concerns of this world deprive you of the comfort and advantage you may receive by it, which is so great, so exceeding great, that I am confident, were ye once accustomed to the frequent and worthy receiving of that holy Sacrament, you would think it as impossible to receive it too frequently, as it is to receive it too worthily.

All such among you as really and sincerely desire to "seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness" in the first place, must in the first place also use these and the like means which tend to that end, so as to prefer them both in your judgment and practice before those which tend only to the advancement of your estates and reputation in the world; otherwise you cannot be said to do what our Saviour here requires of you: and He be sure would never have required this of you, if you could have been saved without it; for He having purchased the Kingdom of God for you at no less a price than with His Own blood, you may be confident that He requires no more on your parts, than what is absolutely necessary in order to your obtaining of it; and therefore, He having commanded you to seek it in the first place, unless you do so, you have no ground to expect ever to have it.

But although Christ's command is a sufficient ground of our duty, and we are therefore bound to do what He commands us, because He commands us to do it, whether we understand the reason of it or no; yet, howsoever, that you may see what great reason He had to command, and you have to obey Him in it, I desire you to consider,

First, that the best things are always to be sought in the first place. This you cannot but all acknowledge to be the general rule for all rational creatures to walk by, and which you yourselves pretend to observe in all the actions of your life; for if two things be offered to you, the one better and the other worse, you would account it a great piece of folly and madness to choose the worse before the better: I dare say, you would not do it in your common conversation, and trafficking with one another about the things of this world; but what you apprehend or believe to be the best, that you will choose and desire first; and so all must do that would carry themselves like rational as well as free agents.

Now do but apply this certain and plain rule to the matter in hand, and you will easily see the reasonableness of this command: for you cannot but all acknowledge that the Kingdom of God and His righteousness is really better than all things of this life; yea, the best thing that you can ever have. Should I ask you one by one, whether you do not think so, I dare say you could not deny it, but would rather be angry at my making any question: what would you say, do you think us such fools and madmen as not to believe and know the Kingdom of God is better than all the kingdoms of this world, and His righteousness than all the riches in it? This is to question whether we be Christians; yea, whether we be men or no. For reason as well as reli-

SERM. CXII. gion teacheth us, that He Who made all things must needs be better than all things He made; and, by consequence, that His love and favour must needs be the best thing, the greatest good that we can ever have. But do ye really believe this? Then, if ye do but consult your own natural reason, that will teach you, that you ought to seek it in the first place, and that unless you do so, your practice will contradict both your faith and reason, and so you will live rather like beasts than either Christians or men.

Especially, if to this you add, that the Kingdom of God and His righteousness is not only better, but so infinitely better than the things of this life, that in comparison of that they can scarcely be said to be good at all; and, therefore, the same reason that obligeth you to seek that before them, obligeth you also to seek it so far before them, as not to seek them at all in comparison of it. From whence you may clearly see the great reasonableness of that command which our Saviour here lays upon you.

Which will farther appear also, if you consider withal,

that as the Kingdom of God is the best thing in the world that you can ever seek, so it is the hardest matter in the world ever to obtain it: for He that hath opened the gate and made way for you to go thither, hath told you in plain Matt. 7. 14. terms, that "the gate is strait, and the way narrow that leads to it," and that there be but "few that find it." And seeing there is so much time and pains required to the getting of it, it is no wonder that He here adviseth you to seek it first. As for your time, that, as you all know, at the longest is but short, and at the best but very uncertain; insomuch, that unless you begin to seek it now, before all other things, you cannot promise yourselves any time at all to do it in, or at the most not enough. And as for the care and pains you must take for so great a good, when you once set about it in good earnest, you will find, that all you can do will be little enough for it; and therefore you had need lay out yourselves wholly in the pursuit of it, more than for all things else, otherwise you had as good never pursue it at all, for you are never likely to attain it. Wherefore, as ever you desire to "seek the Kingdom of God, and His righteousness"

Digitized by Google

at all, you must be sure to seek it, as our Lord here commands, in the first place, or before all things else, lest otherwise you seek it to no purpose, even so as never to find it.

But how difficult soever this work be, it is the most necessary work we have to do in this world, and therefore must needs be done first. It is the great work that we were made for: we were not made to scrape up dirt, nor to gape after popular air, nor yet to gratify our flesh with sensual pleasures; but we were made to serve and honour Him that made us, by seeking His Kingdom and glory: and therefore, except we do that, we spend our time in vain, and live to no purpose at all, but do as much as in us lies to frustrate the very end of our creation. And there is all the reason in the world that we should do that first, which is so absolutely necessary to be done, that, without that, whatsoever else we do will signify nothing, but we had as good sit still and be idle all the days of our life, and so go out of the world without ever having done any good in it. Neither is it necessary only to our accomplishing God's end in making us, but it is necessary also to our attainment of true happiness, which the things of this world are not: for true happiness being seated only in the mind, nothing that is without us can contribute any thing towards it. But a man may be as happy without wealth, or honour, or health, or liberty, or life itself, as he can be with it. Nay, it is much to be observed, that the things of this world are so far from being able to make us happy, that we can never be perfectly happy so long as we have them; but we must of necessity leave not only all things in this world, but this very world itself, and go into the other, before we can have true and perfect happiness: whereas, on the other side, the Kingdom of God and His righteousness are so necessary, so indispensably necessary to our being happy, that it is as impossible for us to be happy without them, as it is to be miserable with them. For all true happiness consisteth only in the enjoyment of God, the supreme and only good: but we can never enjoy God any where but in His Own Kingdom; nor there, except we be first made righteous, and so, according to our capacity, like unto Him. And, therefore, as ever we desire to be truly, and really, and eternally happy, we must

SERM. of necessity seek God's kingdom and righteousness, which CXII. Luke 10.42. our Saviour Himself elsewhere calls "the one thing needful." And therefore it is no wonder that He here commands us to seek it first; all other things, in comparison of that, being superfluous and unnecessary.

> It is true, whilst we are in the body, there are some things necessary to our being in it, though not our being happy; as meat, and drink, and clothing, which are the ordinary means whereby these houses of clay wherein we dwell are supported and defended from wind and weather. But though there may be some necessity of our having such things, there is none at all for our seeking of them with care and anxiety of mind: for we may have them without that far better than with it; as appears from the promise which our Lord here makes to those "who first seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness," that "all these things shall be added to them:" which also suggests to us another great reason why we ought to seek the Kingdom of God in the first place; because if we do that, all things else that are any way needful for us shall be added to us.

> II. "And all these things shall be added to you;" that is, if you first seek God's Kingdom, you shall not only find that, but all things that are needful for you while you are upon earth, προστεθήσουται, shall be added to you over and above what you first sought; they shall be given you, as the word intimates, like paper and packthread into the bargain. Concerning which promise there are two things much to be observed; first, the certainty, and then the extent of it.

The certainty of this promise appears from the power and faithfulness of Him that made it, even Christ Himself; Who, being of infinite power, can do what He will; and being of infinite truth and faithfulness, will do all He can for the fulfilling of it. And, therefore, He having passed His word, and made this promise to us with His Own mouth, we ought not, we cannot doubt but He will most certainly make it good; "for Heaven and earth shall pass away," but as He Matt.24.35. Himself saith, His "words shall not pass away." He hath said, that if you first seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness, all these things shall be added unto you: which being His Own words, if you do what He here re-

quires of you, He will most certainly do what He hath promised to you. If you first take care to serve and please God by walking in the ways of holiness and righteousness before Him all the days of your life, He will take care that you shall never want any thing that is truly good and needful for you.

Which you cannot but be fully confident of, if you do but consider also the extent of this promise, in that He doth not say, some, or many, or most, but "all these things shall be added to you;" that is, as He explains Himself in the verse before my text, "All these things which our Heavenly Father knoweth we have need of." For such things as we have no need of, and that in the judgment of God Himself, it is no matter whether we have them or no; but all such things as God Himself knows to be any way necessary for us, they are all contained in this promise which Our Lord here makes us, and which He had made before by His Holy Spirit in David, saying, "They that seek the Lord, shall not Ps. 34. 10. want any good thing." What is not good for us, although we have it not, yet we cannot be said to want it, because if we had it, it would do us no good; and therefore it is said in the same place, that "there is no want to them that fear ver. 9. God," because they have all things that are any way needful or good for them. And what our Lord there promised by His Prophet He here repeats with His Own mouth, assiurng us, that all they who "first seek the Kingdom of God and His righteousness," shall have all things necessary both for life and godliness added to them.

Here then you see the best course you can ever take whereby to secure to yourselves not only a sufficient maintenance, but a constant supply of all things that you can ever have any real occasion for in this word. Do but first repent and turn to God, so as to be admitted into His kingdom, and partake of His righteousness, and then all such things will be immediately conferred and settled upon you. You have the word of Christ, of God Himself, for it; which you must needs acknowledge to be the best security in the world, and therefore ought to rest fully satisfied with it. Wherefore, as ever ye desire to be certain never to want any thing that is good for you, take this course which Christ

SERM. CXII. Himself hath prescribed for it; which you will find to be the only certain course you can ever take, forasmuch as God hath never promised His blessing or success to any other means. I do not deny but that He often scatters the things of this world among the men of it, who may gather them up in great abundance, but this is more than He ever promised them, and, by consequence, they have no ground to expect it: and whatsoever such men may have, they are still in want: they often want even what they have, and they always want God's blessing upon it, and therefore had as good, if not much better, be without it; whereas, by observing the method which our Lord here teaches, you will be certain to have whatsoever is good in itself, and likewise God's blessing upon it to make it good for you.

Wherefore, as ever ye desire to carry yourselves as becometh Christians indeed, you must be sure to do what Christ hath here commanded. Make it your great care and study to serve and honour God, and so to seek His Kingdom and righteousness in the first place. And when you thus sincerely perform what He hath required of you, you may be confident that He will likewise perform what He hath promised to you. He will defend and protect you from all evil, and give you whatsoever is really good for you either in this world or the next. You shall never want either food or raiment, nor yet His blessing upon it: which that you may be fully assured of, He Himself hath here engaged His Own word for it, saying to you all, "Seek ye first the Kingdom of God, and His righteousness, and all these things shall be added unto you."

SERMON CXIII.

THE SINFULNESS AND MISCHIEF OF WORLDLY ANXIETY.

PRIL. iv. 6.

Be careful for nothing; but in every thing by Prayer and Supplication with Thanksgiving let your Requests be made known unto God.

Although the Commandments of God now seem grievous to us, and very difficult to be observed, yet certainly they were designed at first for our ease and pleasure; they being all so exactly adapted to our nature, so agreeable to the temper we were made of, that every act of obedience to them refresheth and delights our minds, as David long ago observed, calling the "Commandments his delights;" and Ps.119.143. saying, that "in keeping of them there is great reward." Ps. 19. 11. The same might be demonstrated by a particular induction of them, whereby it would be easy to shew, that nothing is forbidden us, but what is some way or other hurtful and prejudicial to us, nothing required of us, but what is really for our good, and conduceth to our present comfort, as well as I shall instance at present only in to our future happiness. that which is enjoined in my text.

We cannot but be all sensible how great a misery it is to live in continual fears and cares about the things of this life, and how happily they live who are free from them, so as never to be disturbed or disquieted in their minds about any thing here below; especially if this proceeds from such principles, and are grounded upon such a foundation as is firm and lasting: and yet we not only may, but ought always to live thus: for this is that which is here enjoined us by the Apostle,

SERM. CXIII.

Phil. 4. 4.

ver. 5.

saying, "Be careful for nothing; but in every thing by prayer-and supplication with thanksgiving let your requests be made known unto God."

The Apostle here, in the close of his Epistle to them, is directing the Philippians how both to carry and support themselves under the various occurrences of this present life. They were likely to meet with many crosses and troubles in the way to Heaven, but howsoever he would not have them dejected, but always pleasant and cheerful under them: "Rejoice," saith he, " in the Lord always;" and to press it the more home upon them, he repeats it again, saying, "Again I say, rejoice." And although they should receive many affronts and injuries from others, yet he would have them always of an even and sedate temper; not hot and furious, but candid and ingenuous, meek and patient, peaceable and good to all. "Let your moderation," saith he, "be known unto all men: the Lord is at hand." both to assist you at present, and ere long to rescue and deliver you. And because they were to expect to be sometimes brought into great straits and difficulties, not knowing well what to do, in such cases he adviseth them not to be too anxious or solicitous, but to do their duty, and leave the issue to God: " Be careful," saith he, " for nothing; but in every thing by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving let your requests be made known unto God." This is in general the sense of the words; but lest we should mistake them, and that we may more clearly and fully understand the mind of the Holy Ghost in them, I shall, by His assistance, shew in what sense we are not, and in what sense we are to understand this precept, "Be careful for nothing;" and then explain the following words, wherein the Apostle directs us what to do in all such cases as are apt to put us upon too much thoughtfulness and care, saying, "but by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving let your requests be made known unto God."

I. First, therefore, we may observe, that the Apostle is here speaking not of spiritual but temporal things, and therefore, where he saith, "Be careful for nothing," he is to be understood only of the things of this life, not of those things which concern the life to come; for they ought to be our

chief and greatest care of all. And in this very place, where the Apostle commands the Philippians to be "careful for nothing." he commends them for being careful of him, that is, of performing the duty which they owed him as a Minister of Christ. "I rejoiced," saith he, "in the Lord greatly, Phil. 4. 10. that now at the last your care of me hath flourished again; wherein ve were also careful, but ve lacked opportunity." From whence it appears, that the Apostle himself distinguished between the care of doing our duty to God, and the care of this world, and commends the one as much as he condemns the other. The same Apostle elsewhere makes the same distinction more plain, saying, "But I would have 1 Cor. 7.32, you without carefulness: he that is unmarried careth for the 33. things that belong to the Lord, how he may please the Lord: but he that is married, careth for the things that are of the world, how he may please his wife;" where he first lays down the general rule that he would have them, auspinyous, ' without carefulness,' the same that is in my text, μηδὶν μεριμνᾶτε, 'be careful for nothing.' But then he explains himself, by distinguishing between the things that belong unto the Lord, and the things of the world. About the latter, he would have them without carefulness, but not about the former; not about the things that belong unto the Lord, how they may please the Lord. The rule is not to be understood of such things; for as he himself there intimates, we ought to take care of them, and not of the other. that very reason we may take care of them, they being indeed the great and only things that we ought to be careful of: for, put all together, they are the "one thing needful," Luke 10.42. which our Saviour speaks of, and therefore commands us to seek them before all things else; "Seek ye first," saith He, Matt. 6. 33. "the Kingdom of God and His righteousness." To the same purpose is that of St. Peter, where he requires us to "give 2Pet.1.5-7, all diligence," to use the utmost of our care, to "add to our 10. faith, virtue; and to virtue, knowledge; and to knowledge, temperance; and to temperance, patience; and to patience, godliness; and to godliness, brotherly kindness; and to brotherly kindness, charity; and so to make our calling and election sure."

And it is very observable, that the same Apostle who here

SERM. commands us to "be careful for nothing," elsewhere requires CXIII. all Christians to "careful to maintain good works," and that he himself was so: for, having reckoned up the many 2 Cor.11.28. troubles he had met with in the world, he adds, "Besides those things that are without, that which cometh upon me daily, the care of all the Churches." If St. Peter had said this, what a stir would the Church of Rome have made about How would they have triumphed in it, as a most infallible proof that he was Christ's vicar upon earth, the universal bishop of the world, who had the care of all the Churches! But it is well that it was not St. Peter, but St. Paul that said it; and he said it only to shew how careful he was in the discharge of his Apostolical office towards the whole Church of Christ: and so hath left us an undeniable argument, that he was at least as much an universal bishop as St. Peter was: and also that we, after his example, ought to be careful to perform our whole duty in our respective places: and, by consequence, that when he commands us to "be careful for nothing," he doth not mean that we should not. be careful to avoid whatsoever is offensive to God, and to do [Tit. 2.12.] what is pleasing in His sight, to "deny ungodliness and worldly lusts, and to live soberly, and righteously, and godly, in this present world:" but rather, that we be so careful of such things, as to be careful of nothing else.

But here we may observe, that even in such things we may be too careful, that is, as the original word signifies, too anxious, too much distracted and divided in our thoughts about them; as many are, who do what they can to live according to the rules of the Gospel, and yet suspect their spiritual estate; and never thinking they can do enough, run into the contrary extreme, of doing many things which are not required at their hands. Such are they who whip and scourge, and macerate their bodies, and so make themselves unserviceable to God and the world. And such are they also, who, out of a groundless care and fear of offending God, scruple the doing of such things as He hath nowhere forbidden, and therefore will not be offended at their doing of them. This is the case not only of those who dissent from us, but of many good people among ourselves, who being of a fearful and melancholy temper, indulge a strange kind of nicety and scrupulosity of conscience about things in themselves indifferent: and this seems to be that which the wise man forbids, where he saith, "Be not righteous overmuch; Eccles. 7.16. neither make thyself over-wise: why shouldst thou destroy thyself?" As if he had said, be not superstitious, or overscrupulous about such things in religion as thou mayest or mayest not do without sin: nor make thyself over-wise, as if thou sawest virtue or vice where nobody else can see it: "Why shouldst thou destroy thyself?" Or rather, as the word signifies, why shouldst thou stupify, astonish, or confound thyself? For so they all do who trouble their heads about such little things; they do but confound and perplex their own thoughts, and take them off from the more substantial parts of religion. This therefore is that which we ought to avoid: we ought not to be too careful and solicitous about doubtful and indifferent things, but apply our minds wholly to the plain and necessary matters of the law, and trouble ourselves no farther, but trust in our blessed Saviour for the pardon of our defects, and for God's acceptance of what we do, upon the account of what He hath done and suffered for us.

But I shall speak no more of that at present, because the Apostle speaks not of it in my text; for, by saying, "Be careful for nothing," he means only that we should not be careful about temporal or earthly things; that we should avoid those cares which our Saviour calls μερίμνας βιωτικάς, ' the cares of this life,' and μερίμναν τοῦ ἄιῶνος τούτου, ' the care Luke 21.34; of this world.'

II. But here also we must take care that we do not mistake his meaning, so as to think that he would not have us take any care at all of any thing here below: for so long as we live in this world, it is absolutely necessary that we take some care about our living in it. So long as our souls are united to our bodies, we are bound by the laws of God and nature to take care of our bodies as well as souls. Our souls, indeed, and their concerns, are to be regarded in the first place; but after them, we ought to look to our bodies also, that they may want nothing that is necessary for their subsistence, so long as God shall see good to continue our souls in them. And for that purpose, all who cannot well subsist

 $\mathsf{Digitized}\,\mathsf{by}\,Google$

SERM. without it, not only may, but ought to follow some honest trade or calling, whereby to support themselves and their families.

> But because the right understanding of this may be of great use to many here present, I shall briefly give you what instructions and directions I think necessary about it, in these following propositions.

> 1. First, all are bound to follow some calling or trade, unless they have enough to live upon without it. I add this, unless they have enough to live upon without following any trade, because there are some who have great estates conveyed to them by inheritance, or by gift, from their ancestors or relations; others, who by God's blessing upon their own endeavours, have attained as much as is sufficient to maintain them while they are in the world, and so need not follow any trade, at least for that purpose. But such must not look upon themselves as having nothing to do in the world, for really they have as much to do, if not more than other people: forasmuch as they who follow a trade always know their business, their work lies before them: whereas others are forced, or at least, ought to study every day what to do, and how to employ their time and their estates, so as to give a good account of them at the Last Day. And when they have found it out, they ought to apply their minds as seriously to it, as if their lives depended upon it; for so their eternal life doth, though not their temporal. They may perhaps live well enough without doing any thing in this world, but they cannot expect to live well in the next world without it; for their welfare there depends not upon what they have, but upon what they do here: insomuch, that they who do nothing but live upon their estates, will have but little cause to be glad they had estates to live upon, when they shall hear their great Lord and Master pronounce that dreadful sentence against them which He, in the parable, did against that idle servant who did not improve, but hide his master's talent in a napkin; saying, "Cast ve the unprofitable servant into outer darkness; there shall be weeping and gnashing of teeth."

2. Wherefore, they whom God hath blessed with considerable estates, or with such a competency whereby they are

able to keep themselves and families without the assistance of a trade, they must have a care that they do not live idly, and to no purpose in the world, mere ciphers that signify nothing, but like the tree in the parable, which only "cum- [Luke 13. bered the ground," and therefore was fit for nothing but to be "cut down, and cast into the fire:" but such persons ought rather to look upon themselves as being of a higher calling. and as having more to do than others: they have more time to spare, and therefore should spend more in their public and private devotions; their thoughts are freer from the cares of this world, and therefore ought to be more intent upon the next; they need not trouble their heads about getting an estate, and therefore should be more careful how they use it; they have commonly more than what they have real need of themselves, and therefore should give more to those who want it: in short, they have more advantages of serving and glorifying God in the world, and therefore are more obliged to do it, as they tender their own eternal welfare.

When I seriously consider these things, I cannot but sometimes wonder with myself what should make men so eager in getting great estates for their children, when by that means they do but expose their children to greater hardships and temptations than they themselves lay under, and make it more difficult for them ever to get to Heaven: our Saviour Himself, by Whom alone we can come thither, having told us with His Own mouth, that "a rich man Matt.19.23. shall hardly enter into the Kingdom of Heaven." And even in this life, all things considered, they who are forced to follow a trade, and do accordingly follow it as they ought, may live every way as comfortably, and much more safely than they. And how much soever a man hath, it is certainly his best and wisest course to have some trade or calling, or office, or at least some business, either public or private, always to do so long as he is able, whereby he may employ his time, his parts, his learning, his strength, his interest, his estate, and whatsoever talents God hath put into his hand, so that he may answer God's end in sending him into the world, and in bestowing such blessings upon him.

For, in plain terms, God did not make man to sit still and

Digitized by Google

do nothing: the first man He made, He had no sooner

- made him, but He immediately put him into the garden of Gen. 2, 15. Eden, "to dress it and to keep it." This was the first Adam's employment, even in the state of innocence and per-And the second Adam too, until He entered upon His Office of Mediator, followed a trade that tended to the

same end; for Joseph, to whom His mother was espoused,

Mark 6.3. being a carpenter, He Himself is said to be of the same trade, and His business was to make "ploughs and yokes for oxen, in order to tilling the ground," as Justin Martyr informs us, [In dial. cum Tryph. Who lived soon after Him. And one reason, as the same D.] Father observes, wherefore our Lord followed that trade.

was, that He might teach us, ivery 3iov, 'an active life;' to avoid idleness, as the great occasion of vice and wickedness. And as our Lord hath taught us this by His example, so by His precept too: for St. Paul, speaking in His Name, and by the direction of His Holy Spirit, laid this as a command upon the Thessalonians, and in them upon all Christians, saying, "For when we were with you, this we commanded

2 Thess. 3. 10-12.

you, that if any would not work, neither should he eat: for we hear that there are some which walk among you disorderly, working not at all, but are busybodies. Now them that are such we command and exhort by our Lord Jesus Christ, that with quietness they work, and eat their own bread." Where we may observe, that he reckons no man's bread his own, but what he gets by his own labour and industry. But by bread we are here to understand, as the word usually signifies in Scripture, "all things necessary to the support of human life." Such things every man is obliged to provide for himself; and not only for himself, but likewise for his kindred and relations, which are not able to provide them for themselves. For the same Apostle saith in

1 Tim. 5. 8. another place, " If any provide not for his own, especially for those of his own house, or kindred, he hath denied the faith, and is worse than an Infidel." "He hath denied the faith," that is, he hath renounced that faith which works by love, and in effect hath apostatised from the Christian religion, by not observing the precepts of it; and so is as bad, nay, "worse than Infidels." For Infidels, or Heathens, by the very light of nature, used to take care of their parents,

and children, and others that were nearly related to them. And therefore he who professes the faith of Christ, and so knows it to be his duty from the Word of God Himself, if he notwithstanding will not do it, he is really worse than an Infidel, and will be more severely punished for it another day.

And suppose a man really hath, or thinks he hath, enough for himself and family, he is not therefore discharged from his calling, so long as God gives him opportunity and strength to follow it: for that a man is bound to do, not only for his own sake, and his relations; but likewise that he may be thereby enabled to do good to others also: according to that of the Apostle, "Let him that stole steal no more, Eph. 4. 28. but rather let him labour, working with his hands the thing which is good, that he may have to give to him that needeth." "To him that needeth," i.e. any man that wants the necessaries of this life: such a one every man is bound to relieve, although he is forced to work hard to do it. And one great end which men propose to themselves in carrying on their trade, ought to be this, even that they may be in a capacity of helping and relieving such as are in want, and cannot help or relieve themselves.

But as all men are for these ends bound to follow some trade or calling: so in the next place, we must observe, that the trade or calling they follow should be lawful and honest: the thing they do should be good, as St. Paul speaks in the words before quoted. It must not be vicious in itself, nor minister occasion of vice to others: for then it is not a trade or calling, but treason or rebellion against God. But that which a man employs himself in for the purposes beforementioned, must be either commanded, or approved of, or at least allowed by the Word of God. It must be some way useful either to Church or State, either to men's souls or bodies, to private persons, or to the public society in which they dwell. The calling which contributes to any such uses is lawful and good; otherwise not: for otherwise a man spends his time to ill purposes, or which is almost as bad, to none at all.

Wherefore, as ever you desire to employ yourselves well, as becometh honest good men, you must be sure to follow such a calling as suits with the Apostle's rule, where he

- SERM. saith, "Whatsoever things are true, whatsoever things are Phil. 4.8. honest, whatsoever things are just, whatsoever things are saith, "Whatsoever things are true, whatsoever things are pure, whatsoever things are lovely, whatsoever things are of good report; if there be any virtue, if there be any praise, think on these things." For these are the things that make a calling good, profitable to a man's self, useful to the world, and acceptable to Almighty God.
 - 3. In the last place, whatsoever such trade or calling a man is of, he ought to follow it with care and diligence; not to loiter away his time, and neglect his business upon every slight occasion: but always remember that his calling is the means whereby God hath designed to supply him and his with all things necessary for this life; and therefore if he neglect it, he doth not only expose himself to ruin and poverty, but he wrongs, he robs his family and poor relations of the maintenance which God hath provided for them by that means. There is no honest and lawful calling that a man is of, but, if it be not his own fault, he may live comfortably upon it, and get as much as God knows to be necessary and proper for him in his place and station; and so be as rich as he need to be in this world. But for that purpose, it is not enough that he hath a calling, but he must be diligent and industrious in it: for, as the wise man hand; but the hand of the diligent maketh rich," not of
- Prov. 10. 4. observes, "He becometh poor that dealeth with a slack itself, but because the blessing of God attends it, without which, all our care and diligence will come to nothing. But as we have no ground to expect God's blessing, except we be diligent; if we be so, we have no cause to mistrust it: for he is never wanting to any man that is not first wanting to himself.

Hence therefore I would recommend to your serious consideration and daily practice, that excellent rule of the 1 Thess. 4. Apostle, where he commands, that ye "study to be quiet, 11, 12. and to do your own business, and to work with your own hands; that ye may walk honestly toward them that are without, and that ye may have lack of nothing." He doth not say, that ye may abound in riches, purchase great estates, or advance your families; but "that ye may have lack of nothing;" which is enough in all reason; for he who lacks nothing, is as rich as he that hath all things; for he hath all things he lacks. But for this purpose, ye must study first to be quiet, to live peaceably with all men: and then ye must study likewise to do your own business; $\tau \dot{\alpha} \ i \partial_i \alpha$, "those things which are proper to yourselves and to your own calling," without meddling with other men's affairs any further than to do them all the good ye can. So that, in short, whatsoever trade, calling, office, or employment a man is of, it is his duty to mind it; and to mind it also with care and diligence, that by God's blessing upon it he may be able to maintain himself and his family by it.

And therefore, when the Apostle in my text saith, "Be careful for nothing," he cannot be so understood, as if he forbade us to use all due care and diligence, every one in his own particular calling: for this would be to forbid that in this place, which he himself elsewhere, and the Scriptures all along command.

But what then doth he here forbid? He forbids, in general, that over-carefulness, solicitude, and anxiety of mind about the things of this life, which many, too many, are subject to; who never thinking they shall have enough, and always fearing that, notwithstanding all their care, they shall come to want; their minds are distracted, their thoughts trouble them, their hearts are divided and rent, as it were, in pieces, casting this way, and that way, and every way, and yet not know which way to take; like a troubled sea, tossed to and fro with every wind that blows; whatsoever happens, they have no peace, no rest, or quiet in themselves: if they lose never so little, they think presently they are undone: if they get never so much, unless it be as much as they expected, it is all one: they moil, and toil; they rise up early, and sit up late, and eat their bread with carefulness; and all for fear they should have none to eat: how much soever God hath given them at present, they dare not trust Him for the future; and therefore are still bustling about to provide for themselves as well as they can. If they be in any streight, they think of every thing how to get out, except them who alone can help them. If they seem to be in any danger, though it be never so remote, it strikes them to the heart, and puts them into a hurry and

SERM. CXIII. confusion. If they have any business more than ordinary upon their hands, they stretch their brains to the highest pitch, till they come to their wits' end, how to do it to the best advantage for themselves. By which means they live as it were in a maze or labyrinth, not knowing which way to go, and yet running about it as if they did. In short, they live as without God in the world, or at least without any trust or dependence upon Him: and therefore, as if they were their own carvers, they bend their minds wholly to take care of themselves, and of all their concerns in this life, without ever looking up to Him to direct and assist them in it.

This is that carefulness which the Apostle here forbids: and not only the height of it, as I have now described it, but every degree of it, and every such indisposition or distemper of mind as tends towards it.

And you will not wonder that he should forbid it, when you consider the vanity, the trouble, the sinfulness, and the mischiefs of it; which I shall therefore put you in mind of, that ye may more fully understand the nature of it, and also be better armed against it for the future.

The vanity of it appears sufficiently, in that our care-

fulness is all to no purpose, about the things of this life; for

after all, they are wholly at God's disposal. He gives, and takes, and doth what He will with them. He measures them out to all as He sees good, and it is not in our power either to direct or hinder Him. This is the argument which our Lord Himself makes use of, to shew the vanity of all worldly Matt. 6. 27. cares, saying, "Which of you by taking thought can add one cubit to his stature, or age?" And as for our thoughtfulness about what we shall eat, or drink, or wear, He there shews that God feeds the fowls of the air, and clothes the lilies of the field most gorgeously, without their care or labour; and therefore men being much better than they, have no cause to doubt but He will provide all things necessary for them, without their being so careful and solicitous about it; and by consequence, all their carefulness and solicitude must ver. 25, 26, 28, 30. needs be in vain, and to no purpose. Neither is this only a great vanity, but as the wise man speaks, it is "vexation of spirit too." It is a great trouble and disquietness to our

minds to be always upon the rack, distorted and distracted with cares and fears, as the men of this world commonly are, "piercing themselves through with many sorrows," as the 1Tim. 6. 10. Apostle observes, and so making their own lives very uneasy and troublesome, always tormenting their heads, and their hearts too, with excessive solicitude, either how to get more, or else to keep what they have got. And as if they had not trouble enough at present, they will trouble themselves too about what is future; and grieve to-day because they may have occasion to do so to-morrow. This is that which our Blessed Saviour forewarns us against, saving, "Take no Matt. 6.34. thought," or be not careful, "for the morrow: for the morrow shall take thought for the things of itself. Sufficient unto the day is the evil thereof." As if He had said, every day brings care and trouble enough along with it: and it is sufficient that you bear and manage it aright as it comes. But do not anticipate troubles, and make yourselves miserable now, because ye may be so anon. Be not thoughtful about what may, or may not happen hereafter: for this will not prevent or alleviate, but aggravate and hasten your troubles; as they find by woeful experience, who concern themselves too much about future events.

And it would be well, if there was nothing else but trouble in it. But alas! this excessive carefulness and anxiety of mind about worldly things, is sinful as well as troublesome. It is expressly forbidden by Almighty God in my text, and in many other places of Scripture: and it is always accompanied with, or rather it proceeds from, one of the greatest sins a man can be guilty of, even unbelief, or at least want of faith and trust in God: as our Saviour intimates, where arguing against it, He saith, "Wherefore, if God so clothe ch. 6. 30. the grass of the field, which to-day is, and to-morrow is cast into the oven, shall He not much more clothe you, O ve of little faith!" They must needs be of little faith indeed, if any at all, who are solicitous about such things as God hath promised to give them, without their being so; and therefore mistrust His promises as well as break His laws, and so are guilty of a double sin, in every single act of such excessive thoughtfulness about any thing in this world.

But who is able to reckon up, or describe the many and

CXIII.

great mischiefs which attend this sin? I shall not undertake to do that; but shall only put you in mind of some of them, which, if duly considered, will make you beware of it, and dread the thoughts of ever falling into it, much more of living in it.

First, therefore, it is this carefulness for the world, that hinders and keeps you off from performing your duty unto God. So long as your minds are so intent about the things of this life, it is impossible that you should love, fear, or trust in God, or serve and honour Him as you ought to do: no, ye have other business to mind than what He hath set you. And therefore, although ye have never so many opportunities of performing your devotions to Him, ye can find no time, or rather, ye cannot find it in your hearts to do it; your thoughts being wholly taken up with other affairs, of a different and quite contrary nature. This our Saviour Himself noted in Martha. She and her

sister Mary keeping house together, our Lord was pleased

to honour them with His company. Martha being mightily pleased, as well she might, with His company, was very careful and busy about providing for His entertainment, or. as the text saith, was "cumbered about much serving:" while Mary, in the meantime, sat at Jesus's feet, hearing His Divine discourses. Upon which, Martha having more upon her hands than she could well do, desired our Lord to bid her sister come and help her. But instead of that, our Luke 10.41, Lord said to her, "Martha, Martha, thou art careful, and troubled about many things: but one thing is needful; and Mary hath chosen that good part, which shall not be taken from her." If it ever can be lawful to be cumbered with worldly business, it must needs be so upon such an extraordinary occasion, when they had got so Divine a guest in their house. Yet we see our Saviour plainly reproves Martha for her over-carefulness, even upon that occasion, because it hindered her from attending, as her sister did, to His doctrine. And I fear there be many among us, who upon slighter occasions, neglect the service of God; being so "careful and troubled about many things," that they never think of "the one thing needful," except perhaps upon the Lord's Day, when they cannot mind the world, and so have

nothing else to do. For we find by sad experience, that upon the week-days, when you can follow your worldly business, our churches are empty, and God's service neglected: which is a plain demonstration, that your overcarefulness for this life hinders you from taking any care at all of the next.

Neither doth this hinder you only from serving God, but it hinders you also in the doing of it. For so long as your minds are distracted about the world, it is impossible you should serve God without distraction: as Christ Himself saith, "No man can serve two masters: ye cannot serve God Matt. 6. 24. and Mammon." Ye cannot possibly be intent upon two things at the same time, and especially upon things so directly opposite to one another, as God and the world. And therefore, so long as your thoughts are wholly taken up with the things of this life, as they commonly are, it is no wonder that ye cannot keep them close to any duty ye perform to God. But in the midst of your most solemn devotions, public or private, worldly thoughts will still be crowding in, and spoil all ye do. From whence ye may see the reason why there are so few in the world that serve God at all, and much fewer that serve Him well: most being such as the Prophet speaks of, who "come before God as the Ezek, 33,31. people cometh, and sit before Him as His people, and with their mouth shew much love, but their heart goeth after their covetousness."

And as this disturbs men in doing their duty, so it deprives them of all the benefit and comfort which they might receive from what they do; and makes the means of grace ineffectual and useless. For this ye have Christ's Own observation and Word; Who, in the parable of the sower, saith, "He that receiveth seed among thorns, is he that heareth Matt.13.22. the Word, and the care of this world, and the deceitfulness of riches, choke the Word, and he becometh unfruitful." From whence ye may see the great cause why men in this age hear so much and practise so little; even because whatsoever you hear, the cares of this world immediately put it out of your thoughts. You never think any more of it, and then it is no wonder that ye are never the wiser or better for it.

SERM. CXIII.

And yet this is not all neither: for this excessive carefulness about the things of this life doth not only hinder you from doing or receiving good, but it exposeth you to all manner of sin and wickedness. The wise man tells you, that Prov.28.20. "he that maketh haste to be rich shall not be innocent." 1 Tim. 6. 9. And St. Paul to the same purpose; "They that will be rich fall into temptation and a snare, and into many foolish and hurtful lusts, which drown men in destruction and perdition." And you cannot but all observe the same of all manner of worldly cares; how they put men upon envy and hatred, upon wrath and fury, strife and contention with one another; upon lying, swearing, and perjury; upon oppression and extortion; upon cheating, stealing, and robbing upon the highway: yea, upon going to the Devil himself, and consulting him and his agents about their worldly concerns.

This I rather mention in a more particular manner, be-

cause I have heard there are some in this city, as well as elsewhere, who, if they have lost any thing, or would know something of their friends beyond sea, or of their future state in this world, presently go to those which they call astrologers, wizards, conjurors, or the like, to be informed about it: which is plainly going to the Devil for it. For whether those kind of people they go to deal with him or no, they who go to them consult them as if they did, and so are copartners with them in their wickedness, whatsoever it is. whether it be real witchcraft and sorcery, or only confederacy And therefore, as by the law of Moses, a witch and cheat. Exod.22.18, was not "suffered to live," so in the same law, God hath expressly commanded, that none shall "seek after," nor so Lev. 19. 31. much as "regard wizards, or such as have familiar spirits:" and if any do so, He saith, that He will "set His face ch. 20, 6, against them, and cut them off from His people." indeed, it is very rare but God inflicts some remarkable judgment upon those who consult such as exercise, or pretend to that which they call the "black art." And if they happen to escape in this life, they will smart more severely for it in the next; it being one of the greatest sins that a man can be guilty of: it is a kind of apostasy, a leaving God to go to the Devil: and all from excessive carefulness about

something in this world, which is plainly the only cause that puts silly people upon such wicked practices as these are.

I shall add to these only one more of the many mischiefs which arise from the same cause, and that is the same which Christ Himself puts you in mind of, where He saith, "Take Luke 21.34. heed to yourselves, lest at any time your hearts be overcharged with surfeiting, and drunkenness, and cares of this life, and so that day come upon you unawares." Where ve see, how He who will be your Judge, being desirous that you should not be surprised, or taken unawares, hath forewarned you that the cares of this life will make you as unfit to appear before Him, as surfeiting and drunkenness itself. Which when I sometimes consider with myself, I cannot but pity those who go out of this world, as many I fear do, in the midst of worldly cares, and by consequence as unfit to die, as they who are downright drunk. And, therefore, must beg of you always to remember your Saviour's words, and take heed that your hearts be not overcharged with the cares of this life, lest ve die too in that condition, and so be miserable for ever.

But you will say perhaps, what would you have us do? Would you not have us to mind our trade? Yes, by all means; you are bound in conscience to do it, as I shewed before. It is your duty to mind every one his own calling in this world, while ye live in it. But it is also your duty to mind God and that world where ye must live for ever. And although you ought to use all due care and diligence about your trade, as if ye were to live by it; yet ye must not be so careful and anxious about it as if you could live by that without God's blessing upon it; which you can have no ground to expect, if your minds be more intent upon that, than upon Him in Whom you live, and from Whom, after all, you must receive it, or else have nothing to live on. And, therefore, if you would follow your trades as becometh Christians, you must be diligent and industrious in them; but you must not be fearful and solicitous about the event and success of them, but leave that wholly and solely to God; trusting and depending upon Him to give you that success which He in His infinite wisdom knows to be best for you: and trouble your heads no more about it. This

SERM. CXIII. you will find to be not only the most easy and comfortable way of living and trading in the world, but likewise the most effectual course you can take never to want any thing that is necessary or good for you; for God Himself will provide all such things for you, if you trust upon Him for it.

This holds good, not only as to your trading and traffick-

ing in the world for a livelihood, but likewise as to all the changes and chances of this mortal life. Whatsoever danger you fear, whatsoever strait or difficulty you are in, you must not suffer your minds to be disturbed or distracted about it; but lift up your hearts to God, and commit yourselves and your affairs all to Him, and then He will be sure to take care of you, so as either to bring you out of your straits, or, which is better, turn them to your advantage. For this you 1 Pet. 5. 6, have His Own Word, where He saith, "Humble yourselves under the mighty hand of God, that He may exalt you in due time; casting all your care upon Him, for He careth Ps. 55. 22. for you;" and again, "Cast thy burden upon the Lord, and He shall sustain thee; He shall never suffer the righteous

Ps. 37. 3-5. to be moved;" and elsewhere, "Trust in the Lord, and do good; so shalt thou dwell in the land, and verily thou shalt be fed. Delight thyself also in the Lord, and He shall give thee the desires of thine heart. Commit thy way unto the Lord; trust also in Him; and He shall bring it to pass." There are many such promises in holy Scripture, whereby we are fully assured, that if we use the means for attaining any thing that is truly good for us, and be not over careful about them, but trust in God for His blessing upon them, we shall certainly attain the thing we aimed at, or something better.

This is the more to be observed here, because it will help us to understand the latter part of my text, where the Apostle having said, "Be careful for nothing," adds, "But in every thing by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving, let your requests be made known unto God." "Be made known unto God?" may ye say. Doth not God know them before? Yes, certainly; but as a father knows his child wants such and such things, and yet will not give him them till he hath asked them of him; so God knows, as our Saviour saith, "that we have need of those things," the

things of this life: but before He gives them, He will have us make known and acknowledge our want of them to Him, and pray to Him for them, to signify our dependence upon Him, and our obligation to Him for what we have. Concerning which there are three things observable in my text.

First, that as we are to "be careful for nothing," we ought to "pray for every thing: in every thing," saith the Apostle, great or small: whatsoever it is we want, we must request it of God.

Secondly, to our prayers and supplications we must always add thanksgiving: thankfulness for what we have, being the best means whereby to obtain what we want. And then.

Lastly, this is all the Apostle would have us do in every thing, in every condition, in every circumstance of our whole life; even "by prayer and supplication, with thanksgiving, to make known our request to God;" and when we have done that, he would have us trouble ourselves no more about any thing, but leave all to God, with a sure trust and confidence that He, according to His promise, will grant our requests which we have made known to Him, so far as He knows it to be good for us. This is the course he would have us take upon all occasions. And he that takes this course need be careful for nothing, for he will have God Himself to take care of all things for him: as we may see in many instances.

When Jehoshaphat was in a great strait, by reason of vast armies that were coming against him, he made known his case to God, saying, "We have no might against this great 2Chron. 20. company that cometh against us; neither know we what to 12. do; but our eyes are upon Thee." He prayed and trusted in God. Who therefore fought for him, making his enemies destroy one another.

When Nebuchadnezzar had threatened the three children that they should be thrown into a fiery furnace unless they would worship the image which he had set up; they were so far from being solicitous, as most people would have been about such a matter as concerned their lives, that they
Dan. 3. 16, plainly told him, "We are not careful to answer thee in this 17.



CXIII.

Acts 16.

matter: if it be so (as thou speakest), our God Whom we serve is able to deliver us from the burning fiery furnace, and He will deliver us out of thine hand, O king." They were not careful about it, but trusted in God, Who therefore sent His Angel to deliver them. This is the rule which Christ prescribed to His Disciples in all the troubles they were Matt.10.19. likely to meet with, saying, "When they shall deliver you up, take no thought," be not careful, "how or what ye shall speak, for it shall be given you in that same hour what ye shall speak." If ever they might be careful, it might be upon such occasions; but even upon such occasions as those our Lord would have them take no thought about it, but only trust in the promise which He made them. omit that remarkable instance of St. Paul and Silas, who being in prison, were so far from being thoughtful how to get out, that "at midnight they prayed, and sang praises to God;" upon which, the "prison doors were opened, their bands loosed," and next morning they were both released.

> There are many such instances in Scripture of God's particular care of those who trust on Him: and though these may seem extraordinary, and ye cannot expect that He should now work miracles for you; yet if you will but make trial of it, ye will find Him still both able and ready to assist and help you upon all occasions, by His ordinary providence, as effectually as if it was extraordinary and miraculous.

> This, therefore, is that which I would now advise you to: whatsoever business ye have upon your hands, how great and difficult soever it may seem, do not stretch your thoughts, be not careful about it, but do what you think at present to be best, and apply yourselves to God, believing and trusting on Him for His direction and assistance; and then ye will find that all will be well, far better than your solicitude and thoughtfulness can make it: for then God Himself will take the business into His Own hands. As ye depend upon Him for it, He will concern Himself in it. He will direct your thoughts to the best means, and assist and bless you in the use of them; He will keep off every thing that may any way impede or hinder it; He will order all things relating to it, so as to make them concur to the effecting of it; and

The Sinfulness and Mischief of Worldly Anxiety. 201

if you thus always cast your care upon Him, He will always take care of you. He will instruct you by His wisdom, He will guide you by His counsel, He will assist you by His grace, He will sanctify and comfort you by His Holy Spirit, He will strengthen and protect you by His almighty power, and at last receive you to Himself in glory, through the merits of His only Son: to Whom, &c.

SERMON CXIV.

THE GREAT DUTY OF LOVING GOD.

MATT. xxii. 37, 38.

Jesus said unto him, Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy mind. This is the first and great Commandment.

ALL that have any true sense of God upon their minds,

SERM. CXIV.

cannot but express it by doing something which they think may please Him; and seeing they can never do it without keeping His Commandments, therefore they offer at that. But such is the weakness of our corrupt nature, that there are but few that strive, or so much as think of keeping all His Commandments, but most men take up with some few of them, and such commonly as are of the least weight. Pharisees themselves, the strictest sect in all the Jewish religion, they paid tithe of "mint, and anise, and cummin, but omitted the weightier matters of the Law, judgment, mercy, and faith;" as the Lawgiver Himself told them, and then said, Matt.23.23. " These ought ye to have done, and not to leave the other undone," whereby He hath signified His Divine will that none of His Commandments should be slighted or neglected, but that all should be observed one as well as another. And vet notwithstanding, there are some weightier than others, which He would have us take special care to observe. the Jews themselves seem to be sensible of, so as to dispute among themselves which should be esteemed the "greatest" Commandment in the Law: some thinking that Circumcision, others the Sabbath; some that the paying of tithes and offerings, others that the sacrifices, were most strictly com-

manded: and, therefore, that the Commandments about them were most necessary to be observed: and not agreeing among themselves about it, one of them, being a scribe or lawyer, whose business it was to search into the true meaning of the Law, propounded the question to our blessed Saviour, "tempting Him, and saying, Master, which is the great," or greatest "Commandment in the Law?" He little thought that he spake to the Lawgiver Himself, and therefore did not expect such an answer as he received: for Jesus said unto him, "Thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thy heart, with all thy soul, and with all thy mind. This is the first and great Commandment. And the second is like unto it, Thou shalt love thy neighbour as thyself. On these two Commandments hang all the Law and the Prophets." Which being the oracle or answer of God Himself to a question put to Him concerning His Own Law, deserves to be particularly considered by all that really desire to observe it.

But I cannot but first take notice of two things in general, concerning the answer which our blessed Saviour made to the questions which the Jews propounded to Him. The first is, that although their questions were usually propounded out of a very ill design, even to "entangle Him in his talk," that [Matt. 22. they might have something whereof they "might accuse" [5.] Him; yet He took no notice of that, but gave them such answers, as are of general and perpetual use to His Church. So that we could not have been without any one of them; but have infinite cause to thank God for the very captious questions that were propounded to Him, and the gracious answers He was pleased to return to them: whereby we may see His Divine wisdom and power in bringing good out of evil.

The other thing to be observed is, that whatsoever question they propounded to our Saviour, He gave so full and satisfactory an answer to it, that they never had any thing to reply upon it; but went away with wonder and amazement. When He was but twelve years old, as He was sitting among the Rabbies or doctors at Jerusalem, "both hearing them, Luke 2.47. and asking them questions; all that heard Him were astonished at His understanding and answers." So it was all

SERM. His life after. We need not go far for instances. In this very chapter, He answered the Pharisees' question about Matt.22.22. paying tribute to Cæsar, so, that "when they had heard His words, they marvelled, and left Him, and went their way." And when the Sadducees put a question to Him about the Resurrection of the dead, He gave them so clear a solution ver. 33, 34. of it, as did not only put them to silence, but "when the multitude heard it, they were astonished at His Doctrine." And when one of the Scribes or lawyers perceived that He had answered both the Pharisees and Sadducees so well, as to put them to silence, he also propounded a question, this great question to him, "Which is the first Commandment of all?" And our Lord gave him so full and clear an answer to it, that he immediately confessed the truth of what He Mark 12.32, said, saying, "Well, Master, Thou hast said the truth: for there is one God, and there is none other but He. And to love Him with all the heart, and with all the understanding, and with all the soul, and with all the strength, and to love his neighbour as himself, is more than all whole-burnt offerings and sacrifices." By this it seems their sacrifices were esteemed, at least by some, as the chief part of their law. But this lawyer had no sooner heard our Saviour's solution of his question, but he was convinced of the contrary, and was forced to own that all their burnt offerings and sacrifices, put them all together, how many soever they were, they still came short of a man's loving God with all his heart, and his neighbour as himself: that this was indeed the great Commandment of all, as our Lord told him, and ordered it to be recorded, that all may know it.

And, indeed, this which our Lord here calls the "first and great Commandment" in the Law, is intimated to be so in Deut. 6. 4, the Law itself, where it is written: "Hear, O Israel, the Lord our God is one Lord: and thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thine heart, and with all thy soul, and with all thy might;" where we see this Commandment proclaimed with a preface proper and peculiar to itself, and such a one as requires a special regard to be had to it. "Hear, O Israel." And in the Hebrew, the last letter of the first word is greater than ordinary, to shew that there is something extraordinary in this Commandment, and that it is indeed, as our Saviour

here calls it, the great Commandment in the Law. besides, this preface contains the substance of all that we ought to believe concerning God, as the Commandment doth our whole duty to Him. "Hear, O Israel, the Lord our God is one Lord." He is the Lord, Jehovah, Being, or Essence itself, existing in and of Himself, and giving both essence and existence to all things else. And He is our The original word is of the plural number, denoting the Trinity of the Divine Persons, the Father, the Son, and the Holy Ghost: all and every one of which is here said to be our God. The Father is our God, and our Father: the Son, our God, and our Saviour: the Holy Ghost, our God, and our Sanctifier. All which supposeth and implies our reconciliation to God by the death of Christ, without which we could not have had Him to be our God. But lest we should think that the three Divine Persons signified by that plural name Elohim are so many several Gods, it followeth, "our God is one Lord, one Jehovah," or simply One (with a great letter also): which needed not to be added if no more than one Divine Person had been signified by it; the Unity of the Godhead being sufficiently declared by His Name Jehovah, 'Being' in general, which can be but One. So that the addition of the word One, is an undeniable argument that a trinity of persons is implied in the foresaid Name, and that it is the will of God that we should believe Him to be "three Persons." and one "Jehovah, one God;" and that the Jews repeating, as they anciently did, these words every day, did thereby profess their belief of the Trinity in Unity, although they did not understand it so well as we now do by the light of the Gospel.

The foundation of our faith in Almighty God being thus laid down in these words, "Hear, O Israel, the Lord our God," or Divine persons, "is one Lord," the great duty to be built upon it is subjoined in the words immediately following: "And thou shalt love the Lord thy God with all thine heart, with all thy soul, and with all thy might." This is that which our great Lord and Master Jesus Christ hath taught us to be the "first and great Commandment." And, therefore, we must be sure to learn and practise this, as ever we desire to shew ourselves to be His scholars or

SERM. disciples indeed. For which purpose it will be necessary to consider the true meaning and extent of this Commandment; what great reason it is grounded upon; wherefore it is called the "first and great Commandment;" and how happy they are who keep it. Unto which few heads, all that is necessary to be known concerning it may be easily reduced.

I. First, therefore, By the "Lord thy God," as I have already observed from the original, is here meant that Almighty Being, Jehovah, Which made, preserves, and governs the whole world, and hath revealed itself in the 1 John 5. 7. Holy Scriptures to be three in one; "The Father, Son, and Holy Ghost, these three are one," that is, as it is here expressed, "One Jehovah, one Lord." And, therefore, as we are here commanded to love Jehovah, or the Divine Essence in general, so we are commanded to love each of the Divine Persons alike. And as they are all of one and the same nature, we must have the same affection for one that we have for the other: for "all should honour the Son ver. 23. even as they honour the Father. He that honoureth not the Son, honoureth not the Father Which hath sent Him." So he that doth not love the Son begotten of the Father, doth not love the Father that begot Him. And he that doth not love the Holy Ghost, that proceedeth from the Father and the Son, doth not love either the Father or the Son, from Whom He proceedeth. Wherefore, that our faith and love to God may be such as He hath commanded, it must be equally fixed upon each of these Divine Persons. not as so many several Gods, but as being all one and the same God, blessed for ever.

Neither are we here commanded to love Him only as He is the Lord, but likewise as He is our God. "Thou shalt love the Lord thy God:" not thy Jehovah; for that word never hath any adjunct, or pronoun, or any thing else affixed to it: but thy God, or the Divine Persons, as He made thee, saves thee, and sanctifies thee; and so is the Author both of thy being and well-being: according to the Jer. 31. 33. covenant that He hath made with us, saying, "I will be their God, and they shall be My people." And, as He is thus in a peculiar manner related to us, we ought accord-

ingly to love Him with all our hearts. How we must do that, comes next to be considered.

What it is to love in general, we know by experience, better than by any definition or description that can be given of it; for when we apprehend a thing to be good and agreeable to us, or any way convenient or profitable for us, we feel our hearts moving as it were towards it, being sensibly touched with a liking of it, and a good-will to it; with complacency and delight in it if it be present with us, and if it be at any distance from us, with such desires and longings for it as put us upon reaching at it, and labouring all we can after it. Thus people are commonly affected towards something or other in this world, because they apprehend it to be good for them; but such apprehensions being raised in them only by their fancy or imagination, the affection that is moved by them depends in a great measure upon the temper and humours of the body, and therefore hath little or nothing in it like that love which we ought to have for God: for we are commanded "to love Him with all our hearts, with all our soul, and with all our mind." Whether these three terms, the heart, the soul, and the mind, be here used to denote so many distinct faculties in the soul, as some have thought, it is not material to inquire. Be sure they all together signify, that true love to God is seated wholly in the soul; without depending at all upon the body, or sensitive part, as the love of other things doth. It is not our fancy, but our reason or understanding that represents Almighty God to us as the chiefest good. And when we accordingly choose and embrace Him as such. then we are truly said to love Him: and to love Him with all our heart, when our whole soul is thus inclined to Him. and all our affections meet in Him as in their proper centre, and cleave so fast to Him, that nothing is able to get them off, or remove them from Him; all things else seeming, as they are, even as nothing at all in comparison of Him.

This is true love to God indeed. Neither can any man be said to love Him at all, that doth not thus love Him with all his heart, so as to love nothing above Him, nothing equal to Him, nothing at all in comparison of Him. Let us hear what He Himself saith, "He that loveth father or

Matt.10.37. Mother more than Me is not worthy of Me: and he that loveth son or daughter more than Me is not worthy of Me." The love of children to parents, especially that of parents to children, is the truest and strongest love that men can have to any thing upon earth; it is strictly commanded also by God, and implanted in our very nature: and vet it seems by this saying of our Lord, that if a child loves his parents, or a parent his children, more than God, he is not worthy to be reckoned among those who love God at all. Luke 14.26. Elsewhere He goes much higher, saying, " If any man come to Me, and hate not his father, and mother, and wife, and children, and brethren, and sisters, yea and his own life also, he cannot be My Disciple;" which is not to be so understood, as if He would have us absolutely hate such near relations, which He Himself elsewhere commands us to love: but that we should love Him so much above them, that our love to them should appear as hatred rather than love, in comparison of that which we have for Him: so that if we be brought into such a strait that we cannot do it to both, but must shew our love either to God or to the nearest relations we have in the world, we must regard them no more than as if we hated them, but with an holy scorn throw them out of our thoughts, as not worthy to come into competition with Him that made them. When we thus love God above all things in the world besides, howsoever near or dear they may be unto us, so as to be able, without any long pause, to part with any thing for His sake; then, and not till then, we may be truly said to love Him with all our hearts.

> But when this sacred fire of Divine love is thus kindled in a man's breast, it is not confined there, but breaks forth immediately, and shews itself in his thoughts, in his affections, in his words, and in all the actions of his life. For when a man thus loves God with all his heart, he cannot but be always thinking of Him (as all people do upon those they love), and contemplating upon those Divine perfections which so forcibly attract his heart unto them, that it is always restless and unquiet, until it be fixed entirely upon them; and, therefore, although he could see all the kingdoms of the earth, and all the glory of them, at one

view, he would find nothing there to bound his desires. but they would still be carried higher, and higher still, and never rest till they get to Him Whom his soul loves: as we see in David, crying out, "Whom have I in Heaven, O Ps. 73. 25. God, but Thee? and there is none upon earth I desire besides Thee." And when the soul is thus upon the wing. flying up to Heaven, and there looking upon Almighty God as his God and Saviour, it cannot but rejoice "with joy un- [1. Pet. 1. speakable, and full of glory." So that, whether the man 8.] hath or hath not any thing else, it is all one, he can still say and sing with the Prophet, "Yet I will rejoice in the Lord, Hab. 3. 18. I will joy in the God of my Salvation;" and with the blessed Virgin, "My soul doth magnify the Lord, my heart re- [Luke 1. joiceth in God my Saviour." For as all are apt to praise 46.] and magnify those they love, much more they who truly love God are always magnifying and praising Him, and never think they can do it enough; as really they never can.

And as all men desire to be loved by those they love, so they who love God above all things, desire above all things to be beloved of Him: which that they may, they strive all they can to please Him: and seeing they can never do that without doing what He would have them, therefore they make it their chief care, to walk "in all the Commandments [ver. 6.] and Ordinances of the Lord blameless;" particularly, such as require them to "love their neighbours," and to "do [Gal. 6.10.] good to all men, especially to such as are of the household of faith:" without which they have no ground to pretend any love to God: for "if a man say, I love God, and hate 1 John 4. his brother, he is a liar: for he that loveth not his brother 20, 21. whom he hath seen, how can he love God Whom he hath not seen? And this Commandment have we from Him, that he who loveth God love his brother also." Indeed, all that truly love God cannot choose but love those who are made in His image and likeness, as all men are; but "love is the Rom.13.10. fulfilling of the law," as the Apostle saith; and Christ Himself here saith, that "all the Law and the Prophets hang upon these two," even for a man to "love God with all his Matt.22.40. heart, and his neighbour as himself," Seeing therefore they who love God cannot choose but love their neighbour for His sake; and seeing they who love God and their neighSERM. bour will keep the whole Law, therefore all who do not make CXIV.

it their constant duty to keep the whole Law of God, may be confident that they do not love Him: but they who do so, need not doubt of their love to Him: for He Himself assureth

John 14.21. them of it, saying, "He that hath My Commandments and keepeth them, he it is that loveth Me." Such a one shews that he loves God with all his heart, seeing his whole heart is set to keep His Commandments and to do all such things as please Him; notwithstanding all the temptations and allurements that he meets with to the contrary: which he could not do if he did not love God above all things else, as all must do, that would love Him with all their hearts.

II. And if we inquire into the reasons of this the first and great Commandment, they also are so great that they command us to keep it in the first place. Neither need we go from the command itself to search for them: for we are here commanded, first, to love Him, as He is the Lord: "Thou shalt love the Lord," Jehovah. But as such He is the chiefest, or rather the only good in the world: as our blessed Mat. 19. 17. Saviour Himself saith, "There is none good but one, that is,

God." There is none essentially, none originally, none infinitely good, but He. Goodness is His very essence, so that He is not only good, but goodness itself, in and of Himself, and the origin of all the goodness that is in any thing besides Him. It all flows from Him as from its fountain. I know there are many other good things in the world; yea, all things that He made are good, every thing in its kind.

Gen. 1. 31. For when He had made the world, it is said, "And God saw every thing that He had made, and, behold, it was very good;" but it was He that made it so. Wherefore, seeing all the goodness or excellency there is in any, or all the creatures in the world, was put into them by Jehovah, the Almighty Creator of them, there is all the reason in the world that we should love Him above them all; the sun more than the beams that proceed out of it, the fountain more than the streams that flow from it.

Especially considering, that whatsoever goodness can be supposed to be in any particular creature, can be no more than a particular goodness, which may do us good in one respect, or upon one occasion, not upon all, as God doth:

and all the goodness that is in all the creatures in the whole world, in that it is confined to them, it cannot be any more than a limited and finite goodness, and therefore cannot possibly be the proper and adequate object of our affections. For though we had all things that God hath made, we should still desire more; the desires of our souls being in a manner infinite: so that whatsoever we have besides God. our desires still run farther and farther ad infinitum, and can never rest or be satisfied but in an infinite good; such as none but God is. But He is such an infinite good, that there is nothing that our souls can desire but they may have it in Him, and infinitely more. Wherefore, if we would govern our affections by the rules of right reason, seeing we love nothing but under the notion of good; we must love Him most that is the greatest good; and seeing He is so infinitely better than all things else, that nothing can be truly termed good in comparison of Him; we ought to love nothing at all in comparison of Him: and whatsoever love we may pretend to have for Him, we cannot be properly said to love Him at all, any farther than as we love Him above all things in the world besides.

Thus, if we contemplate only upon God's essential goodness, our reason cannot but dictate to us that we ought to love Him with all our hearts, for what He is in Himself; but that nothing might be wanting to draw our whole hearts unto Him, and to fix them entirely upon Him, as He is infinitely good in Himself, He hath been, and still is, as infinitely good to us: as I should now shew. But who is able to do that? Who can measure the height, the depth, the length, and breadth of God's love to mankind? And to us also who least deserve it? The highest of our thoughts can never reach it. "Who then can express the noble acts of [Ps. 107.8.] the Lord, or shew forth all His praise, and declare the wonders that He doth for the children of men?" It is impossible for tongue of men or Angels to do it.

But although we cannot fully comprehend, much less express the greatness of God's love and goodness to us, yet if we do but cast our eye upon it, we may easily perceive so much of it as will make us reflect and look upon ourselves as infinitely obliged to love Him with all our hearts. And

Ps. 18. 1.

SERM. that we both may and ought to love Him so for what He is to us, as well as for what He is in Himself, appears from the command itself, "Thou shalt love the Lord thy God:" not only as He is "the Lord." but likewise as He is "thy And He hath manifested Himself to be so, in such a wonderful manner, that we can never sufficiently adore and love Him for it.

For as He is our God, every Person in the most sacred

Trinity hath engaged our affections to Him by such expressions of His Divine love to us, that if we had ten thousand hearts apiece, and loved Him with them all, we could never love Him enough; but should be still crying out, with David, "I will love Thee, O Lord, my strength. The Lord is my rock, and my fortress, and my deliverer; my God, my strength, in whom I will trust; my buckler, and the horn of my salvation, and my high tower." He is our all, therefore we will love Him with all our hearts.

God the Father Almighty, He is our Maker, our Preserver, our daily, our continual Benefactor. It is in Him we live, and move, and have our being. It is from Him that we receive every good thing we have, and it is by Him that we are preserved from every evil thing we have not. It is He that both makes and gives us our meat and drink, and causeth it to nourish, refresh, and strengthen our bodies, we know not how. It is He that prevents our falling into trouble, or else supports us under it, and delivers us out of it. It is He that protects us from the malice of our enemies, or turns their hearts, and makes them become our friends. Whatsoever kindness we receive from others, it is both the effect and token of His kindness to us. Who hath the hearts of all men in His hands; and ours among the rest. It is by Him that we think, understand, reason, and discern between good and evil, and choose and love the one before the other. What infinite cause, then, have we to love Him above all things, without Whom we could neither have any thing to love, nor love any thing we have!

1 John 4. 9, 10.

But "in this," above all, "was manifested the love of God towards us, because God sent His Only-begotten Son into the world, that we might live through Him. Herein is love, not that we loved God, but that He loved us, and sent

His Son to be the propitiation for our sins." He sent His Son, His Only-begotten Son, begotten of Himself, so that He also is the one living and true God. For "hereby per-1John3.16. ceive we the love of God, because He laid down His life for us." God laid down His life, He laid it down for us: which is such an abyss of love, that the Angels desire to look into it, but can never see to the bottom of it. How well, then, may we stand still and wonder! We, to whom this incomprehensible, this infinite, this Divine love was shewn, what can we do less than throw our hearts all in a flame at the feet of Him that hath shewn it to us?

That the Lord God Omnipotent, Who reigns over the universal world, that He should take upon Him our flesh, that He Who made man in the likeness of Himself, should Himself be made in the likeness of men, and that He, as such, should become obedient to death, even the death of the cross, [Phil. 2. 8.] and all to redeem us from it, by expiating the sins which we have committed against Himself! How can we think of this, and our hearts not burn within us? "Greater love John 15. 13. hath no man than this, that a man lay down his life for his friends." But behold infinitely greater love, than any mere man can shew; for God Himself laid down His life, and He laid it down, not for His friends, but for His enemies, and all that they might become His friends, and love Him with all their hearts. And shall we not do it after all? God forbid!

God forbid but that we should love Him above all the good things we have, seeing it is by Him only that any good thing we have is good for us. For upon our fall from the state in which God made us, the whole earth and all things upon it, are cursed to us; and nothing can do us good, so long as He Who made and governs all things is displeased with us. But "Christ hath redeemed us from the curse of Gal. 3. 13. the law, being made a curse for us;" and so hath restored us to the favour of God, and keeps us in it, upon our believing and trusting upon Him for it.

For He, the Eternal Son of God, having taken upon Him the nature of man in general, and united it to his Own Divine Person, and then offered it up as a sacrifice for the sins of mankind, by dying in their stead, He in the same nature went up to Heaven, and hath been ever since, and now is

SERM. there at the right hand of God the Father Almighty, "ever CXIV. living to make intercession" for those who come unto God Heb. 7. 25. by Him. And it is only by means of this intercession which He is continually making for us, that Almighty God is reconciled to us, and hath mercy upon us; that He pardons our offences, and accounts us righteous; that He accepts of our sincere endeavours to serve Him, notwithstanding our manifold imperfections; that He looks upon us as His children, and provides accordingly for us; that He preserves us from danger and mischief, and gives us all things necessary both for life and godliness: so that as the light and heat that we have upon earth proceeds from the sun in the firmament; so all the blessings and favours we enjoy, come from the Sun of Righteousness shining continually in Heaven, even from the Eternal Son of God, our only Me-1 Pet. 1. 8. diator and Advocate with the Father: "Whom therefore having not seen, we love; in Whom, though now we see Him not, yet believing, we rejoice with joy unspeakable

any man love not the Lord Jesus Christ, let him be Anathema, Maran-Atha," that is, let him be cursed in the highest degree that can be. For that man must needs be so, who loves not Him that is the fountain of all blessing, without Whom no man ever had, or can have one thing that is truly good for him: whereas by Him, there is nothing that can either make us or do us good, but we may all have it abundantly.

By Him the Holy Ghost Himself, the greatest good that Tit. 3. 5, 6. we are capable of, "is abundantly shed upon us." The Holy Ghost, the Third Person in the most glorious Trinity, of one substance with the Father and the Son, He also doth not only come in a special manner to us, but rests upon us, and abides continually with us, and in us, as a principle of another kind of light and life, far above what we have, or can have by nature. For by nature we have only senses to discern the things of this world, and reason to govern us in the use of them. As to the things of the other world, we can have no right perception, much less any relish of them, but by the Holy Spirit of God, revealing them to us in His Word, and assisting us in apprehending and affecting of

them. It is He that enlightens our minds, to see the things that belong to our everlasting peace, and opens our hearts to receive them. It is He that directs us what to do, and assists us in doing what is required, in order to our obtaining of them. It is He that informs our judgments, that purifies our hearts, that awakens our consciences, that brings our passions into order, and keeps them in it. In short, it is the Holy Spirit of God that makes us Holy and Spiritual. like in our capacities to Himself, partakers of His Divine nature; working in us both to will and to do what God would have us, in such a manner as plainly shews it to be supernatural and Divine; the work of God Himself: Who expects no more, and we can do no less than love Him for it. And the more we love Him, the more we are bound to do it; that also being the effect of His love to us. So that, turn our eyes which way we will, either to the good we have. or to the good we do, they still bring us in fresh matter to fill our hearts with love to God, so as to leave no room for any thing else to enter. But the more we think of Him. the more we love Him, the more we may, and the more we ought, as we are here commanded, "to love the Lord our God with all our hearts, with all our souls, and with all our mind."

III. This our Lord here saith "is the first and great Commandment." It is the first, being the same in effect with that, "Thou shalt have no other gods before me." For what a man loves most, that is his god: and therefore he that loves any thing more than Almighty God, hath another god before him. It is the first in practice; for all true obedience being grounded upon true love to God, he that doth not first love God "with all his heart," can obey none of His Commandments as he ought to do it. It is the first in dignity: it is "more than all whole-burnt-offerings and sacrifices," more than all the other services we can do for God; so that all other signify nothing without this: which is therefore also the great Commandment; the greatest of all: all the rest resolving themselves into this, and meeting at last in it. He that doth not love God with all his heart, can keep none of His Commandments: he that doth, will keep them all to the utmost of his power. And where

SERM. he is deficient, this makes it up. This covers a multitude of faults. This adorns and sets off all we do, and puts such a gloss upon it, that although it be not perfect in itself, yet it is acceptable to God through Jesus Christ our Lord. And therefore it may be well called, as it is here by Him that made the "whole Law," the first and "great Commandment in it."

> IV. These things being thus premised, let me now bespeak your love for the Lord your God: not such a love as you have for other things, but that which is due to Him above all things else; so as to love Him "with all your heart, with all your soul, with all your mind," with the purest, the strongest, the highest love, that your heart, your soul, or your mind is capable of at the utmost stretch. And never fear any excess in it, for it can have only one extreme, and that is defect. So that ye may lay it down as a certain rule, that ye cannot love the world too little, nor God too much. And seeing you can never love Him more than you ought, you ought to love Him as much as you can: so far at least as to prefer Him before all things else that you can think of or desire: then, and not till then, you may be truly said to love Him.

> But could we once do that, what an excellent people should we then be! How soberly, how righteously, how godly should we then live! The Commandments of God would not then seem grievous but pleasant to us; because they are His Whom our souls love. If this sacred fire was once kindled in our breasts, it would soon inflame our hearts with such zeal for God, that we should be never easy in our own minds, but whilst we are labouring to promote His glory. We should then account it our only wisdom to know Him, our only pleasure to please Him, and the only honour we can ever have, to honour and glorify Him in the world. We should then despise this world and live above it. thing here below could molest or trouble us. For our love being placed upon God above all things else, all things else would seem as nothing to us. But whatsoever happens, our thoughts would still be running after Him, and our spirits rejoicing in Him, and pleased with every thing that He doth.

And how happy should we then be! As happy as God Himself can make us. For He loves them who love Him, and makes all things else to do so, or at least to be as good to them as if they did. He gives His Angels charge over them, to keep them in all their ways: so that wheresoever they are, they have a guard of the Heavenly Host about them, and the Lord of Hosts Himself at the head of it. The Holy Spirit of God directs and assists them in what they do, and then blesses and sanctifies it to their good: yea, "all things work together for good to them who love Rom. 8. 28. God." So that nothing can happen in this world, but they are sure to be some way or other the better for it. And how happy they will be in the next, we are not able as yet to conceive. For "as it is written, eye hath not seen, nor 1 Cor. 2.9. ear heard, neither have entered into the heart of man, the things which God hath prepared for them that love Him." And therefore I shall say no more of it, but pray to God that we may all be in the number of those who love Him. through Jesus Christ our Lord.

SERMON CXV.

THE GREAT HAPPINESS OF LOVING GOD.

Rom. viii. 28.

And we know that all things work together for good to them that love God, to them who are the called according to His purpose.

It is the wise man's observation, "that no man knoweth

SERM. CXV. Eccles. 9. 1, 2.

ver. 11.

either love or hatred by all that is before them. All things come alike to all; there is one event to the righteous, and to the wicked; to the good, and to the clean, and to the unclean; to him that sacrificeth, and to him that sacrificeth not: as is the good, so is the sinner; and he that sweareth, as he that feareth an oath." The same is confirmed by the common experience of all mankind: go where ye will, ye may with him also see under the sun, that "the race is not to the swift, nor the battle to the strong, neither bread to the wise, nor yet riches to men of understanding, nor yet favour to men of skill: but time and chance happeneth to them all," and to Almighty God seemeth to scatter, as it were, the things of this world among the good and bad promiscuously, without any regard to virtue or vice; but that some of both sorts may get more, some less, some little or nothing, according as it happens. Be sure there is no judging of what a man is by what he hath: you can never know a wise man from a fool, a Christian from an Infidel, a Saint from a sinner, by his living in a palace or in a cottage, by his being clothed with robes or with rags, by his being rich or poor, healthful or sickly, in honour or disgrace, or by any outward circumstance whatsoever. If there be any

Digitized by Google

difference, the advantage seems mostly to lie on the side of vice and folly; the worst men having usually the most, and the best men the fewest of the good things, as they are called, here below: as we read in the Gospel, the wicked rich man "was clothed in purple and fine linen, and fared Luke 16. sumptuously every day," while honest poor Lazarus "was 19-21. laid at his gate full of sores, desiring to be fed with the crumbs which fell from the rich man's table." So it is at this day: a Jew, a Turk, or if there be such a monster in nature, an Atheist, or which is much the same, a Deist, may thrive, and prosper, and flourish in the world, living in great ease, and plenty, and reputation among his neighbours, while such as live in the true faith and fear of God are destitute, afflicted, tormented, despised by all that are about them, or, at least, are in much worse condition as to outward appearance, than the other: I say, as to outward appearance; for if ye look into the inside of things, you will see it to be quite otherwise; for, after all, though wicked, profane, and irreligious people may abound for awhile in the riches, and pleasures, and honours of this world, and therefore may look big, and swagger, and conceit themselves to be happy, and may be esteemed so by others also as wise as themselves, yet all this while their condition is as bad as bad can be, on this side Hell: for, living in sin, they are under the displeasure and curse of Almighty God; so that all the fine things they so much boast of, are accursed to them, and serve only to enhance their reckoning, and increase their torment another day. Their table is only a snare to them, and their wealth an occasion of stumbling: their ease makes them secure, their honours proud, their strength presumptuous, and their plenty in this world puts all thoughts of the next out of their minds; so that they sail on, as they think, with a prosperous gale, till on a sudden they are engulphed, and swallowed up in the abyss of eternal misery, which they never thought of before. Thus all their seeming blessings are so many real curses to them, and contribute sometimes to their fears, and cares, and troubles in this life, and always to their greater misery and torment in that which is to come.

Neither do only the things which they themselves enjoy,

Digitized by Google

SERM.

but all things else conspire their ruin: for He Who made cxv. and governs all things being incensed against them, nothing, be sure, can do them good, but every thing acting and moving only under Him, must needs run cross to them, and some way or other concur to execute His wrath and displeasure upon them. So that howsoever they may flatter themselves with what they seem to have at present, as it is impossible for them to receive any real happiness and satisfaction from it here, so it is impossible for them to escape [2 Thess. 1. everlasting destruction " from the presence of the Lord, and 9.]

from the glory of His power," except they repent, and turn to Him while they are in the body.

But if they do that, if they turn to God, so as to love and honour Him, the case will be altered with them, so as to become just contrary to what it was before: before, all things wrought together for evil, but now all things shall work together for good to them. This we may be confident of, for so the Apostle himself was, when inspired by the infallible Spirit of God, saying, not only, we think, or suppose, or hope, but "we know," we are sure, "that all things work together for good to them that love God, to them who are the called according to His purpose;" who therefore are not only much happier than the other are, howsoever they may appear to the world, but they are the only happy people that are in it.

But this being a matter wherein we are all so nearly concerned, it behoves us to look a little more narrowly into it, that we may get as clear a notion of it as we can: for which purpose it will be necessary to consider,

- I. Who they are who are here said "to love God," and to be "called according to His purpose;" that we may know whether we be in the number of them, and strive all we can to be so.
- II. What kind of good that is for which all things are here said "to work, to them who so love God."
 - III. How all things work together for their good.
 - IV. What ground we have to believe they do so.
- I. First, therefore, by those who are here said "to love God," and to be "called according to His purpose," we are to understand, such as being regenerate of God's Holy

Spirit, and so made His children by adoption and grace, have their minds wholly bent and inclined towards Him, so as really to love and prefer Him that made all things before all things that He hath made; and so "are called out of [1 Pet.2.9.] darkness into His marvellous light," and that too, "according to His purpose," or, as it is in the original, κατά πεόθεσιν, 'according to purpose,' effectually, or, as we say, to purpose, so as to come in upon their being called, and to answer the end of it, by "cleaving unto the Lord with purpose of heart," Acts 11. 23. and making it their constant business to keep His Commandments, to serve and glorify Him, and to finish the work which He hath given them to do. "He that hath My John 14.21. Commandments," saith He, " and keepeth them, he it is that loveth Me." Whatsoever people may pretend, He doth not look upon them as having any real love for Him, unless they know His will and do it: but as many as do that, He reckons them in the number of His friends, His servants, His children, His elect, His saints, His peculiar people: and accordingly He takes particular care of them, and manifesteth His special love and favour to them, by ordering all things so as may tend most to their benefit and advantage; so that "all things," as the Apostle here saith, " work together for good to them."

II. "For good:" not for this or that particular good, but for good in general; nor for that which may only seem good in their own or other people's eyes, but that which is good for them in the judgment of God Himself, and by consequence, for their real, spiritual, and eternal good: for whatsoever can any way conduce to their being and doing good while they are upon earth, to the making of them "meet to be partakers of the inheritance of the Saints in [Col.1.12.] light," and so to the bringing of them at last to the actual possession of it. That this is properly the good for which all things work together to them who are so called, appears from the reason which the Apostle gives of it in the words following my text, saying, "For whom He did foreknow, Rom. 8. 29, He also did predestinate to be conformed to the image of 30. His Son, that He might be the first-born among many brethren. Moreover whom He did predestinate, them He also called; and whom He called, them He also justified; and

SERM.

whom He justified, them He also glorified." This is the end, the top of this golden chain of all secondary causes working together for good to them who love God, that they may be glorified with Him for ever; which is the greatest, or rather the only good they can ever have, and all they are For this good therefore it is, that all things capable of. work together for them while they are in this world, even that when they go out of it, they may be eternally happy in the enjoyment of the chiefest good. Whatsoever doth not conduce to this end, can do them no good at all; they had as good, if not much better, be without it than have it: but whatsoever can any way contribute towards their obtaining of this good, is really good for them; and therefore all things concur, or work together to bring it about. If riches will thus do them good, all things shall concur to make them rich; if poverty, all things shall concur to keep them poor: if it be good for them to be healthful and strong, all things shall concur to prevent sickness: if it be better to be sick or weak, all things shall concur to impair their health: and so in every thing else that can be named. So that every thing that happens, happens well for them, the best that can be: in that it helps either to the subduing of some vice in them, or to the regulating of some passion, or to the breaking an ill custom, or to the preventing some occasion of falling into sin or mischief, or to the diverting some temptation, or to the arming them against it; or to the making them more watchful over themselves; or to the exercising some virtue in them; or to the putting them in mind of their duty, or to the keeping them close to it; or to the giving them an opportunity of doing some good, which otherwise they could not do; or else to their "growing in grace, and in the knowledge of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ," and so to the fitting them better to serve God here, and to live with Him hereafter. Whatsoever conduceth to these and suchlike ends, is truly good for them; and therefore all things concur to effect it. They may be sure of it, for they have the Word of God Himself for it, assuring them here by His Apostle, "That all things work together for their good."

III. How all things thus work together for it, is the next question to be considered; not that we can dive into the

[2 Pet. 3. 18.]

Digitized by Google

secrets of Providence, and see the wonderful series and concatenation of second causes, the dependence and influence of one upon another, and how every one contributes its share to the producing of such an effect: for these things are hid from us, or rather, they are beyond the reach of our understandings; and therefore it would be presumption in us, to offer at the explication of them. It is sufficient for us to observe. that it is not any one thing by itself that doth it, not only some, or many, but all things work together to effect it: as in a physical confection or composition, made up of many ingredients of several qualities, some hot and some cold. some dry and some moist, some lenitive and some astringent, and the like, all mixed together; although no one of these ingredients could do any good, but some perhaps, without the other, might do hurt; yet being all mixed together by a skilful hand, they may effect the cure for which they were designed; so here, it is not any one or more particular providences that produce so much good to those who love God, but all together, correcting, influencing, and assisting one another, until they have produced it. So that although no one thing can do it, yet if any thing was wanting, it would not be done, every thing conducing in its kind some way or other towards it: and so all things work together among themselves, and all with God, or rather under Him, as the first cause and mover of them, Who manageth and orders them, so as to make them "work together for good to them that love Him."

IV. What ground we have to believe they do so, is the last and chief question to be resolved; but they who believe [2 Tim. 3. the Scripture to be given by inspiration of God, can make no question of it, it being so expressly affirmed in my text, as a thing most certain and notorious. "We know," saith the Apostle, by Divine inspiration, "that all things work together for good to them that love God." The same necessarily follows also from many other places of Holy Scripture; as where it is said, that "no evil shall befall such;" for if no evil Ps. 91. 10. can befall them, whatsoever befalls them must be for their good; and where it is said, that "they who seek the Lord Ps. 34. 10. shall not want any good thing;" for if all these things did not work together for their good, there might be some good

SERM. thing which they might want; but that it seems by God's Own Word they cannot do: they cannot want any good thing; for indeed all things which are good, are theirs, as appears also from the Apostle, who writing to those who 1 Cor. 3. 21, were called at Corinth, saith, "All things are yours, whether Paul, or Apollos, or Cephas, or the World, or Life, or Death, or things present, or things to come, all are yours." For if all things be theirs, all things must work together for their good, otherwise they could have no use or benefit of them, which, be sure, they always have: for as the same Apostle 2 Cor. 6. 10. saith, they are, "as having nothing, and yet possessing all things." Though they have no civil right to any thing, they

things." Though they have no civil right to any thing, they have a Divine right to, and an interest in, all things that are, so as to possess and enjoy the benefit of them, by having them all work together for their good.

What is thus positively asserted in God's Holy Word, hath been confirmed also, and found true by the experience of His holy people in all ages. What more unlikely to do them good, than their suffering evil? Yet David could say

Ps. 119. 71. upon his own experience, "It is good for me that I have been afflicted, that I might learn Thy statutes." And St. Paul,

2 Cor. 4. 17. "Our light affliction, which is but for a moment, worketh for us a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory." What could be worse than for a man to be sold by his own brethren, carried a slave into a foreign country, and there put into a prison as Joseph was? Yet all these things wrought together to make him the second man in the kingdom of

18am. 10.1. Egypt. Who could have imagined, that Saul's "going to look for his father's asses," should be the way to be "anointed

ch. 17. 10. king?" that Goliath's "defying the armies of Israel" should contribute to David's being "advanced" to the throne? that

Job's "losing" all he had, should be the means of his "getting" as much more? There are many such instances, both in sacred and profane history, which shew how wonderfully all things, even the most improbable, and such also as seem to look just contrary, yet turn about at last, and work together to produce some good effect; as none of us but may see also in ourselves, if we do but take notice of it. Nothing ever happened to any of us, but what was designed for our good; and to those who truly love and trust in God, all

things that happen produce the good they were designed for: insomuch that if any one thing had ever happened otherwise than it did, it would have been worse for them, if not their ruin. This every one may observe in many instances, if he doth but look back, and reflect upon what hath befallen him through the whole course of his past-by life. And though we cannot as yet perceive in all, while we see only as through "a glass darkly," yet when we come to [1 Cor. 13. Heaven, and there have the light of God's countenance shining continually upon us, by it we shall discover His goodness to us in every thing that fell out from our first coming into the world to our going out again, and see how they all wrought together to bring us to that blessed place, that we may praise Him for it, and enjoy the benefit of it for evermore.

But that we may be able also to "give a reason of this hope [1 Pet. 3. that is in us," even that "all things work together for good to them that love God," we must farther observe, that as this hope is grounded upon the infallible Word of God, and strengthened by the constant experience of His people in all ages, so our very reason also may convince us of it, by demonstrating both that, and why it is so: or, to speak more plainly, both that "all things do work together," and how it comes to pass that they do so work "together for good to those that love God, and are called according to His purpose."

That they do so, may be sufficiently proved from this one argument: as there is no sort of people or nation we know of in the world, but have, at least, some general notions of another life after this, so they all agree, that they who are good and virtuous in this life, shall be happy in the other. This seems to be one of those common principles that are planted in our very nature, so that none that have the use of their reason can deny it, without offering violence to themselves; much less can any who profess themselves to be Christians doubt of it, it being so plainly revealed, and promised by Almighty God in the Holy Scripture, given by His inspiration. But if all things did not work together for good to such persons in this world, so as to bring them at last to a state of happiness in the next, this could not be, or at least we could never be certain of it: for some things

SERM. CXV. might so fall out as to impede and hinder their attainment of happiness, notwithstanding all their goodness and virtue. We often see how a little accident overthrows a great design. And if it was in the power of any one thing to prejudice those who love God, so as to prevent their Salvation, they might never be saved; and so the Word and promise of God (which is impossible) would fail. And so it might too, if all things did not work together for their good, or in order to their Salvation. For no one thing, except God, can do any thing of itself: but all secondary causes concur to the producing of every effect; much more, so great an effect, as the Sanctification and Salvation of mankind. So that if all things did not work together for it, it could never be effected. But we are sure that it is effected for all those who truly love God; and therefore conclude, that it is impossible but that all things should work together for their good. Neither is it difficult to shew how they come to do so.

For it is certain, that all who love God, are beloved of Him; 1 John 4.19. His love to them being the cause of theirs to Him. love Him, because He first loved us." Indeed there is nothing more plainly revealed, or more frequently asserted in God's Holy Word, than that He hath a special love and kindness for them, who truly love and honour Him. ch. 14. 21. that hath My Commandments," saith our Lord, keepeth them, he it is that loveth loveth Me; and he that loveth Me shall be loved of My Father, and I will love Him." "For the Father Himself loveth you, because ye ch. 16, 27. have loved Me, and have believed that I came out from God." There are many expressions all over the Bible to the same purpose, but I have instanced more particularly in these, because they shew that God, as He is the Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, hath a particular love for those who love Him, and are effectually called by Him. From whence it necessarily follows, that all things must work together for their good, and that they do so by reason of God's love and favour to them. For He being the first cause, the Supreme Director and Governor of all things that are, so that they all act and move only under Him, and according to His will and pleasure; therefore all things work together for good to those who love Him, because He loves them, and it is

Digitized by Google

His good will and pleasure they should do so: for nothing can resist His will, but all things work and move just as He would have them, and therefore must needs work together for good to them whom He loves, for that reason, because it is His will they should; or, which is in effect the same, because He hath a good will or love for them, and therefore orders and determines the influences and operations of all things under Him so as to make them concur and co-operate for their good and benefit: as we see also in the troubles and afflictions which befall such persons: for it is expressly said, "whom the Lord loveth He chasteneth, and scourgeth Heb. 12. 6. every son whom He receiveth." And, "as many as I love," Rev. 3. 19. saith He, "I rebuke and chasten." Which shews, that it is from His love to them that any trouble or chastisement falls upon them: but that also is for their good, the greatest good they are capable of, even that "they may be partakers Heb. 12. 10. of His Holiness," that they may be sanctified, or made holy, "as He Who hath called them is holy;" and so be meet to [1 Pet. 1. live with Him in the other world. And what greater good can they ever desire? Yet this is the happy effect of the very chastisements which God is pleased to lay upon those who love Him, and which He is therefore pleased to lay upon them because He loves them. So it is in all things else: "All things work together for good to those who love God," because He loves them, and therefore disposeth of all things so as to make them do it.

But how can this be? Although there be many doubtless upon earth that truly love God, and are accordingly loved by Him; yet their love to Him is far short of what He deserves from them; it is expressed but very imperfectly, and there is not the best of them but do many things offensive to His Divine goodness, and provoking to the eyes of His glory. How comes it then to pass, that notwithstanding all their imperfections and provocations He still continues to love them, and to love them so as to make all things serve them and work together for their good? This is a great mystery, but it will be soon unfolded, if we do but consider, that all who truly love God believe also in our Lord Jesus Christ. For it is "faith that works by love." [Gal. 5. 6.] So that no man can have any true love for God without

true faith in Christ; such a faith whereby he is united to Him, made a member of His body, and so partakes of His Holy Spirit. But for all who are thus nearly related to Him upon earth, Christ is always interceding in Heaven: Heb. 9. 24. "He appears there in the presence of God for them." "as 1 Tim. 2. 5. the Mediator between Him and them," making up all differences that may happen; He is their Advocate with the Father, to plead their cause, and bring them off upon all occasions; as He may well do, "seeing He is a propitiation 1 John 2. for their sins, and for the sins of the whole world," and is Heb. 7. 25. therefore "able to save to the utmost those who come to God by Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them." And hence it is, that they who love God, notwithstanding all their failures and imperfections, still continue in His love and favour so as to have all things work together for their good, even because His Son, their Saviour Christ, is continually interceding with Him for them: Who Himself also having "all things put under His feet, and being made the Ephes. 1. 22, 23. head over all things for His Church, which is His Body," He takes particular care that "all things shall work together for good to them who love God;" they being all real members of His said Body. This is the great work that John 5. 17. He is continually doing in Heaven. "My Father," saith He, "worketh hitherto, and I work." As God the Father is continually ordering all things, so as to make them work together for the good of the whole creation; so God the Son is continually ordering all things, so as to make them work together for the good of His Church, and all the sound members of it; that they may not fail of that inheritance which He hath purchased for them with His Own blood, and

To which we may add, that as God the Father, and God the Son, so likewise God the Holy Ghost, that proceeds from both, co-operates with them in all things to bring about and accomplish the same most gracious design; not only by moving upon all things, as he did at first upon the waters, to bring them into such an order of working together, as may tend most to that end; but, also, by

so it may not be spilt in vain: which, therefore, is another great reason, why all things conspire in so wonderful a man-

ner to do them good.

moving upon those that love God, so as to enable them to get some good or other by all things that happen: so that, howsoever things work together, they, by His assistance, are the better for it. We have a famous instance of this in St. Paul, "I have learned," saith he, "in whatsoever state I Phil. 4. 11, am, therewith to be content. I know both how to be abased. 12, 13. and I know how to abound: every where and in all things I am instructed, both to be full and to be hungry, both to abound and to suffer need. I can do all things through Christ Which strengtheneth me." For here we see, that he being strengthened and assisted by the Spirit of Christ, nothing could come amiss to him. He was ready for all occurrences alike: wealth and poverty, honour and disgrace, fulness and want, were the same thing to him. He was in all things instructed, having learned to use and improve every condition, so as to be the better for it, and therefore contented with it, and satisfied that it was the best he could be in at that time: insomuch that he could say upon his own experience, that the very afflictions he met with, "wrought 2 Cor. 4. 17. out for him a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory." And in my text, that "all things work together for good to them who love God," as he did: such a mighty force had the Spirit of Christ upon him.

And so it hath upon all that love God, as well as upon Him: for, being all acted and governed by the same Holy Spirit, by Him they are taught, directed, and enabled to pick some good or other out of every dispensation of Divine Providence, and turn it to their own advantage, for which it was designed. They, by His Divine power, can extract good out of evil, and work their own Salvation out of the same things which other people abuse to their eternal ruin and destruction. So that as all things else work together for their good, so they themselves also work together with all things else, to make them attain their end, in being really good for them.

If they be rich and great in the world, they lay hold of the opportunities which God hath put into their hands, to do good in the world, "to be rich in good works, ready to 1 Tim. 6.18, distribute, willing to communicate, and so to lay up for 19. themselves a good foundation against the time to come, that

SERM.

they may lay hold on eternal life." If they be poor, and all things concur to make them so, it is to preserve them from the snares and temptations of the world, to keep them meek, and humble, and poor in spirit; to make them rich in faith, and hope, and trust on God; to put them out of love with this world, and to make them long for the other, where they shall have as much as the best of them, and infinitely more than any can have in this. And they accordingly make use of their low condition, and improve it to such good ends and purposes.

If they enjoy health and strength of mind and body, they employ it wholly in His service Who gives it to them. If they are sick and weak, the sense of their weakness adds strength to their faith, and seriousness to their repentance, and puts them upon daily expectation of, and preparation for their great change.

If they marry, and have a meet help, a suitable companion, their hearts are lifted up with thankfulness to God for it, and they strive all they can to help one another forward in the way to Heaven, that they may live together there as well as here. If it be otherwise, they are patient and submissive; they learn to live above this vain and wicked world, and seek for comfort in Heaven, seeing they can find none upon earth.

If they have children, they do all they can to answer [Eph. 6.4.] God's end in giving them, by bringing them up in His nurture and admonition, that they may serve and glorify Him in the world. If they have none, they have less care upon them for the things of this life, and therefore take more care of that which is to come.

If their children are good and dutiful, they live with a constant sense of God's special favour to them. If, after all, they prove wicked and undutiful, it puts them in mind how undutiful they themselves have been to their Heavenly Father, and so keeps them humble and penitent for their former sins, and more careful to perform their duty to Him, as they desire their children should perform theirs to them.

If they have any true friends, they thank God for them, and make use of their friendship as a means whereby to do good to them as well as receive any kindness from them.

If they have enemies, they take that occasion to shew their love to Christ, by loving them in obedience to His command.

If they live in the midst of wars and tumults, they always stand upon their watch, that they may not be surprised with sudden death, but ready for it whensoever it shall come. If all things are quiet about them, they can more freely serve God, and do good in the world; and accordingly make it their business to do so.

If they are advanced to honour in this world, they find by experience the vanity of that, and therefore seek more diligently for the honour that cometh from God only. If they live in disgrace and contempt among their neighbours, it makes them more sensible of their own vileness, and teacheth them to have their conversation more in heaven, where only true honour is to be had.

If they thrive and gain much in the world, by their calling, or friends, or any other lawful way, they look upon it as coming from God, and put into their hands for His use and service, and therefore employ it accordingly. If they meet with losses and disappointments, they look upon them also as sent from God, and designed for their good; and therefore contrive all ways whereby to get good, and grow better by them: so that, in both respects, they can truly say with Job, "The Lord gave, and the Lord hath taken away; Job 1. 21. blessed be the Name of the Lord."

Thus we might run through all conditions of life, and all occurrences that can ever happen to any man upon earth, and shew how they who love God, by the assistance of His Holy Spirit, use and improve them, so as to receive great benefit and advantage from all and every one of them. And then it is no wonder that "all things work together for good to those who love God, and are called according to His purpose;" seeing the grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and likewise the communion or fellowship of the Holy Ghost is always with them.

If people would seriously reflect upon these things, and keep them always fresh in their minds, they would need no other argument to persuade them to call in their affections from all things else, and fix them wholly upon God; so as to

devote themselves to His service, and make it their constant care and study to please, honour, and obey Him. For what course can ye ever take whereby to get so much as ye may by this means? By your moiling and toiling in the world, ve may perhaps, and but perhaps, get something that looks like wealth and honour in the eyes of deluded mortals: but, besides that, there is nothing at the bottom of it, but vanity and vexation of spirit; so that you will not be one jot the wiser, or better for it, when you have it, if not much worse; besides that, I say, you can never expect to get all things, but only something, and some of the things only which are upon earth, which altogether bear no proportion to all that is in the world: whereas, by exercising yourselves continually in the service of God, by fasting and praying, and hearing God's holy Word, and partaking of His body and blood, you may have "the thoughts of your hearts cleansed by the inspiration of His Holy Spirit, so as perfectly to love Him, and worthily magnify His holy Name." And then all things in the world will be yours, and work together, as ye have now heard, for your good. Then you will be rich indeed, as rich as all the world, and He that made it too, can make you. And yet there is never a one here present, but may become thus rich, so as to have all things at his service, if he will but set himself in good earnest upon looking after it; which, therefore, I heartily wish you would all do, as you tender your own good and welfare. And if any have done it already, as I hope some have, I as heartily wish them joy of that prodigious estate they are now possessed of. soever you have, or have not upon earth, it is all one: for all things are yours; what ye have not, as well as what ye have. always working together for your good. Ye cannot doubt of it: for He that made and disposeth of all things in the world, hath here assured you of it. He hath already settled them all upon you, that they may do you all the good ye are

Rev. 21. 7. capable of in this world; and in the next you will "inherit all things," and so be as happy as it is possible for you to be, through Christ our Lord.

Digitized by Google

SERMON CXVI.

THE EASINESS OF CHRIST'S YOKE.

Матт. хі. 28.

Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest.

MAN being at first designed for the constant service, and immediate worship of Almighty GOD, he was therefore so composed, and made of such a temper and constitution, that he can be no way happy, but only by doing the work he was made for: being so exactly fitted for it, that he is always out of tune, restless and unquiet, but whilst he is wholly employed about it. Hence all men being naturally desirous of happiness, they cannot but offer at something like to religion, or the worshipping of God: and howsoever they perform it, they still find something of rest and satisfaction within themselves, arising from the apprehensions that they have done their duty, and paid their homage to Him that made them. So that it seems to be agreed upon, on all hands, that it is our interest to be religious. The great question is, What it is to be so? A question which mankind could never yet agree in; as appears from the many and diverse religions that always have been and still are professed in the world. And whatsoever religion it is that any man professeth, be sure he thinks that to be the right, and therefore expects happiness and comfort from it, otherwise he would not profess it.

Hence, therefore, although there be many things which highly commend the Christian before all other religions to SERM. CXVI. us, as the purity of its precepts, the excellency of its doctrine, the strictness of its discipline, and the testimony which God Himself hath given to it, by many and real miracles, wherein it far exceeds all others; yet that which should principally draw us to it, and confirm us in it, is the certainty of those principles which it doth propound, whereupon to trust for happiness and Salvation; for hereby it gives that rest and quiet to the soul, which religion in general aims at, and none but itself can assure us of, or bring us to. And therefore it is that our blessed Saviour makes use of this as the principal reason wherefore we should embrace that religion which He hath established in the world, because in it we may find rest to our souls; "Come to Me," saith He, "all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest. Take My voke upon you, and learn of Me; and ye shall find rest to your souls."

Where we may observe, by the way, how far our blessed Saviour exceeds not only the Heathen idols, together with Mahomet and his pretended angel, but even Moses and the Prophets too, in that He doth not call upon us, as they do, to turn unto the Lord, but to come to Him. And as He never ushers in His Words as the Prophets do, by saying, "Thus saith the Lord," but, thus say I, "Verily, verily, I say unto you;" so neither doth He promise as they do, that if we hearken to Him, "the Lord will give us rest," but that He Himself will do it; "and I will give you rest." The reason of all which is clear, even because He that spake these words was Himself that Lord of Hosts, to Whom we ought to come, as to the only centre wherein our souls can rest, "God blessed for evermore."

Which I therefore observe, because it should make us the more inquisitive into the true sense and purport of these words; for seeing they are not the words of our fellow-creature, but of our great Creator, the supreme Being and Governor of the world, we that were made by Him and depend continually upon Him, cannot surely but be very desirous to know His Divine will and pleasure in them, especially considering that these words contain the sum and substance of the whole Gospel, even whatsoever is either required of us, or promised to us by Him Who came from

Heaven to earth, on purpose to make way for us to go from earth to Heaven.

Wherefore, that we may understand our Lord's meaning aright, we shall consider,

- I. Who they are whom He here calls by the name of those "that labour and are heavy laden."
- II. What He would have them do, saying, "Come to Me."
- III. What He here promiseth to them that do so, in these words, "And I will give you rest."
- I. He calls all such, and only such as are xominutes and πεφορτισμένοι, that so labour as to be weary of the work, and heavy laden with the burden of their sins. He calls only such, because He knows none else will come unto Him: for they who are so wedded to their lusts, that they are loth to be divorced from them, and therefore labour, not to subdue, but to cherish them; they that think not their sins to be a burden, but a pleasure, and therefore care not to be eased of them; yea, and all they too that fancy not their crimes to be so great, but that God will pardon them without a Saviour, or at least hope the good works they sometimes seem to do, will make Him amends for all the bad ones they ever did: all such think they have no need of Christ, and therefore they will never come unto Him. But Christ, be sure, hath less need of them, and therefore He doth not so much as call them.

But as for others, whether they be high or low, bond or free, Jew or Gentile, He invites them all that "labour and are heavy laden." Where, by labouring, we are to understand, as the Greek word imports, such as so labour as to be weary of working: weary, not in a carnal, but in a spiritual sense; not in body, but in mind; that are weary of their sins, and heartily desirous to be freed from them: that labour so much under the sense of their natural averseness to God and goodness, and their impetuous inclinations to sin and vanity, that they know not what to do with themselves, but are often forced to cry out in the bitterness of their souls, as St. Paul did, "Oh, wretched man that I am! who shall Rom. 7. 24. deliver me from the body of this death that is within me?"

And they who are thus "weary" of their present lusts,

SERM. CXVI.

Ps. 38, 4,

cannot but be "heavy laden" too with the pressure of their former impieties, the remembrance thereof being so grievous to them, the burden so intolerable, that they are scarce able to bear it any longer, but are ready, each moment, to sink under it, and to fall down into horror and despair. Thus it was with David, when he cried out, "Mine iniquities are gone over my head, as an heavy burden they are too heavy for me." Thus it must be with those whom Christ here calls unto Him, and thus it must be with us, if ever we desire to receive any benefit or advantage from Him.

And, verily, I hope we all here present are; I am certain we have all but too much cause to be thus qualified for our coming unto Christ. But that we may be sure to be so for the future, let us recollect ourselves a little, and consider how many and great our sins have been, and what we have deserved by them; but, alas! who is able to do that? Who can understand his errors? or tell, how oft he hath offended? We may as well undertake to count the stars of Heaven, or number the sands upon the sea-shore, to fathom the depth of the sea, or reckon up the hairs of our head, as ever compute the many sins and failings we have been guilty of. And this might justly make our hearts even fail within us, as it did David's, that our sins have been so many, our transgressions innumerable.

Especially if we consider the greatness, as well as the multitude of our sins, that they are not only so many that they cannot be numbered, but so great too that they can never be weighed by us, being all committed against the clearest light, the greatest love, the strictest vows, and the highest obligations to the contrary, that ever the sins of mortals were.

And if to all this we consider the just desert of every sin, we cannot surely but labour very much under the heavy load of those many and great ones that lie upon us. For what have our sins deserved? or rather, what have they not deserved? seeing "death itself is the wages thereof," which from the beginning was entailed upon sin, as sin, and, by consequence, upon all sin, one as well as another; death temporal, death spiritual, and death eternal: under which are comprehended all the miseries which our natures are

[Rom. 6. 23.]

Digitized by Google

capable of, or our persons can ever be obnoxious to. in this life our sins deprive us of many and great blessings. which otherwise we should enjoy; and bring upon us as many and great troubles, which otherwise we should be free from. Whatsoever pains or aches in our bodies, whatsoever cares or perplexities in our minds, whatsoever griefs or sorrows in our hearts, whatsoever losses or crosses in our estates, relations, or designs, we ever either felt or fear. we must impute them all to those sins which we, ungrateful creatures, have committed against Him that made and governs the world.

Yet these temporal are nothing in comparison of those spiritual and eternal miseries which our sins have made us subject to; for by reason of them the Lord of Hosts Himself is angry with us; He that made us is incensed against us, and become our enemy. And what shall we do, when He shall rise up to take vengeance of us, for affronting His majesty, despising His threats, abusing His mercies, and transgressing His righteous and just commands, as we have done? Can we resist His power, or avoid the strokes of His provoked justice? Shall we be able to "dwell with [Isa. 33. everlasting burnings," or endure the flames of a consuming 14.] fire? Yes, this is the sad condition our sins have brought us all into. We all, at this moment, stand upon the brink of the bottomless pit, and know not but the next step we take may be into it. And if GOD should, as He justly may, cause us all to drop from the place where we sit or stand, down into the abyss of misery, how strangely should we be surprised to find ourselves surrounded, on a sudden, with those infernal flames! What horror and confusion, what astonishment and consternation should we soon be in. to see ourselves amongst the fiends of hell, and to feel the torments of that damned crew! To behold Omnipotence, Glory, Majesty, Justice, yea, and Mercy too, setting itself against us, while we lie scorching in the fiery furnace of incensed wrath and indignation!

But this is too sad and doleful a subject to insist on long; neither should I have mentioned it at a'l, but only to prepare you the better to accept the motion which your Saviour Himself here makes unto you, of coming unto Him. For,

SERM. CXVI. the premises being duly weighed, you cannot but look upon your condition as desperate, your misery as unavoidable, unless there be some way or other found out whereby to have your sins pardoned, and your hearts for the future eased of them. But give me leave to tell you, in the Name of our Lord and Master Christ, that He is ready to do it for you if you will but come unto Him. And that you might not at all doubt of it, He hath given you His Own Word for it, and hath left it upon record for all generations to read and observe; saying, "Come to Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest."

II. But then you will say, what doth He mean by coming to Him? Why, for that, lest you should be mistaken in it, He Himself hath elsewhere told you what He means by it, John 6. 35. saying, "He that cometh to Me shall never hunger, and he that believeth in Me shall never thirst." From whence it is plain, that by coming to Him He meaneth neither more nor less than believing in Him.

But then the question returns, What is it to believe in Christ? A question I confess of very great importance; forasmuch as the whole tenor of the Gospel lays the main stress of our Salvation upon our believing aright: and, therefore, in speaking of it, I shall not discourage your attention with any impertinent distinctions or nice speculations about it, much less shall I trouble you with any new notions or private opinions to it; but shall give you the sense of our Church concerning it, which in the Homily of Faith, speaking of a quick and lively faith, such as the Gospel requires, saith, "This is not only the common belief of the articles of our faith, but it is also a true trust and confidence of the mercy of God through our Lord Jesus Christ, and a steadfast hope of all good things to be received at God's hand." And elsewhere it saith, "The right and true Christian faith is, not only to believe that the Holy Scripture, and all the articles of our faith, are true; but also to have a sure trust and confidence in God's merciful promises to be saved from everlasting damnation by Christ." Which definition of our Church is not only agreeable to the notion of faith, received by the Catholic or Universal Church in all ages, since the Apostles' days; but it is the same in

effect with that description which the Apostle himself gives of it, saying, "Faith is the substance of things hoped for, Heb. 2. 1. the evidence of things not seen;" which words contain not only an encomium, as some have thought, but a plain description of faith, as it respects both the promises made and the truths revealed by the Most High GOD. In the first respect, it is "the substance of things hoped for," in the other, "the evidence of things not seen."

For, whereas there be some things recorded as done heretofore, other things foretold to come to pass hereafter, and many great mysteries revealed and attested by GOD in the Holy Scriptures; such things as these are, although they appear neither to our sense nor understanding, yet having the testimony of GOD, the Supreme Truth Himself, for them, faith is a clear evidence and demonstration of them: that is, by faith, we are as fully persuaded of the truth and certainty of them, as if our eye saw, or our reason could comprehend them; yea, and much more too: for our senses may deceive us, and so may our reason also; but the Eternal [Cf. Au-GOD is of that infinite wisdom that He cannot be deceived Symb. ad Hinself, and of that infinite goodness that it is as impossible ... Catechum. for Him to deceive us. So that there is nothing in the world cap.i.p.547. that we can have so much reason to believe, as we have to Chrysos. Serm. 62.] believe whatsoever He saith.

Wherefore, faith being grounded upon the testimony of GOD, therefore only believing what He saith, because He saith it, it cannot but possess the soul with a clearer sight, a fuller evidence, and a greater certainty of the truths which it believes, than all the arguments and demonstrations in the world can do: it matters not the distance of time or place, nor the seeming inpossibility of the thing propounded; it is sufficient that He Who cannot lie hath said it, and therefore it cannot but believe it. By this faith it was that Abraham saw Christ's day above two thousand years before John 8. 56. By this we may now see Christ in Heaven with all His glorious Saints, Martyrs, and Confessors, about Him, as plainly as if ourselves were there among them: by this I am as certain we shall all one day stand before Christ's tribunal, as I am that we are now in this place: and by this it is that we are fully persuaded of the truth and certainty

SERM. CXVI. of all the articles of our Christian religion, because attested by Christ, by GOD Himself; yet this is not all, that is required to the making up of a true and lively faith: for that, as our Church observes, consists not only in the believing all the articles of our Christian faith; "but likewise in a sure trust and confidence on the merciful promises of GOD in Jesus Christ our Lord." That is, in the Apostle's words, "it is not only the evidence of things not seen, but likewise the substance of things hoped for," which is therefore placed first, because principally to be considered.

For the understanding whereof, we must consider how that man, having, by his fall from the chiefest good, forfeited his right and title to all things that are good for him; the Eternal Son of GOD was pleased, with no less a price than His Own blood, to redeem it for us again, so as to put us into a capacity of being actually restored to it. For upon the account of what He hath done and suffered for us, GOD Himself hath again promised all good things to us, which, as they are good, they cannot but be the object of our hope; and as they are promised by GOD, must needs be the object of our faith too; of that faith, which the Apostle here says, "is the substance of things hoped for;" that is, as the Syriac translation renders it, it is lms, a full persuasion of those things which are in hope, as if they were in act. faith, προζωγραφεί, as Theodoret words it; repræsentat, as St. Ambrose; it foreshews, it paints to the life, and represents them all to us, as fully and clearly as if we had them before our eyes. Yea, by faith, as St. Hierom saith, we do already possess them. St. Chrysostom goes further, saying, "That faith doth not only cause the things we hope for to subsist in our hearts," ἀλλ' αὐτη ἐστιν οὐσία αὐτῶν, "itself is the very essence or substance of them," realising them as much unto us, as if we were already in the actual possession of them.

[Ad. Ep. ad. Heb. c. xi.; Opp. tom. xii. p. 197. B. Ed. Bened.]

And verily it can do no less; for if he be but an honest man that hath promised a kindness to us, we reckon ourselves as certain of it as if we already had it. How much more when God Himself hath passed His Word and made a promise to us! Certainly, in such a case, our faith should bear some proportion to the firmness and infallibility of the ground on which it is placed, so as to carry us above all doubts and diffidence whatsoever; as it did the Father of the Faithful, "who staggered not at the promise of God Rom. 4. 20, through unbelief, but was strong in faith, giving glory to God, and being fully persuaded that, what He had promised. He was able also to perform." Such a faith had David, as we may observe all along in the Psalms; where it is called, as it usually is in the Old Testament, "trusting or confiding in the Lord." Such a faith should we have in all the promises of God: and that, notwithstanding they are made only to mankind in general: for so are all the commands too, yet every one is bound to obey them. So here, though the promises of God be propounded only in general terms to mankind, and not to any particular person, yet every particular person is bound to believe and trust on them.

But here it is necessary to observe, that as our obedience should be of the same extent and latitude with God's commands, so should our faith be with His promises. We must not pick and choose, take one and leave another. He that doth not believe all, believes none: for he hath the same ground to believe every one, as he hath to believe any of them. Only we must carefully distinguish betwixt the promises which are made "of" godliness, and those which are made "unto" it; which, as the Apostle saith, "hath the 1 Tim. 4. 8. promise of the life that now is, and of that which is to come." The promises which are made "of" godliness, are absolute, the rest are all conditional. Of the first sort are these exceeding great and precious promises which St. Peter speaks of, and saith, "That by them we are partakers of the 2 Pet. 1. 4. Divine Nature." Such are the promises of the New Covenant; as, that He will put His law in our hearts, and write [Jer.31.33; it in our inward parts: that He will give us a new heart, and 11.19; put a new spirit within us: that He will pour out His Own Js. 44.3; Joel 2.28.] Spirit upon us, and cause us to walk in His statutes, and to keep His judgments: in short, that He will give us grace to repent and turn to Him. These promises are made absolutely by God, and therefore should be as absolutely believed by us.

But as for the promises of pardon and Salvation, they are

Digitized by Google

all made with this proviso or condition, that the former promises be first believed, and so made good to us; that we first repent, and then we shall be pardoned: first be holy, and then we shall be happy. And, therefore, no man can believe that God will pardon his sins unless he repent, for he hath no such promise: God hath never said He would: but rather, on the contrary, we are bound to believe that God will not pardon our sins except we repent; because God Luke 13.3. hath said He will not: "Except ye repent," saith He, "ye shall all'likewise perish." So that I have the same reason to believe that God will not pardon my sins except I do repent, as I have to believe He will pardon them if I do repent. Yea, and I have the same reason too to believe that God will give me repentance, that so my sins may be

> pardoned, as I have to believe that my sins shall be pardoned when I have repented; for I have His promise of both. Having therefore so many and great promises made to us by Him, Who is so infinitely just and faithful to His word

that He cannot falsify it, it cannot but be our duty to believe and trust in them in the highest manner that possibly we can: and unless we do so we can never expect they should be performed to us; for this is absolutely required in order to the performance of all God's promises, that we steadfastly believe He will perform them. A remarkable instance whereof our blessed Lord Himself hath given us: for having Matt.7.[7.] said, "Ask and it shall be given you," and so passed His word, that whatsoever we pray for we shall receive; He Mark11.24. elsewhere explains Himself, saying, "Whatsoever things ye desire, when ye pray, believe that ye receive them, and ye shall have them." So that if we do believe that God, according to His word, will give us the good things we pray for, then He will do it, otherwise not. The same may be said of all other promises whatsoever. If we will not trust God, nor take His Word for what He hath said, we exclude ourselves from the benefit of His promises; but if we certainly believe that He will perform them. He will most certainly perform them to us.

> Hence, therefore, faith may in this sense also be justly termed the "substance of things hoped for," not only, as the word ὑπόστασις sometimes signifies, 'confidence' and 'full per

suasion:' but likewise in that faith puts us into the actual possession, and so gives us the very substance of those good things we hope for at the hands of God, according to the promises He hath made to mankind in Jesus Christ our Lord.

Now, from the nature of faith in general thus explained, we may easily gather what it is properly to believe in Christ. For seeing He was the first thing that was ever promised to Gen. 3. mankind, and all other promises being virtually, yea, really contained in Him; hence to believe in Christ is indeed to believe in all the promises of God, as made and confirmed to us in Christ. For, as the Apostle saith, "All the promises 2 Cor. 1. 20. of God in Him are yea, and in Him amen," that is, as St. Chrysostome expounds it, εν αὐτῷ γενέσθαι ἔχουσι καλ πληρω- [Ad loc. θηναι, 'In Him they have their being, and accomplishment,' Opp. tom.x. or confirmation. So that, all things considered, I know not how we can express the right notion of true faith in Christ better than in the words of our Church before quoted; where she defines it to be a sure trust and confidence on God's merciful promises to be saved from everlasting damnation by Christ. For this plainly supposes that we trust on God's merciful promises to be converted from our sins by Christ, to have our sins pardoned by Him, to be sanctified and accepted by Him; for otherwise we cannot possibly be saved from everlasting damnation by Him.

When our Saviour therefore bids us come unto Him, or believe in Him, His will and pleasure in brief is this, that we come off from all vain conceits and expectations from ourselves; from all trusting to our own obedience or good works, and from all dependence upon our own natural powers or acquired parts, and that we put our whole trust and confidence only on Him, as in Whom all God's promises are made and confirmed to us, for all things necessary to make us holy here, or happy for ever.

III. And if we do this, our blessed Lord here tells us, "He will give us rest:" which is the last thing to be considered in the words.

But for the understanding of this, we must consider what kind of persons they are which our Saviour here calls unto Him, "even those that labour, and are heavy laden;" that is, as I have shewn, such as are weary of the tyranny, as

well as heavy laden with the burden of their sins, that long to have their lusts subdued, as well as their transgressions pardoned to them, being troubled both with and for their sins. Now, from both these troubles Christ here promises to free those that come unto Him, and to give them rest, both from the power and from the guilt of sin that lies so heavy upon them. And verily He is equally qualified for the conferring of both these great blessings upon us; being

1 Cor. 1. 30. "made unto us wisdom" as well as "righteousness," our Acts 5, 31, "sanctification" as well as "redemption." "And He was exalted to be both a Prince and a Saviour, and so give repentance to Israel, as well as remission of sins." So that He hath not only power to give us pardon if we do repent, but to give us repentance too, that so we may be pardoned.

First, therefore, if we come to Christ, He will free us from the power and tyranny of sin. Sin shall no longer have dominion over us, because then we shall not be under the Law, but under His grace. And He will give us such a repentance that our hearts shall be wholly turned from sin to God: and that He both can and will do this for us. is plain from the design of His coming into the world. For 1 John 3. 8. He was sent on purpose "to destroy the works of the Devil;"

Acts 3. 26. "and to bless us, by turning every one of us from his iniquities;" "Yea, He therefore gave Himself for us, that Tit. 2. 14. He might redeem us from all iniquity, and purify to Himself

Eph. 5. 27. a peculiar people zealous of good works;" and that "He might present us to Himself holy and without blemish." This, therefore, being one great end both of His assuming of, and suffering in, our human nature, we need not fear but that He both can and will do it for us.

Especially, considering that, for the accomplishment thereof, He by His death hath purchased not only the pardon of our sins, but likewise the right of bestowing the Spirit upon us; and therefore He promises His Disciples, that when He was gone He would send the Spirit to them; but John 16.7. tells them withal, "that unless He went, the Spirit could not come;" assuring us thereby, that the coming of the Spirit depended upon His merit and Mediation for us in Heaven. And verily, as it is only by the death of Christ that our sins can be pardoned; so it is only by His Spirit that our lusts can be subdued and our hearts made holy. For although the human nature in general was sanctified by its being assumed into the Divine Person, yet no human person in particular can be sanctified but by its partaking of the Divine nature. Hence, they who are sanctified or made holy, are said to be "partakers of the Divine nature," and 2 Pet. 1. 4. to partake of God's holiness, which is His nature; but we [1 Pet. 1. can no way partake of the Divine nature but by "the Spirit of God dwelling in us," as the Apostle speaks.

Rom. 8. 9.

Neither is there any other way whereby we can possibly have the Spirit of God to dwell within us, but only by our being united to Christ by faith: for the whole design of the Gospel teacheth us, that Christ, as Θεάνθρωπος and Mediator, is the only Head, from Whom the Spirit is diffused into all the members of His mystical body the Church, that is, the congregation of all faithful people, or such as really and truly believe in Him: and therefore such, and only such, as thus believe in Christ, are enabled by His Spirit to do "all such good works [Eph. 2. as God hath prepared for them to walk in." "For who is 1 John 5.5. he," saith the Apostle, " that overcometh the world, but he that believeth that Jesus is the Son of God?" plainly implying that no man can mortify his lusts or overcome the temptations of the world but only by faith in Christ. " For as John 15. 4. the branch," saith Christ Himself, "cannot bear fruit of 5. itself, except it abide in the vine, no more can ye, except ye abide in Me. But he that abideth in Me, and I in him, the same bringeth forth much fruit." As if He should have said, Such as continue to put their whole trust and confidence in Me, such, and only such, I will enable to perform whatsoever is required of them. Which we see exactly fulfilled in St. Paul, saying, "I can do all things through Christ Phil. 4. 13. Which strengtheneth me."

Hence, therefore, we may observe, how truly our Church asserts, that "good works do necessarily spring out of a true [Art. 12.] and lively faith, in so much that by them a lively faith may be as evidently known as a tree discerned by the fruit." For, seeing Christ doth most certainly communicate all the graces of His Spirit, the only principle of all true piety and goodness, to those who truly believe in Him, hence it must needs follow, that though faith and works be distinguished in the

SERM. notion, they are never separated in the subject, but that wheresoever true faith is, it always purifies the heart, sanctifies the whole soul; and so produceth all manner of good works, both of piety towards God, and likewise of justice and charity to our neighbour, as the Fathers frequently affirm; and, by consequence, that whosoever doth not perform sincere obedience to all the Commandments of God. he may pretend what he pleases, but he doth not truly believe in Christ: for if he did so, Christ would most certainly perform the promise He here makes of freeing him from his sins, by enduing him with the grace of the Holy Spirit, to amend his life according to God's Holy Word.

> This, therefore, is the first thing our Saviour here promiseth to those that come unto Him, and the first thing which we should go unto Him for, even our sanctification; for without this, whatsoever else He doth or can do for us will avail us nothing: no, not though He should carry us into Heaven. For Heaven itself would be no Heaven to us unless we be first sanctified, and so made capable of enjoying these pure and spiritual delights, which are there provided for us. For suppose any one here present that is still in his sins, and so averse from God and goodness, should be immediately snatched up and placed amongst the glorified Saints and Angels, adoring and praising God in Heaven, what happiness could such a one find? What pleasure could he take either in their company or employment? Alas! his sinful soul is altogether averse from such holy persons and actions as those are. Insomuch that Heaven itself would seem more The company would seem like Hell than Heaven to him. irksome, the work tedious, and the very presence of God Himself would afford more matter of grief and trouble, than In short, a blind man may as of joy and happiness to him. soon distinguish colours, and a deaf man sounds; yea, a brute beast may as soon surfeit himself upon the pleasures of a mathematical demonstration, as ever a sinful soul be ravished with these celestial joys, which are not only above him, but contrary to his very temper and inclinations; and, therefore, unless our blessed Saviour incline our hearts to God, and sanctify our natures throughout, we shall not be qualified for Heaven, nor for any other blessing whatsoever

which He hath procured for us. But, blessed be His Name for it, if we do but come unto Him, He is both able and willing to do, not only this, but whatsoever else we can desire of Him.

For He will not only free us from the strength, but likewise from the guilt of these sins we labour under. He will take care that all our bonds and obligations to punishment be cancelled, and made void by virtue of that infinite satisfaction which He Himself hath made to Divine justice for For He being both God and man in one and the same person, whatsoever He suffered as man could not but be of infinite value and merit; because, though the nature in which He suffered was but finite, yet the person which suffered in that nature was infinite. Hence, therefore, this Divine Person suffering in our human nature, not only stripes, agonies, reproaches, but even death itself, that death which was due to the whole nature of man, being undergone by it in the Divine Person, was more than if all the human persons in the world had suffered eternal death; and, by consequence, as much as justice itself could require. And therefore it is said that He was made "a Propitiation for the sins 1 John 2.2. of the whole world;" that is, in the words of our Church, "He, by His one oblation of Himself once offered, hath made a full, perfect, and sufficient sacrifice, oblation and satisfaction for the sins of the whole world," or of all mankind. Insomuch, that if any one man's sins be not pardoned by them, it is not for want of sufficiency in Christ's sufferings, but by reason of his own obstinacy or negligence in not performing the conditions required for the applying the sufferings of the human nature in Christ unto his own particular person. For, seeing that that death, which was threatened to all mankind in the first Adam, was undergone by the whole nature of man in the Second; hence all particular persons, comprehended under that general nature, are capable of receiving the benefit of those sufferings, if they will but apply them rightly to themselves. And all that is required for the application of them is only to perform the duty enjoined in my text, even to come to Christ in the sense which I have now explained: for if we do that, Christ Himself hath here told us, that He will give us rest.

SERM. CXVI. Having thus explained these words unto you, I might now use some arguments whereby to prevail upon you to go to Christ, that so you may find rest to your souls: but that I hope will be altogether needless and in vain. For, needs a shipwrecked seaman be courted to come to shore, or a weary traveller to a place of rest? Needs a man in want be desired to receive relief, or one in pain to accept of ease? How then can we, who know how many and great our sins have been, how strong and prevalent our lusts still are, how can we need arguments to persuade us to go to Christ, Who alone can save us? However, I humbly crave leave in His Name, to speak a few words unto you.

Although you be here at present, the time you know will come when you will all be in another world; either in a world of happiness, or else in a world of misery, that is, either in Heaven or in Hell, there to live for evermore. And, from your presence here at this time, I cannot but conclude that you all desire and hope when you die to go to Heaven, the only place of real and eternal happiness. But Heaven, you know, is a place where none but Saints can come; and, therefore, unless you be, not such as call themselves Saints in our days, but really and truly so, you can never expect to come thither. But, blessed be God for it, you are all as yet capable of attaining such a degree of sanctity as to fit and qualify you for Heaven and eternal glory: for Christ is ready to confer it upon you if you will but come to Him, so as to put your whole trust and confidence only in Him for it. Indeed a steadfast hope and dependence upon God is a certain way to accomplish any good and lawful enterprise we undertake: for God never yet did, nor ever will fail them that put their trust in Him. How much more when we trust on Him for the assistance of His Own Grace and Spirit, to serve Himself with a perfect heart and willing mind, according to His promises declared unto mankind in Jesus Christ our Lord!

Wherefore, in the Name of Him that made you, that preserves you, and hath redeemed you with His Own blood; in His Name I humbly pray and beseech you all to hearken to your Saviour's call, and resolve, without any more ado, to

go unto Him. In order whereunto, I would advise you to observe these few necessary rules.

First; be sure to continue firm and steadfast to Christ's Holy Catholic Church, and particularly to that part of it which is established among you; and suffer not yourselves to be seduced either into Popery or Schism upon any pretence whatsoever. For if you either separate yourselves, or be justly separated from the Church, which is Christ's body, ye will be thereby deprived of all communion with Him that is the Head of it.

But, in the next place, think it not enough that ye are outward and visible members of Christ's Church: but live up to the rules and orders of it, constantly using the several means of grace and Salvation, which are thereby administered to you, prescribed by Christ Himself as the way whereby to go unto Him; such as fasting and praying, and praising God, and hearing His Holy Word publicly read and expounded to you, and especially, receiving the Sacraments of Christ's mystical body and blood, ordained on purpose for our more intimate access unto Him, and communion with Him, that we may partake of the influences of His Holy Spirit, and of the merits of that death which He suffered for us. And, therefore, they who really mind the concerns of another life, cannot but look upon it as a great happiness to live in a place where this Holy Sacrament is so duly and frequently administered as it is here. And they who either totally omit, or frequently neglect it, will one day wish they had not: but then it will be too late.

Lastly; content not yourselves with the mere outward performance of these and the like duties, but perform them heartily and sincerely, with your whole souls as well as bodies; still believing and trusting on Christ to make them effectual to the purposes for which He hath appointed them.

Do this, and then I dare assure you, in His Name, that He will soon make good His word and fulfil His promise to you. For He, by His Holy Spirit, accompanying the means, will so enlighten your minds, rectify your wills, and regulate all your passions, as to sanctify your whole souls and reduce them to a right temper and constitution, and then He will soon discharge and absolve you from all your sins, and

SERM. give rest to your souls, not only from all evil here, but in CXVI. God Himself, the chiefest of all goods, hereafter.

And that ye may neither fear to come unto Him, nor doubt of receiving such great blessings from Him; hark, He Himself here calls you with His Own mouth, saying, "Come unto Me, all ye that labour and are heavy laden, and I will give you rest."

Oh, blessed invitation! "God, of His infinite mercy, grant that we may all with thankfulness accept of it, in and through Him Who hath made it to us, even our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ; to Whom with the Father and Holy Spirit, be all honour, praise, and glory, from this time forth, and for evermore. Amen."

SERMON CXVII.

THE EASINESS OF CHRIST'S YOKE.

MATT. xi. 30.

For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light.

OUR great Lord and Master, Christ, in the foregoing verses, calls upon all such as "labour and are heavy laden," and bids them come to Him, and to "take His yoke upon them;" that is, to become His Disciples, believe His doctrine, submit to His discipline, and give up themselves wholly to be ruled and governed by Him; assuring them, for their encouragement, that if they do this, howsoever uneasy, restless, and weary they were before, they should soon find rest to their souls. But lest they should doubt or wonder how that could be, considering it is a yoke that He would have them take upon them, which might be as heavy and troublesome as that which they laboured under, and were heavy laden with before; to prevent all such doubts and fears, He acquaints them with the easiness of that yoke, and the lightness of that burden which He would put upon them. "For My yoke," saith He, "is easy, and My burden is light;" where the word yenoros, which we translate 'easy,' signifies also good, and gracious, and pleasant, and useful; and therefore the meaning of our Lord in general is, that whatsoever He requires us either to do or to suffer for Him, may be both done and suffered with ease and pleasure; that He doth not invite us to a sour, melancholy, and disconsolate course of life, nor impose any thing upon us, that will make

SERM. CXVII. our lives uneasy or troublesome to us; that all His laws are so mild and gentle, so gracious and benign, so far from having any thing of difficulty, much less of impossibility in them, that there is no man but may observe them if he will, with pleasure and delight; so as to find rest and comfort to his soul, as well as for the observation of them: and that is the reason why He brings in these words here to confirm the truth of what He had said before. Before, He had said, that they who take His yoke upon them, shall find rest to their souls; and to prove that, He adds, "For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light."

But I fear there may be some among you who may be apt to question the truth of this Divine saying, though uttered by Truth itself; or, at least, may wonder at it, men's minds being commonly possessed with very dismal and frightful apprehensions of religion, even of the very Christian itself; as if it was so hard and difficult to perform the conditions required in the Gospel, that it is in vain for them to attempt it; and this, I verily believe, is one great reason why so few set themselves about it in good earnest.

That, therefore, I may remove this prejudice, and suppress such vain and groundless fears, which discourage you from taking Christ's voke upon you; I desire you, in the first place, to consider Whose yoke it is. It is the yoke of Christ, "My yoke," saith Christ Himself. But is it Christ's Own yoke? A yoke that He hath ordered and appointed for you? Then you may be confident it is a very easy one. For He Who came into the world on purpose to make your voke easy, certainly would never put a hard one upon you. He, Who hath undergone so much for you, as He hath done, would never surely lay more upon you, than you are able to undergo for Him. In short, it cannot be imagined that Christ Himself, Who laid down His Own life to save us, should require more of us, in order to our being saved, than what we may easily do; that He should purchase our happiness at so dear a rate, and yet make it difficult for us to attain it. No; he that considers Christ's infinite love and compassion to us, how desirous He is to make us happy, and how much He hath done and suffered for that purpose, cannot but from thence conclude, that He would never require any more of us than what is both necessary and easy for us to do; and, by consequence, that whatsoever yoke it is that He would have us take upon us, it cannot but be as easy as it is possible for it to be made.

Especially, considering that Christ Himself here affirms it to be an easy yoke: "My yoke," saith He, "is easy." And do not you all believe His words to be all true? I dare say you do. For whose word can you better take than His Who cannot lie? Doth not He know what you are all able to do? Yes, surely: He having taken our nature upon Him, perfectly, yea, experimentally, understands its temper and constitution; so that He is throughly acquainted both with the disposition and abilities of all and every person that partakes of that nature. Insomuch that He knows, infinitely better than we ourselves do, what is hard and what is easy for us, and what we cannot, and what we can do, if we will. And, therefore, He having asserted it, whatsoever opinion we have hitherto entertained of it, we may and ought now to be confident, that His voke is really a gentle and an easy voke.

Howsoever, that you may more clearly apprehend, and be more fully convinced of the truth and certainty of this Divine proposition, I desire you, first, to compare Christ's yoke with other yokes, and you will soon find it to be so much easier that there is no comparison between them.

First, compare it with the yoke which Moses, by God's Own appointment, made for His Own people the Jews. That St. Paul truly calleth, "the yoke of bondage;" "Yea, it Gal. 5. 1. was such a yoke," that neither the Apostles themselves, Acts 15. 10. "nor their Fathers were able to bear." Not to mention Circumcision, and the Paschal Lamb, what costly sacrifices were to be offered! what a multitude of rites and ceremonies were to be observed by them! It was very difficult to reckon them all up; how much more to perform them as they ought! And yet how difficult soever it was, all that truly feared God observed them all exactly; as we see in the famous instance of Zacharias and Elizabeth, of whom it is said, "That they were both righteous before God, walk-Luke 1. 6. ing in all the Commandments and Ordinances of the Lord blameless;" where, by the Commandments, we are to under-

SERM. stand the moral Law, by the Ordinances, the Levitical or ceremonial Law, which then was in as much force as the other.

> Now those two righteous persons punctually observed both these laws, and were therefore accounted righteous because they did so. But what a difficult task had they, and all that lived in those days, upon them, religiously to perform all and every thing that was prescribed in the ceremonial Law? This was a yoke fitted for this stiff-necked people, and therefore made so hard and heavy, that it is almost a miracle that any of them were able to bear it.

[Eph. 2.

But this "law of ordinances," as the Apostle calls it, is now abolished, or rather expired, together with our Saviour; it ceased in course, when His death, which was typified by it, was once accomplished. So that this heavy yoke is now laid aside, and our Lord puts no other upon us, than that of the moral Law, which is nothing in comparison of the other, and only two Sacraments, easy to be performed.

In the next place, consider the yoke of this world, what trouble it puts you to, to get the riches, or pleasures, or honours of it! How doth it often distract your thoughts, perplex your minds, and disturb you in your very sleep! What care have you all upon you to get wealth, and what fear of losing it when it is gotten! How do men commonly run to and fro, encompassing both sea and land for it! How do they impair their health, consume their bodies, hazard their lives, and destroy their very souls, and all for that which can never make them either wiser or better when they have it; and which they are never sure to get, neither, much less to keep, after all their care and pains.

How incomparably easier is the yoke which Christ puts upon us! He requires no such toil and travail; no such carking cares and perplexity of mind; nothing that can either break our rest, or endanger our health, or life; nothing but what will do us, as well as make us, good; nothing but what we may do with as much ease, if we will, as we can be willing to do it: and, besides, we can never lose our labour in His service, as men usually do in the drudgery of the world. For if we do what He commands, we are sure to obtain what He hath promised to us; and, therefore, we may lay it down as a most certain rule, that it is much easier to serve God than Mammon; much easier to be good than to be rich; and, by consequence, that Christ's is a very easy yoke indeed, in comparison of the world's. Insomuch, that if people would take but half the pains for Heaven that they do for earth, they could never miss of it. If they would spend but the seventh part of the time in their general, which they spend in their particular calling, they would soon be as rich in faith and good works, as they either are or can desire to be in money.

But, in this place, our Lord seems to oppose his voke and burden to that of sin especially, which is so great and grievous, that when men have once a true sense and sight of it, it lies so heavy upon their consciences, that without the almighty power of God they could never be able to endure it. And, therefore, they are here said to labour under it, and to be heavy laden with it. As David was, when he cried out, "For my iniquities are gone over my Ps. 38. 4. head, as an heavy burden, they are too heavy for me." But this, the hardest of all yokes, the heaviest of all burdens, Christ frees those from, who come to Him and take His voke upon them: which therefore must needs exceed the other in ease and gentleness, as much as holiness exceeds sin, or Heaven Hell. For His voke, instead of lying too heavy upon them that bear it, gives ease to their minds, quiet to their consciences, and rest to their souls: well then might our Lord say, in this respect also, "For My voke is easy, and My burden is light."

Neither is it so only in comparison of other yokes, but likewise in itself, in its own nature. Forasmuch as Christ requires no more of any of us, in order to our obtaining eternal Salvation, but what is plain to be understood and easy to be performed, by any one that will but apply his mind seriously to it, and take that course that He hath prescribed for it.

First; I say, the commands of Christ are all plain and easy to be understood, so plain and easy, that a child may learn them: for whatsoever He requires us either to believe or do, is briefly comprehended in our Church-catechism, which I hope to find by experience that your children can

SERM.

say as well as you; yea, and understand too as much as is necessary for them. It is true, there are some great mysteries revealed in the Gospel which you cannot understand; but Christ, therefore, doth not command you to understand, but only to believe them, and that, surely, is no hard matter. For it is no more than what you all do every day. If a wise and honest man tells you a story, how strange soever it may seem at first, yet you will believe it only upon his word; what great business is it then to give credit to what Christ, what God Himself saith, Who can neither be deceived nor deceive? And yet this is all that is required of us in the high mysteries of the Gospel. He that only knows what Christ would have him to believe, and then believes it upon His word, whether he understands it or no, doth all that the Gospel enjoins in this respect: and as for the duties which He would have us do, they are all so plainly set down in the Holy Scripture, that he who runs may read them; and he who hath any sense or reason at all may understand them: for they are all expressed in the most easy and familiar terms that can be. Insomuch that if any of you be ignorant of your whole duty both to God and man, it is not because you cannot, but because you will not know it: for if ye would but be half as careful and diligent to understand the will of God, as ye are to learn your trades and callings in the world, you would soon understand that far better than ye do them.

And as Christ's commands are easy to be known, so they are to be practised too, if men would but give their minds to it: for they are all agreeable to our very nature, and suited to that temper and constitution that we are all made of. Insomuch that all the joy and happiness we are capable of consists in our due observation of them. For, being designed at first to serve, and worship, and glorify Him that made us, He therefore made us of such a frame and temper that we are always restless and uneasy but while we are doing the work He made us for, by performing such duties as He for that purpose hath laid upon us: whereas, all the while that we live according to His laws, in a due obedience to His commands, we live in our proper element, and so are at ease and rest in our own minds, and find a secret kind of pleasure

and satisfaction in our souls, arising from the apprehension that we have done our duty and answered the end of our creation; that we have pleased God, and that He therefore is pleased with us.

Hence it is, that St. John saith, that "the Commandments 1 John 5. 3. of God are not grievous." They are not so heavy as to sink down our spirits into grief and trouble, but rather lift them up to the highest pitch of joy and comfort. As David found by experience, when he said, "Thy testimonies have I Ps. 119.111. taken for an heritage for ever, for they are the [very joy or] rejoicing of my heart." "The Statutes of the Lord are Ps. 19.8-10. right, rejoicing the heart; more to be desired are they than gold, yea, than much fine gold; sweeter also than honey and the honeycomb." And therefore he often professeth, that he Ps. 119. 16, delighted in the Law, the Statutes, and Commandments of 47,70. God. Yea, so exceeding great was his pleasure and delight in God's Commandments, that it over-weighed all his sorrow, and kept up his spirits in the midst of all the crosses and troubles in the world. "Unless Thy Law," saith he, v. 92. " had been my delights, I should then have perished in my affliction;" "Trouble and anguish have taken hold on me, v. 143. vet Thy Commandments are my delights;" 'my delights,' in the plural number; are all the delights he had in the whole world.

St. Paul also was of the same mind; "I delight," saith Rom. 7. 22. he, "in the Law of God, after the inward man;" " And 2 Cor. 1. 12. our rejoicing is this, the testimony of our conscience, that in simplicity and godly sincerity, we have had our conversation in the world." Yea, it is much to be observed, that all the persecutions that he and the rest of the Apostles suffered for it, rather increased than diminished their joy and pleasure in obeying Christ's commands. Insomuch, that they rejoiced "that they were counted worthy to suffer shame for Acts 5. 41. His Name." "I take pleasure," saith St. Paul, "in infirm- 2Cor.12.10. ities, in reproaches, in necessities, in persecutions, in distresses for Christ's sake." Strange things for a man to take pleasure in! yet when they are undergone for Christ's sake in obedience to His commands, that obedience fills the soul with such real and substantial pleasure, that it takes off all sense of suffering, and turns that also into matter of rejoicSERM. CXVII.

[Matt. 10. 38.]

ing; so that howsoever grievous the suffering may seem, the pleasure that attends it makes it not only easy but delightful. And seeing not only all the rest of Christ's commands, but those also whereby He enjoins us, if there be occasion, to take up our Cross and suffer for Him, afford us so much joy and comfort, there cannot surely be any great difficulty in observing any of them. For nothing can seem hard or uneasy to us that is pleasant, nothing heavy that delights us. And therefore our Lord might well say, "My yoke is easy, and My burden is light."

Especially considering that He hath not only fitted His yoke so exactly on our necks, that it is a pleasure rather than a trouble to bear it, but that He also is always ready to assist us in it. For He commands us to do nothing but what He Himself will enable us to do, if we set about it as we ought, in His Name. What is wanting in us, He will make up from Himself, and supply the defects of our natural strength with His Own supernatural grace and virtue. remarkable instance whereof we have in St. Paul, who having got "a thorn in the flesh, the messenger of Satan to buffet him," and not being able to bear it by his own strength, he addressed himself to Christ by prayer, Who gave him this 2 Cor. 12. 9, gracious answer, " My grace is sufficient for thee, for My strength is made perfect in weakness." "Most gladly therefore," saith the Apostle, " will I rather glory in mine infirmities, that the power of Christ may rest upon me." And then he adds, "Therefore I take pleasure in infirmities, in reproaches, in necessities, in persecutions, in distresses for Christ's sake: for when I am weak, then am I strong." From whence it appears, that the great reason why it was so easy and pleasant to him to do or suffer any thing for Christ's sake, was, because the power of Christ Himself rested upon him, and assisted him in it. By which he looked upon him-Phil. 4. 11. self as able to do all things; "I have learned," saith he, "in whatsoever state I am, therewith to be content. I know both how to be abased, and I know how to abound; every where and in all things I am instructed both to be full and to be hungry, both to abound and to suffer need. all things through Christ which strengtheneth me." he had said, I can do all things that Christ requireth of me.

Digitized by Google

by that grace and assistance which Christ Himself vouchsafeth to me. Where, as he plainly ascribes the glory of all he did to Christ, so he reckons nothing hard or difficult for him to do, through His strength and power. And, as St. Paul did, so may we do all things too, through Christ Which strengtheneth us. Insomuch, that although, as Christ Himself saith, we can do nothing without Him, yet there is nothing but we can do by Him. By Him we can mortify our sins and withstand all temptations to them: by Him we can overcome the world, so as to live above it: by Him we can so fast and pray as to be heard; so hear and read as to be profited; and so receive His blessed body and blood, as to have Him to "dwell in us, and we in Him:" by Him we can love and fear, and trust in God, and serve and honour Him with a perfect heart and willing mind: by Him we can "deny ungodliness and worldly lusts, and live soberly, [Tit. 2. 12.] righteously, and godly in this present world:" by Him we can be humble, and meek, and patient, and loyal, and charitable, and good, and just to all: by Him we can do, and by Him we can suffer any thing that He sees good to lay upon us. Wherefore, seeing we serve a Master Who will neither require more of us than what He will give us grace to do; nor lay any more upon us, than what He will give us strength to bear: His "yoke" must needs be "easy," and His "burden light."

Howsoever, to make it still more clear, if possible, and undeniable, I desire you to consider, in the last place, that as Christ assists us in doing what He commands, so, for His sake, God accepts of what we so do, although it come short of what the rigour of the Law requires. Christ's grace and Holy Spirit is always present with us to excite, and influence, and assist us in obeying His commands; so that if we do but use and improve it as we ought, and as well as we can, there is nothing commanded by Him but what we may easily obey. But by reason of our natural infirmities we cannot, or, at least, we do not commonly use and improve it so as to make our obedience perfect; but there are still some failures and imperfections in it, for which Almighty God might justly reject it. Wherefore, that nothing might be wanting to make His "yoke as easy" and His "burden as

light" as possible, our blessed Saviour hath taken care of this also. For He, both in His life and at His death, performed that perfect, that Divine obedience to God, and merited so much for us, that He is able from thence to make good what is defective on our parts: insomuch, that upon the account of His Merits and Mediation for us, God is pleased to accept of our sincere endeavours instead of absolute perfection; and of what we can do by the grace of the Gospel, instead of what we ought to do by the strictness of the Law, to the praise and glory of His grace, "wherein He hath made us accepted in the beloved," as St. Paul saith; 1 Pet. 2. 5. and, therefore St. Peter, speaking to all Christians, saith, "Ye also, as lively stones, are built up a spiritual house, an holy priesthood, to offer up spiritual sacrifices, acceptable to God by Jesus Christ." And, therefore, whatsoever spiritual sacrifices we offer, whatsoever good works we do, whatsoever obedience we perform to the Law of God by the grace of Christ, in and through Him, God will accept of what we do, notwithstanding the many imperfections there may be in it: and this indeed is that which crowns all the rest. For, hence it comes to pass, that we poor mortals upon earth may, by Christ's assistance, perform such obedience as for His sake will be as well-pleasing unto God as the service of the glorified Saints and Angels in Heaven are; for though our obedience be not in itself so perfect as theirs, yet it is reckoned so by virtue of that which Christ in our nature performed for us. Which one thing, duly considered, is of itself sufficient to demonstrate Christ's yoke to be the easiest that can possibly be put upon us; for now nothing else is required of us but only to do what we can ourselves, and to trust in Christ for His assistance in the doing of it, and for God's acceptance of it when it is done; and if we do but this, we need trouble ourselves no further: for these are all the terms propounded to us in the Gospel, in order to our being saved. This is the only voke that Christ puts about our necks, and the only burden He lays upon our backs, which none of us but may easily bear, and therefore must needs conclude, that His "voke" is indeed "easy, and His burden light."

Now, what follows from all this, but that, seeing Christ's

yoke is so easy, and His burden so light, as He Himself saith, and we have shewn it to be, we all resolve to take it upon us without any more ado. This, therefore, is that which, in His Name and stead I would now advise you all to do, even to hearken to your blessed Saviour, here commanding you to take His yoke upon you, that easy yoke which He hath purchased for you with His Own blood. And though He paid so dear for it, you may now have it for taking up, and together with it all the glory and happiness which attends it. And be not disheartened at His calling it a voke; for though it be one, it is the easiest that He Himself, by His infinite merits and His almighty power, could make for you; so that if it had been left to your own choice what to do that ve might obtain eternal life, you could not in reason have desired less, nor indeed so little, as He requires of you: for it is no more than what every soul of you may do, if ye will; that is all, be but willing and the work is done. Do but once take Christ's yoke upon you, and you will soon find what ye have now heard to be true by your own experience, even that it is very light and easy.

All the difficulty is in your taking it up at first, in your first setting upon a pious and religious course of life. That, I confess, may seem to be something difficult; not from any thing in the nature of religion itself, but by reason of the corruption of our nature and our long continuance in sin, which hath made it habitual, and in a manner natural to us: and it will require some care and pains to break off our old customs, so as to walk, for the future, in "newness of life." And therefore our Lord Himself elsewhere saith, that the "gate is strait and the way narrow that leadeth Matt. 7. 14. unto life;" that is, our first passage or entrance upon a holy life is strait, and the way narrow that leadeth to it; but when we are once passed through the gate, and got into the way, then all things will be smooth and easy to us, and we may walk on cheerfully till we get to Heaven.

Wherefore, that I may persuade you all to submit your necks to Christ's yoke, to give up yourselves wholly to His service, whatsoever difficulty you may fancy in it, I desire you to consider three things.

1. Howsoever difficult it may seem, it is possible for every

SERM.

- soul here present to do whatsoever Christ commands, so as to become His faithful disciples, real Saints, such as the Gospel requires you all to be, and such as many have been already. And why should not we be such as well as any other? If we be not, the fault is wholly in ourselves, in our own corrupt wills; we will not, and that is the only reason that we do not serve God as we ought. Do but resolve, by God's grace, to set upon it in good earnest, and the business is done. For,
- 2. When ye have once taken Christ's yoke upon you, and made trial of it, you will feel it to be, as He saith, easy and light; yea, comfortable and pleasant to you. When ye have once entered upon God's service, and are accustomed to it, you will find it to be perfect freedom: all difficulties will then be over. You will have so much joy and comfort, so much rest and quiet, so much pleasure and satisfaction in your minds, from your obeying and serving God, that nothing which He commands will seem hard or grievous to you.
- 3. If ye take Christ's easy yoke upon you, and bear His light burden while ye live, you will get to Heaven when ye die: and what can ye desire more? For there you will have more than as yet ye can desire: for there you will be with Christ, with God Himself, and be as happy as it is possible for creatures to be. And that surely would be a sufficient recompense, although ye should spend your whole life in toil and labour for it: how much more, when nothing else is required of you than what ye may all do with ease and pleasure, as Christ Himself assures us with His Own mouth, saying, "For My yoke is easy, and My burden is light."

SERMON CXVIII.

THE CHRISTIAN RACE.

1 Cor. ix. 24.

So run, that ye may obtain.

THE Prophets, the Apostles, and the Ministers of Christ, in all ages, have complained of the little effect their ministry had upon the people they were sent to; and we have as much cause to make the same complaint now, if not much more than ever: for, though God's Holv Word was never more frequently read, more plainly expounded, or more powerfully pressed for many ages, than it is in this; yet there are but few that mind it, but few that are ever the better for it. I speak not only of those who, according to St. Paul's prophecy, will not "endure sound doctrine, but after their own 2 Tim. 4. 3. lusts heap to themselves teachers, having itching ears;" but of those also who profess to believe and come to hear the good Word of God, as administered by those who are sent by God Himself to do it, there are but few of them that do any more than hear it: though they hear it over and over again, it is all one, they will not do it: though we tell them from Christ's Own mouth, that "except they repent, they [Luke 13. must all perish," yet they will not do it: though we tell them, 3.] upon His infallible word, that if they "first seek the King- [Matt. 6. dom of God and His righteousness, all" other necessary 33.] "things shall be added" to them, yet they will not do it: though we tell them that it is their interest, as well as duty, to perform both their public and private devotions to Almighty God every day, and to serve Him with reverence and godly fear, yet they will not do it: though we invite

SERM.

them in the Name of Christ to come to His Own table, and there feed upon His most blessed body and blood, so as to partake of all the blessings which He hath merited for them, yet they will not come: some not at all, and others so seldom, as to shew they care not whether they ever come or no; like those in the parable, who when they were invited by

Matt. 22.5. a king to the marriage of his own son, "they made light of it, and went their ways, one to his farm, another to his merchandise." Thus the care of this world, and the deceitful-

[ch. 13.22.] ness of riches, usually choke the seed of God's Word, and make it unfruitful, how carefully soever it is sown. rarely meets with an honest and good heart, that will bring forth fruit to perfection.

This may seem a severe reflection upon the age we live in, but I am sure it is true: there are none here present who take notice of what is done in the world, but know it to be so of the greatest part of those they are acquainted with: many, I fear, know it to be true of themselves, that they have heard the Word of God for many years together, and yet, to this day, will not do it. I judge no man, but leave every one to the judgment of God, and of his own conscience. But I desire you all to consider what the Judge John 13.17. of the whole world saith, "If ye know these things, happy are

ye if ye do them." Whereby He hath assured you, that your hearing or knowing your duty will never make you happy unless you do it, but it will rather aggravate your sin James 4.17. and misery; for "to him that knoweth to do good, and doth

it not, to him it is sin." He doth not only sin, by not doing good, but he sins also by knowing how to do it and yet not doing it; and so is guilty of a double sin, one in neglecting his duty, as it is commanded by God, and another in neglecting it, although he himself knows it to be his duty; and by consequence, he sins both against God and his own conscience too, and will fare accordingly in the other world; where it will be more tolerable for those that never heard of the Word of God, than for such as heard it, and yet refused to conform their faith and actions to it.

When I seriously reflect upon these things, I cannot but dread to think of the sad account that many of us will have to give at the last day, and heartily wish that I may be an instrument in God's hand, to bring them to a better mind; that, for the future, they may "be doers of the word, and Jam. 1. 22. not hearers only, deceiving their own souls;" that they may not be hearing and hearing all their life long, and all in vain and to no purpose; like those who are always running in a race, and yet never get the prize; but that they may "so run as to obtain," as the Apostle here adviseth, or rather Almighty God, by him, commandeth all men to do.

For here, we may first observe, He speaks to all indifferently, whatsoever state or condition they are in as to this world, high or low, rich or poor; as all are capable of it, so He would have all run, so as to obtain the crown, the "incorruptible crown," as He calls it in the next verse, even eternal life and glory in the world to come. This is offered in the Gospel unto all; so that all may have it that will but take the care and pains they ought for it; which the Apostle expresseth by running for it, in allusion to the Isthmian games, where men used to run races for a certain prize which was set before them: which kind of races being usually run near Corinth, the inhabitants of that city could not but be thoroughly acquainted with all things relating to them; and therefore the Apostle, writing to them, saith, "Know ye not that they which run in a race, run all, but one receiveth the prize?" and then adds, "So run that ye may obtain." He takes it for granted, that they knew, that how many soever ran in those races, only one obtained the prize: but in this. He would have all run so as to obtain it: this being such a prize, that not only one but all may have it, that will but run aright for it; for God is no respecter of persons, He "would have all men to be saved, and come 1 Tim. 2. 4. to the knowledge of the truth;" and accordingly, "He so John 3. 16. loved the world, that He gave His Only-begotten Son, that whosoever believeth in Him should not perish, but have everlasting life;" He excepts against no man, nor, by consequence, against any one here present; but every one of you may as certainly be a glorified Saint hereafter in Heaven, as he is now in this place, if it be not his own fault; God permits, He invites, nay, He commands you all to run so as to obtain eternal life; and therefore, if any of you miss of it, they must blame themselves for it: and so

Col. 1, 12.

serm. they will when it is too late; they will blank they will when it is too late; they will blank they be lose such all eternity for being such fools and madmen as to lose such a glorious prize, which once they might have had but would not: the remembrance whereof will be a great aggravation of the misery that you will then suffer by your own default.

This is a thing much to be observed, and I wish you would always carry it in your minds, even, that whatsoever your outward condition may be at present, you are all, as yet, in a capacity of obtaining the crown of glory. This prize is set before you all, and you are all, and every one, required to run so as to obtain it.

But then you must observe withal, that you must run for it, or else you can never have it. No prize was ever gotten by sitting still and doing nothing; much less this, the greatest that ever was or ever can be offered to the world. You must not think that it will drop into your mouths while you are asleep, or be forced upon you whether you will or No: there is a great deal to be done before we can be "meet to be partakers of the inheritance of the saints in light," a great deal more than men commonly think of; who, when they have spent their whole life in nothing else but eating, and drinking, and sleeping, or else in getting money, and perhaps using unlawful means to get it, yet after all hope to go to Heaven when they die. But what ground can they have to hope for it? None, certainly; no more than a man hath to expect the prize that other people run for, although he himself never runs at all, but stands stock still all the while; such a one, be sure, can never get it: and therefore the Apostle here adviseth all to run, that have any mind to obtain it.

And more than that too, he adviseth them not only to run. but to "run so as to obtain:" whereby he puts them in mind, that they may run so as not to obtain: and so, verily, many do; as our Lord and Master also Himself hath taught Luke 13.24. us, saying, "Strive to enter in at the strait gate: for many, I say unto you, will seek to enter in, and shall not be able." But lest we should mistake His meaning, He Himself explains it in the following words, saying, "When once the master of the house is risen up, and hath shut to the door, and ye begin to stand without, and to knock at the door,

Digitized by Google

saying, Lord, Lord, open unto us: and He shall answer and say unto you, I know you not whence you are: Then shall ye begin to say, We have eaten and drunk in Thy presence, and Thou hast taught in our streets. But He shall say, I tell you, I know you not whence ye are; depart from Me, all ye workers of iniquity." These words are the more to be observed, because they were spoken by Him Who alone hath power to take in or shut out of Heaven whom He pleaseth; and He spake them of Himself, as the Master of the house which He hath prepared in the other world for those who love and honour Him in this: and therefore must needs know whom He will and whom He will not admit into it. And here He represents Himself sitting, as He doth, at the right hand of the Father, and receiving into His heavenly house all that He knows to be His faithful friends and disciples, and as such are fit to dwell there. When they are all come in, He riseth up and shuts the door, that no more may enter; but notwithstanding that, many other come, hoping to get in, but the door being now shut, they are forced to stand without and knock, and beg to be admitted, crying, "Lord, Lord, open unto us." And He from within, protesting that He doth not know them, they begin to argue the case with Him, saying, "We have eaten and drunk in thy presence, and Thou hast taught in our streets." As if they should say, We have professed Thy religion, we have conversed with Thee in Thine ordinances, we have eaten and drunk at Thy table, we have been taught Thy holy Word, and have heard it, as commonly as if it had been preached in our streets. How confident are these people that they should get to Heaven! But what saith our Lord to them? "I tell you, I know you not whence ye are; depart from Me, all ye workers of iniquity." Whereby He hath plainly forewarned you, that although you own Him for your Lord and Master, although you hear His Word every day in the year, although you receive the Sacrament of His Last Supper, although ye live and die in the outward profession of His religion: yet, after all, unless you live accordingly, ye shall never be admitted into Heaven. If ye continue in sin, if ye be workers of iniquity, whatsoever else ve be or do, it will all signify nothing; but ye

SERM.

must be undone and lost for ever. Nay, elsewhere He goes much farther, saying, "Many will say unto Me in that day, Lord, Lord, have not we prophesied in Thy Name? and in Thy Name cast out Devils? and in Thy Name done many wonderful works?" These are great works, indeed, and all done in the Name of Christ Himself: who can think but that these men shall be saved? They themselves may think

Matt. 7, 22, 80, but Christ doth not, for He will profess to them also, "I never knew you, depart from me, ye that work iniquity." From whence ye may see, that although ye call Him your Lord and Master, unless ye do the things that He hath commanded, He will not own you for His servants. Although ve prophesy in His Name, unless ye practise accordingly, ve must depart from Him: although in His Name ve cast the Devil out of other people, unless ye cast him out of yourselves also, ye must go into that everlasting fire that is prepared for the Devil and his angels: although ye work miracles in His Name, unless by it ye work righteousness too, ve cannot be saved.

ch. 7. 21.

Hark, what He Himself saith in the same place, " Not every one that saith unto Me, Lord, Lord, shall enter into the Kingdom of Heaven; but he that doeth the will of My Father which is in Heaven." How diligent soever therefore people are in seeking it, and how much soever they may do towards it, they can never enter into the Kingdom of Heaven, except they do the Will of God. You may be sure of it, for Christ Himself hath said it: and He said it on purpose that ye might take notice of it, and not expect that He should receive you into Heaven when ye die, unless ye walk in all His Commandments and Ordinances, while ye live. Without this, whatsoever course ye take, and how fast soever ye run, ye will not run so as to obtain: all your labour and pains will be lost, and to no purpose, for ve will still be in the number of those, who "seek to enter in, and shall not be able."

Luke 13. 24.]

> God grant that this may not be the case of many here present: from your presence here at this time, I cannot but in charity believe that ye all seek the Kingdom of God, and desire to walk in that narrow path that leads to it: and so many do, as well as you, and yet, after all, come short of

it. Such are they that separate themselves, thinking to go a new way to Heaven which none ever went before; such are they that follow not the light of God's Word, but that which they pretend to be within them, and so run just contrary to the course that God hath prescribed to them; such are they that do some things, but not all that is required of them; such are they that pray a little now and then, but do not make devotion their daily exercise and recreation: such are they who often hear the Word of God, but will never do it: such are they who come to the holy Sacrament when they have nothing else to do, but suffer any worldly business to keep them from it: such are they who set upon a religious and virtuous course of life for some time, and afterwards leave it off again; such are they who think to get to Heaven by the merits of Christ without doing what He hath commanded; and such are they who hope to get thither by their own merits without His. All these, and suchlike people, will seek to enter in, but shall not be able: they all run, but not so as to obtain. And I beseech you all to take heed that ve be not found in the number of them, that your prayers may not be lost, and your hearing of sermons turn to no account to you; that your possession of the true faith, and all your endeavours after Heaven, may not be cast away and come to nothing at long run; that ye may not labour in vain, but so as to attain the "end of your faith, even the [1 Pet.1.9.] Salvation of your souls;" or, as the Apostle here expresseth it, "that ye may run so as to obtain."

That the thing is possible, appears also from these very words; for the Apostle would never advise us to "run so as to obtain," if there was no way whereby we might certainly obtain what we run for; but the advice itself supposes and implies, that there is such a way as will infallibly bring us to the Kingdom of Heaven, if we hit upon it, and run as we ought in it. This he takes for granted; and it is no more than what he himself, and many thousands besides, have found true by their own experience. In all ages some have run so as to obtain the crown of glory, and are now actually possessed of it in the other world. And why may not we do so as well as they? Blessed be God, we, as yet, are as capable of it as they were, while they were upon earth; they

SERM. had the same corrupt nature to cleanse, the same enemies to grapple with, the same temptations to withstand, the same duties to perform, and all the same difficulties to press through, as we now have: and we have the same Saviour, the same Scriptures, the same promises, the same Sacraments, and all the same means of grace and Salvation, as they had: why, then, may not we run so as to obtain as well as they?

Nay, it is observable, that we not only may, but ought to do it: Almighty God Himself hath commanded it, and so hath made it our duty, not only to run, but to "run so as to obtain:" and therefore, in His Name, I beseech you all to do so. Do not content vourselves any longer with running on in a course of religious duties, with that carelessness and indifferency, which is so common in the world, as if it was no great matter how ye performed any duty, so that ye do but perform it at all. But do every thing that is required of you, with that intention of mind, that zeal, and earnestness of desire, that ye may attain the end of it; that ye may really love, and fear, and serve, and glorify God in the world, so that when ye go out of it, ye may live with Him and enjoy Him for ever; that ye may not run in vain, but so as to obtain eternal life.

But how we may do this, is the principal thing to be here considered. The Apostle here speaks only in general, "So run that ye may obtain," without telling us particularly how we must do it, or what course we must take while we are in this world, that we may be sure to live happily in the next. Which, therefore, I shall endeavour to search into and explain out of this Apostle's other writings, and the other Scriptures given by inspiration of God, Who alone can tell us what He would have us do that we may be saved. Which seeing the Apostle here expresseth, by our "running so that we may obtain," I shall keep as near as I can to the metaphor, which he, by the direction of God's Holy Spirit, useth, whereby to make this great work, the greatest we have to do in the world, plain and easy to all capacities.

First, therefore, we must know in general, that Jesus Christ is the only way whereby it is possible for any man to go to God, to get His love and favour, wherein all truc happiness consisteth. "I," saith He, "am the Way, the John 14.6. Truth, and the Life; no man cometh unto the Father, but by Me." Whatsoever high conceits we may have of ourselves, be sure the Most High God is infinitely above us, "dwelling in the light which no man can approach unto; 1 Tim. 6.16. Whom no man hath seen, nor can see." Though He be always with us, and it is in Him "we live and move, and [Acts 17. have our being;" yet we cannot so much as see Him, much 28.] less can we, at least in our corrupt estate, have any access unto Him, so as to find any grace and favour in His sight, without a mediator, or some middle person between Him and us, by whom we may go up and make our addresses to Him; but there is only "one Mediator between God and 1 Tim. 2. 5. men, the Man Christ Jesus." But He being both God and Man in one Person, by laying hold on Him, as man, we may lift ourselves to God, and get into His favour again, as much as if we had never lost it, and so obtain everlasting life and Salvation: but there is no way possible for any mortal man to do this but only by Jesus Christ. Whereas He, as the Apostle saith, is therefore "able to save Heb. 7. 25. them to the uttermost that come unto God by Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them."

As ever, therefore, we desire to be saved, we must go unto God by Christ, believing and trusting on Him to make our reconciliation with the Father. And if we do that, He both can and will save us to the uttermost, in that He is our Mediator and Advocate with the Father, continually interceding with Him to receive us again into His favour by virtue of that great propitiation which He made for us when He was upon earth. So that by Him we may all run so as to obtain eternal Salvation.

For this purpose, therefore, your first care must be "to 3 John 4. walk in truth," as St. John speaks; in that truth which Jesus Christ, Who is truth itself, hath made known to you, without going aside into the by-paths of error and heresy. You must, "from henceforth be no more children, tossed to Eph. 4. 14. and fro, and carried about with every wind of doctrine, by the sleight of men, and cunning craftiness, whereby they lie in wait to deceive," in this age, as much, if not much more, than ever. But ye must keep close to the truth, as it is in

SERM. Jesus, firmly believing whatsoever He hath revealed, Who, being our Saviour, would never have revealed it, but that it is necessary for you to believe it upon His word, in order to your being saved by Him. Unless ye therefore run this way, ye can never obtain.

Nor this way neither, unless ye run also in the way of God's Commandments; doing what Christ your Saviour hath commanded, as well as believing what He hath revealed to you; for as the Apoetle saith "If a man strive

- 2 Tim. 2. 5. vealed to you; for, as the Apostle saith, "If a man strive for masteries, yet is he not crowned, except he strive lawfully." As if a man runs a race, although he keeps all the while in the right way, yet he is not to have the prize unless he observe all the laws and rules prescribed for it. So must you in your Christian race; you must keep within the bounds which Christ hath set you, and do every thing which He requires, in order to your obtaining the crown which He hath promised to those who do so, and to none else. All others will run in vain, and, instead of getting the crown, will come off, at last, with shame and disgrace. But, as
- Ps. 119. 6. David observed, "Then shall I not be ashamed, when I have respect unto all Thy Commandments." As Zacharias Luke 1. 6. and Elizabeth "walked in all the Commandments and Ordinances of the Lord blameless:" and therefore were

Ordinances of the Lord blameless;" and therefore were accounted righteous before God, and so obtained the crown.

But how can we do this? We that cannot so much as [2Cor.3.5.] "think any thing of ourselves," how can we be able to walk in all the Commandments of God blameless? To that I answer, that the thing is possible, we cannot doubt, seeing others have done it before us: and why may not we do it as well as they? But how did they do it? That appears from the text itself; they walked "in all the Commandments and Ordinances of the Lord:" they did not, they could not, do one without the other. They could not have walked in all the Commandments, except they had walked also in all the Ordinances; but by walking in the Ordinances, they walked likewise in all the Commandments, that being the means whereby they did it; for the Ordinances were such positive precepts, which God had then enjoined them to observe about their sacrifices and other

rites and ceremonies, typifying and foreshewing the death and intercession of Christ, and so to exercise their faith in Him, and by that means to receive grace and power from Him to walk in all the Commandments contained in the Moral Law, as they did, blameless. And if we would run so as to obtain the crown which they have now got upon their heads, we must take the same course: for it is certain, that without the grace and strength of Christ we cannot make one true step towards it. Let us hear what He Himself saith to His Disciples, "I am the vine, ye are the branches; he that John 15. 5. abideth in Me, and I in him, the same bringeth forth much fruit; for without Me ye can do nothing." Whereby we are assured, that without Him we can no more do good than a branch that is cut off from the vine can bring forth fruit: that is, we can do none at all. But as a branch that abides in the vine, and partakes of the juice and sap, bringeth forth much fruit; so, if we, by faith, abide in Christ, and partake of His grace and Spirit, we shall do much good, all that is required of us; "I can do all things," saith the Apostle, "through Christ Phil. 4. 13. Which strengtheneth me." And, therefore, when the same Apostle was troubled with a "thorn in the flesh," which hindered him in running the race that was set before him, he applied himself to Christ to take it out; Who gave him this gracious answer, "My grace is sufficient for thee: for My 2 Cor. 12.9. strength is made perfect in weakness;" which, doubtless, was written for our learning, that we may know where our strength lies; not in ourselves, but in Christ our Head. In Him we have both "righteousness and strength;" strength to do what Isa. 45. 24. God commands, and righteousness to make it acceptable to Him when it is done. Insomuch, that how weak soever we are in ourselves, and unable to walk in the way of God's Commandments, yet if we do but live with a constant trust and dependence upon Christ for it, He will carry us through the whole race, and enable us to run so as to obtain. Which, therefore, that we may do, in every step we take we must still be "looking up to Jesus the Author and Finisher of Heb. 12. 2. our faith;" and strictly observe the rule laid down by the Apostle, "Whatsoever ye do in word or deed, do all in the Col. 3, 17. Name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks to God and the Father by Him." By this means we may "walk in all the

SERM.

Commandments of the Lord," so that in Him we shall be eccounted blameless.

But that we may receive this power and strength from Christ, to "walk in all the Commandments of the Lord," we must walk also in all His Ordinances, those which He hath ordained in His Gospel, to be the way that leads to Him: such are fasting and watching, public and private prayers, hearing God's Holy Word read and explained, praising His most glorious Name, and receiving the Sacrament of His most blessed Body and Blood. These are all the Ordinances appointed in the New Testament, instead of those many which were ordained in the Old: and unless we walk in these, in all these Ordinances of the Lord, we can never walk in all His Commandments, so as to be found blameless, and, by consequence, obtain the crown. These being those means of grace and Salvation, whereby we may receive Phil. 2, 12, grace from Christ to "work out our Salvation with fear and trembling." And unless we use the means, we can never attain the end. Herein, therefore, lies the great mystery of running our Christian race aright, so as to get the prize, even by using all such means, as by God's appointment tend to it, heartily and constantly.

Ye must first, I say, be sure to use them all, one as well as another: he that runs not through the whole course had as good stand still and not run at all. He that useth some of the means, and not all, will lose his end, as much as if he used none; for that cannot be attained by any one or more of them by themselves, but by all together, influencing and assisting one another. By fasting, or keeping our bodies under, our minds are kept in a right temper and disposition for this spiritual exercise: by watching, we are always intent upon it: by hearing the Word of God, we learn what to believe and do: by praying, we obtain grace to believe and do accordingly: by praising and magnifying the Name of God, our hearts are raised up and fixed upon Him: and, by receiving His body and blood, our souls are strengthened and refreshed, so as to be able to run with cheerfulness and alacrity through the whole race that He hath set us, till we come to the end of it. And therefore, if ye neglect any of these means, although you use the rest, ye can receive no

benefit from them, no more than as if ye used none at all; which is a thing I would desire you always to remember, that ye may not think to get to Heaven, by doing only some things, unless ye do all that is required of you, in order to it.

You have great cause to thank God that ye live in a Church where all the means of grace are duly administered to you. Have a care that ye do not lose the benefit of them by your neglect and carelessness: but take all opportunities ye can get to use and improve them all, and every one, to your eternal advantage. Do not take up, as most do, with any one or more of them, but exercise yourselves sometimes in one, sometimes in another, as they are administered, so as to run through them all. This is the way to obtain true grace and virtue, and, by consequence, the crown annexed to it.

But, for that end, whatsoever ye do, "ye must do it with [Eccles. 9. all your might:" when ye are at your private devotions, ye 10.] must pray as earnestly as if your life depended upon it; for so it doth, your spiritual and your eternal life. When ye come to Church, ye must lay all other business aside, and mind nothing but the business ye come thither about, even to serve and worship God, the Master of the house, the Lord and Governor of the whole world: ye must not stand looking about and complimenting with one another, nor suffer so much as your thoughts to be running after your worldly affairs, nor any thing but the work you are there engaged in, the greatest, the highest, and the hardest work ve have to do in the world. All the while that ye are upon your knees in prayer to God, keep your minds wholly fixed upon Him you are praying to, upon the mercies you are praying for, and upon your Advocate in Heaven, in Whose Name ye pray, and for Whose sake only your prayers are heard and granted. While ye are singing psalms or hymns and praises to your Almighty Creator and continual Benefactor, be sure to observe the rule which the sweet singer of Israel hath set you, "Sing praises lustily unto Him with a good Ps. 33. 3. courage." While ye are hearing the Word of God, receive it not as the word of man, but as it is, in truth, the Word of God Himself, "which effectually worketh in them that be-1 Thes.2.13. lieve." All the while that ye are at our Lord's Table, consider where you are, in the most special presence of Christ



your Saviour; and look upon Him as in the midst of you, as He really is, and there communicating His blessed Body and Blood to preserve your souls and bodies to eternal life; and, accordingly, receive it by faith in His Word, that by John 6.56. eating His flesh, and drinking His blood, He dwells in you, and you in Him.

> If ye would heartily and earnestly apply your minds to the use of all the means of grace, and thus employ yourselves constantly in them, as ye have occasion, ye would find them to be indeed the means of grace to you, effectual to your obtaining the favour of God, and such gifts and graces of His Holy Spirit whereby ye shall be enabled to withstand the temptations of the world, the flesh, and the Devil, to keep all your passions in their due order, to love and honour God with all your hearts, to serve and worship Him with reverence and godly fear, and to walk in all His Commandments, as well as Ordinances blameless, all the days of your life, so as at length to go to Him, and live with Him for ever.

I add, all the days of your life, because without that all ve do will come to nothing. He that runs a race, unless he holds out to the end of it, can never get the prize. No more can ye, unless ye continue this your Christian course as long as ye live; for the crown is promised to none but such as do so: and therefore, if ye desire, in good earnest to have it, ye must follow the steps of the Apostle; how far soever ye have gone, ye must forget those things which are behind, and reaching forth to those things which are before you, ye Phil. 3. 14. must still "press towards the mark, for the prize of the high calling of God in Jesus Christ;" and never leave off till ye are got to it. This, this is the way, the only way to run so that we may obtain.

[John 6. Ğ0.]

And do not say, or think within yourselves, "This is a hard saying, who can bear it?" For how hard soever it be, it must be done, or you must be undone for ever. And why should ye think that hard which ye can all do, if ye will? That is all; be but willing, and you will soon be able to do all that ye have heard: for it is no more, nor so much as men commonly do for the things of this life, and all, because they are willing to do it. If ye were but as intent upon the other world as people generally are upon this, and as desirous of grace and glory everlasting as they are of temporal riches and honour, you would think nothing too hard to do for the attainment of it; but would do every thing that is required towards it with more ease and pleasure than ye can ever find in prosecuting any worldly design. Do but make trial of it for a while, and you will find it to be so by your own experience. They who never entered upon this Christian race, may dream of a thousand rubs and difficulties in it; but when ye are once got into it, and have exercised yourselves for some time in it, ye will feel it to be so plain, so smooth, so pleasant, that ye will never think that ye can run fast enough, and vet will never faint nor be weary, till ve come to the end of it: or, as the Scripture delights to speak, till you are gathered to your fathers, to the innumerable company of Saints, who while they were upon earth as you now are, ran so as to obtain the crown of glory in heaven.

"Wherefore," my beloved, "seeing we also are com- Heb. 12. 1, passed about with so great a cloud of witnesses, let us lay 2. aside every weight, and the sin which doth so easily beset us; and let us run with patience the race that is set before us; looking unto Jesus the Author and Finisher of our faith; Who for the joy that was set before Him endured the cross, despising the shame, and is [now] set down at the right hand of the throne of God," where He is preparing a place, a place of joy, and bliss, and glory, more than we can imagine, for all that run so as to obtain it.

Let us therefore now resolve, by His assistance, to run for it as others have done before, and some, we hope, are now doing: and why should not we do it as well as they? The prize is as free for us as it was for them. Let us therefore run with them, and strive which shall run fastest and surest, without stumbling, still keeping the prize in our eye, that inestimable prize, "the crown of righteousness," "the crown [2 Tim. 4. of glory," "the incorruptible crown," which the eternal Son [1]Pet. 5.4; of God hath purchased for us, with the price of His Own 1 Cor. 9. blood, and is always ready to set it upon the head of all that run as they ought for it.

Which God grant that we may all do, through Him Who liveth and reigneth with the Father and Holy Ghost, one God blessed for ever!



SERMON CXIX.

CHRIST THE WAY, THE TRUTH, AND THE LIFE.

JOHN xiv. 6.

Jesus saith unto him, I am the Way, and the Truth, and the Life: no man cometh unto the Father, but by Me.

SERM. CXIX.

It was a great privilege which the Jews had above all other people, that they had often prophets inspired and sent by God among them, to acquaint them with His will, and had always a certain way to know it upon any great occasion: for, if they did but go to the high-priest, he, putting on the breast-plate of judgment, by the Urim and Thummim in it, perfectly understood the mind of God in the business they came about, and accordingly gave his responses or answers to it. We have no such way of consulting Almighty God under the Gospel: and the reason is, because we have no need or occasion for it; for now God Himself, in the form and likeness of men, hath with His Own mouth revealed all things to us that are necessary for any man to know, and hath caused such His oracles, or Divine revelations, to be committed to writing, and left upon record, that all may freely consult them, and from thence be informed of His will and pleasure in all things, wherein any man can be under any obligation or necessity to know it. So that, if there be any doubt, scruple, or difficulty, which cannot be resolved from something that is there said and delivered to us by God Himself, we may certainly conclude that it is God's Will that we should not trouble our heads about it: for He, be sure, Who came into the world on purpose to make and to shew us the way to happiness and Salvation, hath told us all

things that He would have us to know, in order to our obtaining of it. And therefore what He hath not told us, we may be confident it is no matter whether we know it or no: and that he would have us lay aside all such impertinent and unnecessary questions which He hath not seen good to determine, and to apply ourselves wholly to the study of such great truths as He hath revealed to us, and to take them upon His Word: looking upon that as the answer of God to all such questions which we are any way concerned to be resolved in. And if we thus consult His oracles upon any such question, we may there find as clear and certain solution of it as the thing is capable of.

As for example, the chief thing that we all ought to inquire after is, the way whereby we may go to Him that made us, so as to have His love and favour, in which our life and happiness consisteth. This is that which Moses, when he had the nearest access that ever mortal had to God, desired to know of Him, saying, "I pray Thee, if I have found Exod. 33. grace in Thy sight, shew me Thy way, that I may know 13. Thee, that I may find grace in Thy sight;" where he plainly desired to know the way which God had appointed, whereby men might come to the right knowledge of Him, and find grace and favour with Him. Which he afterwards expressed by saying, "I beseech Thee, shew me Thy glory;" ver. 18. this being the way whereby God designed to manifest the glory of His grace and truth to mankind: in answer to which request the Lord said to him, "I will make all ver. 19. My goodness pass before thee, and I will proclaim the Name of the Lord before thee." And, accordingly, "The Lord Exod. 34. passed by before him, and proclaimed, the Lord, the Lord 6, 7. God, merciful and gracious, long-suffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity, and transgression, and sin, and that will by no means clear the guilty; visiting the iniquity of the fathers upon the children, and upon the children's children, unto the third and fourth generation;" which words being so solemnly proclaimed by Almighty God Himself, there must needs be more in them than what is commonly thought of. To me the whole mystery of the Gospel seems to be contained in them, the wonderful way which God

SERM. hath made for the reconciling Himself unto mankind, by

CXIX. His Son Jesus Christ. It is in Him that God hath promised to be gracious and merciful to them. It is in Him [2 Cor. 1. that all such "promises are Yea and Amen." It is in Him, 20.]
John 1. 17. that He is "abundant in goodness and truth; for goodness or grace and truth came by Jesus Christ." It is in Him that God forgives iniquity, and transgression, and sin; and yet by no means clears the guilty, or rather, will not suffer sin to go altogether unpunished: for He hath laid the punishment of it upon Him; visiting the iniquities of mankind upon His Son, as he visiteth "the iniquities of the fathers upon their children, and their children's children, unto the third and fourth generation," even in the highest manner that could be, so as to have full and complete satisfaction made unto Him for them. Thus God shewed Moses His way how to find grace in His sight, even by Christ the Saviour of the world, according to the request that Moses had made to Him: and thus David prayed to God, that His "way might be known upon earth, and His saving health," or as the word signifies, "His Salvation unto all people." Even that way, whereby they might all be saved, by Christ, the promised seed, who is our only

Ps. 67. 2.

Saviour, for there is "no Salvation in any other." But He is Luke 2. 30. not only our Saviour but Salvation itself.

Thus even in the Old Testament God was pleased to shew men the way of Salvation, at least so much of it, as rendered them inexcusable unless they walked in it. But in the New, it is made as plain as words can make it; so that if we do but consult the oracles of God, which are there recorded, we cannot miss of it, but may have it from His Own infallible Word, how we may come to Him so as to be eternally happy in Him. This he hath there often told us with His Own Divine mouth: particularly in my text, where the Eternal God our Saviour expressly saith, " I am the Way, the Truth, and the Life: no man cometh unto the Father but by Me."

The occasion of His uttering this Divine sentence, was this: He being now to leave this world, lest His Disciples should be overwhelmed with too much grief and sorrow for His departure from them, He acquainted them that He was only going home to His Father's house, and that He went thither to prepare a place for them, and all that should believe in Him. And that afterwards He would come again and receive them to Himself, to live with Him for ever. John 14.1-3. When He had said this, taking it for granted that they all understood Him, He adds, "And whither I go ve know, ver. 4. and the way ye know." But St. Thomas, one of the twelve, not apprehending His meaning aright, said, "Lord, we ver. 5. know not whither Thou goest, and how can we know the way?" Upon which our blessed Saviour, according to His usual way of replying to any thing which was said to Him, so as to utter something at the same time that should not be only pertinent to that particular purpose, but likewise of universal consequence, and necessary for all mankind to know: He took occasion to utter this Divine oracle. " I am the Way, the Truth, and the Life; no man cometh unto the Father but by Me." Whereby He certified both that Apostle and all other men, not only whither He was going, even unto the Father, but likewise of the way whereby they may go after Him, so as at last to come unto Him, even by Himself. And the better to assure them of it. He doth not only say, "I am the Way," but adds, "I am the Truth, and the Life." That is, the true and living Way in the highest manner that can be, in the very abstract, the truth and the life itself; so that we may certainly depend upon Him as the Way unto the Father, seeing He is the Truth, and not doubt but He can carry us through that Way, and bring us to the end of it, seeing He is the Life too, and so can quicken, actuate, and enable us to walk in that Way without fainting or stumbling. And that we may know that He is not only the Way, but the only Way, He adds, "No man cometh unto the Father but by Me."

But that we may both fully understand and be duly affected with this great truth, uttered by Him Who is the Truth itself, it will be necessary to consider what He means by coming to the Father, and how He Himself is the Way, and the only Way, so that "no man cometh to the Father but" by Him, and that by Him any man may come unto the Father.

SERM. CXIX. Who is here meant by the Father we all know, even the Most High God, the Father Almighty, Maker of Heaven and earth, Whom our Lord Jesus Christ, being His Onlybegotten Son, usually calls His Father, and in general the Father, as in my text: where coming to the Father by Him,

Heb. 7. 25. is the same which elsewhere is expressed by "coming unto God by Him." But what it is for men to come to God, is not so easy to be understood.

For He, Whom we call God, is an immense, infinite, 1Tim, 6, 16, eternal, incomprehensible Being, "dwelling in that light which no man can approach unto, Whom no man hath seen, nor can see." How then can any man ever come to Him? We little worms that creep and crawl upon the surface of the earth, how can we come to Him that made both Heaven [1 Kings 8. and earth? to Him whose glory the "Heaven of Heavens is 27.] not able to contain?" We, who cannot get up so far as to the sun or moon, or any of the stars, how can we ever come at Him. Who created and upholds them all by the power of His word, and is infinitely more above them, than they are above us? Our very thoughts, at their utmost stretch, at the greatest height they are able to ascend, are so far from reaching Him, that we cannot think aright of Him, but as of one that is infinitely above the highest of our thoughts. How then can we come to Him? or so much as think what it is to do so? Especially seeing that we are not only finite. and, as such, infinitely below Him, but are likewise corrupted and defiled, and, as such, directly contrary to Him. He is a most pure, just, and holy Act, Purity, Justice, Holiness itself: we are all impure, unrighteous and sinful creatures: how then can we approach to Him? We that are rotten stubble, how can we come near Him that is "a con-[Heb. 12. 29.1 suming fire?" We could never have thought it possible, if He Himself had not told us it is. And now He hath told us of it, we could never have understood what He means by our

coming unto Him, unless He Himself had explained it to us; but now He hath made it plain and easy to us, by acquainting us how we may do it, even by Jesus Christ, Who being the only Way whereby we can come unto the Father, we can never understand what it is to come unto the Father any

Digitized by Google

other way than by considering, how we may do it by Him Who here saith, "I am the Way, and the Truth, and the Life: no man cometh to the Father but by Me."

1. First, therefore, it is by Jesus Christ, and Him only, that any man can come to the knowledge of God the Father: though we have still, even in our corrupt estate, some general and confused notions of such a Being presiding over the world: yet we could never have known what He is. or what we ought to believe concerning Him, if Jesus Christ had not revealed Him to us; as but too plainly appears, for those in the East and West Indies, who never had His revelations any way imparted to them before Christians came among them, what unaccountable and absurd notions had they of God! What strange and ridiculous resemblances did they make of Him! Some making Him like one thing, some like another; some representing Him under the finest, others under the ugliest shape they could think of: and all imagining Him like something or other which they could see. The same was the case also of the old heathen, and of all mankind, that never had any other knowledge of God than what corrupt nature, or their own natural reason, suggested to them; though they "knew God," or that there was such a Being in the world, yet they did not "glorify Rom. 1.21-Him as God, neither were thankful; but became vain in 23. their imaginations, and their foolish heart was darkened: professing themselves to be wise they became fools, and changed the glory of the uncorruptible God into an image made like to corruptible man, and to birds, and four-footed beasts, and creeping things."

It is from such as these that we must gather what to think of that natural religion which is so much cried up by some in our days, in opposition to the revealed: whatsoever they may pretend, there is nothing of true religion in it; forasmuch as mankind, by nature, have no true knowledge of the God they ought to worship, much less can they perform such worship to Him which may be properly called religion: for nothing that men do can be truly called the worshipping of God, unless it be done according to His will. But how can they know that, unless He Himself hath revealed it to them? Hence it is, that they who do not

SERM. CXIX.

[Eph. 2. 12.]

[Ps. 119. 18.] believe that God hath revealed Himself and His will to mankind, as well as they who never heard of any such revelations, they all live as "without God in the world:" and so would all mankind have always lived, but for Jesus Christ our Lord.

But Jesus Christ our Lord hath made known all that is necessary, or indeed possible for mankind in this imperfect state to know, concerning God and the Father: this He

done it in His Own Person, and by His Evangelists and Apostles in the New Testament. And that we may be sure it is He, and He alone, that hath done it, He Himself hath

Matt.11.27. assured us of it with His Own mouth, saying, "No man knoweth the Son, but the Father; neither knoweth any man the Father save the Son, and he to whomsoever the Son will reveal Him." And by His Evangelist, saying,

John 1. 18. "No man hath seen God at any time; the Only-begotten Son, which is in the bosom of the Father, He hath declared Him." He Who alone could do it, as being the Only-begotten of the Father, of the same form or nature with Him, He hath declared, He hath revealed all that we need to know or believe concerning God, to our serving Him in this world, and to our enjoyment of Him in the next: and Mal. 4. 2. therefore He is properly called the "Sun of Righteousness:"

John S. 12; and "the Light of the World;" "the true Light that ch. 9. 5: ch. 1. 9. lighteth every man that cometh into the world." It being only by Him that any man can see God, or any thing relating to the other world, as it is by the light of the sun that we see the things of the world.

And as the light of the sun hath always heat and vigour going along with it, so hath the light of the glorious Gospel of Christ: it hath so much power and efficacy, that He, by it, doth not only enlighten the medium, but the eye, the eye of our minds, that we may see the wondrous things that are written in the Law of God: as He opened His Apostles'

Luke 24.45. "understandings, that they might understand the Scrip-Acts 16. 14. tures;" and Lydia's heart, so that she "attended to the things which were spoken of." So if we consult the oracles of Christ, and keep our eye fixed upon Him, He will not only shew us what we ought to believe and know of God,

but likewise open our hearts to receive and digest it; so that our whole souls shall be overspread with a quick sense and feeling of it. I do not say that we shall be able to comprehend His Divine Nature and Properties, so as to form any clear ideas or notions of Him in our brains, as He is in Himself; for that is impossible for us mortals to do, who have no capacities for it. And therefore they who pretend to it, or attempt it, are guilty of high presumption, and betray their pride and folly as much, nay more than, as if they should endeavour to grasp the whole heavens within the palms of their hands. Be sure they have no true knowledge of God; for they know not so much of Him as that He is incomprehensible, and infinitely beyond the reach of their finite understandings: whereas the knowledge of God, which we are taught by Jesus Christ in His Holy Word, is quite of another nature. It consists not in having ideas and speculations of Him in our heads; but in having such a quick and lively sense of Him in our hearts, that our whole souls are filled with admiration and love, and fear of His Divine perfections, so that we "taste the good Word of Heb. 6. 5. God, and the powers of the world to come;" and know so as to taste, that the "Lord is gracious;" feeling ourselves 1 Pet. 2. 3. touched to the quick, and strangely affected with His glory, power, and goodness, beyond what we ourselves are able to conceive, much less express to other people.

Thus, therefore, Christ is the way to know God effectually; to know that He is Jehovah, Being itself, existing in and of Himself, and giving existence to all things else: that the Father, the Son, and the Holy Ghost, these three, are this one Jehovah: that He is "from everlasting to everlasting, God blessed for ever:" that He is every where, knows all things, and can do what He will: that he made all things by the Word of His Power, and still upholds and governs all things according to the pleasure of His Will: that a sparrow cannot fall to the ground without Him, and that the very hairs of every man's head are numbered by Him: that He is the "Lord of Sabaoth, the Lord of Heaven and Earth," the Lord God Omnipotent, that reigns and rules over the whole world, and doth whatsoever He pleaseth in it: that He is the chief, the only good in the world, in

Whose favour is life, in Whose "presence there is fulness of [Ps.16.12.] joy, and at Whose right hand there are pleasures for evermore." All this, and far more than I am able to express, we may all know of God by His Son, Who hath revealed Him to us, and still doth it in us, by His Spirit moving upon our souls, and imprinting what He had revealed upon our hearts; so that we may read it there also, and be accordingly But no man can ever attain to so much as affected with it. this, even to know God and the Father, unto Whom he should come, aright, any other way than by His Son Jesus Christ. And therefore no man, be sure, can come unto the Father but by Him.

> 2. But by Him we may come not only to the knowledge, but likewise into the favour of Almighty God, which is the main thing we come unto Him for; and that which seems chiefly designed by this phrase in my text: " No man cometh to the Father;" that is, no man cometh to Him, so as to get into His love and favour, by any other than by Me. And it is well that we can do it by Him, for we cannot imagine any other way how it is possible for us to do it. For what other way can we propose to ourselves, whereby

> we can possibly find any grace or favour in the sight of

God? God, as we have observed, is an Infinite, Almighty, Eternal Being, the Maker of Heaven and Earth, the Lord and Governor of the whole world: we, at the best, are a company of little creatures that were taken out of the earth, and must return to it again. How then can we expect that Ps. 8. 3, 4. He should have any regard to us? "When I consider the heavens, the work of Thy fingers, the moon and the stars, which Thou hast ordained; Lord, what is man, that Thou art mindful of him? and the son of man, that Thou visitest him." Especially if we consider withal, it was He that made us, and that made us for Himself, to serve and honour Him: but we have not done it, nor are capable of doing it of ourselves, having so far corrupted ourselves, that we are not fit for the work He made us for: and therefore are justly fallen under His displeasure, and never did, nor can do any one thing that is pleasing and acceptable in His sight: nothing but what provokes and incenseth Him more against us, in not answering the end for which He made us? How then can we look for

any kindness from Him? What can we do to deserve it? And to which of the Saints, to which of the Angels shall we go, to restore us to the favour of God? Others may think what they please; for my part, I cannot imagine how all the creatures in the world can do it. I know there are many holy, many glorious creatures in Heaven, but how holy, how glorious soever they are, they are still but creatures, and, as such, infinitely below God, as I myself am. can I go to God? What can I say to Him? How can I answer for what I have done to provoke Him? "He is not Job 9. 32. a man, as I am, that I should answer Him, and we should 33. come together in judgment. Neither is there any daysman (or umpire), betwixt us, that might lay his hand upon us both." No. certainly, though we had ransacked the whole creation, we could never have found one that could lay his hand both upon God and us, and so bring us together.

But, though we could not, God by His infinite wisdom and goodness hath found one; or rather He Himself hath raised up one on purpose to do it, even His Only-begotten Son Jesus Christ, Who being God from all eternity, of the same substance with the Father; and having in time taken upon Him the nature of man, by uniting it to His Own Divine person, and so being both God and man too; as God, He can lay His hand upon God; as man, He can lay it upon man; and so, as God-man, can bring them together, and make them at one again. But for that purpose, He being thus made flesh, He offered it up as a sacrifice for the sins of mankind, suffering that death, in their nature, which they themselves must otherwise have suffered, every one in his own person, for the offences which they had committed against God; and therefore He is called "the Lamb of John 1, 29. God, which taketh away the sin of the world," and said "to be a propitiation for our sins, and not for ours only, but 1 John 2. 2. for the sins of the whole world;" because in Him, and by virtue of that propitiatory sacrifice which He once offered for mankind, God is become propitious, merciful, and gracious to them, pardoning their offences, and receiving them again into His favour, "to the praise of the glory Eph. 1.6. of His grace, wherein He hath made us accepted in the Beloved."

SERM. CXIX. This, I confess, is a great mystery, such as could never have entered into the heart of man, unless God Himself had revealed it. But now that He hath revealed it, as we have all the ground and reason that can be to believe it, so the whole way of our coming unto God by Christ, is thereby made plain and easy to us; for though God being infinitely above us, it is impossible for us to come immediately at Him; yet He having taken upon Him our nature, so as to be God and man in the same person; by applying ourselves unto Him, as He is man, we come unto God too, the same person being both. So that it is, as He is man, that He is properly the Way whereby we come unto God: He being as such the Mediator between God and us, as His

- 17m.2.5,6. Apostle hath taught us, saying, "There is one God, and one Mediator between God and men, the man Christ Jesus, having given Himself a ransom for all," as it is in the original. As He is the man Christ Jesus, He is the Mediator between God and man, and executes that office effectually by means of the ransom that He hath given for all men; so that any man may now go unto God, though not immediately, yet by this one Mediator between God and him.
- 1John 2.1,2. To the same purpose is that of St. John, "If any man sin (as we all have), we have an Advocate with the Father, Jesus Christ the Righteous, and He is the propitiation for our sins; and not for ours only, but also for the sins of the whole world;" because He is the propitiation for our sins, by offering up Himself as man, in our stead, He is therefore our Advocate with the Father, mediating or interceding between Him and us, that our sins, whereby we have offended Him, being forgiven, we may be received again into His grace and favour. And therefore, as He being the only Mediator between God and man, no man can come unto God, or the Father, as He Himself hath said, but only by Him: so there is no man but by Him may come unto the Father; for if we first go to Him, He presents us to the Father Who is graciously pleased to accept of us for His sake, Who brings us to Him, and upon the account of that Mediation which He maketh for us.
 - 3. But how doth He present us? Not in our corrupt and sinful state, not such as we are by nature, but upon our re-

pentance and faith in Him. He first washeth us from our sins in His Own blood, purgeth our consciences from "dead [Heb. 9. works." and purifieth us to Himself a "peculiar people," [Tt. 2, 14.] real and sound members of His Own body, the Church: and then He presents us, as such, unto God. This He Himself hath taught us, by His Apostle, saying, "Husbands, Eph. 5. 25love your wives, even as Christ also loved the Church, and 27. gave Himself for it; that He might sanctify and cleanse it with the washing of water by the Word; that He might present it to Himself a glorious Church, not having spot, or wrinkle, or any such thing, but that it should be holy and without blemish." These words are much to be observed in this case, because they clearly shew how Christ, as man, presents us to Himself as God, and so how we come unto the Father by Him; for here we see, that He having given Himself for us, and so redeemed us to Himself, He first sanctifies and cleanseth, and then presents us without spot. or wrinkle, or any thing that may be offensive to God, and provoke Him to reject us; but that we may appear in His sight holy and without blemish, though not as we are in ourselves, yet as we are "members of His body, of His ver. 30. flesh, and of His bones," as it follows in the text; "As we are joined to Him," as a wife to her husband, and so are under His covert, and endowed with His righteousness, as a wife is with her husband's estate and honour. For by this means, as the same Apostle elsewhere expresseth it, we are "found in Him, not having our own Phil. 3. 9. righteousness, which is of the Law, but that which is through the faith of Christ, the righteousness which is of God by faith." So that being found in Him, members of His body. besides our own righteousness, which is imperfect, we have another righteousness, the righteousness of God Himself; which being absolutely perfect, by that we appear and are accounted righteous before God, and He is pleased to accept of us, as such, in His Son, who presents us to Him, as being united to Himself by faith, and therefore interested in His merits and righteousness aforesaid.

Thus, although we "were sometime alienated and ene-col. 1. 21, mies in our minds by wicked works, yet Christ hath now 22. reconciled us unto God, in the body of His flesh through

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXIX.

Eph. 2. 13, 14. ver. 18.

death, to present us holy and unblamable and unreprovable in His sight;" so that "now in Christ Jesus, we who sometimes were far off, are made nigh by the blood of Christ, Who is our peace;" and "through Him we, both" Jews and Gentiles, even all true believers, "have access by one Spirit unto the Father." For all the sound members of Christ being led by one and the same Spirit, that which proceeds from Him their Head, by that they have access, and so come by Him unto the Father; that is, unto Almighty God, who now looking upon them as righteous in His Son, is so far reconciled to them that He is become their Father; and they accordingly come unto Him as such. And that may be the reason wherefore our Saviour in my text doth not say, "No man cometh unto God," but, "No man cometh unto the Father but by Me," to shew, that by Him we do not go unto God, as He is in Himself, but as He is the Father, the Father of Him our Lord Christ, and in Him our God and our Father: Who therefore commands us also to address ourselves unto God, always under that relation, as He is our Father which is in Heaven.

1 John 3. 1. But, "Behold" here "what manner of love the Father hath bestowed upon us, that we should be called the sons of [Eph. 3. God." What cause have we to admire the "height, the depth, the breadth, the length of" this Divine love? But how came we into so near a relation to the most High God? Only by His Son Jesus Christ. It is He who gives

John 1.12. this power to those who receive and believe on Him, "to become the sons of God," and so to come unto God as their Father; as One who hath a special love and kindness for them above all the people upon earth; and will accordingly take care of them and bless them; defend them from all evil, and make all things work together for their good; provide all things necessary for them in this life, and then

1 Pet. 1. 4. bring them to their inheritance, "an inheritance incorruptible, undefiled, and that fadeth not away, reserved in Heaven for them."

For being thus brought into the favour of God by His Only-begotten Son, in Whom they believe, by Him they come at last to His Kingdom in Heaven, there to live with 1 Pet. 1. 9. Him, and enjoy Him for ever; and so "receive the end of

their faith, even the Salvation of their souls." To which there is no way possible for any man to come, but only by Jesus Christ; "for there is none other name under Heaven Acts 4. 12. given among men, whereby we must be saved." But "He Heb. 7. 25. is able to save them to the uttermost that come unto God by Him, seeing He ever liveth to make intercession for them."

These things I have endeavoured to make as plain as I could in so few words, both for your satisfaction and my own. There being nothing that we are more concerned to understand, than what we ought to believe and know concerning that invisible, Almighty Being, that made us and all the world; and how, notwithstanding our manifold provocations of Him, we may regain His favour, so as to be happy in Him for ever. Now, as we have seen, there is no way whereby it is possible for any man to do this, but only by Jesus Christ; according to what He Himself here saith. "No man cometh unto the Father, but by Me." And therefore, if any man seek it any other way, he will be so far from finding any favour with God, that he will find God more incensed against him, for offering to come unto Him. and seek His favour, any other way but that which He Himself hath made and prescribed for it. The consideration whereof makes me sometimes pity the sad estate of those who "deny the Lord that bought them," and so make [2 Pet. 2.1.] themselves incapable of all those blessings that He hath bought for them.

But that, I hope, is not the case of any here present; you being all taught of God that there is no way of coming thus unto Him, but only by His Only-begotten Son, your only Saviour and Advocate with Him; and therefore you must needs be solicitous to know what must be done on your parts, in order to it, or how you may come unto the Father by the Son.

First therefore, as ever ye desire to come unto the Father by the Son, ye must first come unto the Son, that is, ye must believe in Him, as He Himself hath taught us. Ye John 6.35. must believe, that He is the Only-begotten Son of God, begotten of the Father from all Eternity, so as to be One with the Father; and that in the fulness of Time the Father John 10.30. sent Him into the world, to reveal His will to mankind, to

SERM. CXIX. reconcile them to Himself, by dying in their stead, and so to be the Mediator between God and Man; and accordingly you must believe and trust on Him, on Him alone, to restore you to the favour and kingdom of God; and you must love and honour Him with all your hearts for it. He that doth not this, doth not come unto the Son, and there-

John 8.24. fore cannot come unto the Father by Him, but must "die in his sins;" but God hath that infinite love for his Son, that whosoever loveth and believeth in the Son, is, for that very

John 16.27. reason, beloved by the Father: "The Father Himself," saith He, "loveth you, because ye have loved Me, and have believed that I came out from God."

But then you must express this your faith and love unto John 14.15. the Son, by serving Him, and doing whatsoever He hath commanded. And, for that purpose, you must keep close

Col. 3. 17. to the rule laid down by the Apostle, "Whatsoever ye do in word or deed, do all in the Name of the Lord Jesus, giving thanks to God and the Father by Him;" that is, whatsoever ye do, do it in obedience to His commands, for His sake, trusting and believing in Him to direct and assist you in it, and to intercede with the Father to accept of it. This is to serve the Lord Christ indeed; and therefore,

1 Pet. 2 5. whatsoever is thus done, is acceptable to God through Him; and they who thus serve the Son are so highly in the favour of God the Father, that He honours them for it:

John 12. 26. "If any man serve Me," saith the Son, "him will my Father honour."

Especially in all your addresses unto God, for any grace or blessing you desire, ye must be sure to ask it only in the name of His Son Jesus; for ye who have so often offended God, would never have been capable of any favour from Him, unless His Son had merited it for you. And now He hath merited all ye can desire; ye have no ground to expect any thing, unless ye desire it in His Name and upon the account of His said merits, and the Mediation which, by virtue thereof, He maketh for you; but that way ye may come to God, so as to obtain any thing that is good for you; for ye John 16.23. have His Own Word for that, saying, "Whatsoever ye shall ask the Father in My name, He will give it you." And therefore in all your prayers, ye must not only make use of

Christ's Name, as we do in all our Collects, but ye must keep your minds and your faith fixed wholly upon Him, firmly believing, that God, for His sake, will grant whatsoever you ask that is really good for you, and then ye will be sure to have it, as sure as God's Word is true; so powerful is the Name of Christ with Almighty God. He is the Son of His love, with Whom He is well pleased, and in Whom He is therefore pleased with all those who come to Him in His Name: so that although no man can come unto Him any other way, yet any man may thus come unto the Father by the Son.

And we, as well as any other; let us, therefore, now resolve to do so; as ever we desire to go unto the Father, so as to be happy in the enjoyment of His love and favour, let us first go unto His Son the Lord Jesus, so as to become His Disciples indeed, believing and practising all that He hath taught us: and let none of us doubt but He will accept of us, seeing He hath said, "him that cometh to Me I will John 6.37. in no wise cast out." In humble confidence whereof, let us therefore, by a quick and lively faith, apply ourselves to Him, and take all opportunities that we can get, of waiting upon Him in His house, and at His holy table, that He may dwell in us, and we in Him; that believing and depending steadfastly upon Him, we may, by Him, get up and come to God the Father, so as to have Him to be our God, and our Father. How happy shall we then be! We shall then be "fellow-citizens with the Saints, and of the house-[Eph. 2. hold of God:" we shall then abide under the shadow of [9.] the Almighty, and have His "truth to be our shield and [Ps. 91. 4.] buckler;" "His grace will be always sufficient for us," and [2 Cor. 12. His Spirit ready to assist and direct us in all our ways. He 9.] " will never leave us nor forsake us," but guide us by His [Heb. 13. counsel, till He receive us into glory. So "that all things [Rom, 8. shall work together for our good," through the whole course 28.] of our pilgrimage upon earth, and then we shall come to God in Heaven, and there live with Him, behold Him, adore Him, and enjoy Him for ever: and all through Him, by Whom we come unto Him, even the ever blessed Jesus, our only Mediator and Advocate. To Him be glory now and for ever.

SERMON CXX.

CHRIST A SAVIOUR BEFORE HIS INCARNATION.

JOHN v. 17.

But Jesus answered them, My Father worketh hitherto, and I work.

SERM. CXX.

[Acts 10. 38.] When our blessed Saviour was upon earth, as never man spake as He spake, so never man did as He did: He "went about doing good," the best that could be done; and that too notwithstanding all the calumnies and reproaches that were cast upon Him for it; which were so far from discouraging Him, that He turned them also into opportunities of doing more good unto the world; for we never find the Jews saying any thing against Him, but He still took occasion from thence of saying something for the better instructing mankind in the knowledge of God, of Himself, and of the way that leads to life: as particularly in this place, our Saviour having cured a sick man (as He made the world) by the word of His mouth, only saying, "Rise, take up thy

Saviour having cured a sick man (as He made the world)

[John 5.8.] by the word of His mouth, only saying, "Rise, take up thy
bed and walk;" and this being done on the Sabbath-day, the
Jews began to rail against Him, and persecute Him as one
that had broken the Sabbath, the day on which God rested
from all His works, and commanded men to do so too. To
which our Saviour answers so as, at the same time, to reveal
several great truths, which were necessary for them and all
mankind to know. And He begins His answer with this
Divine Saying, "My Father worketh hitherto;" as if He
had said, Although God rested upon the seventh day, from
all His works which He had made, so as never to create or

produce any more species or kinds of things out of nothing, yet He still worketh in preserving, governing, and disposing all things that He hath made, and that too upon the Sabbath, as well as upon other days; for He did not appoint the Sabbath for Himself, but for you to observe, by resting from your own works, not from His. You are still bound to do good upon the Sabbath-day, as He doth every day alike: "He worketh," in the present tense, and therefore continually, in every moment of time, and He thus continually worketh hitherto, from the beginning of the world to this day.

This was a sufficient confutation of the Jewish cavil. Howsoever, He, out of His abundant goodness, took this opportunity of acquainting them with two very great and necessary truths: First, that God is His Father; "My Father," saith He, which He expressed so as that the Jews themselves understood (though the Arians could not), that He thereby "made Himself equal with God:" and secondly, John 5, 18, that He Himself worketh continually as the Father doth; "My Father," saith He, "worketh hitherto, and I work." Whereby He gives us to understand, not only that He, as the eternal Son and Wisdom of the Father, always worketh together with Him, and doth whatsoever the Father doth, ver. 19. but likewise that He continually worketh also as He is Jesus, the Saviour of the world: for, as such, He spake these words, "And Jesus answered them, My Father worketh hitherto, and I work." As if He had said, As My Father, the Creator and Governor of the world, hath been all along doing, and still doth, whatsoever He pleaseth in it, and whensoever He pleaseth to do it; so I, the Saviour of the world, I have always been, and still am working the Salvation of mankind, continually doing all such things as are necessary to my bringing those who believe in Me to Heaven.

The consideration of which great truth being of extraordinary use, both to the informing our judgments aright concerning our blessed Saviour, and to the confirming our faith in Him in order to our Salvation by Him, I shall by His assistance, endeavour to make it as plain and clear as I can unto you, by shewing that He hath all along, from the SERM. CXX. beginning of the world, and so before as well as after His Incarnation, been carrying on and accomplishing the great work of man's Salvation. And for that purpose shall, first, inquire into what grounds we have to believe this truth in general, even that Jesus Christ was the Saviour of mankind, before He actually took our nature upon Him: and then shall shew more particularly what He did all along for that end, that men might be saved by Him; and so how truly He said, "My Father worketh hitherto, and I work," which being things purely of Divine revelation, in speaking to them, I must confine myself to such arguments which are to be found in God's Own Word; that is not only the most certain, but the only certain ground we have whereupon to build any article of our Christian faith.

I. Now, in order to our proving that Jesus Christ was the Saviour of mankind before He actually took our nature upon Him, we must first suppose that some men were saved before that time. This we may well suppose, it being that which all that believe the Scriptures agree in; so that we need not insist upon the proving of it. But this being taken, as it must be, for granted, it necessarily follows, that Jesus Christ was then also the Saviour of the world, for there never was any "other way whereby men could be saved but by Him." This we are fully assured of by St. Peter, where, speaking of

Acts 4. 12. Christ, he saith, "Neither is there Salvation in any other: for there is none other name under Heaven given among men, whereby we must be saved;" which words are so plain and express, that I do not see how it is possible that this great truth should be more clearly revealed to us: for if there ever had been any other way whereby mankind could have been saved, there must have been Salvation in some other besides Christ, which the Apostle here expressly denies, as well he might; forasmuch as there is no way possible for men to be saved, unless Almighty God be first reconciled to them. But there is none could ever do that but only 1Tim. 2.5,6. Christ, for "there is one God," saith St. Paul, "and one

Mediator between God and men, the Man Christ Jesus, Who gave Himself a ransom for all;" from whence it appears, that as there is but one God, so there is but one Mediator between God and men, to make up all differences,

so as to reconcile God to men, and men to God, and that is no other but Jesus Christ, Who, for that purpose gave Himself a ransom for all; which He need not have done, if any could ever have been saved without Him.

And hence also it is that God. Who would have all men to be saved, was pleased to make known the Gospel, or glad tidings of Salvation by Christ unto the world, long before He Himself was born into it, yea, from the very beginning of it; which need not have been, if men could have been saved any other way. For this we have the testimony of the Apostle to the Hebrews, where speaking of those indefinitely that lived before Christ's incarnation, he saith, "For Heb. 4. 2. unto us was the Gospel preached as well as unto them; but the Word preached did not profit them, not being mixed with faith in them that heard it." For if the Gospel was preached unto us as well as unto them, it was preached unto them as well as unto us; and the only reason, it seems, why any of them were not saved, was, not because the Gospel was not sufficiently preached to them, but because they did not rightly believe it. To the same purpose is that of St. Peter: "For this cause was the Gospel preached also to them that 1 Pet. 4. 6. are dead, that they might be judged according to men in the flesh, but live according to God in the Spirit:" to them that are dead, that is, to those that were dead long before, as well as to such as were then alive, soon after our Lord's ascension: to them also was the Gospel preached, the same Gospel; for there is but one Gospel from the beginning to the end of the world: therefore called the "Everlasting Rev. 14. 6. Gospel;" and as St. Paul saith, "though we, or an Angel from Heaven, preach any other gospel than" what we have preached to you, "let him be accursed." Gal. 1.8.9.

Be sure the Apostles preached no other Gospel than that which had been preached before by the Prophets; St. Paul positively affirms, that he said "none other things than Acts 26. 22. those which the Prophets and Moses did say should come." And elsewhere he saith, εὐαγγελιζόμεθα, we preach unto you the Gospel, even the "promise made unto the fathers," that ch. 13. 32, "God hath fulfilled the same to us their children;" for so 33. the words should be rendered. It was the same Gospel, therefore, that both the Prophets and the Apostles preached.

SERM. What the Prophets declared to be promised by God, the CXX.

Apostles declare it to be fulfilled in Christ: but still the Gospel, or thing promised, was the same in both: and therefore the Apostles all along appealed to the Prophets, to confirm the truth of what they taught; and so did Christ John 5. 39. Himself. "Search the Scriptures," saith He, "for in them ye think ye have eternal life; and they are they which testify of Me." And after His resurrection He said to His Luke 24.44. Disciples, "These are the words which I spake unto you, while I was yet with you, that all things must be fulfilled, which were written in the Law of Moses, and in the Prophets, and in the Psalms, concerning Me;" where we

may observe, that He appeals to all the three parts of the Old Testament, as bearing witness to what He had said ver. 45-47. and done. And "then," it follows, "He opened their understanding, that they might understand the Scriptures, and said unto them, Thus it is written, and thus it behoved Christ to suffer, and to rise from the dead the third day; and that repentance and remission of sins should be preached in His Name among all nations, beginning at Jerusalem."

If our blessed Saviour would be pleased to open our un-

derstanding, as He did His Disciples' at that time, we also should understand the Scriptures of the Old Testament as they did, even so as to see all the great truths of the Gospel there also revealed and made known to mankind; and particularly that which He Himself here mentioneth, as the sum and substance of all the rest, even "that repentance and remission of sins should be preached in His Name among all nations." For what doth the Gospel promise more than the pardon of our sins when we have repented, and grace to repent of them, that they may be pardoned in Christ? Yet our Saviour here speaks of both these things as revealed Jer. 31. 33, and promised also in the Old Testament. And so verily they are both together. And very often apart; as for the Acts 10.43. pardon of our sins by Christ, "To Him," as St. Peter said, "give all the Prophets witness, that through His Name whosoever believeth in Him shall receive remission of sins." And it is a great mistake to think, as some have done, that God promised only temporal blessings under the Old Testament; for there is nothing more frequently promised

there than the assistance of God's grace and Holy Spirit to Isa. 59. 21; enable them to repent and turn to Him.

But to prove this, we need instance only in that famous Jer. 32, 39,

promise which God made to Abraham, saying, "In thee &c. Gen. 12.3: and in thy seed, shall all the nations of the earth be blessed." 22. 18. In which one promise, both grace and pardon, and all the blessings of the Gospel were comprehended: for St. Peter having quoted this promise to the Jews, the better to explain it to them, he immediately adds, "Unto you first God, Acts 3. 25, having raised up His Son Jesus, sent Him to bless you, in 26. turning away every one of you from his iniquities." This, therefore, was one of the great blessings designed in that promise: but St. Paul, having occasion to speak of Abraham. saith, "And the Scripture, foreseeing that God would justify Gal. 3. 8. the heathen through faith, preached before the Gospel unto Abraham, saying, In thee shall all nations be blessed." Where we plainly see, that pardon or justification by faith was all contained in this promise; and that when God made this promise, He thereby preached the Gospel to Abraham, the same Gospel which we now profess, and in which we hope to be justified by faith in Christ, of the seed

which, as the Apostle there saith, "was confirmed of God in ver. 16. 17. Christ;" and so indeed are all promises whatsoever, that God hath made to mankind: they were all made and all confirmed in Christ, according to that of the Apostle, "For 2 Cor. 1. 20. all the promises of God in Him are yea, and in Him amen." And therefore, not only that which God made to Abraham, but every other promise that He ever made to any man, supposed and implied Christ to be then in being, as a Saviour of mankind, and so was a kind of publishing or preaching His Gospel to the world.

of Abraham, according to the said promise or covenant;

To this we might add, that the Prophets themselves often speak of preaching the Gospel. The word they use for it is πως, which the Septuagint often translate by εὐαγγελίζεσθαι, the same word that is used in the New Testament for preaching the Gospel; and so it plainly signifies in several places, as Ps. xl. 9; Isa. xl. 9; xli. 27; lxi. 1. But I shall instance only in that of the Prophet Isaiah, "How beautiful Isa. 52. 7. upon the mountains are the feet of him that bringeth good

SERM. tidings, that publisheth peace; that bringeth good tidings of good, that publisheth Salvation; that saith unto Zion, Thy God reigneth!" For this St. Paul himself interprets of preaching the Gospel, the same Gospel that he preached: Rom. 10.15. where speaking of those who are to do it, he saith, "How can they preach except they be sent? as it is written, How beautiful are the feet of them that preach the Gospel of peace, and bring glad tidings of good things?" then he adds, "But they have not all obeyed the Gospel. ver. 16. For Esaias saith, Lord, who hath believed our report?" which plainly shews that the same Gospel which the Apostles preached, was preached also by the Prophets, and that the people were much to be blamed for not believing it; which they could not have been, if it had not been sufficiently preached to them.

But though some did not, others did believe the Gospel as it was then preached, so as earnestly to expect and long to see the promises accomplished. This Christ Himself told Matt.13.17. His Disciples, saying, "Verily, I say unto you, that many Prophets and righteous men have desired to see those things which ye see, and have not seen them; and to hear those things which ye hear, and have not heard them." The Disciples saw Christ in the flesh, and heard Him preach the Gospel with His Own mouth; and though the Prophets and righteous persons of old did not do so, yet they desired it, which they could not have done, unless they had believed that He would come in the flesh and dwell among us, according to the promises that God had made them; and though they did not see those promises actually fulfilled, yet, "they saw them afar off, and were persuaded of Heb. 11. 13. them, and embraced them," as the Apostle tells us. This they did by a true Gospel faith, which "is the subver. 1. stance of things hoped for, and the evidence of things not John 12.41; seen." Thus Esaias saw "Christ's glory, and spake of Iss. 6.1; John 8. 56. Him;" thus "Abraham rejoiced to see Christ's day, he saw Job 19. 25. it and was glad;" thus Job saw Christ, when he said, "I know that my Redeemer liveth, and that He shall stand at the latter day upon the earth." He did not only know that Christ would stand at the latter day upon the earth, but he saw Him as it were living at that time, as his God

or Redeemer; "I know that my Redeemer liveth," that He liveth now. Thus Moses also saw Him, so as to esteem the "reproach of Christ greater riches than the treasures in Heb. 11. 26. Egypt," and wrote so clearly of Him, that Christ Himself said to the Jews, "Had ye believed Moses, ye would have John 5. 46. believed Me, for he wrote of Me," "vea, and all the Pro- Acts 3. 24. phets from Samuel and those that follow after, as many as have spoken, have likewise foretold of these days," and things belonging unto Christ, as St. Peter informed them. And therefore, they who did not believe, were justly accused, condemned, and punished for their unbelief, for their not believing in Christ, notwithstanding that God had so fully revealed Him to them, by His Prophets; as appears also from St. John, where, speaking of Christ, he saith, "Though He had done so many miracles before them, yet John 12. 37, they believed not on Him: that the saying of Esaias the 38. Prophet might be fulfilled, which he spake, Lord, who hath believed our report? and to whom hath the arm of the Lord been revealed?" Where the Evangelist, as well as the Apostle in the place before quoted, plainly interprets their not believing the reports of the Prophets, to be the same with their not believing in Christ; which could not be, if the Prophets had not reported Christ unto them so as that they were bound to believe in Him.

But they, doubtless, were as much bound to believe in Christ as we are; for they had the same ground to do it that we have. The only ground that we have to believe in Him for our Salvation, is, because we have the Word of God for it, which is the highest and firmest ground we can have to believe any thing at all: but they had the same Word of God for it that we have, and therefore must needs be obliged to believe in Him, as much as we are at this day: and so, be sure, all the Saints of God in all ages, from the beginning of the world, did; they all believed in Christ alone for their Salvation, as we now do, or at least ought to do. What greater expression can there be of faith in God our Saviour than to say, "The Lord is my strength and song, and He is become my Salvation:" He is become, He is already become my Saviour, yea, my Sal-

vation itself, all things necessary to my being saved? yet this was used by Moses, Exod. xv. 2, by David, Psal. cxviii. 14, and by Esaias, Isa. xii. 2; and by all in the same words, though they lived in ages so distant from one another; which makes me think that this ran through the whole Church of Christ in all ages, and was used as a standing form of expressing their faith in Him, and their thanks unto God for Him. How confidently also doth David "call God, his God, the God of his righteousness, [Ps. 18. 2; 68.2;65.5.] his Saviour, his Deliverer, his Redeemer, his Light, his Rock, his Strength, his Tower, his Defence, his Refuge, the Horn of his Salvation, and his Salvation itself?" How positively doth he assert, that the Lord "shall redeem Israel from all his sins; and as for our iniquities, "Thou, O Ps. 65. 3. Lord, shalt purge them away," תכפרם, thou shalt expiate, or make propitiation for them: whom can he mean by all this, but the Lord our righteousness, that Lamb of God that taketh away the sins of the world? How frequently doth he profess that he will trust in the Lord? And how earnestly doth he call upon others to do so? What is, if this be not, to believe in God our Saviour? For my part, I know not how it is possible for any of us to do it better. God grant we may do it as well; for this is the way to be justified before God as they of old were, even by faith in Christ: and therefore St. Paul, discoursing of our justification by faith in Christ, brings in Abraham as a great ex-Rom. 4. 3; ample of it, of whom it is said, that "Abraham believed Gal. 3. 6. God, and it was counted to him for righteousness." was by this means that all the righteous persons, under the Law, were made and accounted righteous, even by their believing in God our Saviour. And if we believe but as they did, we also shall be justified and saved as they were, according to that remarkable saying of St. Peter concerning Acts 15. 11. them, "But we believe that through the grace of the Lord Jesus Christ we shall be saved, even as they," or as it is in the original, καθ' ον τεόπον κάκείνοι, after the same manner as they. Which words do of themselves sufficiently confirm this

great truth, that all who were ever saved, from the beginning of the world, till Christ came into it, were saved only by Him,

as we hope to be; and, by consequence, that Christ having been all along bringing men to Salvation, He might well say, "My Father worketh hitherto, and I work."

II. But to understand this more clearly, we must consider, in the next place, the several offices which He undertook and executed all along for mankind, as He was a Priest, a Prophet, and a King. I place the Priesthood first, because the other were founded upon that; for if He had not first, as a Priest, offered up to God a sufficient sacrifice, whereby to make atonement and reconciliation for the sins of mankind, He could not, as a Prophet, have revealed the Will of God unto them, nor, as a King, have ruled and governed them according to it: for these are such mercies that mankind would not have been capable of: no more than the fallen Angels are, who, never having had a Priest to expiate their sins, never did, nor ever will, receive any mercy at the hands of God; which seems to me an undeniable argument, that God never shews any mercy but only in Christ, and for His sake; Who having not taken upon "Him the nature of Angels, but the seed of [Heb. 2. Abraham," by being made flesh, and having in that made propitiation for mankind, Almighty God, though He be not so to the fallen Angels, yet He is propitious and merciful to fallen men, so far as both to shew them the way to life, and to enable them to walk in it. Both which God our Saviour hath done, and still doth: the first as a Prophet, the other as a King, but both by virtue of that sacrifice which He, as a Priest, offered for them from the beginning of the world.

It is true, He did not actually take the nature of man upon Him, and offer it up for a sacrifice, till about four thousand years after the creation. But the sacrifice which He then offered looked backward as well as forward, to the time past as well as that which was to come, "for the re-Rom. 3. 25. mission of sins that are past," as St. Paul saith, or, "for the Heb. 9. 15. redemption of the transgressions that were under the first Testament," as the Apostle to the Hebrews. And if for these that were under the first Testament, then from the beginning of the world, when that Testament was made; which is so certain and undeniable, that the same Apostle

SERM. brings this as an argument to prove that Christ needed not "to offer Himself often, as the High-Priest," under the Law, "entered into the holy place every year;" because if so, Heb. 9. 25, "then He must often have suffered since the foundation of the world," which plainly supposeth, that His one oblation of Himself, once offered, was sufficient to expiate all sin from the foundation of the world, and that no sin was ever expiated but by that. To the same purpose is that of St. John, where he speaks of some whose names were not Rev. 13. 8. written in the "Book of Life of the Lamb slain from the foundation of the world." From whence it doth not only appear, that Christ, here called the Lamb, was looked upon as slain; so that His death was every way as effectual from the foundation of the world, as after he actually suffered; but it appears also from hence, that He, from the foundation of the world, had the Book of Life written, not only as John 1. 29. He was God, but as He was the Lamb, "the Lamb of 1 John 2. 2. God that taketh away the sin of the world," yea, that "was the propitiation for the sins of the whole world;" and if of the whole world, then from the beginning to the end of it; otherwise it could not be the whole. Hence the Prophets

Isa. 53. 5,6. speak of Christ's sufferings as past. Neither will this seem strange to any that consider, that Gen. 3. 15. God, at the beginning of the world, said, "that the seed of the woman should bruise the serpent's head," and the serpent should "bruise his heel;" that is, that Christ should destroy the works of the Devil, but that He Himself should be bruised or put to death, in his lower part, in His human nature, as He was the seed of the woman; which being then said by God, Who cannot lie, it was as certain as if it was already done, or rather it was already done in the eve of God, to Whom all things are present. From that time forward, therefore, Christ was a propitiation for the sins of the world, by virtue of that death which He was afterwards to suffer. Afterwards, I say, not in respect of God, but only in respect of men, who are measured by time; for whose sakes, therefore, God was pleased to appoint beasts to be slain, and offered up in sacrifice to Him, as types and representatives of that sacrifice which His Son was to offer up unto Him for their sins, until it should be actually done

in their sight, as it was from the beginning in His. And hence it is, that all nations that have had any sense of religion left, have been always accustomed to sacrifice living creatures to the God they worshipped; which custom having no foundation in reason, or the light of nature, could proceed from nothing else but some general tradition which they had received from their common head, from Noah, and he from Adam, and Adam from God. For it could never have come into his, or any man's head, to think that the taking away the life which He gave to His creatures should be an acceptable service to their Creator, unless He Himself had been pleased to institute and ordain it; as He did, to put mankind continually in mind of the great sacrifice which His Son was to offer for them, and of the benefits they might receive thereby; which being, nevertheless, in process of time, very much forgotten by them, or not rightly understood, He was afterwards pleased to appoint such rites and ceremonies to be observed by the Priests, about their sacrifices in the Levitical law, as would clearly represent both the death which Christ was to suffer in their stead, and the great blessings which He procured for them by virtue thereof: for they, as the Apostle saith, "served Heb. 8. 5; unto the example and shadow of heavenly things, as Moses was admonished by God when he was about to make the Tabernacle;" for "see, saith He, that thou make all things according to the pattern shewed to thee in the mount." From whence we may observe, that when Moses was in the mount, it was there shewed him, how all things relating to the sacrifice of Christ were transacted in Heaven; and he was commanded to represent them all in the Tabernacle he was to make, and the service belonging to it. Now, to pass by other things, we find that in the Tabernacle, he made one place, called the Most Holy, wherein he put the Ark, that had the Tables of the Covenant in it, and the Cherubim overshadowing the Mercy-seat above it. After this he ordered, that upon every day of expiation, the High-Priest should kill a bullock and a goat for a Sin-offering, and should carry some of the blood into the said holy place, and there sprinkle it before and upon the Mercy-seat, and by Lev. 16. 14, that means make atonement and reconciliation for "all the 15, 18.

Acts 3. 22,

23.

congregation of Israel." All which being according to the SERM. CXX. pattern which was shewed in the mount, plainly signified, that Christ having offered up His sacrifice upon earth, went unto the true holy place, into Heaven itself, and there continually, by virtue of the blood He shed, makes atonement and reconciliation for all His faithful people, that God would pardon their sins, and receive them into His grace and favour again. And this He hath done, as our true High-Priest, all along; and therefore might well say, "My Father worketh hitherto, and I work:" seeing "He ever liveth to make inter-Heb. 7. 25. cession for us."

And as Christ hath been always a High-Priest, to make propitiation and atonement for the sins of mankind, so He hath been always a Prophet too, to reveal the will of God Deut.18.15; unto them. He is expressly called a Prophet, and may well be so, all other Prophets being made and sent by Him, as His amanuenses to write, and His heralds to proclaim what He dictated to them. As, when Samuel was made a Pro-

- 1 Sam. 3.21. phet it is said, "The Lord revealed Himself to Samuel in Shiloh by the Word of the Lord;" the Lord by the Word of the Lord, that is, by His Son, Who is often called the Word in the Old as well as the New Testament: it was by Him therefore, that Samuel had the will of God revealed to him.
- 2Sam. 23.2. To the same purpose is that of David, "The Spirit of the Lord spake by me, and His Word was in my tongue." But that Christ, by His Holy Spirit, moved the Prophets, and spake by them, we are fully assured by the same Spirit in 1 Pet. 1. 10, St. Peter, saying, " Of which Salvation the Prophets have
- inquired and searched diligently, who prophesied of the grace that should come unto you: searching what, and what manner of time the Spirit of Christ which was in them did signify." He speaks of the Prophets indefinitely, and so of all the Prophets, that the Spirit of Christ was in them.
- 1 Pet. 3. 19, Afterwards he saith, that Christ by His Spirit, "went and 20. preached to the spirits in prison, which sometime were disobedient, in the days of Noah." He therefore was a Prophet in the days of Noah, and preached then by His Spirit
- in him, who is therefore said to be "a preacher of right-2 Pet. 2. 5. eousness."

But to prove this we need go no further than the Prophets

themselves; for we there find Christ Himself speaking in them, so as that the words cannot be otherwise understood than as spoken by Him. I shall instance only in such places which we are sure are meant of Him, in that they are applied to Him in the New Testament: as, where He saith, "The Ps. 2.7; Lord said unto Me, Thou art My Son, this day have I Acts 13.33; Heb. 1.5. begotten Thee;" "Sacrifices and offerings Thou didst not Ps. 40.6, 7; desire, Mine ears hast Thou opened: burnt-offering and sin-Heb. 10. 5. offering Thou hast not required: then said I, Lo I come: in the volume of the book it is written of Me:" "Behold, I Mal. 3. 1: will send My Messenger, and He shall prepare the way Matt.11.10. before Me;" "The Spirit of the Lord God is upon Me, Isa. 61. 1; because the Lord hath anointed Me to preach good tidings Luke 4. 18. unto the meek, He hath sent Me to bind up the brokenhearted;" "They parted My garments among them, and Ps. 22. 18; upon My vesture did they cast lots;" "They gave Me gall Ps. 69. 21; to eat, and in My thirst they gave Me vinegar to drink; "John 19.28, . "They shall look upon Me Whom they have pierced; "Zech. 12.10; John 19.34-"Thou wilt not leave My soul in hell." There are many 37. such places, where Christ spoke as plainly by the Prophets Acts 2.31; in the Old Testament as ever He did with His Own mouth ch. 13. 35. in the New. I shall name only one more, that is concerning the thirty pieces of silver, for which our Lord was sold, and with which they bought the Potter's Field. Now observe how it is worded in the Prophet; "And the Lord said unto Zech. 11.13; Me, Cast it unto the potter, a goodly price that I was prized Matt. 27.9, at of them." The Lord Who said this to him could be no other but the Lord Christ. It was He, therefore, Whom this and all the Prophets mean when they say, " Thus saith the Lord:" and whensoever they were moved by the Holy Ghost to say any thing, they were always moved by Him, as proceeding from and sent by the Son: to Whom, therefore, we are beholden for all the revelations of God and His Holy Will, that were ever made to mankind since the beginning of the world. For as He Himself saith, " No Matt. 11.27. man knoweth the Father save the Son, and he to whomsoever the Son will reveal Him;" and therefore might well say in this respect also, "My Father worketh hitherto, and I work."

And as Christ thus acted all along as a Priest and a

Prophet, so likewise as a King, yea, as "King of kings, and CXX.

Lord of lords." King David himself calls Him his Lord,
Rev. 17. 14; "The Lord said unto my Lord." The Hebrew word is
ch. 19. 16.
Ps. 110. 1; "STN, one of the proper names of God, which is often used
Matt. 22. 44.

concerning God the Son, as particularly by Daniel, where

Dan. 9.17. he beseecheth God to hear his prayer, "for the Lord's sake;" that is, as we use to say, for Christ Jesus' sake, for the words cannot possibly be understood of any other; and

Ecclus. 51. therefore shew that the Saints of old prayed, as we now do, in the Name of Christ.

There are many places in the Old Testament that speak of Christ's Kingdom as then in being. I shall mention but Ps. 45. 6, 7. two or three. The first shall be that where it is said, "Thy

Throne, O God, is for ever and ever; the sceptre of Thy Kingdom is a right sceptre; Thou lovest righteousness and hatest iniquity; therefore God, Thy God hath anointed Thee."

This, the Apostle saith, was said to the Son; and it could be said to no other, for He to Whom it is said, is called God, "Thy Throne, O God." And yet He is said to be anointed by God, by His God, which could be true of none but Him Who is God of Gods: and though He be God

Matt. 27.46; Himself, yet He often calls God His God.
John 20. 17.

Another place may be that in David's last words, where, after many extraordinary expressions, to shew the height of the matter he was now to utter, he saith, סרשל בארם צדיק, which we translate, 'He that ruleth over men must be just,' much too low, and flat for such a lofty preface. But the words may, or rather according to the Hebrew tongue, 2 Sam. 23.3, ought to be rendered, "a righteous Person ruleth over men,

ought to be rendered, "a righteous Person ruleth over men, ruling in the fear of God: and He shall be as the light of the morning;" which last words are acknowledged to be meant of Christ: and the other must needs be understood of Him too, and so are an illustrious assertion of that kingdom and government, which Christ the Righteous, even then, administered over men.

To these we may add that in the second Psalm, where Christ is named, and which is applied to Him in the New Testament: there it is said, "I have set My King;" or, as the LXX, and some other translations render it, "I am set a King upon My holy hill of Zion." Christ therefore was

Digitized by Google

Acts 4. 25; ch. 13. 33; Heb. 1. 5.

Ps. 2. 6.

the King that dwelt in Zion: but Zion was the place where the Ark stood in the Holy of Holies, with the Mercy-seat and the two Cherubims over it; from between which the Lord communed with Moses, "of all things which He gave Exod. 25. him in commandment unto the Children of Israel." Where-Num. 7. 89. fore this must needs be the Lord Christ, it being He Who was set a king in Zion, presentiating Himself there, as sitting upon the Mercy-seat, or Throne of Grace, and issuing forth His royal edicts from between the Cherubims: and therefore it was He also Whom the same Prophet means, when he saith, "The Lord reigneth; let the people tremble; Ps. 99.1.2. He sitteth between the Cherubims, let the earth be moved. The Lord is great in Zion, and He is high above all the people."

It would be endless to reckon up all the places where Christ's Kingdom is spoken of in the Old Testament. Neither would it be so much to our present purpose, as to consider how He exercised His regal power, in some of the most plain and sensible instances which are there recorded of it; for which end, we may first observe, that when three persons appeared to Abraham, he addresseth himself unto them all as one, saying, "My Lord." And that it was the true Gen. 18.2,3. God, appears from His being called Jehovah, the Lord. ver. 1. But that it was God the Son he spoke to, appears from Abraham saying to Him, "Shall not the Judge of all the ver. 25. earth do right?" "for the Father judgeth no man, but hath John 5. 22. committed all judgment unto the Son." And it was the Son, Who then, as a righteous King, executed His judgment upon Sodom and Gomorrah; for it is said, "Then the Lord Gen. 19. 24. rained upon Sodom and Gomorrah brimstone and fire from the Lord out of Heaven." It was the Lord that did it, from the Lord; they were both equally the same Jehovah, "the Lord;" and yet so far distinct that the one did it from the other, which cannot be otherwise understood, than that the Son did it from the Father; whereby He clearly manifested His supreme authority and power.

And so He did upon many other occasions: it was He that wrestled with Jacob, and delivered him from his troubles, Gen. 32. 24. for He that did it, is said to be a man, and is called God ver. 28, 29. too. He blessed Jacob, and gave him the name of Israel, Hos. 12. 3.

serm. one that prevailed with God; and in his prayer for Joseph's CXX.

Gen. 48. 16. sons, Jacob said, "The Angel which redeemed me from all evil, bless the lads." For it is Christ alone that is our 'Redeemer,' and from Whom all blessings come.

It was He that delivered the children of Israel out of Egypt, and led them through the wilderness. For He that Exod. 14. did it is sometimes called an "Angel," sometimes "Jehovah, 19; ch. 23. 20; the Lord," and sometimes the "presence," or rather the ch. 13. 21; "face of God;" that is, the Son, Who is the "image of ch. 33. 14, God," the "express image of His person;" such an image, 15. Col. 1. 15.

Heb. 1. 3. It was He that fed them, and gave them water, where John 14. 9. 1 Cor. 10. 4. there was neither rain, nor spring, nor river; "for they drank of that Spiritual Rock that followed them; and that Rock was Christ."

It was He Whom they tempted in the wilderness, as we 1 Cor. 10.9. learn from the same Apostle, saying, "Neither let us tempt Christ, as some of them also tempted, and were destroyed of serpents."

It was He that brought them into the land of Canaan; for the man that appeared to Joshua for that purpose was

Joshua 5.
13, 14.
1 Pet. 3. 22. Which could be none but Christ, to Whom "Angels and authorities, and powers," even the whole host of Heaven are made subject.

And when they were come into the land of Canaan, He was still their King; for when they desired another, He said, 1 Sam. 8.7. they had rejected Him that He "should not reign over 2 Chron. 13. them:" and their kingdom is called "the kingdom of the Lord." For the better administration whereof, He ordered Exod.28.30; the "Urim and Thummim" to be put into the breast-plate Num.27.21. of the High-Priest, that His subjects might consult Him there, to know His royal pleasure in all public affairs of the kingdom, as we read they often did. But that the "Urim and Thummim" belonged to Christ, and that it was He that gave His answers from thence to all that consulted Him as their King, appears from these words of Moses; "And of [Deut. 33. Levi he said, thy Thummim and thy Urim are לאיש חסידך for the man, Thy Holy One." So Christ is called; "Thou Ps. 16. 10. wilt not suffer חכידיך, Thy Holy One to see corruption." And that it was He Whom Moses there means, appears also from the following words, "Thy Holy One, Whom thou Deut. 23. 8. didst prove at Massah, and with Whom thou didst strive at the waters of Meribah." For that it was Christ Whom they "proved and tempted in the wilderness," is plain from 1 Cor. 10. 9. the words of St. Paul before quoted.

Thus Christ for a long time was pleased to manifest His regal power to and for His people in a wonderful manner. that they and all might see and know, that it is He that governs and defends His Church in all ages, so that the gates of Hell never did, nor ever shall prevail against it. [Matt. 16. But for that purpose He exercised this His power, not only [18.] for His Church in general, but in every particular member of it, by ruling their hearts, and keeping them steadfast in the true faith and fear of God. This He did all along from the beginning of the world, when it was said, "That [Gen. s. the seed of the woman should bruise the serpent's head:" 15.] from that time forward He hath been always destroying the kingdom of Satan, and erecting and governing His Own, in the hearts of all that believed in Him, mortifying their sins, and quickening them to newness of life, with such influences of His grace and Holy Spirit, whereby they have been enabled, notwithstanding all the temptations of the Devil, to "walk in all the Commandments and Ordinances of the [Luke1.6.] Lord blameless."

Hence it is, that we read of so many righteous persons in the Old Testament, as well as in the New. They were all made so by Christ, and accepted of as such, only through Him, Whom "God hath exalted with His right hand to Acts 5. 31. be a Prince and a Saviour, to give repentance to Israel, and forgiveness of sins." They were both always in His gift: it was He that gave them repentance, and it was He that forgave their sins, as appears also from His saying, "that ye Matt. 9. 6. may know that the Son of Man hath power on earth to forgive sins," plainly implying that He had this power before in Heaven. And as He had it, so He exercised it upon all that truly repented and turned unto Him, in all ages of the world: by Him they were pardoned and justified, or accounted righteous before God. The Prophet could call Jer. 23. 6. Him, "The Lord our Righteousness," as well as the Apostle. 1 Cor. . 30.

SERM. CXX. So that God the Father, ever since the creation, hath been always governing the whole world, and ordering and disposing of all things in it: so God the Son hath been always governing His whole Church, and sanctifying, justifying, and at last glorifying all the true members of it; and therefore might truly say, as He doth in my text, "My Father worketh hitherto, and I work."

Now, from these things, thus briefly touched upon, we may first observe the exact agreement there is between the books of the Old and New Testament; which must needs be all dictated by the same Divine Spirit, seeing, although written so many ages, one after another, yet they all agree in that which no man could otherwise have thought of, even that the only way whereby any man ever was, or ever can be saved, is by "Jesus Christ, the same yesterday, and to-day,

Heb. 13. 8. be saved, is by "Jesus Christ, the same yesterday, and to-day, and for ever."

From hence, also, we may see what reason our Church hath Article VII. to declare in her Articles, "that the Old Testament is not contrary to the New; for both in the Old and New Testament, Everlasting Life is offered to mankind by Christ, Who is the only Mediator between God and man, being both God and man. Wherefore they are not to be heard, which feign that the old fathers did look only for transitory promises."

[Heb. 7. 25.] Lastly; we may learn from hence what firm ground we have to believe in Christ for our Salvation, seeing He is such an Almighty Saviour, that "He is able to save to the uttermost all that come to God by Him," from the beginning, as well as to the end of the world. Let us, therefore, now resolve to do so: let us believe, and trust on Him alone for grace, and pardon, and all things necessary for our Salvation, that we also may join hereafter with the twelve thousand of every tribe in Israel, and with the innumerable company of glorified Saints of all other nations, in that celestial anthem we find them singing in the Revelations, "Salvation to our God Which sitteth upon the throne, and unto the Lamb for ever." Amen.

ch. 7. 10.

SERMON CXXI.

THE PRESENCE OF CHRIST IN RELIGIOUS ASSEMBLIES OF CHRISTIANS.

MATT. xviii. 20.

For where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them.

Ir our blessed Saviour was upon earth now, what flocking would there be from all parts to see Him! And if He was but in any part of this kingdom, how remote soever, which of us but should strive to go to Him! What haste should we make, what pains should we take, to get as near Him as we could, that we might not only see Him, but enjoy His company, and hear some of His Divine discourses from His Own mouth! With what profound reverence should we approach into His presence! How attentively should we hearken to every word that came from Him! How glad should we be to see Him smiling upon us, and owning us for His servants and disciples! And when we had been a while in His company, how loth should we be to leave it! How apt should we be to cry out, as St. Peter did at His Transfiguration, "Lord, it is good for us to be Matt. 17.4. here."

This, perhaps, may be thought a vain and groundless supposition: and so it is, if we speak only of Christ's bodily presence; for His body is now in Heaven, and will continue there till the Last Day; and therefore we have no ground to expect that we shall ever see it upon earth till then.

But, howsoever, there is a way whereby we may meet with our blessed Saviour every day in the year, and enjoy

ARRM. His presence as effectually to all intents and purposes, as if CIII. He now dwelt among us as He did once among the Jews in our own nature. For though in that nature He is now in Heaven, there appearing in the presence of God for us; ver He that is in that nature, is always present with His Church upon earth too; we may be confident of it, more confident than we could be of His body's being any where upon earth, if it really was so: for if it was so, we could hear of it only from men, who might be deceived themselves, or else might have a mind to deceive us; and so we could never be fully assured that it was really Jesus Christ. But that He is always present with His Church, we have His Own infallible word; for immediately before He went up in His body to Heaven, He said to His Apostles, as such, and by consequence to all that should ever succeed them in the Matt.28.20, instruction and government of His Church in all ages, "Lo. I am with you alway, even unto the end of the world:" whereby He hath given them and us as great assurance as could be given, that although His body was now to be taken from them, yet that He Himself would still continue with them, zása; rà; nuisas, 'every day, continually,' without intermitting so much as one day, so long as the world shall last.

But though He be present with His Church in general, as it is here militant upon earth, where may we in particular meet with Him and find Him present, upon any occasion that we may have to address ourselves to Him? This is a thing which we are all highly concerned to know, and therefore He Himself also hath been pleased to acquaint us with it, not only by His Prophets and Apostles, but with His Own mouth, in these words, "Where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them."

There are none, I suppose, here present, but who have often read these words, or at least have heard them read over and over again. But I fear there are but few that have taken that notice of them which they deserve, both for His sake Who spake them, and for the matter contained in them: wherefore it will be worth the while to look a little more narrowly into them, and to consider both the true meaning of them, and the great use and advantage that is

to be made of them by all who firmly believe them as they ought.

For this purpose, therefore, we may first observe, that our blessed Saviour having here given us directions how to carry ourselves towards an offending brother, even, that we first reprove him privately, then before witnesses, and if he neglect to hear them, then to tell it to the Church; and Matt. 18.17. having assured us, that what the Church doth in the case on earth, the same shall be done in Heaven, saying, "What-ver. 18. soever ve shall bind on earth shall be bound in Heaven: and whatsoever ye shall loose on earth shall be loosed in Heaven:" our Lord, I say, having said this, He takes occasion from thence to speak of all Church-assemblies, where any of His disciples meet to present their petitions to Almighty God, saying, "Again, I say unto you, that if ver. 19. two of you shall agree on earth as touching any thing that they shall ask, it shall be done for them of My Father which is in Heaven." As if He had said, As whatsoever is done in the case before mentioned by the Church on earth, shall be ratified and confirmed in Heaven: so whatsoever any, though the least number of Christians, shall agree together to pray for upon earth, it shall be granted in Heaven.

Where we may observe, by the way, that this promise is not made to such assemblies, where one prays extempore for that which comes next into his mind, or upon his tongue; for in that case, he himself that prays, doth not know beforehand what he shall pray for, much less can the congregation know it. And if they do not know it, they cannot possibly agree together upon what they shall ask, as our Saviour here requires they should, if they would have it granted; and thereby hath plainly signified it to be His will and pleasure, that His disciples, in all their solemn assemblies, should use such prayers which they know beforehand, and have agreed together to have them presented to the Most High God in His Name: Who hath here promised, that such public prayers shall be heard, but not that any other shall be so. And hence it is, that His Churches in all places and ages of the world (till very lately) have constantly used set forms of prayer, which were agreed upon before, as fit and proper to be offered up to God, and which

SERM. CXXI. the whole congregation, therefore, accordingly agree to ask of Him, whensoever they meet together before Him; as we now do in our public Liturgy: and therefore have Christ's Own word for it, that what we so pray for upon earth, shall be done for us by His Father which is in Heaven.

But now, lest this should seem strange, that what we poor mortals desire upon earth should be granted in Heaven, our blessed Lord is pleased to give us the reason of it, in my text, saying, "For where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them." Whereby He gives us to understand, that as He appears in the presence of God for us, in Heaven, so He is likewise present in all such assemblies as are gathered together in His Name upon earth. And then it is no wonder if their prayers be heard, seeing He Himself is there ready to receive them, and present them to His Father which is in Heaven, Who always hears Him, and grants whatsoever He would have done in the world.

But that we may be sure to apprehend our Lord's meaning in these words aright, we must first consider who are here said to meet together in His Name; and then, in what sense He saith, that He Himself is in the midst of those who do so.

I. The first may be soon despatched; for it is plain from the constant use of the phrase in the Holy Scriptures, that we are then said to meet together in the Name of Christ, when we meet for His honour and glory, according to His will, in obedience to His command, in the true faith of His Holy Name and Word, with a sure trust and confidence on Him alone for direction and assistance in what we do, for God's acceptance of it when it is done, and for His granting what we ask only for His sake; according to the many promises, which He Himself hath made us, that whatsoever we ask in His Name, we shall receive.

14; ch. 16. 23, 24, 26.

II. But in what sense our blessed Lord here saith, that where two or three are thus gathered together in His Name, He Himself is there in the midst of them, is a question not so easy to be resolved. Not that there is any difficulty in the words themselves, for they are as plain as words can be. And it is impossible that the truth contained in them should

be more clearly delivered to us than it here is, which therefore we are bound, and have all the reason that can be, to believe and be fully persuaded of, although we are not able to understand how it should be; as indeed we are not. no more than we are able to comprehend God's immensity or omnipresence, how He is in all places at all times, wholly; which being one of His infinite perfections, there is an impossibility in the thing itself, that our finite understandings should ever reach it. So it is in what our Lord here saith: He instanceth in two or three, which are the least of numbers; and so assures us, that where any number of Christians, how many or how few soever they be, so that they be but a number or society met together in His Name, He is there in the midst of them. He doth not only promise that He will be, but He affirms that He is there. Neither doth He say, that His power, His grace, His blessing, His Angels, or the like, are there, but that He Himself is there; "there am I," saith He, " in the midst of them." He speaks also indefinitely, of all such assemblies: wheresoever any meet together, in any place of the earth, and whensoever they do so, although there be thousands or millions of such congregations at one and the same time, and how remote soever they are from one another, yet, if they meet together in His Name, He is with them all and every one alike.

How this should be, is a matter that deserves our serious inquiry. If we say, that He is in all such places as God, we say true: but that doth not come up to the point; unless He was God, He could not be in so many places at the same time; so that this may justly be reckoned among the arguments which put His Godhead beyond dispute. But, as God. He is in all other places as well as in such assemblies: whereas He here speaks of His being there in a more special and peculiar manner than He is elsewhere; "There," saith He, "am I in the midst of them:" not only as one among them but as the chief and principal Person there, Who presides over, assists, influenceth, and governs the whole assembly. Which we having His Own word for, we cannot doubt in the least of it; and though we are not able to comprehend it, yet, notwithstanding we are bound to believe it as much as if we could. But, howsoever, that we

may better apprehend what we ought to believe concerning CXXI. it, and likewise what other grounds we have to do so, I shall, by His assistance, offer at some things which, by His blessing, may conduce something towards the clearer explication of His sense and meaning in these words.

For this purpose, therefore, we must first lay down this, as a certain and undoubted truth which we all agree in, as the foundation of our whole religion, that there is but " one [1 John 5. living and true God;" that "the Father, the Word, and the Holy Ghost," obros of resis in tion " these three" (in the mascu-

line gender) "are one;" (in the neuter) "one Being;" or, as Deat. 6.4. He Himself expresseth it in Hebrew, יהוח אחר, "One Jehovah, the Lord." Wherefore, although the Word, Which was made flesh and dwelt among us, is said to subsist in the form or nature of God, before He took upon Him the nature or form of man, and so is truly a distinct subsistence or Person from the Father and the Holy Ghost, yet we must still apprehend and believe Him to be the one only living and true God; Who, as He exerted His infinite wisdom, power. and goodness in the creation of the world, so He manifested His infinite mercy and truth in the redemption of fallen man. The same God did both: the same God that made all things The same God and sold things by the word of His power, the same God redeemed manby the word of His blood; and so is both our Creator kind with the price of His blood; and so is both our Creator kind with the reator And it is in this latter sense that He is and our sale understood in the Holy Scriptures, written for our admonition, and in order to our Salvation; particularly in my text, where He saith, that He is in the midst of those who meet together in His Name; that is, He is there not only as God the Creator, but as God our Saviour. He is the Creator, He is every where alike, ordering all things so as may tend most to the glory of His Name: but as He is our Saviour, He is more particularly in His Church, ordering all things so as may tend most to the Salvation of mankind. And, therefore, when any are met together in His Name, and so for the carrying on of His design in accomplishing their Salvation, He is in a peculiar manner present with them, as their Saviour, to direct and assist them in it. He hath been thus present with His people in all ages, whensoever they meet together in His Name, according to

the promise which He made immediately after the promulgation of the Law upon Mount Sinai: "In all places," saith Exod. 20. He, "where I record My Name, I will come unto thee, and I will bless thee." Where any are met together in His Name, there His Name is recorded, and thither He therefore promiseth to come. But how can He. Who fills all places, come to any one? That He Himself explains, by saving, "I will come unto thee, and I will bless thee." He will come thither as the Saviour of the world, as the Author and Giver of all blessings to mankind, "in Whom all the Gen. 22. 18. nations of the earth are blessed." And so He will be there in another manner than He is elsewhere, by blessing what is there done, and those who do it. Now, what He there promiseth in my text, He asserts to be always verified, that where any are gathered together in His Name. He is there in the midst of them. Which therefore must be understood in the same sense, even that He is there as God their Saviour, to bless and sanctify what is there done, to their obtaining eternal Salvation by Him.

According to the aforesaid promise, we find in the Old Testament that what place soever He appointed the people to meet in, whensoever they accordingly met there in His Name. He was always there too: insomuch that the place He appointed for that purpose was called אחל מועד, 'the Tabernacle of the congregation,' or meeting; not because the people there met together, but because God met with the people there: "There," saith He, "I will meet with the Exod. 29. children of Israel." And that the people might know 42, 43. whereabouts He was in the said Tabernacle, when they were there gathered together, He acquainted Moses with the very place where He would always be, even in the space between the wings of the Cherubims over the Mercy-seat; "And ch. 25. 22. there," saith He, "I will meet with thee, and I will commune with thee from above the Mercy-seat, from between the two Cherubims which are upon the Ark of the Testimony, of all things which I will give thee in commandment unto the children of Israel." And accordingly we read, that "when Num. 7. 89. Moses was gone into the tabernacle of the congregation to speak with Him, that he heard the voice of one speaking unto him from off the Mercy-seat that was upon the Ark of

the Testimony, from between the two Cherubims;" so that Moses was then an ear-witness of His being there. And indeed the whole congregation were often eve-witnesses of Lev. 16. 2. it; for He appeared in the cloud that was over the Merevseat, by some extraordinary bright lustre, and shining in it; so "that the glory of the Lord appeared to all the children ch. 9. 23: Ps. 80. 1. of Israel." They saw the sacrifice also consumed upon the Lev. 9. 24. altar by fire from the Lord; and the aforesaid cloud sometimes dilating itself, so as to cover the Tabernacle, and fill it with the "glory of the Lord," as it did when the Tabernacle Exod. 40. was first finished; and also when the Ark was afterwards put into the Temple that Solomon made for it, at the dedi-1 Kings 8. 10, 11. cation thereof. These were plain and sensible demonstrations of His Divine presence; from whence the people could not but 1 Sam. 4.4; believe that He was really there, and "sat between the 2 Kings 19. Cherubims," as He is often said to do, and so dwelt among 16; Cherudius, as 11c is officer seed. The word in the original is 100, which properly signifies to dwell in a place: Ps. 99. 1. Exod. 25. 8; from whence the Tabernacle is called also משכן, 'His dwellch. 29. 45. Lev. 26. 11. ing-place; and the Jews call His Divine presence between the Cherubims, שכינה, ' the inhabitation or dwelling there.' which they reckon one of the five things which were wanting in the second Temple; but it was always in the first, which was built upon Mount Zion, and that is the reason that God our Saviour is said to be set a King upon the "holy hill of Ps. 2. 6. Ps. 9. 11. Ps. 76. 2; Zion;" " to dwell in Zion;" to bless and save His people Is. 8. 18. And "out of Zion, the perfection of beauty, out of Zion. Ps. 128. 5: God hath shined." Because He presentiated Himself and Ps. 134. 3; Ps. 14. 7. manifested His power and glory to His people from between Ps. 50. 2. the Cherubims above the Mercy-seat in the Temple, that was built upon that mount, therefore called the " Holy Moun-Ps. 2. 6. [Joel 3. 17.] tain," because the Holy One of Israel was pleased in a wonderful and peculiar manner to dwell there.

> By these things thus briefly hinted, we may understand how God our Saviour, in those days, was not only present in the place where He appointed His people to meet together in His Name, but often vouchsafed them outward signs and tokens of His being with them. It is true, we have no such signs and tokens now, neither do we need them, as that people did, for we have Christ's Own word for it, which is

more than all such visible signs that then were, or ever can be given of it; we have it from His Own mouth, not that He is only in one place, as He was then, but that wheresoever two or three are gathered together in His Name, there is He in the midst of them. So that now we have a Mercyseat to go to, not only in one place, as they had, but in every place where we meet together in His Name. Our Lord Himself, the antitype of theirs, is now our Mercy-seat; as the Apostle assures us, saying, "that God hath set forth Rom. 3. 25. Him to be idagrifetor," that is, not a Propitiation, as we render it, but "the Mercy-seat," as the word signifies; but we can go to this Mercy-seat, or as the Apostle elsewhere calls it, the "throne of grace," wheresoever we are: for it is but Heb. 4. 16. meeting together in His Name, and we may and ought to be as certain that He is with us, as if we heard Him speaking, or saw Him sitting and shining forth in His glory, over the Mercy-seat, as He did in the old law. For we have a more sure word of prophecy for it; Christ Himself hath said it; and so hath given us as great assurance as can be of it; and therefore we ought as firmly to believe it, and be as fully persuaded of it as we can be of any thing in the whole world.

This is that which the Gospel all along most strictly requires of us above all things else, even that we believe what is there written, especially what Christ Himself hath said, so as not to doubt in the least but that what He hath said is just as He said it is, and what He hath promised or foretold shall accordingly come to pass, just as He foretold or promised it should, although we have no other reason in the world for it but His Word, which is infinitely more than all other reasons put together: for, as He Himself said, "Heaven and earth shall pass away, but His words shall Matt.24.35. not pass away;" and therefore He having said, "Where two or three are met together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them," we must not doubt at all, but steadfastly believe, that whensoever we meet together in His Name, He is as really there, as that we ourselves are so, although we do not see Him there, nor can expect it, now His body is gone to Heaven.

It is true, after He was risen from the dead, continuing

Digitized by Google

some days in His body upon earth, before He ascended up to Heaven, He was several times pleased to appear visibly to His Apostles, when met together in His Name; as the same day He rose, at evening, the door being shut, where John 20.19. they were assembled, it is said, "Jesus came and stood in the midst of them;" then they all saw Him, except Thomas who was not there. And again, eight days after, when they were met together again, and St. Thomas was with them. Jesus was pleased to shew Himself in the midst of them ver. 26. again; in both places it is said He stood in the midst, according to what He saith in my text, "There am I in the midst of them." And it is also observable, that at His second time of appearing visibly to them, He bade St. Thomas thrust his finger into His side, without which, St. Thomas had said that he would not believe that He ver. 25. was risen from the dead; which plainly shews that at the assembly, when the Disciples told St. Thomas, that they had seen the Lord, Jesus was there also in the midst of them, and heard what St. Thomas said, although they did not then see Him.

> But though our blessed Lord thus shewed Himself sometimes before His ascension to His Disciples, when met together, in His very body, that so they might be evewitnesses that He was risen from the dead; yet now that He is sat down, in that, at the right hand of God, in Heaven, we must not think that His body also is present in any of the assemblies of His Saints on earth, much less in all: for then it must be in many places at the same time; which is contrary to the nature of a body; and therefore cannot be supposed of His, at least, as to the substance of it: which I therefore add, because I dare not deny but His glorious body in Heaven may have great influence upon those of the same nature with it upon earth. For we know that all bodies have a certain sphere of activity about them, some less, some greater, some so great that we are not able to conceive how far it reacheth: as for example, the sun, which, according to astronomers, is near a million of miles off, and yet we see what mighty influence and power it hath upon the earth, and all the bodies that are upon it, or in it. And yet this too seems but a small part of its virtue or

sphere. But our Saviour's body, by reason of its union to the Divine Person, must needs be far more glorious than the sun, as glorious as it is possible for matter to be made. And therefore how far its influences reach, or how the emanations which proceed from it may affect bodies of its own nature upon earth, especially such as by faith are united to Him, and meet together in His Name, we know not: neither is it necessary that we should, having no Divine revelation of it. But this we know, that the same Person Whose most glorious body is in Heaven, is always in the midst of those who meet together in His Name upon earth; for this He Himself hath revealed to us. He doth not say that His body is there, but He saith that He Himself, Whose body it is, is there. "There am I," saith He, "in the midst of them."

Neither is it necessary that His body should be there: it is sufficient that His Spirit is with them. St. Paul could tell the Corinthians and Colossians, that he was "absent 1 Cor. 5. 3; from them in the body, but present in spirit;" and the Col. 2.5. Prophet Elisha could say to his servant Gehazi, "Went not 2 Kings 5. my heart with thee?" when his body was a great wav off: 26. how much more, where the Spirit of Christ is, there is Christ, although His body be not there; for the Spirit of Christ is Christ Himself, the same God with Himself. And therefore, when He promised His Apostles that He would send them His Holy Spirit as another Comforter, He said, "I will John 14.18. not leave you comfortless, I will come to you." He would come to them by His Spirit. So He doth where any are gathered together in His Name. He comes to them, and is in the midst of them by His Holy Spirit, as He is the Spirit of God our Saviour, working in them both to will and to do. helping their infirmities, guiding, and quickening, and strengthening, and assisting them in what they do, that it may be acceptable to God, and profitable to themselves: so that, as St. Paul saith, "they can do all things through Phil. 4. 13. Christ Which strengtheneth them."

That the Apostles looked upon Christ as thus present with them when they met together in His Name, appears from that solemn assembly they held in His Name soon after His ascension, for the filling up the place that was

void in their college, by the treachery and death of Judas Iscariot: for our Lord Himself having chosen all the rest, they would not undertake to choose any one, but addressed themselves to Him as present with them, that He would be pleased to direct them to the person whom He had chosen for that place; saying to Him, "Thou Lord, Which knowest the hearts of all men, shew whether of these two Thou hast chosen." And when, upon their casting of lots, the lot was fallen upon Matthias, they made no doubt but he was the person whom Christ had chosen, and therefore admitted him immediately into their number; which plainly shews that they believed that Christ was in the midst of them, and had not only heard what they had said, but had also granted

the request they had made to Him.

And so certainly we ought always to do: whensoever we meet together in His Name, we ought steadfastly to believe, as the Apostles did, that our Lord Christ, according to His Word, is there in the midst of us. We ought to believe it Heb. 11. 1. with that true Christian faith, "which is the substance of things hoped for, and the evidence of things not seen." Though we see not our Lord there, we are sure He is so, because He Himself hath said it. And therefore we must accordingly offer up our prayers and praises unto Him, and to the Father only in His Name, as there present with us. And so we do in that excellent Liturgy which our Church hath composed, to be used in all our Christian assemblies. We all along address ourselves to God, as He is our Saviour, and there in the midst of us. And that we may the better do it, we, at the beginning, call upon one another, saying, "O come, let us sing unto the Lord, let us heartily rejoice in the strength of our Salvation. Let us come before His presence with thanksgiving, and shew ourselves glad in Him with psalms." Whereby we are put in mind that we are now in the presence of God our Saviour, or, as it is here expressed, the God or strength of our Salvation; and should therefore worship Him, and rejoice in Him, and praise Him, and magnify His Most Holy Name, for the wonderful works that He hath done for us: which we accordingly do in the psalms, and hymns, and creeds: especially in the Te Deum, we celebrate His great glory and goodness to us, saying to Him, as there present, "Thou art the King of glory, O Christ, Thou art the everlasting Son of the Father: when Thou tookest upon Thee to deliver man, Thou didst not abhor the Virgin's womb," &c. We often also call upon Christ to have mercy on us: and in the Litany, after the beginning, we all along direct our prayers to Him, Who hath redeemed us with His Own most precious blood, beseeching Him, our good Lord, to deliver us from all evil, and to hear the prayers we put up unto Him; and then crying out to Him, "O Thou Lamb of God, that takest away the sins of the world, grant us Thy peace, and have mercy on us. O Christ, hear us. O Son of David, have mercy upon us. Graciously hear us, O Christ; graciously hear us, O Lord Christ:" still calling upon Him as there present with us, and ready to hear and help us.

Several also of the Collects are directed immediately unto Christ (as first Sunday in Lent, third in Advent, St. Stephen's, &c.), and all the other to God only in His Name. For they all conclude with these or the like words, "through Jesus Christ our Lord." Which is the same in effect with praying to Him: for as He is a distinct person in the Godhead, the Only-begotten of the Father, and as such redeemed us with His blood, and is now interceding for us, we pray in His Name, and for His sake. But as He is God also, of the same Divine Essence with the Father, whensoever we pray to God, we pray to Him as well as to the Father and the Holy Ghost. So that when we pray to God, in the Name of Christ our Saviour, we pray to Christ Himself, as He is God our Saviour: and when we offer up our prayers to the Father in the Name of His Son, we offer them up to the Son as well as to the Father, though not as they are two distinct persons, yet as they are one and the same Almighty and Eternal God; Who having been pleased to enter into covenant with us, and to promise to be our God, and our Father in His Son Jesus; in Him, and as members of His body, we also call Him, "Our Father," and pray unto Him under that notion, saying, as our Lord Himself hath taught us, "Our Father Which art in Heaven:" which is the same also in effect with praying in the Name of Christ; forasmuch as it is only in Him that

SEEM. God is our Father, and we can truly call Him so. So that CXXII through the whole course of our public devotions we do all in the Name of Christ our Saviour. Who is always with Him, and in Him our Father in Heaven; and likewise with us when met together in His Name upon earth.

Especially at the Sacrament of His Last Supper, which He was tleased to ordain and institute in such a wonderful and mysterious manner, that we may there look upon Him as present with us, not only by His Spirit, but, as it were, in His body too: for He calls the sacramental bread and wine His body and His blood;" "This is My body, which is given for you, and this is My blood, which is shed for you:" not as if they were so in their own nature; for the substance both of the bread and wine is still the same as it was before: but He expresseth it so, that we may the better apprehend and believe Him to be as really there in the midst of us, as if we saw His very body and blood before us; and may, by faith, partake of all the merits of His death, as effectually to all intents and purposes, as if we eat His very body, and drank that blood which He shed for us, and so had it always running in our veins to purge and cleanse us from all sin. Which is certainly the highest expression, and the best course that could be found out, whereby to possess our minds with a due sense of His most intimate presence with us, when we meet together in His Name, as we always do, when we are at His Own table: and therefore when we have received His most blessed Body and Blood, we join together in saying or singing that ancient Apostolical hymn, "Glory be to God on high;" where we speak to Him as there present with us, saying, "O Lord, the Only-begotten Son. Jesu Christ: O Lord God, Lamb of God, Son of the Father, that takest away the sins of the world, have mercy upon us," &c., concluding with this solemn address of praise and thankfulness to Him, "For Thou only art holy, Thou only art the Lord; Thou only, O Christ, with the Holy Ghost, art most high in the glory of God the Father." After which we are dismissed with His blessing, according to His promise before-mentioned, "In all places where I record My Name, I will come unto thee, and I will bless thee." For He having instituted this Sacrament on purpose, in remembrance of Him-

[Exod. 20. 24.]

Digitized by Google

self, saying, "This do in remembrance of Me," wheresoever [Luke 22. this is celebrated, His Name must needs be there recorded; ^{19.]} and therefore we cannot doubt but He is always there, ready to bestow His blessing upon all those who there meet together in His Name to receive it: the greatest of all His blessings, forasmuch as His Name is recorded there in the highest manner that can be upon earth. But in all places, where any meet together in His Name, His Name being there also so far recorded, He comes thither, to distribute His blessings among them, such as every one stands in need of. We may be sure of it, for He Himself asserts it, saying, "Where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them."

This, I know, is a truth that is seldom thought of; and therefore I thought good to put you in mind of it, because of the great use that may be made of it, by all that seriously mind their future state, and desire in good earnest to be saved: for such (and I speak only to such) may see by this, where to meet with their Saviour when they please. It is but coming to Church, and there meeting together in His Name, and you have His word for it, that He will be there in the midst of you. And who would not meet their Saviour, the best Friend they have in the world, as often as they can? What need is there of any other arguments to persuade sincere Christians to frequent our public devotions? They who do not, have just cause to suspect their sincerity, and to fear that, whatsoever they pretend, they have not that regard for their Saviour which they ought; for if they had they would joyfully embrace all opportunities they can get of meeting with Him to receive His blessing.

But, for that purpose, ye must not come only to see or be seen, nor out of custom only, and by the by, but you must meet together in His Name, in obedience to His will, with a desire to serve and worship Him there, and with a firm belief of whatsoever He hath said, and particularly this, that He is there in the midst of you; for unless you believe it, it is all one to you whether He be there or no, and therefore you can expect no blessing from Him, but rather a curse, for not doing Him so much right, as to believe His word.

But do ye indeed believe, as ye ought, that Christ is there

in the midst of you? How humbly then, how modestly, how gravely, how reverently should you carry yourselves before Him. After the same manner as if He should appear visibly among you. Which you cannot choose but do, if you do but remember and consider all the while you are there, in Whose presence you are, and what you are doing. In repeating the psalms and hymns, you speak to Almighty God your Saviour, acknowledging His infinite goodness and love to you, and therefore must not sit down, but stand in a posture of adoration before Him, as the greatest person in the world. In the Collects and Litany, you pray to Him, or to the Father in His Name for pardon, and all things necessary for life and godliness; and therefore must do it only upon your knees. All the while you are there met together in His Name, you are serving Him, your great and godly fear."

Heb. 12. 28. Lord and Master, and therefore must do it "with reverence

And whatsoever ye there do, as ye must do it in the Name of Christ, so ye must trust on Him for God's acceptance of it; and likewise for His granting of what you ask in His Name; according to the promise which He hath here made us: for, in the verse before my text, He saith, "If two of you shall agree on earth, as touching any thing that they shall ask, it shall be done for them of My Father Which is in Heaven." And then He adds this as the reason of it. " For," saith He, "where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them:" because He is there ready to receive and present their petitions to the Father, therefore they shall be granted. So that we have His word and promise for it; which we ought to trust And that we may the better do it in our daily prayers, our Church concludes them always with that of St. Chrysostom, still extant in his Liturgy, "Almighty God, Who hast given us grace, at this time, to make our common supplications unto Thee, and dost promise, that when two or three are gathered together in Thy Name, Thou wilt grant their requests." It is here that He makes this promise, which we must constantly believe, as ever we desire it should be fulfilled to us.

Lastly, when ye have met in the Name of Christ, and so

with Christ Himself, ye must be sure, afterwards, to live accordingly. The Jews observing the carriage of the Apostles, "took knowledge of them, that they had been Acts. 4. 13. with Jesus." So whatsoever place or company you are in, ye should carry yourselves so that they may take notice that ye have been with Jesus, that ye have not gone to Church in vain, but have indeed met your Saviour there, and have received so much grace and virtue from Him, that ye are grown better than ye were, and better than other people are: and that by your often meeting with Christ on earth, ye are fitted to live with Him for ever in Heaven.

SERMON CXXII.

THE WAY OF SEEKING GOD SO AS TO FIND HIM.

Isaiah, lv. 6.

Seek ye the Lord while He may be found, call ye upon Him while He is near.

SERM. CXXII.

Although there be many among us who have much, there are none but want something; something which they think would make them happy, or, at least, happier than they are, if they had it. Hence it is, that people generally are so very busy in the world, some seeking for one thing, some for another, according to their several inclinations and conditions; but whatsoever it is that men seek for here below, when they have found it, they are but where they were, no more satisfied than they were before, but rather less; for the things of this world are so far from lessening our desires, when we have them, that they rather heighten and increase them. The more we have, the more we crave; the more we find, the more we seek; so that if men's hearts be once set upon such things, there is no end of seeking; as many have found by woful experience, who have spent their whole lives in seeking, and seeking of them, without ever finding any rest or quiet in their minds.

And that which is worst of all is, that men are, notwithstanding, so earnest in seeking after other things, that they seldom or never think of Him Who alone can satiate their souls, and make them happy; and therefore ought not only to be sought before and above all things else, but all other things ought to be sought for, only in order to our finding Him: which that I might be so happy as to convince you of, and likewise direct you how to seek, so as to find this the chiefest, the only good in the world, I have chosen these words to explain unto you, where you have first a command, "Seek ye the Lord;" and then the time or season wherein to do it, "while He may be found."

I. The command is general, imposed not only upon the Jews, as some have thought, nor upon the Gentiles only, as others; but upon all mankind: and though nothing be more frequently mentioned in God's Holy Word, yet, I fear, there are but few who understand how to do it. I am sure there are but few that do it as they ought. And, therefore, nothing can be more necessary than to shew what it is properly to seek the Lord, and how ye may do it, so as not to seek in vain, but may certainly find Him, and, in Him, all the joy and happiness that ye can desire.

When we are, therefore, commanded to "seek the Lord," it is not to be so understood, as if He was at any distance from us, or in some secret place, where it would be difficult to find Him. This the Apostle forewarns us of, where he saith, that "God hath made of one blood all nations for to dwell on all the face of the earth, that they should seek the Lord, if haply they might feel after Him, and find Him;" and then adds, "though He be not far from every one of Acts 17. 26-us: for in Him we live, and move, and have our being;" for seeing we have our very being in Him, we cannot be where He is not, and therefore need not go from ourselves to find Him, He being always present with us, and we in Him, wheresoever we are.

But, by "seeking the Lord," we are to understand our seeking His love and favour, that He may be in a peculiar manner our God, to bless us and keep us in all our ways, which is therefore elsewhere expressed by our seeking the face of the Lord; as, "Seek ye the Lord, and His strength; Ps. 105. 4. seek His face for evermore," and He Himself saith, "I will Hos. 5. 15. go and return to My place till they acknowledge their offence, and seek My face; in their affliction they will seek Me early," where seeking Him, and seeking His face, is plainly the same thing. And the seeking His face, is the same also with seeking His favour. As where the wise

their God."

SERM. man saith, "Many seek the Ruler's favour;" in the original CXXII. Prov.29.26. it is, "many seek the Ruler's face." So we are said to seek the face of God, the Supreme Ruler of the world, when we seek to find favour in His sight, that He may cause His face to shine upon us, and be gracious and merciful unto us. This is to seek the Lord to good purpose: happy are they who can so find Him: blessed "are the people who are in such a case:" blessed are they who thus "have the Lord for

[Ps. 144. 15.]

[Num. 6. 25.]

But to what purpose is it for us sinful creatures thus to seek the Lord? For how can we, who have so highly offended Him, expect to find any favour or mercy at His hands? The unfolding of this mystery will make way for our right understanding what is properly to seek the Lord, and how we may do it effectually. And therefore I shall search into the bottom of it, and lay it as open as I can, that all who do not wilfully shut their eyes may see into it.

For which purpose, therefore, we must first call to mind, how that God having made man in His Own image and likeness, so long as he continued such as he was made, He that made him could not but be well pleased and delighted in him, not only in that he was the workmanship of His Own hands, but likewise in that he was like unto Himself. so far as a creature could be, in "righteousness and true holiness." So that if we had kept our first estate, we should never have had any occasion to seek God, for we should always have had Him, and enjoyed Him to the full, as far as finite creatures could be capable of His infinite goodness and favour.

But the first man Adam, in whom all others were contained, by transgressing the Commandment, defaced the image of God that was enstamped upon him, and so made himself and his whole posterity unlike to God, of a nature quite different and contrary to His, for His is most pure and holy, whereas all mankind is now become sinful and [Ps. 53. 3.] unclean; "There is none that doth good, no not one;" but all are naturally inclined to transgress the Laws of God, and do it continually. Hence it is, that He is so highly offended and displeased with all mankind, not only for their not answering His end in making them, but likewise for that both they themselves, and all their actions, are so disagreeable to His Holy will and nature. And, therefore, as the Apostle observes, "We are all by nature the children of Eph. 2.3. wrath;" that is, so long as we continue in our natural state, such as we came into the world, as propagated from the first Adam, we are under the displeasure and wrath of God, and liable to the dismal effects and consequents of it, even to all sorts of punishments which it is possible for creatures to bear, and which were at first threatened under the name of death.

This is the true state of nature, which all mankind are in: but seeing they fell into it at first only in their common head or stock, the first Adam, Almighty God, to shew forth His mercy and truth, which otherwise would not have appeared in the world, was graciously pleased to find out a way for their recovery out of it, if they will but make use of it: such a way, that the Angels themselves cannot but desire [1 Pet. 1. to look into, and admire; though men, who are most concerned, are apt to take little notice of it, or at least not so much as it is their own interest to do. And in short, it was this: that eternal and most glorious Being, here called "Jehovah, the Lord," having from all eternity begotten a Son of one essence or substance with Himself, as He exerted His infinite wisdom, power, and goodness, in creating all things by Him, so He manifested also His infinite grace and truth in redeeming fallen man by Him; Who for that purpose, by the power of His Holy Spirit overshadowing a virgin, [Luke 1. took upon Him the whole nature of man, uniting it to Him- 35.] self in so wonderful a manner, that He became truly man, as well as God, in one and the same person: man in general; having the whole nature of man in Him, as the first man Adam had, with this mighty difference, that the first man was only man, this God as well as Man, and so fully qualified to restore mankind to the same state from which they fell in the first. And therefore was called Jesus the Saviour, as being the only Saviour of mankind, and "able to save to [Heb. 7. the utmost all that come to God by Him," as all were 25.] destroyed by falling from God in the first man.

For the Eternal Son of God being thus become man in [1 Cor. 15. general, another Adam, as He is called, He lived some time 45.]

SERM.

upon earth, fulfilling all righteousness, and performing most perfect obedience to the Will and Law of God, which the first, and all other men, had transgressed: neither was the righteousness which He performed in our nature, only perfect, and therefore as much, but much more than was required of mankind, in that it was the righteousness not of man only, but likewise of God Himself: which He demonstrated by doing many such good works as exceeded the power of man, and therefore could not have been done by Him, but as He was God. And so were all His works. the works of God as well as man; and so was His doctrine also, whereby He taught men what they should believe and do, that they may be saved by Him. Every thing He said was an oracle, uttered by God Himself.

Neither was He obedient only through the whole course [Phil 2. 8.] of His life, but "to death itself, even the death of the cross;" upon which He, the last Adam, suffered that death which had been threatened to the first. And he having suffered it in our whole nature, it was not only equivalent to the death of all men, but it was of infinitely greater worth and value; in that it was the death of a Divine person, One Who was God as well as Man. So that by it, He did not only make full satisfaction for the sins of mankind, and so appeared the wrath which God had justly conceived against them; but He merited also His favour and all sorts of blessings for them, even all things necessary to make them holy and happy for ever; which, therefore, are all promised in Him, and for His sake, in God's Holy Word. And when He had thus, by the sacrifice of His death, made propitiation for the sins of the whole world, He soon after rose from the dead, and went up to Heaven, where He sat down at the right hand of the Throne of God the Father, hath absolute dominion over all the creatures in Heaven and earth, and "ever [Heb. 7. 25.] liveth to make intercession for those who come unto God by Him."

Now, from hence we may see what sure ground we have to expect the favour of God, if we seek it aright: for though we have lost it, His Only-begotten Son hath redeemed it for us; and is always ready to restore us to it, if we do but apply ourselves unto Him for it. It is true, we never did,

nor can see Him upon earth; if we could, He could not do so much for us as He can now that He is in Heaven, there appearing in the presence of God for us: making atonement and reconciliation for our sins, by virtue of the sacrifice which He once offered upon earth for them. What, therefore, if we have sinned? We have all sinned, but Jesus Christ hath suffered for our sins. What if we have incensed the wrath of God against us? His only Son hath delivered us from it. What if we have deserved death? the Lord of life died in our stead. What if we can merit nothing at the hands of God? He Himself hath merited all things for us. What if we have defaced the Image of God, in which we were made? He that is "the express Image of His [Heb.1.3.] Person" can enstamp it again upon us. What if we have no righteousnesses that can bear the test of God in themselves? In Him we have "the righteousness of God" [1 Cor. 1. Himself? What if we can do nothing of ourselves? We can "do all things through Christ that strengtheneth us?" [Phil. 4. What if we have got a "thorn in the flesh, the messenger [2 Cor. 12. of Satan to buffet us?" "His grace is sufficient for us. 7, 9.] His strength is made perfect in weakness." What if we live in the midst of temptations and dangers? He is always with us, ready either to prevent our falling, or else to raise us up again, which He sees best for us. What if we be in such straits that we know not which way to turn us? His Holy Spirit is as a voice behind us, saying, "This is the way, [Isa. 30. walk in it." What if the Devil should "desire to have us, [Inke 22. that he may sift us as wheat?" Our Mediator will pray 31.] that our faith may not fail, and then "the gates of hell can [Matt. 16. never prevail against" us. What if our good works come [18.] short of what the Law requires, and therefore in themselves are offensive unto God? vet being done in His Name, they are acceptable to God through Jesus Christ, "the Lord our [Jer. 23.6.] Righteousness." What if, after all our care and diligence to avoid it, we sometimes fall into sin, and so displease God? "We have an Advocate with the Father, Jesus Christ the [1 John 2. righteous, and He is the propitiation for our sins; and not [2.] for ours only, but for the sins of the whole world." He not only was, when He died for them, but by virtue of that death, He now and always is the propitiation for our sins,

SERM.

hearts, that do not so desire Him. And none can desire the Lord with all their hearts, but they will seek Him so in course; "With my soul," saith the Prophet to God, "have Isa. 26. 9. I desired Thee in the night: yea, with my spirit within me will I seek Thee early."

> But no man can desire the Lord with all his heart, whose heart is still set upon sin or wickedness; for that being directly contrary unto Him, it is impossible they should both be heartily desired at the same time. And therefore, in order to your desiring and seeking the Lord so as to find Him, ye must take that course which the Prophet here prescribes for it; who, when he had said, "Seek ye the Lord while He may be found, call upon Him while He is near,"

adds immediately, " Let the wicked forsake his way, and the unrighteous man his thoughts, and let him return unto the Lord, and He will have mercy upon Him; and to our God, for He will abundantly pardon," whereby we are given to understand, that they who do not forsake their sins, and turn unto the Lord, shall find no mercy at His hands, but they shall find it abundantly that do.

> When your hearts are thus taken off from sin, and your desires wholly carried after the Lord, then ye must seek Him

by prayer, according to the Prophet's direction in my text, "Seek ve the Lord while He may be found, call ve upon Him while He is near;" intimating, that we must seek Him by calling upon Him or praying to Him. To the same purpose Zech. 8. 22. is that in the Prophet Zechariah, "Many people and strong nations shall come to seek the Lord of Hosts in Jerusalem. and to pray before the Lord;" for though many may seem to pray unto the Lord, and yet not seek Him, none can really seek Him without praying to Him, nor with it neither, unless they pray aright, that is, in the Name of the Lord Jesus, our Mediator and Advocate with Him. For as we can never find any favour in the sight of God without Him, so we have no ground to expect it by Him, unless we ask it in His Name; but if we ask it in His Name, we shall certainly have it; for we have His Own word for it, saying, John 16. 23. " Verily, verily, I say unto you, Whatsoever ye shall ask the

> Father in My Name, He will give it you." Whatsoever we may think upon earth, the Name of Jesus is very powerful

in Heaven; so powerful that nothing is ever denied that is good for us, if we heartily use His Name in praying for it; no, not the greatest thing that we can ever desire and seek, even the Lord God Almighty Himself, or His love and favour.

But then we must take care to use His Name aright, even so as to believe, at the same time, that He will make His word good, and intercede so effectually for us, that we shall certainly have what we desire in it. This caution He Himself hath also given us, when He saith, "Therefore I say Mark 11.24. unto you, What things soever ye desire, when ye pray, believe that ve receive them, and ve shall have them;" and therefore commands us, by His Apostles, to pray in "faith, James 1.6. nothing wavering," and "without wrath and doubting." 1 Tim. 2. 8. For if we will not do Him so much right as to take His word, and believe that He will do as He hath said and promised, in the place abovementioned, we deprive ourselves of the benefit of His intercession, for He intercedes for none but those who actually believe and trust in Him. less He mediate or intercede for us, we may pray our hearts out, all will signify nothing, God will neither grant what we desire, nor accept of any thing we do. Whereas, if we diligently seek the Lord God Almighty by prayer and supplication in the Name of His Son Jesus, and keep our faith all the while fixed upon Him as our Advocate, and upon the promises which are made us in Him, we shall not fail of finding Him in the sincere and constant use of the means which He hath appointed for that purpose.

I say, in the use of the means which He hath appointed for that purpose: for we must not expect that He should work miracles for us, or act immediately from Himself, without our using such means as He hath ordained for such an end; for He would not have ordained them, if He had not designed to act by them. Now those which we call the means of grace, because it is in them that God usually manifesteth His grace and favour to us, are the public praying to, and praising His great Name, the solemn hearing His Holy Word read or expounded to us, and celebrating the Sacrament of our Lord's Supper, in memory of His death, by virtue of which He intercedes in Heaven for us: and all

cxxII. CXXII.

God, where He Himself promised, in the Old Testament, to meet His people; "In all places," saith He, "where I record My Name, I will come unto Thee, and I will bless Matt.18.20. thee;" and in the New, our Lord Himself saith, "Where two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am I in the midst of them:" and if He be there, as He most certainly is, wheresoever any number of His faithful people are met together in His Name, they may as certainly find Him there, ready to perfume their spiritual sacrifices with the incense of His merits, that God may smell a sweet savour from them, and manifest His special love and favour to such as heartily and sincerely offer them up unto Him.

I add, heartily and sincerely, because without that they are not spiritual sacrifices, but dead and useless performances, neither acceptable to God, nor any way profitable to those who perform them. We go thither to meet the Lord, the greatest Person in the world, and to seek His favour; and therefore must prepare our hearts, and put them into the best posture that we can, that we may not only carry ourselves before Him, and serve Him with all outward expressions of humility and reverence due to His Divine Majesty, but may likewise keep our minds all the while intent upon Him, and upon the service we are performing to Him; that the petitions we put up unto Him, in the Name of His Son there present, may come from the bottom of our hearts, that our whole souls may be lifted up in praising His Holy Name; that we may receive His Word with all readiness of mind, and sincere resolutions to believe and live according to it; and feed upon our Lord's most blessed body and blood, with such a quick and lively faith, that He may ever after dwell in us and we in Him. could thus heartily and sincerely use the means which He hath appointed for our obtaining His grace and favour, we could not miss of it.

But that we may use them thus, we must use them constantly: it is no easy matter to bring our hearts into such a frame as this; and it can never be done without long and constant exercise. Use makes perfectness in this as well as in other things; they who do not use all these means, can

use none of them to any purpose; and they who seldom use them, can never use them as they ought. What will it avail you to come to Church, to seek the Lord a little, now and then, upon some extraordinary occasion, or when ye have nothing else to do? Is this to seek the Lord, so as to find Him? No, deceive not yourselves, this is no seeking Him at all; for that none can be truly said to do, that do not seek Him before all things in the world besides: whereas it is plain that you seek other things not only besides Him, but before Him too; and then it is no wonder that ye never find Him. At this rate ye can never find Him gracious and merciful to you, but rather angry and displeased with you, for preferring other things before Him, and for not seeking Him while He may be found.

II. "While He may be found." That is the next thing to be considered in these words, wherein ye are commanded to seek the Lord while He may be found; and so are put in mind, that there is a time when He may be found, and a time when He will not. That there is a time when He may be found, we cannot doubt, seeing He hath commanded us For He " said not to the seed of Jacob. Seek Isa. 45, 19. to seek Him. ye Me in vain;" but that there is a time also when He will not be found is too plain to be denied; for He Himself hath said it; He said to His people Israel, "They shall go with Hos. 5. 6. their flocks and with their herds to seek the Lord; but they shall not find Him; He hath withdrawn Himself from them:" and therefore He ordered one of the Prophet's children to be called Loruhamah, that is, one that should not find mercy; and gave this as the reason, " For I will Hos. 1. 6. no more have mercy upon the house of Israel; but I will utterly cast them away." And another he called Lo-ammi, that is, not my people, "For," saith he, "ye are not My ver. 9. people, and I will not be your God." Though He had been their God for so long a time, yet the time would come when they should not find Him any longer so. And when the time drew near that this prophecy was to be accomplished, our Lord, coming near Jerusalem and beholding it, "wept Luke 19,42. over it, saying, If thou hadst known, even thou, at least in this thy day, the things that belong unto thy peace! But now they are hid from thine eyes;" the time was when she

SERM. might have seen them if she would, but she would not then. And now that time is gone; such things are hid from her eyes; so that although she seek them, she shall not find them. And therefore He tells the inhabitants of that city Matt.21.43. and country that "the Kingdom of God shall be taken from them, and given to a nation bringing forth the fruits thereof," whereby He also intimated the reason of this severe threatening, even because they had not lived according to the means of grace, which they had so long enjoyed; therefore they should enjoy them no longer, but other people should now have them, which would make better use of them than they had done.

How punctually this was fulfilled upon the Jews we all know; they were once the people of God, and found Him to be their God, whensoever they duly sought Him; but now He hath cast them off, for their obstinacy and unbelief, for above these sixteen hundred years. And though they have been seeking Him all this while, they could never find Him.

Neither is this the case of the Jews only, but of many nations also which have professed the Christian religion: Judea itself, upon which the Sun of Righteousness first arose, is now returned to darkness: the seven Churches of Asia are now but so many dens of thieves and robbers: all Asia Minor, and Syria, and Egypt, together with Greece, Macedonia, and other parts of Europe, where the Apostles first propagated Christianity, are now overrun with Mahometanism. That part of Africa which we call Barbary, that was once so famous for learning and piety, is now as infamous for ignorance and barbarity; there is scarce a Christian to be found among them; at least, that is a native of the country. And it is much to be observed, that Christianity flourished among them so long as they continued in the unity of the Church, but vanished soon after they fell into schisms and factions. A sad omen for us.

And to come nearer home: it is now near two hundred and three years since the Reformation began in Germany: and so long as they who professed it lived up to what they professed, it spread and increased wonderfully: but now we see how it is persecuted, and in effect suppressed, not only in a neighbour kingdom, but in several parts of the empire.

And, among ourselves; it is now above one hundred and forty years since our Church was reformed; and reformed in doctrine, discipline, and worship, according to the pattern of the Primitive and Apostolic Church, as near as a national Church could well be: and so long as both clergy and people continued steadfastly to believe her doctrine, submit to her discipline, and worship God with one heart and mind, according to her directions; as they sought Him constantly, He was as constantly found of them, and defended both them and His Church established among them, against their enemies on every side.

But how is the case now altered with us! How basely have we left our first love! How far are we fallen from the zeal and piety of our first reformers, and their immediate successors! Which part of our Reformation is now observed, as it once was, and always ought to be? Which of the articles of our holy religion have not been questioned by some, and denied by others, and openly contradicted? What sort of tares did the enemy ever sow in our Lord's field, that have not sprung up again among us? How many false teachers are now to be found among us, who, according to St. Peter's prediction, "privily bring in damnable heresies, 2 Pet. 2. 1. even denying the Lord that bought them, and bring upon themselves" and others too, "swift destruction." How little respect is now shewn to the ministry, or to the discipline that Christ hath settled in His Church! Or rather, how is it generally slighted and despised, as if it was an useless insignificant thing! How many are there, who live as without God in the world, performing no sort of worship to Him! How few that worship Him according to the orders of our Church, with reverence and godly fear! How many are there among us that were never baptized, and so are mere heathens! How many of those who are baptized never receive the Sacrament of our Lord's Supper all their lives long! How few that receive it above once or twice a-year, even in such places also where it is celebrated every Lord's Day! What wonder is it then, that schisms and divisions. ignorance, profaneness, immorality, and all sorts of lewdness and debauchery, have overspread the face of the whole kingdom? How can it be otherwise, when the means which

Digitized by Google

Prov. 1. 24-28.

God hath appointed to make them better, are so generally neglected by people of all ranks and qualities in it?

But is this the way to enjoy the benefit of our Reformation any longer? Or rather, is it not the ready way to lose it? God grant, that may not be the consequent, the sad consequent of our making so little use of it! I am sure we have [Gen. 6. 3.] too much cause to fear it; for the Spirit of God will not

always strive with men.

No nation under Heaven bath had the means of seeking the Lord, and His grace, more duly and powerfully administered, than this for a long time hath had, and of His infinite goodness as yet hath; but if we, notwithstanding, still refuse to seek Him by them, but disregard and abuse them, so as to be no way the better, but rather the worse for them, what can we expect, but that He should take [Matt. 21. 43.] them from us, and give them to a nation that will bring forth the fruits thereof? Which God knows we have not, and therefore may justly deprive us of them, and punish us too for the contempt that we have thrown upon them. Let us hear what He Himself saith, "Because I called, and ve refused; I have stretched out My hand, and no man regarded; but ye have set at nought all My counsel, and would none of My reproof: I also will laugh at your calamity, I will mock when your fear cometh; when your fear cometh as desolation, and your destruction cometh as a

> shall seek Me early, but they shall not find Me." Wherefore, brethren, it is now time, high time, to look about you, and to seek the Lord while He may be found; you do not know how soon He may hide His face, and then it will be in vain to seek Him; and therefore be advised to

> whirlwind: when distress and anguish cometh upon you. Then shall they call upon Me, but I will not answer; they

2 Cor. 6. 2. do it now; for He saith, "I have heard thee in a time accepted, and in the day of Salvation have I succoured thee: Behold, now is the accepted time: behold now is the day of Salvation." "To-day," therefore, "if ye will hear His voice, harden not your hearts," but set yourselves in good

Zeph.2.2-3. earnest to seek the Lord, "before the decree bring forth, before the day pass as the chaff, before the fierce anger of the Lord come upon you, before the day of the Lord come

upon you. Seek ye the Lord, all ye meek of the earth, which have wrought His judgment; seek righteousness; seek meekness: it may be ye shall be hid in the day of the Lord's anger," as the Prophet speaks.

Seek ye the Lord, therefore, while ye may; seek Him with all your hearts, above all things in the world besides; for if ye seek Him, ye seek all the good things ye can desire, and shall have them too: "The young lions do lack Psal. 34. 10. and suffer hunger; but they that seek the Lord shall not 7. want any good thing."

If ye seek Him, ye seek His mercy to pardon all your sins, His wisdom to direct you in all your ways, His power to defend you from all your enemies, His Holy Spirit to support you in all conditions: ye seek "righteousness and peace, [Rom. 14. and joy in the Holy Ghost:" ye seek the truest riches, the highest honours, the greatest pleasures that men or Angels can ever have. These are glorious things, indeed, for a man to seek! Who would not seek them if he might? And who may not find them if he will? Blessed be God, He may yet be found, if we do but seek Him as we ought.

Let us, therefore, by His assistance, now resolve to do so. Let others, if they please, seek the little things upon earth, let us seek the Lord, the greatest, the only good in all the world. Let us seek Him this, and all the rest of our days. This is not a work to be done only now and then, but through the whole course of our lives. It is said of Uzziah, King of Judah, "As long as he sought the Lord, God made him to 2 Chron. 26. prosper." And as long as we heartily seek Him, we shall 5. as certainly find Him. We shall find God the Father, our health, and strength, and tower; our sun and "shield, and [Gen.15.1.] our exceeding great reward." We shall find God the Son, our "wisdom and righteousness, our sanctification and re- [1 Cor. 1. demption." We shall find God the Holy Ghost, our Light, and Life, and Joy; our guide and direction what to do, and our assistance in the doing of it. We shall find this one Almighty Being, the Lord of Heaven and earth, our constant Friend, our Father, and our God; we shall find that He will make His abode with us, cause His face to shine upon us, and so manifest His special love and favour to us: that He will put away from us all hurtful things, and give us all

those things which are profitable for us: that He will preserve us from all evil, and "make all things work together Rom. 8. for our good:" that He will bless and sanctify all occurrences to us, so that whatsoever happens we shall be some way or [2 Pet.1.3.] other the better for it: that He will supply us with "all things necessary for life and godliness:" that He will hide us under the shadow of His wings, that the destroying angel may not come near to touch us: that He will keep us by His Almighty power through faith unto Salvation. short, upon our seeking the Lord heartily upon all occasions. while we are upon earth, we shall find that He will carry us through all the changes and chances of this mortal life, so as to bring us at last to Himself in Heaven, where we shall seek Him no more, but enjoy Him for ever: and all through the merits and intercession of His only Son, our only Mediator and Advocate, Jesus Christ: to Whom, &c.

SERMON CXXIII.

THE WAY OF PLEASING GOD.

1 THESS. iv. 1.

Furthermore then we beseech you, brethren, and exhort you by the Lord Jesus, that as ye have received of us how ye ought to walk and to please God, so ye would abound more and more.

ALTHOUGH we may differ, perhaps, about some things, there is one thing, I dare say, we all agree in; we all agree in this, that the world did not make itself, but that it was made by Almighty God, Who is therefore called Jehovah, Essence, or Being itself, because as He existeth in and of Himself, so He gives essence and existence to all things else:-all things else subsisting so continually in Him, that as nothing could be made, so nothing can continue in its being one moment without Him. And seeing we all agree in this, we cannot but likewise all acknowledge, that this Almighty Being, Who made and upholds the world, doth likewise govern and dispose of all and every thing that is in it; for, seeing all things depend continually on Him, all things must needs be continually subject to His Divine will and pleasure; Who is therefore said to do "whatsoever He Ps.115.3,6. pleaseth;" and that too, "in Heaven and in earth, in the Ps. 135. 6. seas and all deep places;" that is, in the whole world. The whole world is His, He doth what He will with it, and with every thing that is in it. He hath all the Angels in Heaven at His beck, and all the devils in hell at his foot: He gives bounds to the sea; He balanceth the clouds; He governs the winds: He weighs the mountains, and numbereth the

SERM.

very hairs of every man's head; He exalteth one man, and He depresseth another; He makes rich, and He makes poor; He preserveth health, and He bringeth sickness; He gives life, and He takes it away when He pleaseth: so that we and all things in the world are entirely under His command, and at His disposal: He may do with us what He will; for it is in Him that "we live and move and have our being."

[Acts 17. 28.]

> And if so, how happy must they needs be, who are in the favour of this supreme and all-glorious Governor of the world, so as to have Him well pleased with them, and with what they do! This is so great a happiness, that none can apprehend it but they who have it: but they know, they feel it to be not only the greatest, but the only true felicity their nature is capable of. And yet, blessed be God for it, we all, as yet, are capable of it, and may most certainly attain it too, if we do but take the right course in order to it; for St. Paul here puts the Thessalonians in mind, that they had "received of him how they might so walk as to please God:" which plainly shews, that it is not only possible for us little mortals upon earth to please the great God of Heaven, but that St. Paul knew it himself, and had taught the Thessalonians how to do it; and therefore we need not despair, but that having so many of his writings, and others too of the same Divine stamp, we also may from thence learn the true art and method of pleasing God.

> An art of such mighty use, so necessary for all Christians to learn and practise, that we never find the Apostle pressing any thing more earnestly upon them than he doth this; he calls them brethren, to shew, that what he now said to them proceeded merely from his brotherly love and kindness to them: he prays, he beseecheth, he exhorteth them, not in his own name neither, but in the Name of Jesus Christ; in His Name That loved them so, as to give Himself for them; in His Name, Who was so great a Friend to them, as to lay down His Own life to redeem theirs; in His Name Who is their only Mediator and Advocate in Heaven; in His Name he beseecheth and exhorteth them, that as they had received of him how they ought to walk, that is, how they ought to order the whole course of their lives, so as to

please God, so they would abound in it; that they would not only do it, but do it every day more and more; "Furthermore," saith he, "we beseech you, brethren, and exhort you by the Lord Jesus Christ, that as ye have received of us how ye ought to walk, and to please God, so ye would abound more and more."

The Apostle, before the writing of this Epistle to them, had been among the Thessalonians, and had preached the Gospel to them; and they had received the word he preached, "not as the word of man, but (as it is in truth) 1Thes.1.13. the Word of God, which effectually worketh in them who believe;" and, in my text, he reminds them of one of the principal things which they had so received of him, even "how they ought to walk, and to please God." And not doubting but they had already set upon the practice of what he had then taught them, he now adds moreover, that he would have them to abound in it, to do it more sincerely, more exactly, more constantly every day than other.

If those Divine discourses which the Apostle then made to them had been now extant, we need have gone no further to be fully instructed in the great art of pleasing God. But the Holy Ghost did not see it necessary to leave them upon record, having given us sufficient directions about it in the Scriptures, which were written by His inspiration, and have been preserved by His infinite power and goodness to this day. Out of which, therefore, I shall endeavour by His assistance, to give you what light I can into it that you may all know how you ought to walk so as to please God: for which purpose we shall consider,

- I. What it is properly to please God.
- II. What we must do, that we may please God.
- III. How it comes to pass, that any thing we do pleases God.
 - IV. How happy they are who walk so as to please God.
- I. As to the first, when we speak of pleasing God, we must not think that He is moved or affected in Himself, by any thing that we do, as we are apt to be; for He being a most pure, simple, uncompounded, infinite, immutable, eternal act, cannot be subject to any passion; but whatsoever is, or is not done in the world, it is all one to Him,

Digitized by Google

with God," the Seventy render it, xai eungéornos ro Geo, 'he pleased God;' and that this is the true meaning of the phrase is confirmed by the Holy Ghost Himself, saying Heb. 11. 5. of Enoch, that before his translation he "had this testimony, that he pleased God;" from whence it is evident, that walking with God is the same with pleasing of Him; and that he therefore pleased Him because he walked with Him. That is, the whole course of his life was such as God would have it, running parallel all along with His will; so that He walked, as it were, in the same path with God Himself. being holy, according to his capacity, as God is holy, in all [1 Pet. 1. 15.] manner of conversation; and so far as we thus walk with God, as he did, so far we may be confident that God is pleased with us, as He was with him. And therefore, to understand how to please God, we need do no more than consult his Holv Word, and consider what He hath there commanded or forbidden us to do. And if we avoid what He hath forbidden, and do what He hath commanded, we may have the same testimony from God as Enoch had, that we pleased Him. For, by this means, we shall "walk worthy of the Lord, unto all pleasing," as the Apostle John 15, 10, speaks, Col. i. 10, "and continue in God's love."

> But hoping that you all desire in good earnest to please God, and for that purpose to understand more distinctly how to do it, I shall instance, more especially, in such things as Almighty God hath, in a particular manner, signified His pleasure and delight in, the more to excite and encourage us to exercise ourselves continually in them. And they are such as respect either Himself or our neighbours.

1. First, in respect of Himself, He is much pleased with our fearing and trusting on Him. I join them together, Ps. 147, 11. because He Himself doth so, saying, "The Lord's delight is in them that fear Him, and put their trust in His mercy;" whereby we are given to understand, that they who sanctify the Lord of Hosts Himself, and make Him their fear and their dread, so as to fear no thing or person in the world but Him, but fear Him so as to make it their constant care never to break His Laws, dishonour His Name, or offend His Divine Majesty upon any account, although they were sure to gain never so much by it, they so far please God.

that He takes delight in them. And so He doth too in those who trust in His mercy; that is, who in the various changes and chances of this mortal life, "keep their hearts [Ps. 112.7.] always fixed, trusting in the Lord," and in Him only, to prevent the evils they fear, and remove those they feel; to keep them from temptation, or enable them to overcome it: to supply them with all things necessary both for life and godliness; to order every thing that happens, so as to make it turn to their advantage: and so support themselves in all conditions, with a sure trust and confidence on His infinite goodness and mercy to them. They who do thus may be sure that they are highly in God's favour, He being so pleased with them for it, that He takes them into His Own protection, and never fails to give them what they hope for aright from Him, if it be really good for them; and if it be not, He gives them something that is so instead of it. Indeed, there is nothing that I know of whereby we can honour, and, by consequence, please God more, than by living with a constant dependence upon Him to direct, assist, and bless us in what we do, and to give us all things we can desire, to make us holy and happy for ever; so that we may truly say with the Psalmist, "Blessed are all Ps. 2. 12. they who put their trust in Him."

The same may be said of our loving God as our chiefest good, desiring and seeking His favour before all things else. submitting our wills entirely to His, and resting fully satisfied in our minds with every thing that He doth: for such holy and Divine acts of the soul as these are, can proceed from none but from God Himself, and therefore cannot but be very pleasing to Him, as every thing is that He Himself doth. But in all His Holy Word He hath no ways expressed Himself more pleased with any thing, than with the repentance and conversion of a sinner: for this we have not only His word, but His oath too. "As I live, saith Exek.33.11. the Lord God, I have no pleasure in the death of the wicked; but that the wicked turn from his way and live." When the wicked man, who was born, and hath lived all along in sin, when this man turns from his former course of life, leaves off his sins, and becomes a new man, observing all the Commandments of God, and walking from hence-

A A

ver. 23.

forth in His holy ways that lead to everlasting life, this is the man that God takes pleasure in, more than in the death of the wicked; yea, in some sense, more than in the life of the righteous; as our Saviour intimates in the parable of Luke 15.7. the lost sheep, where He assures us, that there is "joy in Heaven over one sinner that repenteth, more than over ninety and nine just persons, which need no repentance;"

and especially in that of the Prodigal Son, who coming to himself, and therefore returning to his father, with what joy and pleasure doth his father receive him! When he saw him a great way off, he had "compassion on him," he ran, he fell on his neck and kissed him. He called for the best robe, and put it on him; he put a ring on his hand, and shoes on his feet: he said to his servants, "Bring hither the fatted calf and kill it, and let us eat and be merry." when his other son, who had served him faithfully all along, seemed to be troubled at it, he mildly rebuked him, saying, ver. 31, 32, "Son, thou art ever with me, and all that I have is thine.

It was meet that we should make merry and be glad: for this thy brother was dead and is alive again, and was lost and is found;" which is certainly the most lively representation that could be made of the great joy that Almighty God is pleased to take in the conversion of a sinner: and should make all sinners, such as we all are, resolve, without any more ado, to return from their sins to God, that so they may be in the number of those blessed souls, with which the Supreme Governour of the whole world is so much pleased.

But though the first conversion of sinners, and their admission into the catalogue of Saints be thus in a peculiar manner pleasing unto God, yet He is pleased likewise with all the faithful services which they afterwards perform to Him; especially with their solemn and devout addresses to Prov. 15.8. Him: "for the sacrifice of the wicked is an abomination to the Lord; but the prayer of the upright is His delight:" whereby is signified to us, that God Himself delights both in the private and public devotions of His people; and, by consequence, if we would continue in His favour, and have Him always pleased with us, as we must often retire into our closets, and there pray to our Father in secret, so we must [Heb. 10. 25.] "not forsake the assembling of ourselves together," but take all the opportunities that we can get of presenting ourselves together before Him, to beg His mercy in the pardon of our sins, to implore His aid and assistance against temptations. and to supplicate His Divine goodness to give us that measure of His grace and Holy Spirit, whereby we may be able to serve Him with a perfect heart and a willing mind; and to supply us with all things else which He knows to be needful for us.

But above all, when we meet together, we must never forget to praise and magnify His most Holy Name; this being one of the most acceptable services we can ever perform to Him; far beyond all the sacrifices of the Law; "I Ps. 69. 30, will praise the Name of God," saith David, "with a song, and will magnify Him with thanksgiving; this also shall please the Lord better than an ox or bullock that hath horns and hoofs." When an ox or bullock had horns and hoofs. he was judged fit to be offered up in sacrifice; yet how fit soever he was, the offering of praise and thanksgiving was even in those days the more acceptable sacrifice unto God: and therefore David used to offer it up seven times a-day; "Seven times a-day," saith he, "do I praise Thee because of Ps. 119.164. Thy righteous judgments." Not that he stinted himself to so many times and no more, but that seven times a-day was the least that he usually did it: for he being a man after God's Own heart, could not but take all occasions of admiring and praising His great Name; which offering themselves continually, he could not but continually do it, as we see all along in the psalms composed by him, which are all but as one continued song of praise and thanksgiving unto the Most High God. And if we would always please God, we also must be always praising of Him; wheresoever we are, still lifting up our hearts unto Him, in praise and thanksgiving for the mercies we receive continually from Him, "speaking to ourselves in psalms and hymns and spiritual Eph. 5. 19. songs, singing and making melody in our hearts unto the 20. Lord; giving thanks always for all things unto God and the Father in the Name of our Lord Jesus Christ;" from whence we may observe, that this is a duty we ought to be always employed in, and that by this means we make melody in our hearts, unto the Lord; that is, our singing and praising

15, 21, 31.

1 Tim. 2. 1-3.

SERM. Him in our heart, sounds so melodiously in His ears, that CXXIII. He is as much delighted and pleased with it as a skilful ear is affected with a well-tuned song.

Especially when we meet together in the Church militant, we ought to join with the Church triumphant in singing hallelujahs to Him, calling upon one another to praise the Lord: as David doth no less than four times in one psalm, saying, "Oh that men would praise the Lord for His good-Ps. 107. 8, ness, and for His wonderful works to the children of men!" And hence it is, that psalms and hymns make so great a part of our public prayers, and render them so pleasing and acceptable to Almighty God, that they who always join sincerely in them, may be sure that they always please Him. But that we may do it the more effectually, we must observe the Apostle's rule (as our Church doth in her public Liturgy), even that our "supplications, prayers, intercessions, and giving of thanks, be made for all men; for kings, and for all that are in authority. For this," saith he, "is good and acceptable in the sight of God our Saviour." And we must also take all opportunities we can get of receiving the Sacrament of the Lord's Supper; whereby, as we offer unto God the sacrifice of praise and thanksgiving, so He doth thereby assure us of His favour and goodness towards us (as our Church expresseth it), that He is well pleased with us, and with what we do: it being only by Him, Whose body and blood we there receive, that either that or any other service we perform to God is accepted of Him; as we shall see more presently.

2. And as for the duties which we owe to one another, Almighty God hath declared Himself particularly pleased with children's obedience to parents; "Children obey your Col. 3. 20; 1 Tim. 5. 4. parents in all things: for this is well-pleasing unto the Lord."

And also with veracity, justice, and charity: with veracity Prov. 12.22. or speaking the truth always from the heart; "for lying lips are an abomination to the Lord: but they that deal truly are His delight;" with justice, or dealing honestly and uprightly, so as not to wrong, or cheat, or overreach one another, but ch. 11. 1,20; to "do to all men as we would have them do to us; for ch. 20, 23. the false balance is abomination to the Lord, but a just weight is His delight;" yea, "to do justice and judgment is Prov. 21. 3. more acceptable to the Lord than sacrifice." And then for charity, or the liberal contribution to the relief of others' necessities, that the Apostle calls "an odour of sweet smell, Phil. 4. 18. a sacrifice acceptable, well-pleasing unto God;" and therefore he elsewhere saith, "But to do good, and to communicate Heb. 13.16. forget not, for with such sacrifices God is well pleased."

There are many other things which God is pleased with; Who indeed is pleased with every thing we do according to His will. But I have instanced more particularly in these, because God Himself doth so in His Holy Word: from whence we may most certainly conclude, that we can never do any thing which God hath commanded, but He is pleased with the doing of it: but more especially if we do not only do it, but patiently suffer also for the doing it; for "if when 1 Pet. 2. 20. ye do well and suffer for it, ye take it patiently, this is acceptable with God."

Acceptable with God, may some say, how can that be? How can such sinful creatures as we are ever do any thing pleasing or acceptable with God? Are we not all born in sin? Do not we all live in sin? Is there a just man upon earth that doth good and sinneth not? Yea, that sinneth not in the very good he doth, by not doing it so well as he ought? How then can we do any thing pleasing to God, Who is of "purer eyes than to behold iniquity," and of so [Hab. 1. pure and holy a nature, that every sin is an offence to Him? How then can we expect that He should have respect to us, or to any thing that we do, seeing we do many things contrary to His will, and nothing exactly according to it?

It is true, if we look no further than ourselves, and our own actions, we may justly despair of ever finding any favour in His sight; but have rather cause to expect that He should be angry and displeased with every thing we do, and with ourselves too, for the doing of it. But, blessed be His Name, He Himself hath found out a way whereby what we do imperfectly may be as acceptable in His sight, as if it was perfectly done; and that is, by His Son Jesus Christ; "To the Eph. 1.6, 7. praise of the glory of His grace, wherein He hath made us accepted in the Beloved; in Whom we have redemption through His blood, the forgiveness of sins, according to the

SERM. riches of His grace;" and therefore St. Peter, speaking to all CXXIII. 1 Pet. 2. 5. Christians, saith, "Ye also, as lively stones, are built up a spiritual house, an holy priesthood, to offer up spiritual sacrifices, acceptable to God by Jesus Christ;" so that He Heb. 13. 21. now makes us "perfect in every good work to do His will, working in us that which is well-pleasing in His sight, through Jesus Christ; to Whom be glory for ever and ever." From whence it appears that not only our persons, but our actions too are acceptable and well-pleasing to God, though not in themselves, yet by Jesus Christ our Lord, in Whom He Himself once and again declared Himself well pleased, saying, "This is My beloved Son in Whom I am well pleased:" in Whom, not only with Whom; whereby He hath assured us that He is not only well pleased with Him, but in Him, with all those also who truly believe in Him: and so by faith are united to Him, and made members of that body whereof He is head. And, verily, as this is the only way whereby it is possible

for mankind to please God, so this way, even by faith in Christ, some have done it all along, from the very beginning of the world; as we may see in that famous instance of Abel: Gen. 4. 3-5. for it is written, "that Cain brought of the fruit of the ground an offering unto the Lord; and Abel, he also brought of the firstlings of his flock and of the fat thereof. And the Lord had respect unto Abel and to his offering, but unto Cain and to his offering He had not respect." From whence it appears that God had respect unto, that is, He accepted of, or was well pleased with Abel's offering, but not with Cain's, and that they both knew it. But how did they know it? To waive disputes, it seems more than probable, that God manifested His acceptation of Abel's offering, by consuming it with fire from Heaven, as He did Gideon's, Elijah's, David's, Solomon's; whereby He signified 1 Kings 18. His acceptance of their offerings, and so He did for the first 38. 1 Chron. 21. which Aaron, after his consecration, offered: for when he had slain the bullock and the ram, and laid them in order upon the altar, it is said, "And there came fire out from before the Lord, and consumed upon the altar the burntoffering and the fat: which when all the people saw, they shouted, and fell on their faces;" which plainly argues that

Judges 6. 2 Chron. 7. 1, 3. Lev. 9. 24. the people looked upon this as a certain sign that God accepted of the offering, in that they shouted for joy, and adored Him for it.

This is that fire which God commanded should be always Lev. 6. 12. kept burning upon the altar; and none of their ordinary sacrifices were accepted of, but such as were consumed by this fire; which, therefore, was carefully kept burning upon the altar all along till the Babylonish Captivity. And if we ch. 1. 19. may believe what is written in the Second Book of Maccabees, it was revived afterwards; but according to the tradition of the Jews, this was one of the five things which were wanting in the second temple. This, therefore, being the common way whereby God was pleased to express His acceptance of what was offered to Him, we may easily conclude that He manifested His respect to Abel's offering, and not to Cain's, by consuming that with fire, and not the other's.

But why had Almighty God respect to Abel's offering, and not to Cain's? To me the reason seems plainly this, that Cain offered only of the fruit of the ground, which had no respect to Christ, but only to God, as the Creator of the world; whereas Abel offered the firstlings of his flock, and the fat thereof, which was a bloody sacrifice, typifying the death of Christ, "the Lamb slain from the foundation of the [Rev.13.8.] world;" and so exercised his faith in the promised Messiah. And therefore the Apostle saith, " By faith Abel offered to Heb. 11. 4. God a more excellent sacrifice than Cain;" by faith, that is, by believing the promise which God had made to mankind in Christ, and manifesting his faith, by offering such a sacrifice as represented the death of Christ; by Whom, therefore, his sacrifice was well-pleasing and acceptable to God. So " Enoch pleased God." ver. 5.

The same may be said of Abraham, who was so highly in the favour of God, that he is called the friend of God, not only by Jehoshaphat, but by God Himself, saying, "The seed 2 Chron. 20. of Abraham My friend." And he is the only man we ever 7. Isa. 41. 8. heard of, that God Himself was pleased in so particular a manner to call His friend: yea, He entered into a strict alliance or covenant with him, as one friend doth with another. But how came God to be so much pleased with

Abraham, above all others? Doubtless, the reason was, CXXIII. because he excelled others in his faith in the promised seed, that is, in Christ; as St. James intimates, where he saith, Jam. 2, 23. "Abraham believed God, and it was imputed unto him for righteousness: and he was called the friend of God;" because he believed God, when He said, "In thy seed shall all the nations of the earth be blessed," therefore he was accepted of as righteous, and therefore was he called the friend of God. Which plainly shews, that the great reason why God was so pleased with Abraham, and with what he did, was upon the account of Christ, because he believed in Him, as promised by Almighty God. The same may be said of all the Patriarchs, Prophets, and Saints in the Old Testament, as also of those under the New; for none ever did or can do any thing pleasing and acceptable to God, but only by Jesus Christ our Lord: but by Him, there are none of us but may so walk as to please God.

> For by Him we may be assisted in what we do with the Holy Spirit of God Himself, Who, proceeding as from the Father, so likewise from the Son, cannot but actuate and influence all that are by faith united to Him, and made sound

- 2 Cor. 12.9. members of His body; by which means His grace is always sufficient for them; His strength is made perfect in their weakness, and the power of Christ rests continually upon them; the word is imioannion, it dwells in a peculiar manner in them, as the שכינה, or Divine presence did in the Temple.
- Phil. 4. 13. Hence every true Christian may say with the Apostle, "I can do all things through Christ Which strengtheneth me;" the Holy Ghost Himself being, as the same Apostle speaks,
- Tit. 3. 5, 6. "shed on them abundantly, through Jesus Christ our Saviour;" by Whom, therefore, they are enabled not only to walk worthy of God, but likewise unto all well-pleasing; for God is always well pleased with what He Himself doth; but

what they do, is done by Him and His Holy Spirit, working [Phil. 2. 13.] in them both to will and to do: and therefore it cannot but be acceptable to Him, at least, so far as it proceedeth from Himself, and is begun, carried on, and finished by His Own Holy Spirit co-operating with them.

But notwithstanding the supernatural grace which we receive from God through Jesus Christ our Lord, yet, by reason of the corruption of our nature, and our manifold infirmities, we cannot, or at least we do not, make that use of it, as thereby to adjust any of our actions perfectly to the will of God: but, do what we can, we either go beyond, or come short of it. And although, so far as His Own grace concurs in what we do, so far it is, doubtless, pleasing to God: yet so far as we ourselves are concerned (as we always are) in any action, so far it is imperfect, and therefore must needs offend Him Whose nature is perfection itself. Hence, therefore, our blessed Saviour, to put us into a capacity of pleasing God, doth not only assist us with His Own grace in what we do, but hath made satisfaction also for our failures in the doing of it; for He was made a "Propitiation for our 1 John 2. 1. sins;" for all our sins, not only for others, but likewise for those sins which God's all-seeing eye observes in our best performances: yea, "He Who knew no sin was made sin 2 Cor. 5. 21. for us, that we might be made the righteousness of God in Him;" that is, that although we are not perfectly so in ourselves or actions, yet God might accept of us as righteous in Him, by virtue of that perfect obedience and righteousness which He performed in our nature and stead; Who is therefore said to be made our Righteousness, as well as our Sanc- 1 Cor. 1. 30. tification; our Sanctification to assist us in what we do, and our Righteousness to make it acceptable to God, when it is done. But for both these purposes it is necessary that we actually believe in Him; for it is to our faith in Christ Heb. 11. 6. that the Scriptures all along ascribe both our sanctification, and likewise the justification both of our persons and our actions before God.

By these things thus briefly touched upon, you may easily perceive how you may so walk as to please God: for do but sincerely endeavour, to the utmost of your knowledge and power, to do all such good works as God hath prepared for [Eph. 2. you to walk in, "and whatsoever ye do in word or deed, do Col. 3. 17. all in the Name of the Lord Jesus," so as to believe and trust on Him at the same time, both for His assistance of you in the doing it, and for God's acceptance of it when it is done, and then you may be confident that God, for His sake, will be well pleased with what you do, as well as He is with

the most perfect services of the glorious Saints and Angels in Heaven

And, verily, it is well for us that we have such a Mediator and Advocate, Who is able to make up all differences, to reconcile Almighty God our Maker to us, and to prevail with Him to accept of any thing that we do; for otherwise what a sad condition had we all been in! He that made us would have been always angry and displeased with us. And what the effects of that would be, no tongue is able to express. God grant that none of us may ever experience Methinks I cannot so much as think of it without horror and dread, lest I myself, or any one here present, [Ps. 2.12.] should fall under His displeasure. "If His wrath be kindled, yea, but a little," what can we do? Whither can we go for shelter? Shall we go to the Saints and Angels in Heaven? They cannot help us if they would. Shall we go to the fiends of Hell? They will not help us if they could. Shall we go to our fellow-mortals upon earth? They neither can nor will help us, their hands and their hearts too being wholly at His command: so that He can arm them all, when He pleases, against us, and make every thing that is, a distinct executioner of His Divine vengeance upon us: yea. He can set us against ourselves, and make our own consciences fly like so many furies in our faces, and rack and torment us continually. He can make all things run cross to us, and vex us; yea, he can make us vexed at every thing, whether any thing gives us any cause or no. that which is worst of all, He can "make us possess all our iniquities" together, and fill our souls with such a sense of His wrath and indignation against us for them, that we should not be able to endure ourselves, nor bear up under it, but should immediately sink down to nothing, if He Himself did not uphold us by His almighty power, for the honour of His justice, and to make us know and feel what it is to offend our Maker. This, and infinitely more than we are able to conceive, He can do, not only at what time He will, but to all eternity. Can, did I say? Yea, and will too, unless we take care to appease His wrath we have already kindled, and to walk, for the future, so as to please Him.

[Job 13. 26.]

IV. But how happy must they needs be, who always do so! Who always please God! Who please Him that made and governs the whole world! They can want nothing, having Him. Who hath all things to supply them. They can desire nothing that is good for them, but they may have it at any time, for asking. "Whatsoever we ask," saith St. John, "we 1John 3. 22. receive of Him, because we keep His commandments, and do those things that are pleasing in His sight." They can be nowhere but they have the best company in the world, for they have Him that made it always with them, not only by His essential, but by His special and peculiar presence, to direct them by His wisdom, to assist them by His grace, to comfort them by His Spirit, to protect them by His power, and to bless and prosper them by His goodness in all their undertakings. As they walk with God, He walks with them, so as "never to leave or forsake them" in the [Heb. 13. least; "He that sent Me," saith Christ, "is with Me: the John 8, 29, Father hath not left Me alone; for I do always those things that please Him."

Moreover, so long as you please God, ye need not care who is displeased with you. If He be your friend, it is no matter what enemies you have: for "when a man's ways prov. 16. 7. please the Lord, He maketh even his enemies to be at peace with him." He hath the hearts of all men in His hand, and can turn and wind them which way He will. He can allay their choler, assuage their wrath, restrain their fury, and turn their hatred into love and friendship. He gave Joseph Gen. 39. favour in the sight of the keeper of the prison; He gave Daniel love and favour in the eyes of the prince of the Dan. 1.9; Eunuchs; and so He can give you favour, when He Ps. 106. 46. pleaseth, in the sight of the worst enemies you have in the world, so as to make them your best friends: and how long soever He may suffer their choler to boil in their breasts, He can keep it from breaking forth either at their hands or tongues; so that whatsoever they think, or wish, they shall not be able to speak or do you any ill: as we see in David, who being a man after God's Own heart, though Saul hated [1 Sam. 26. him mortally, and hunted him like a partridge upon the moun- 10.] tains, yet he could never catch him, nor come near to hurt him. And so long as the Children of Israel pleased God.

SERM. though all the kingdoms and nations about them were their enemies, "He suffered no man to do them wrong, but reproved even kings for their sakes; saying, Touch not Mine anointed, and do My Prophets no harm." Thus whatsoever grudge or hatred they bear you, God can so order it, if He please, that they shall never do you any mischief, but shall live as peaceably with you, as if they were your friends: and, as He can do it, if He pleases, so you may be sure He will be pleased to do it, if you continue to please Him.

Neither will He make only such enemies as ye have among men to be at peace with you, but He will cause other creatures to be so too; "For thou shalt be in league with the stones of the field; and the beasts of the field shall be at peace with thee." And lest this should seem strange or impossible, that the very beasts and stones should enter into a league with men. God hath said, that He Himself will Hos. 2.18. undertake it, "In that day," saith He, "will I make a cove-

nant for them with the beasts of the field, and with the fowls of heaven, and with the creeping things of the ground," that is, He will take care that no creature shall hurt those who please Him their Creator. As we see He hath done all along. The water that drowned the Egyptians, made way [Ex. 14.]

for the children of Israel to pass through it: the fire [Dan. 3. could not scorch one hair of the three children that were

[ch. 6. 22.] thrown into the furnace: the hungry lions could not seize upon Daniel, when he was in the den, in the midst of them:

[Acts28.5.] and though a viper fastened upon St. Paul's hand, it fell off again without doing him any harm. The same may be said of the powers of Hell, they may shew their malice, but they cannot execute it, as Balaam found by experience, saying,

"Surely there is no enchantment against Jacob, neither is there any divination against Israel." Thus all they who please God are always safe and secure from danger; they need not fear what men or devils, or any creature in the world, can do unto them. So long as the Creator Himself is pleased with them, though all creatures in Heaven and earth should combine together, they could not hurt them.

Not hurt them, did I say? So far from that, that the whole creation, and all and every thing that is in it, shall



concur to do them good; "for we know," saith the Apostle, Rom. 8. 28. "that all things work together for good to them that love God, to them who are the called according to His purpose:" and it cannot be otherwise; for all things depending every thing one upon another, and all upon God, acting and moving under Him, they cannot but always produce what He pleaseth. But He is always pleased to do them good who please Him; and therefore all things being influenced by Him, must needs do so too: by which means they are as happy as all the creatures in the world can make them.

But above all, they who please God, are happy upon that very account, because they please God; because they please Him Who is the centre and the fountain of all the happiness that mankind is capable of, and communicates it to all those, and to none but those who please Him, by manifesting Himself to be pleased with them; "in His pleasure Ps. 30. 5. is life," said David; that is, all the joy and happiness of the soul, it all not only depends upon, but consisteth in, the favour and pleasure of God.

To have the light of His countenance shining upon us, and by it to behold His special love and kindness to us, His pleasure and delight in us, and shewing Himself to be reconciled to us, and well pleased with us; this is that blessed sight which we call the beatific vision, the sight that fills the soul with love, and light, and joy, and bliss, and happiness, as full as ever it can hold. This is the greatest, or rather the only true happiness that our souls are capable of: and, so far as we please God, so far we may partake of it, even in this life: but in the next, we shall have it perfectly, because we shall perfectly please God for ever.

These things, being duly weighed, are sufficient to prevail with all sober and considering persons, to make it their great care and design, for the future, to please God, and to approve themselves to Him, in every thing they think, or speak, or do. Wherefore I need say no more, but shall conclude, as I began, with the words of my text, "Furthermore then we beseech you brethren, and exhort you by the Lord Jesus, that as ye have received of us how ye ought to walk, and to please God, so ye would abound more and more."

SERMON CXXIV.

THE PARABLE OF THE SOWER.

Матт. хііі. 18.

Hear ye therefore the Parable of the Sower.

SERM. CXXIV.

Among the great blessings which this kingdom enjoys above most others, there is none greater than that the pure Word of God is so constantly read and preached in it, and that by officers authorised and appointed by Christ Himself, and therefore assisted by His Holy Spirit in the doing of it. By which means, one would think, that the whole nation in general, and all particular persons in it, should be wise, and holy, and just, and good, every way such as God would have them, seeing they have His will so fully revealed to them, by His Word sounding continually in their ears, and set before their eyes too, in as clear a light as ever shone upon earth, since the "Sun of Righteousness" Himself was here. And yet, to our great astonishment and admiration, as well as to our grief and sorrow, we may observe, that a great part of this nation, if not the far greatest, are as ignorant of God, as negligent of their duty to Him, as envious and malicious against one another, as proud, as factious, as intemperate, as lascivious, as unjust, as uncharitable, every way as vicious in their lives and actions, as if they had never heard one tittle of God's Word in all their lives.

This I have often thought of: and have as often wondered what should be the reason of it. Many have offered themselves as concurring towards it: but I could never be fully satisfied about it, but from this parable of the sower; wherein

Christ Himself hath given us the best and clearest account of it that ever was or can be given: for indeed none else could ever truly do it, but He Who knows men's hearts, and sees how His Word is received therein, what impediments it meets with at its entrance, what entertainment it hath when gotten in, and how it comes to pass that it is sometimes kept, and sometimes cast out again. Men can only guess at these things, but Christ knows them perfectly; and therefore hath been pleased to give us a perfect account of the whole matter in this parable, beginning ver. 3.

- 3. "Behold, saith He, a sower went forth to sow;
- 4. "And when he sowed, some seeds fell by the wayside, and the fowls came and devoured them up:
- 5. "Some fell upon stony places, where they had not much earth: and forthwith they sprung up, because they had no deepness of earth:
- 6. "And when the sun was up, they were scorched; and because they had no root, they withered away.
- 7. "And some fell among thorns; and the thorns sprung up and choked them.
- 8. "But others fell into good ground, and brought forth fruit, some an hundred-fold, some sixty-fold, some thirty-fold."

This is the parable itself, which when our Lord had uttered, and had resolved the disciples' question, why He spoke to the people in parables, He explains to them the full meaning of it; and that they might take the more notice of it, He begins with these words, "Hear ye therefore the parable of the sower:" as if He had said, "Ye that are My Disciples and Apostles, and so must both learn My mind yourselves, and teach it to others, do ye hearken diligently to this parable, for it will be of great use to you in both respects."

And so verily it is, both to the ministers that preach, and to the people that hear the Word of God. It is of great use to us, because it shews us the reason why our ministry is not always so successful as we could wish it was. For ye may easily imagine that it is a great trouble and discouragement to us, to preach the Word of God time after time, for many years togther, and yet see little or no effect of it upon

SERM.

[1 Cor. 9. 6.] those who hear us: but after we have done and said all we can, most part of them are not one jot the wiser or the better for what we have said or done. Though we tell you what Almighty God would have you to believe, yet you will not believe it; though we tell you what He would have you do, yet ye will not do it. I am sorry I can speak this upon mine own experience. I could instance in several particulars, wherein I have often told you, as plainly as I could, what duties you ought to perform to God, but I see, as plainly, that ve do not perform them. And this is the case of most ministers: I wish I could not sav of all. All that we sav. is like water spilt upon the ground: or, as the Apostle expresseth it, it is but "beating the air;" men give us the hearing, and that is all. Which we cannot but all be troubled at: for it makes us sometimes suspect that the fault is in ourselves, that we do not do our duty as we ought; that we do not preach often enough, or not plain enough, or not pressing enough, or some way or other fail in the discharge of the office which God hath committed to us, notwithstanding that we take all the care that we can in it. thoughts of which would be enough to dishearten us from going on, lest we should enhance our own reckoning at the last day, but that our great Master Himself hath shewn us, in this parable, that the fault is chiefly in the people: that although we do our duty never so well, yet we must not always expect that success which we desire of it; for there is still something or other in the people that hinders it. Though the seed we sow be never so good, and though we sow it with all the care and prudence that we can, yet, after all, the most part of it will be lost, because the ground we sow it in is bad; so bad, that it is much, and we have great cause to bless God, if any of it comes to perfection.

And as we who preach, so ye that hear the Word of God, may be much edified by this parable. I say, may, not will be: for I fear that my preaching upon it will have no more effect than what is intimated in the parable itself, such as other sermons use to have, that is, very little, if any at all. But if ye be not wanting to yourselves in hearkening to it, I am sure ye may receive great instruction and edification from it: for ye cannot but be sensible of your great unpro-

Digitized by Google

fitableness under the means of Grace, having heard many hundreds, perhaps several thousands of sermons in your life, and yet are no way the better for it, if not much worse; and ye cannot but wonder what should be the reason of it. But here ye have the reason of it plainly set down before your eyes; you may see where the fault lies, and, by consequence, if ye have any regard for your souls, mend it for the future. Which that ye may, I would desire you to apply what is said all along, every one to himself, and consider which part of the parable toucheth him, or cometh the nearest to his case: for there is not one person in the congregation, but what is particularly concerned in something or other that is said in it, as ye will all find, by the time that we have gone quite through it.

But before we descend to the parts of it, there are several things worthy to be observed in the whole. For here we may first observe in general, that the seed that was sown was all of the same sort, and of the same goodness: there was not one sort of seed sown in bad ground, and another in good, but the same in both; and therefore the reason why it grew better in one place than another, could not be from the seed itself. And so the reason why the Word preached profits some more than others, cannot be from the Word itself, for that is the same in all.

Secondly. We may observe, that as the seed was the same, so was the Sower. "Behold," saith Christ, "a sower went forth to sow." One sower: the seed was all sown by the same hand; with the same art and care: and therefore the fault could not be in the sower, no more than in the seed, why any of it perished. So here, although the same preacher preacheth the same Word of God, yet it hath not the same effect upon all; but some are profited by it, others not: which therefore cannot be imputed to the preacher.

Thirdly. We may likewise observe, that as the same sower sowed the same seed, so he did it at the same time; for he went forth but once: he did not sow some seed at one time of the year, and some at another; then the season or the weather might have made great alteration; but he sowed it altogether: and therefore neither can the seasonableness nor unseasonableness of the time be pleaded, why some

SERM. CXXIV. should grow better than other. And so it is in preaching, although the same person preacheth the same Word of God at the same time, yet it shall not have the same effect upon all; but some are edified by it, others not: and it cannot be said that it was in season to those, and out of season to these; for the season was one and the same to both.

In the next place, we may observe, that although the seed, the sower, and the time, were all one and the same, yet the event was different four several ways: some was picked up by the birds, some withered away, some was choked with thorns, and some brought forth fruit. And there are as many differences in hearing God's Word: some do not mind it; some mind it, but do not retain it; some retain, but do not practise it; and some mind, retain, and practise it too.

Lastly. We may observe, that of these four events of the seed sown, three were bad, and but only one good: for three parts were lost, to one that came to perfection: and it would be well if the difference was no greater in the Word preached, if but one in three could be wrought upon effectually by it. But we have just cause to fear, that this is the least; especially in our age, wherein it is rare to find one in ten, or perhaps in twenty that set themselves in good earnest to avoid what they hear to be forbidden, and to do what they hear to be commanded by God. But whatsoever the event be, the Word must be preached, the seed must be sown; and therefore I shall scatter it among you, and do ye take care to improve it, every one to his own advantage, that ye may not be in the number of any of the three first, but of the last sort of hearers mentioned in this parable, such as profit by what they hear, so as to bring forth fruit meet for repentance.

For which purpose, we shall now consider the several parts of the parable; and that ye may understand them all the better, I shall set them down as they lie in order, each part distinctly by itself, and then explain the meaning which Christ Himself hath given us of it, and commanded us to take special notice of it, saying, "Hear ye therefore the parable of the Sower."

First, therefore, "Behold," saith our Lord, "a sower went

forth to sow, and when he sowed, some seeds fell by the wayside, and the fowls came and devoured them up:"
St. Luke adds, that "it was trodden down," as seed that is [Lukes.5.] sown by the wayside use to be by passengers. But as St. Matthew, St. Mark, and St. Luke, have all recorded this parable, as being of great use to the Church, so they all agree in saying, that "the fowls of the air devoured the seed by the wayside."

Now let us hear our Saviour's explication of it: "When," Matt.13.19. saith He, "any one heareth the Word of the Kingdom, and understandeth it not, then cometh the wicked one, and catcheth away that which was sown in his heart: this is he which received seed by the wayside." St. Luke expresseth Luke 8. 12. it something plainer, saying, "Those by the wayside are they that hear; then cometh the Devil, and taketh away the Word out of their hearts, lest they should believe and be saved."

By comparing these, and likewise St. Mark's Gospel to- [Mark 4.3, gether, we may easily understand what is meant in the parable by the seed, by the sower, by the wayside, by the fowls of the air, and how and why they devoured it.

By the seed is meant, "the Word of the Kingdom," as St. Matthew calls it, or as St. Luke, "the Word of God," [Luke 8. the great King of Heaven and Earth, the Word which He hath spoken, and caused to be written down concerning His Kingdom of Grace and Glory. St. Mark calls it xar' [Mark 4. iξοχὴν, 'The Word,' as infinitely exceeding all the words that ever were or can be spoken by men. And this Word may well be compared to seed, as appearing but small and contemptible, and yet having such a prolific and generative faculty in it, that it increaseth and multiplies, and brings forth fruit according to the nature of the ground, as all seed commonly doth where it is sown.

By the sower is meant Christ, as He Himself saith in another parable in this chapter, "He that soweth the good Matt.13.37. seed is the Son of Man." It is He by Whom the Word of God hath been spoken and dispersed all along, and still is: we are only His ambassadors, preaching only His Word, and that too only in His Name and in His stead; and there- 2 Cor. 5.20.

By the wayside is meant such as hear the Word, but do

SERM.
(XXIV.
1Thes. 2.13.
"not as the word of men, but as it is in truth the Word of God." It is His Word that we preach and publish: and no [Heb. 5.4.] man taketh this office upon him, but he who is called and ordained to it by Christ Himself: as no man soweth in the field but the master himself, or such of his servants as he [Matt. 13.
appoints and sends out to do it; and if any other presume to do it, it is an enemy, that doth not sow wheat but tares.

not understand it, or, as the Word signifies, "do not regard or mind it;" it doth not sink into them, no more than seed that is sown upon a hard pathway, it lies upon the surface, making no impression at all upon their hearts: though they hear it sounding in their ears, they take but little notice of Ezek.33.31. it; for their hearts all the while "go after their covetousness," their thoughts are generally taken up with other things; one is thinking of his goods; another of his houses or lands: a third of his chapmen; a fourth of his debtors or creditors; a fifth of his relations or acquaintance; a sixth of something he did yesterday; a seventh of something he is to do to-morrow or next day. And so through the whole congregation; though two, perhaps, may not think of the same thing, there is scarce one but who is thinking of something or other besides the Word they hear, which hinders that from having any power at all upon their minds, unless it be perhaps to slight and despise it, as many do, according to what is intimated in the parable by the seed's being trodden down: for many undervalue the Word itself, and trample it under their feet, as not worthy to be regarded by them. is too plain, or else too pricking: it is no more than what they knew before, or that which they do not care to know. When St. Paul was preaching, the Athenian philosophers Acts 17, 18, cried out, "What will this babbler say?" And when he spake of the resurrection of the dead, "some mocked." Luke 16.14. When Christ Himself was preaching, the Pharisees derided Him; and though they would sometimes come to hear Him,

it was only to see if they "could catch something out of His mouth, that they might accuse Him." There are many such hearers of God's Word as these; I wish there be not many

here at this time: but to all such, the Word of God is like seed sown in the wayside, ready to be catched up and devoured by the fowls of the air.

By the fowls of the air is meant the Wicked One: that is Satan, or the Devil, who is called the "Prince of the Eph. 2. 2. Power of the Air." He and his fiends are always hovering about in the air, especially where the Word of God is preached, as birds do over ground that is newly sown, that he may catch up that which falls by the wayside, as soon as he can. He useth all his art to make people dull and sleepy, that they may not hearken at all to the Word: and if that will not do, but they are fully awake, he presents them with one object or other to divert their thoughts; or so soon as sermon is done, he brings somebody to them to talk of worldly affairs, or else finds them work at home; and all to put what they have heard out of their minds, lest they should ruminate upon it, and so digest it into good nourishment for their souls. Not that he cares for it himself. It is said indeed, that the fowls of the air devour the seed, but not that the Devil devours the Word, but only that he catcheth and taketh it away: he doth not devour it; it is no food for him, as being quite contrary to his wicked temper, so that the very thoughts of it put him into a fit of trembling, as St. James saith, "The devils believe and James 2.19. tremble." But why then doth the Devil take so much pains to take the Word out of men's heart? St. Luke saith he doth it, " lest they should believe and be saved:" though [Luke 8. he hath no appetite to the Word, he hath a mind to devour [2.] those that hear it, and therefore "walketh about, seeking 1 Pet. 5. 8. whom he may devour;" but if God's Word should continue any time in men's minds, and they should seriously think upon it, they would "believe and be saved," which would spoil his game; for then he can never get them into his clutches: and that is the reason that he useth so many tricks to keep men from believing what they hear, as knowing well enough, if he can do that, let them hear as long as they please, they will be never the better; for the Word preached never profits, except it be "mixed with faith in them that Heb. 4. 2. hear it;" and it works effectually only in them that believe. 1Thes. 2.13. And therefore the Devil's great design is to keep men from

SERM. CXXIV.

Gal. 3. 1.

attending, considering, and meditating upon what they hear, so as to believe it as the Word of God: and if they do not believe, he is as sure to have them, as they are sure to be saved if they do.

Hence ye may see where the fault lies that ye so often hear God's Word to no purpose, receiving no profit at all by it: the reason is, because ve do not come rightly prepared and disposed for it, with holy resolutions to believe and practise what ve shall hear, and therefore are careless and negligent in hearing it: ve do not set vourselves in good earnest to attend wholly to it; and to receive it as the Word of God; but hear it only by the by; so that it is only as seed scattered by chance on the highway, which the Devil observing, takes advantage of it, and by one device or other puts it quite out of your minds again; so that ye have no more benefit by it than as if ye had never heard it. fault is first in yourselves, otherwise the Devil could have no power over you: but when he finds that ye keep no strict guard upon yourselves in hearkening to God's Word, nor lay it seriously to your hearts, as ye ought, he bewitcheth and enchants you so that you never think of it any more, at least so as to observe and keep it: as the Apostle said to the Galatians, "O foolish Galatians, who hath bewitched you, that ye should not obey the truth, before whose eyes Jesus Christ hath been evidently set forth, crucified among you?" Who hath bewitched you? It is the Devil; you being foolish and unmindful of your own good, he bewitcheth you so, that although you hear the Word of God over and over again, yet ye will not obey it; but are like the seed by the wayside, that never brings forth fruit.

Next to those seeds which thus fell by the wayside, as it

Matt. 13. 5, follows in the parable, "Some fell upon stony places, where
they had not much earth, and forthwith they sprung up, because they had no deepness of earth. And when the sun
was up they were scorched, and because they had no root,
they withered away." The meaning whereof is thus exver. 20, 21. plained by our Saviour: "But he that received the seed
into stony places, the same is he that heareth the Word,
and anon with joy receiveth it: yet he hath not root in
himself, but dureth for awhile: for when tribulation or

Digitized by Google

persecution ariseth because of the Word, by and by he is offended," so offended as to "fall away," as St. Luke ex-Luke 8. 13. presseth it.

Here we have another sort of unprofitable hearers described, who attend to the Word preached, and receive it not as the first did, only upon the top, but into their hearts and affections; for they receive it with joy and gladness, being very much pleased with the good news of the Gospel, to hear of the pardon of their sins, of God's sending His Son to be their Saviour, of His dying for them, and of their obtaining eternal Salvation by Him. This affects them so, that they begin to walk in the way to life, and make some progress in it: but they do not go far; the least rub they meet with puts them out of the way. The Word they heard was like seed sown in stony places, or upon a rock, as it is in St. Luke, where it hath some, but very little earth, enough to cover it, that the birds might not pick it up, but not. enough for the root to spread in; and therefore it may lie there for some time: but when the weather grows hot, it is scorched, and having no root withers away.

There have been many such hearers of God's Word; such Mark 12. were the common people among the Jews, who heard Christ 37. gladly, but afterwards cried out, "Crucify Him! Crucify Him!" such was Herod, who feared "John the Baptist, and Mark 6, 20. when he heard him preach, he did many things, and heard him gladly," but for all that he afterwards beheaded him: such was Agrippa, when he said to St. Paul, upon his preaching of God's Word, "Almost thou persuadest me to Acts 26, 28, be a Christian;" but, after all, would not be one. Such was the young man in the Gospel, who asked our Saviour, Matt. 19.22. what he must do that he might have "eternal life?" and therefore was, doubtless, very well disposed to do any thing for it: but when Christ told him that he must sell all and follow Him, "he went away sorrowful;" such were many of Christ's Own disciples, who had heard gladly a good while, but when He had preached to them about His being the Bread of Life, because they did not understand Him, "went John 6. 66, back and walked no more with Him." There are many such amongst us at this time, who hear the Word of God gladly, who do many things cheerfully, who are almost perSERM. CXXIV.

suaded to be Christians, who delight in drawing nigh to God, and performing their devotions to Him, who take a great deal of pains in serving God, and doing good for some time, perhaps for a good while; but "when tribulation or persecution ariseth because of the Word," when they cannot perform their duty to God without trouble or danger to themselves, when they must not only do, but suffer also for Christ, if they will continue with Him, then they are "offended and fall away," leaving Him and His service for the drudgery of sin, the world, and the Devil: and all because they

Job 19. 28. were not well settled in religion, the root of "the matter"
was not in them, as Job speaks; or as St. Paul, they were

Col. 2. 7. not "rooted and built up in Christ, and stablished in the faith;" but like the seed that is sown upon a rock, where having no root, it must needs wither away.

The third and last sort of seed, in the parable, which Matt. 13. 7. brought forth no fruit, were those which "fell among thorns, and the thorns sprung up and choked them." In St. Luke [Luke 8.7.] it is, συμφυείσαι αι ακανθαι, "the thorns sprung up together with the seed, and so choked it" by overpowering it, and forcing that nourishment from it, which should have enabled it to bring forth fruit. But how could that be? Do thorns use to grow up together with corn? I answer, it may well be so, supposing that the seed was sown in a ground where thorns were lately cut down, and the roots left in the ground; for then the thorns and the corn might grow up together. But we need not that supposition to resolve the question; for though corn doth not, thorns usually grow of themselves. There must be ploughing and sowing, and a great deal of pains taken to make corn grow; but the ground naturally brings forth briers and thorns, ever since it was cursed for man's sake: when God said to Adam Gen. 3. 17, upon his eating of the forbidden fruit, "Cursed is the 18, 19. ground for thy sake: in sorrow shalt thou eat of it all the days of thy life; thorns also and thistles shall it bring forth to thee: and thou shalt eat the herb of the field; in the sweat of thy face thou shalt cat bread, till thou return unto the ground." Which threatening we see fulfilled to this day: for bread cannot be eaten, because corn, of which it is

made, doth not grow, without the sweat of men's brows:

but as for thorns and thistles, men need not labour for them, the ground brings forth them of itself, as God said it should, by the same Almighty Word, whereby He commanded it before to bring forth grass for the use of men: and therefore thorns may be well supposed to grow in any ground where seeds are sown, and to grow up with it, as it is supposed to do in the parable.

But let us now hear the meaning of this part of the parable; "He also," saith our Saviour, "that received seed ver. 22. among the thorns, is he that heareth the Word; and the care of this world, and the deceitfulness of riches. choke the Word, and he becometh unfruitful." To the cares of this world, and the deceitfulness of riches, St. Mark adds, "the [Mark 4. lusts and desires of other things:" and so St. Luke reckons them up by the name of the "cares, riches, and pleasures of Luke s. this life," which, according to St. John, make up the sum- 1John 2.16. total of this world, and all that is in it. These are those thorns which choke the seed when it is grown up; for this seed was not sown by the wayside, so as to be devoured by the birds, nor upon a rock, so as to have no depth of earth to take root in, but it was sown in ploughed mellow ground. where it had good rooting, so that the stalk sprung up to the very ear; yet, after all, the thorns that grew up with it hindered it from ripening.

There be many such hearers of God's Word, who are not so careless of what they hear as to suffer the Devil to take it from them, nor so ill grounded in religion as not to understand what they ought to believe and do. but hear the Word, so as to mind it, and, in some measure, endeavour to live according to it; and this also to the very time of harvest, or all their life long, so that there seem to be great hopes of fruit in them: and yet the cares, the riches, or the pleasures of this life spoil all, so that nothing comes to perfection. Though their minds be never so well cultivated by the Word, and ready to bring forth fruit meet for repentance, yet they cannot do it, being overpowered by some thing or other in this world. They take some care to serve God, but more to serve the world: they have some desire of heavenly, but more of earthly riches: they take some delight in doing good, but more in other things: and so all SERM. CXXIV. the good inclinations which the Word of God had wrought in their hearts, are overcome and stifled, either with the cares, or with the riches, or else with the pleasures of this life.

First. The cares of this life are of such a suffocating

nature, that they will suffer nothing that is good to thrive near them. Though a man be never so well disposed, if his thoughts are distracted and perplexed about worldly affairs, it is impossible he should either be, or do good: this is the great argument which Christ Himself useth against Matt. 6. 24, the cares of this life: "No man," saith He, "can serve two masters; for either he will hate the one and love the other, or else he will hold to the one, and despise the other. Ye cannot serve God and Mammon;" and then adds, "Therefore I say unto you, take no thought for your life;" implying, that so long as men do that, it is in vain to think of serving God, for no man's mind can possibly be intent upon two things so contrary to one another: and therefore he whose thoughts are taken up with getting, or keeping, or doing any thing of this world, may talk of religion, if he please, but he can never practise it: do what he can, his worldly cares will blunt his desires of doing good, so that he shall never do it; and choke all the sense of God and goodness that was ever sown in his heart, at least so far that it shall never produce any fruit that is truly ripe and good.

And so do riches also very often do of themselves, although a man hath them already, and so is not over-careful about them; for they are very deceitful, they cheat and seduce men into such a conceit of this world, as damps all their endeavours after a better. We have a sad instance of this in the young man, who bade very fair for Heaven, when he came to Christ to know the way thither, and told him, that he had kept the commandments from his youth: but when Christ said, he must "sell all and give to the poor, he went away sorrowful, for he had great possessions;" he had great possessions, and he would not part with them for it, how great a mind soever he had to go to Heaven; and so they were plainly the thorns which choked all the good seed that had been sown in his heart.

Matt. 19. 22.

The same may be said of the pleasures of this life, or, as St. Mark calls them, "the lusts or desires of other things"

Digitized by Google

besides riches: for not only such carnal and sensual pleasures as are in themselves sinful, but all love, desire, and delight in any thing upon earth, if it be once immoderate and excessive, it turns a man's mind upside down, it hinders his growth in Grace, it chokes the Word whensoever he hears it, and he also becomes unfruitful.

These are the three sorts of hearers, which are only hearers. We come now to those who are not "hearers only, but [James 1. doers of the Word:" these are thus represented to us in the parable; "But other seed fell into good ground, and brought Matt. 13. 8. forth fruit, some an hundred fold, some sixty fold, some thirty fold." The meaning of which is thus explained in St. Matthew: "But he that received seed into the good ver. 23. ground is he that heareth the Word, and understandeth it; which also beareth fruit, and bringeth forth, some an hundred fold, some sixty, some thirty;" and to the same purpose in St. Luke: "But that on the good ground are they, Luke 8, 15. which in an honest and good heart, having heard the Word, keep it, and bring forth fruit with patience." Where we may observe in general, that of the three unprofitable hearers, the first heard the Word, but did not mind it; the second minded it for awhile, but did not keep it: the third kept it, but did no good with it. But these fruitful hearers do all that those did, and more, they hear so as to mind it. they mind it so as to keep it, and they keep it so as to use and improve it, to God's glory and their own good. And the reason is, because these do not receive the seed of God's Word as the first did, "by the wayside;" nor as the second, "upon a rock," or stony heart; nor as the third, "among thorns;" but they receive it with an "honest and good heart," the proper soil for good works to grow in.

First, they hear "with an honest and good heart;" they do not come to Church only out of custom, to please their friends, or to be thought religious; neither do they come to sleep, and pass away their time to no purpose; much less do they come to catch up something to throw at the preacher: but they come with an honest and good design, to hear God's Word, to know His pleasure, to understand what He would have them believe and do, that they may obtain and continue in His favour; how they may serve and honour

Him in this world, so as to see and enjoy Him in the next. CXXIV. And therefore, all the while they hear the Word, they keep their minds intent upon it, and their hearts open ready to receive it, "not as the word of men, (but as it is, in truth.) the Word of God, which effectually worketh in them that believe;" and that it may do so in them, they mix it with a [Heb. 4.2.] quick and lively faith, believing it, though it be never so much above their understanding, as firmly as if it was within the compass of it. They regard not whether what is taught them be high or low, nor whether what is required of them be hard or easy; that is all one to them, it is the Word of God, and they are resolved to frame their faith and manners according to it: to believe what He hath said, to avoid what He hath forbidden, to perform what He hath commanded. to fear what He hath threatened, and to trust on what He hath promised, whatsoever comes of it. For which purpose, they do not pick and choose, take one thing and slip another, but they take all together, as much as ever they can, and that too, not only in their minds and memories, but into their very hearts and souls, all their affections being moved suitably to what they hear. By which means the Word of God is quite another thing to them than it is to other people. Other people only hear it sounding in their ears, these feel it working in their hearts and taking root there.

Hence, in the next place, these, as they hear, so they keep and retain the Word in "an honest and good heart;" they set a guard about it, that nothing may come near to hurt it: they lay it up in the bottom of their hearts, where the fowls of the air, the Devil, can never reach it. This seed is sown in a soft and deep soil, where it hath liberty and room enough to spread its root, and to cover it, so that no heat can scorch it, and when it puts forth the blades, there are no thorns to choke it: for there is no such thing as worldly care in an honest and good heart, for that is got above this world, and therefore cannot be disturbed or perplexed with any thing that is in it. And hence it is, that the Word these hear, abides by them: it is engrafted James 1.21, into them, as the Apostle speaks, and so diffuseth its virtue and energy all over them, influencing all powers and faculties of their souls, so as to put them upon constant and

sincere endeavours to do all the good works which God hath set them. Like good seed, which being sown in a good soil, always brings forth good fruit, "first the blade, then the ear, Mark 4. 28. after that the full corn in the ear," as Christ Himself speaks upon another occasion; and this too, not in any small proportion, like bad seed in a barren ground, but "some an hundred fold, some sixty, some thirty," which is the last thing to be considered.

And here we may take notice, that all who hear the Word of God with an honest and good heart, bring forth fruit; fruit like the heart from whence it springs, honest and good: they are all duly affected with what they hear, they all strive to live answerable to it; they all improve it as well as they can: but not all alike, or in the same measure, for some have more strength and greater opportunities than others: and therefore some bring forth more fruit, others less, but still all, some; and it is to be observed, that as our Lord here describes three sorts of fruitless hearers, so He divides those who bear fruit also into three ranks: whereof the first bears an hundred fold; the second sixty; and the last, thirty fold.

An hundred fold, I confess, is extraordinary; it is but seldom that so much is brought forth by one seed, but sometimes it is: so, though it be but seldom, yet sometimes the Word of God hath extraordinary success in those who hear it with honest and good hearts, raising them above the ordinary pitch of good men, and enabling them to do such good works as are extraordinary, either for number, or quality, or both. Such was the effect which Christ's word had upon St. Paul, when of a persecutor it made him an indefatigable preacher of the Gospel, and afterwards a martyr for it. There have been some such extraordinary Christians in most ages, made so by the extraordinary power of Christ's Word upon them, whereby, though they have not arrived at a state of perfection, yet they have come so near it, as to live continually above this world, to exercise themselves in all manner of good works, to devote their lives wholly to God's service, and at last to lay them down for His sake. This is extraordinary, and therefore may well be meant by the seed's increasing to an hundred fold.

crease, but much more common than the other.

The next producing sixty fold: this also is very great in-

middle rank are all they who so hear and receive the Word

SERM. CXXIV.

as to become strong in faith, zealous of good works, fervent in spirit, serving the Lord with a perfect heart and a willing mind, continuing instant in prayer, fleeing from all appearance of evil, and catching at all opportunities they can get of doing good, and so shining as lights in the world; who, though they have not the honour which the first had, to sacrifice their lives as a testimony to the truth, and for the glory of God, yet they sacrifice both all their sins, and all they have to His honour; they rejoice if they be counted worthy to suffer shame for His Name; they take joyfully the spoiling of their goods; they count all things but loss [Phil. 3. 8.] for the excellency of the knowledge of Christ Jesus our Lord, they can cheerfully suffer the loss of all things, and "count them but dung that they may win Christ;" and have good ground to hope, that if there be occasion, they shall be willing and ready to die too for His sake, Who died for theirs. There always have been, and I do not question but there still are many such eminent Christians in the world. eminent for their piety, for their justice, for their humility, for their temperance, for their modesty, for their meekness, for their charity, for all sorts of virtues, and for all manner of good works whatsoever. And they are all made so by the mighty power of God's Word upon their hearts; which

The last and lowest rank of fruitful seed, is that which bringeth forth only thirty fold; which though it be but half the former, is a very good increase: of this sort are those Rom. 14. 1. which the Apostle calls, "weak in the faith," and "babes in 1 Cor. 3. 1, Christ," who are to be "fed with milk, and not with meat."

They are born again, not of corruptible, but incorruptible seed, by the Word of God, but they are νιόφυνοι, newly sprung 1 Pet. 1. 21; up from that seed, and therefore "as new-born babes, desire the sincere milk of the word, that they may grow thereby," being in the number of those who have need of milk, and not Heb. 5. 12, of strong meat: "strong meat belonging to those who, by reason of use, have their senses exercised to discern both good and evil," which these have not as yet; but they desire

may therefore be truly said to bring forth sixty fold.

it heartily, and endeavour after it all they can: they labour day and night to mortify all their sins, and never leave till they have done it effectually: they strive continually against the world, the flesh, and the Devil, and though they cannot as yet overcome them, at least they keep themselves from being overcome by them: they make it their constant care and study to "walk in all the Commandments and Ordi- [Luke 1.6.] nances of the Lord blameless:" and if they happen to stumble, they immediately get up again, and walk more carefully ever after: they are not as yet come to a "perfect Eph. 4. 13. man, to the measure of the stature of the fulness of Christ;" "but they grow" every day "in grace, and in the knowledge 2 Pet. 3. 18. of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ;" and therefore, although they have not attained to the first or second rank, so as to produce an hundred or sixty fold, yet they also hearing and keeping the Word in an honest and good heart, cannot but bring forth thirty fold at the least.

Having thus gone through both the parable and the meaning of it, I come now to apply it to you who are here present, to all of you; for there is not a man or woman, as I observed, in the whole congregation, but who is particularly concerned in one part or other of it. I shall first speak to the unfruitful, and then to the fruitful hearers of God's Word, and to both in the same order as they are described and set down in the parable.

To begin, therefore, with the lowest and worst sort of hearers, who hear the Word of God, but do not mind it. What do you come to Church for? It either is the Word of God ye hear, or it is not; if it be not, why do ye come to hear it? If it be, why do not ye mind it? Do ye think that Almighty God will suffer His Word to be slighted by His Own creatures, without inflicting some severe punishment upon you for it? No, "be not deceived, God will [Gal. 6, 7.] not be mocked;" if ye will not mind what He saith unto you now, He will, before long, make ye do it whether ye will or not, when He shall pronounce all the curses upon you which are written in that very Word, which ye now despise and take no notice of.

And as for such who do not only hear the Word, but are really affected with it, so as to set upon the practice of it SERM. CXXIV.

2 Pet. 2.

20, 21, 22,

for some time, till meeting with difficulties and troubles in it, like seed scorched with the sun, they wither and fall away into their former course of life: to such I shall only say, and yet not I, but the Lord, in the words of His Apostle, "If after they have escaped the pollutions of the world through the knowledge of the Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ, they are again entangled therein, and overcome, the latter end is worse with them than the beginning. For it had been better for them not to have known the way of righteousness, than, after they have known it, to turn from the Holy Commandment delivered unto them. But it is happened unto them according to the true proverb, the dog is turned to his own vomit again, and the sow that was washed to her wallowing in the mire."

But there are many who do not only hear and mind the

word, but continue to do so for a great while together, perhaps all their life long, and yet are never the better for it, their hearts being all along overspread with the perplexing cares of this life, which, like so many thorns, choke the Word, and make it unfruitful: these hear only to hear, and mind only to know, not to do their duty. But I would Rom. 2. 13. desire such to consider what St. Paul saith, "For not the hearers of the Law are just before God, but the doers of the James 1.22. Law shall be justified;" and what St. James adviseth, "Be ye doers of the Word, and not hearers only, deceiving your own selves," for so certainly they do: they do but deceive themselves, who think they are ever the better for hearing God's Word, unless they become better by it, so as to do John 13. 17. what they hear. Hear what Christ Himself saith, " If ye know these things, happy are ye if ye do them;" if ye do them, not if ye only know them; for knowing without doing is so far from making you happy, that it will but make you more miserable: ye may be confident of it, for Christ Him-Luke 12.47. self saith, "that the servant who knew his Lord's will and

God grant that this be not the case of any who hear me at this time, but that ye may all be in the number of the last sort of hearers in the parable, who practised what they heard, and brought forth fruit with patience. I hope there are some such among you; and therefore I have a few

did it not, shall be beaten with many stripes."

things to say to them: whatsoever influence the Word of God hath had upon your minds, give Him the praise and honour of it; for though Paul himself "planted," and 1 Cor. 3. 6. "Apollos watered, it was God that gave the increase;" and as a testimony of your gratitude for it, acknowledge it to be the greatest blessing you ever did or can receive on this side Heaven, far greater than if He had given you all the crowns and sceptres upon earth, which, put all together, are not comparable to one grain of true grace and virtue: and therefore, how little soever it be, prize it as your greatest treasure, for it is the pearl of great price.

But, howsoever, do not content vourselves with the least quantity of it, but strive all ve can to increase and multiply it. If the good seed which was sown in your hearts, hath hitherto brought forth but thirty-fold, from this time forward let it bring forth sixty, and, if possible, an hundred-fold. Do as St. Paul did, "forgetting those things which are Phil. 3. 13, behind, and reaching forth to those things which are before. 14. press toward the mark, for the prize of the high calling of God in Christ Jesus:" as ye have hitherto walked so as to [1 Thess. 4. please God, now abound more and more: as considering 1.] that the more service ye do for God upon earth, the greater shall be the reward that He will give you in Heaven; as Luke 19.12, Christ Himself assures you in the parable of the nobleman, who gave to each of his servants one pound; that servant who made no use of his pound, had it taken from him; he that had gained five pounds with it, was made ruler over five cities; and he who had gained ten, was made ruler over ten cities. And so proportionally, the more good works the seed that is sown in your hearts produceth, the greater will be your crop of glory. "Wherefore, my beloved brethren, [1 Cor. 15. be ye steadfast, unmovable, always abounding in the work 58.] of the Lord, forasmuch as ye know that your labour is not in vain in the Lord."

C C

SERMON CXXV.

THE BLESSING OF PURITY IN HEART.

MATT. v. 8.

Blessed are the pure in heart; for they shall see God.

"Gop, Who at sundry times and in divers manners, spake SERM. CXXV. in time past unto the fathers by the Prophets, hath in these [Heb. 1, 1.] last days spoken unto us by His Son;" Who being Himself also truly God as well as Man, whatsoever He spoke was spoken by God Himself: and all His savings were so many oracles, or Divine truths, uttered immediately by Divinity and truth itself: which therefore ought to be hearkened to, received, and believed by us, with the greatest attention, the profoundest reverence, and the strongest faith, that our minds are capable of; insomuch, that whensoever we read or hear of any thing that Christ said, we ought not to doubt in the least of the truth or certainty of it, but conclude it impossible it should be otherwise than just as He said it; Who being of infinite wisdom, cannot be deceived Himself; and being of infinite goodness, cannot deceive us; or, as the Apostle words it, "Who cannot lie;" every falsehood being [Tit. 1. 2.] a contradiction to His very essence, which is justice, truth, and faithfulness itself.

And as all Christ's sayings were thus infallibly true and certain, so were they likewise of infinite weight and moment, and necessary to be known, believed, and observed by all that either heard them, or shall ever hear of them. For as He did not shed His blood, so neither did He ever spend His breath, in vain. He never spake, as we are apt to do, at random, and to no purpose; but every word that came

from His sacred mouth was sacred as Himself, apposite to the purpose, pertinent to the occasion, and of constant and perpetual use to those for whose sake He spake it: so that as whatsoever He suffered was for the expiation of our sins. and whatsoever He did was for the confirmation of our faith, so whatsoever He said was some way or other for the edification and salvation of our souls: and therefore, we, who hope to be saved by Him, should take special notice of every thing which He said, as being confident it was for our sakes He said it, that we might thereby know what to believe and do, that we might be saved by Him; especially considering that this was the great reason wherefore His Divine savings are so infallibly recorded and so faithfully transmitted to us, that we might receive the same benefit and comfort from them, as they did who heard them from His Own mouth; which, notwithstanding we can never do, unless we duly weigh, consider, and observe them with that care and diligence, as becometh those who believe them to be the words of the greatest Person, the best Friend, and the only Saviour they have in the whole world.

This I thought good to premise concerning Christ's words in general, the better to dispose and prepare your minds for those impressions which this Divine sentence of His that I have now read will make upon them, if you do but consider whose it is, and with how much majesty and authority He pronounced it: for certainly His manner of speaking was every whit as Divine as the matter He spake. So that all they who were so near Him as to hear Him speak, justly " bare Him witness, and wondered at the gracious words Luke 4. 22. which proceeded out of His mouth;" yea, the very officers that were sent to take Him, when they had once heard Him, were themselves so taken with them, that they could not but confess, that " never man spake like this Man;" and John 7. 46. had we stood by Him at the same time, we doubtless should have been of the same mind too, catching at every word that dropped from Him, and admiring at His way of speaking it, as well as the profound sense that appeared in it. And then how flat and insipid would all the discourses of the greatest philosophers have seemed to us, in comparison of His!

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXXV. And what though we never heard Him speak? Yet nevertheless we ought to be as much affected with what He said, as they that did so; forasmuch as we have His Divine discourses and sayings exactly related to us, both by them who heard them from His Own mouth, and by the same Spirit wherewith He spake them. The only thing that may seem wanting to us, is His delivery, or the grave, majestic, and Divine way of demeaning Himself, and pronouncing His words when He spake: but this defect also may and ought to be supplied by a quick and lively faith, which, as it is the evidence of things not seen, so it represents to us words not heard now, in the same way and manner wherein they were first spoken.

As we therefore believe that Christ Himself spake these words, let us, by the assistance of the same faith, conceive in our minds how He spake them: and for that purpose, let us apprehend the Infinite, Almighty, All-wise, and Eternal God, in the nature and likeness of man, sitting upon a mountain, with a great company of people about Him, and then on a sudden opening His sacred mouth, that all might hear Him, uttering these Divine sentences:

- "Blessed are the poor in spirit, for theirs is the Kingdom of Heaven."
- "Blessed are they that mourn, for they shall be comforted."
 - " Blessed are the meek, for they shall inherit the earth."
- "Blessed are they which do hunger and thirst after righteousness, for they shall be filled."
 - " Blessed are the merciful, for they shall obtain mercy."
- "Blessed are the pure in heart, for they shall see God," &c.

Divine sentences indeed! Methinks I see the rays of Divinity shining in every one of them, and in the very voice too wherewith He pronounced them. Methinks I feel its power and authority working in my breast, and bearing down all before it: and we could not certainly but all do so, if we did but rightly consider and firmly believe that these words were spoken by Christ, by God Himself; and therefore must needs be spoken in the best manner that any tongue could speak them. But, howsoever, that they may

be sure to have their due effect upon us, let us single out one of these Divine sentences, from whence to take our measures of all the rest: and that shall be the last before rehearsed, "Blessed are the pure in heart, for they shall see God."

A sentence as full of Divine instruction, advice, and comfort, as so few words can hold; insomuch, that did we but rightly understand all that our Lord meant by it, it would serve us instead of a whole body of practical divinity. although that may seem, at first sight, to be something difficult to our weak capacities, yet we need not be discouraged from searching after it, seeing He Himself is always ready to assist us with the same Spirit by Which He spake, in finding out the meaning of whatsoever He said; in the humble confidence of which assistance we shall therefore briefly consider whom He means by the "pure in heart," what by "seeing God," how they who are pure in heart shall do it, and how great a blessedness that is to them.

By the heart, therefore, we are here to understand the inward and spiritual part of man, his mind or soul, that whereby he thinks, apprehends, judges, and discerns between truth and falsehood, good and evil, right and wrong, and generally between one thing and another, and accordingly consents or dissents, chooseth or refuseth, loves or hates. desireth or abhorreth, or is any way affected towards what is presented to him; for so the Holy Spirit, whereby Christ spake all along in Scripture, useth the word heart for all the powers and faculties of the rational soul, the understanding, will, affections, memory and conscience; or, in general, for the spirit of a man, the fountain and principle of all human actions, as such: and therefore our Saviour elsewhere saith, that " out of the abundance of the heart the mouth speaketh. Matt. 12. A good man out of the good treasure of his heart bringeth forth good things, and an evil man out of the evil treasure bringeth forth evil things;" that is, all a man's words and works are such as his heart is, from whence they flow.

Moreover, those things you know are said to be pure, which are just such as they were made and designed to be, without having any thing mixed or incorporated with them, SERM. CXXV. which doth not belong to their own proper nature; wherefore the Greeks usually explain, χαθαρὸς, ' pure,' by ἄκρατος,
and ἀμιγης, ' unmixed.' Thus gold is said to be pure, when
there is no dross, nor any alloy of other metals in it; honey
is said to be sincere and pure, when it is sine cerâ, without
wax or other recrements; water is said to be pure when
there is no earth, nor other elements in it, nothing but
water itself: for whatsoever is heterogeneous, or of another
nature, being mixed with a thing, alters the nature of that
thing, by communicating something of its own to it, by
which means it ceaseth to be purely and entirely the thing
itself, and therefore it is truly said to be impure and unclean,
because corrupted or polluted by something that should not
be there.

Now these things being put together, we may easily discover who may be truly said to be "pure in heart," even those whose heart or spirit is all heart, all spirit, having nothing in it but what is proper and essential to it, without the mixture of any thing contrary or disagreeable to the natural temper and constitution of a spirit united to a human body, and informing of it, so as to make up one human person with it: for, otherwise, it is not purely or wholly the same it should be, there being something in it which should not be there. But the spirit of man, we know, is made in the likeness of God, exactly conformable, as to His Nature, so to His Law: and so long as it continues such, it is a pure spirit, a pure heart; but if it acteth any thing contrary to the Law of God, it acteth contrary to its own nature, and offers that violence to it which cannot but make some alteration in it. But the soul being of itself perfectly good, there can be no alteration made in it, but what must needs be for the worse. Hence therefore every sin or transgression of God's Law leaves a macula, a spot or blot upon the soul, which stains and sullies it, and so far as that goes it makes it impure, and different from what God made it; as may be easily seen in every actual sin that a man committeth, much more in habitual sins: for when actual sins are so often multiplied that they grow up into habits, they destroy and overrun the natural constitution of the soul, by superinducing another and contrary nature into

it, whereby it becomes as much averse from good, and inclined to evil, as it is, in its own proper nature, averse from evil and inclined to good.

To make this more plain, I might instance in all, especially habitual, customary, or reigning sins, and shew how they spoil, and corrupt, and defile the soul, altering its very frame and temper, which some so plainly do, that they are truly called uncleanness itself: and so may all other sins as well as they. And therefore, together with them, our blessed Saviour Himself reckons up "evil thoughts, murders, thefts, Matt. 15. false-witness, and blasphemies, which proceeding from the heart, defile the man," because they defile the principal part of him, his heart or spirit, from whence they proceed. Where we may observe, that not only the more brutish sins which are committed by the body, but such also as are acted wholly in the heart or mind itself, and go no further, do nevertheless corrupt and defile it, even evil thoughts themselves: as for example, Heretical and erroneous thoughts darken the heart or mind that it cannot see: doubtful and unbelieving thoughts shut it up, so that it cannot receive the truth in the love of it: proud and ambitious thoughts swell the heart beyond its due proportion: covetous and earthly thoughts shrink it up into so narrow a compass, that it can reach no further than to the little inconsiderable things of this world: envious, malicious, and revengeful thoughts fire the heart, and put it into a raging flame and fury: fearful, despairing, and mistrustful thoughts, chill it, and make it so cold, stupid, and inactive that it cannot exert itself, nor employ its powers and faculties as it ought to do: vain, foolish, and impertinent thoughts weaken and debase the mind, by making it spend itself to no purpose: lustful and unclean thoughts ensuare the soul, and subject it wholly to the petulant and unholy humours of the body: profane, atheistical thoughts harden the heart, and make it callous and insensible of any difference between good and evil: but repining, discontented, and jealous thoughts fret and gall it, and put it into such a ferment, that it is always restless and uneasy.

Thus we might easily shew how all manner of evil and irregular thoughts that are conceived in the heart, although

SERM.

they are never brought forth into act, do notwithstanding corrupt and pollute the heart, in which they are conceived; as we may see also in the apostate Angels, which though they be altogether spiritual creatures, without any body or matter to work upon, yet, by reason of the proud, malicious, and other wicked thoughts that were always rising in them, they are all along in the Gospel called, 'Ακάθαρτα πνεύματα, 'impure, unclean spirits:' but as Job speaks, "The very How much more heavens are not clean in His sight. abominable and filthy is man, which drinketh iniquity like water;" that is, who is as prone to sin as he is to drink when he is a-dry; and doth not only conceive it in his soul, but commits it also with his body. As his mind and conscience is defiled, so is his life and actions: and therefore he is all over, or as the Psalmist words it, " altogether become filthy."

Hence, therefore, in order to the making of our hearts pure,

Ps. 14. 3.

Jer. 33. 8.

Job 15. 15, 16,

the first thing necessary is, that they be purged and cleansed from all the guilt and filth they have contracted by sinning against God; for till that be done, the spirits of fallen men are as impure and unclean in the sight of God, as the fallen Angels themselves. And hence it is that David prays so Ps. 19. 12. earnestly to be cleansed from his "secret faults;" and when he had defiled himself with sin, he was so vile and loathsome in his own eyes, that he could not endure himself, but begs of God to be cleansed of it, saying, "Wash me throughly from mine iniquity, and cleanse me from my sin. me with hyssop and I shall be clean, wash me and I shall be whiter than snow." And we may all pray the same prayer as he did, with full assurance of faith, that upon our hearty and sincere repentance, God will hear us, in that He hath expressly promised to do it for all who are truly penitent, saying, "I will cleanse them from all their iniquity, whereby Ezek.36.25. they have sinned against Me;" and elsewhere, "I will sprinkle clean water upon you, and ye shall be clean: from all your filthiness, and from all your idols, will I cleanse vou." When a man's heart is thus cleansed from the sins wherewith it was before polluted, then it is rightly prepared

> for that purity which our Lord here speaks of; for then it ceases to be an impure and unclean heart. But it cannot

properly be said to be pure, until it be restored to the same temper and disposition which it was at first made of: and therefore David, in the place before quoted, as he prays that God would cleanse him from his sins, so likewise, that He would create in him a "clean heart, and renew a right spirit [Ps. 51. within him;" that is, that He would make his heart such a one as it was first created, and renew his spirit, so as to make it sound and right again, fixed wholly upon God, and set to obey His commandments, as heartily and sincerely as if it never had been corrupted; for hypocrisy and dissimulation destroy and spoil the heart as much as any sin whatsoever. And therefore St. James saith, "Cleanse your hands, ye James 4.8. sinners; and purify your hearts, ye double-minded;" implying, that they who are hypocritical and double-minded, have as much need to purify their hearts as the greatest sinners in the world: and the reason is, because their hearts are divided between God and the world, between virtue and vice; and, by consequence, are far from being pure; for a pure heart is always single, and all of a piece, wholly and entirely inclined to God and goodness.

And it is such an heart as this, which our Lord here means: an heart that is not only inclined to God, but to Him only, and to nothing else but in obedience or subordination to Him: an heart that really loves God above all things else, and all other things only for His sake: an heart that is always flaming up to Heaven in ardent and fervent desires to please and honour God in time, and to enjoy Him for ever: an heart that sanctifies the Lord of Hosts Himself, [Isa. 8.13.] making Him its only fear, and its only dread: an heart that is never afraid of evil tidings, but is " always fixed, trusting [Psal. 112. in the Lord:" an heart that is continually rejoicing in God, whether it hath or hath not any thing else to rejoice in: an heart that prefers the least duty before the greatest gain, and the greatest suffering before the least sin: an heart that is never shaken either with hopes or fears, but remains steadfast and immovable as a rock, whether the sun shine or tempests beat upon it: an heart that is sound in the faith, submissive to the will, obedient to the law, constant in the service, and zealous for the glory of God; but meek, and humble, and kind, and gentle, and true, and just, and

Digitized by Google

This is a "pure heart" indeed! But how can we ever

SERM. charitable towards others. In short, an heart that exer-CXXV. ciseth itself to have "always a conscience void of offence, both towards God and towards man."

make our unclean and sinful hearts thus pure and holy?

Prov. 20. 9. For, as the wise man observes, "Who can say, I have made
my heart clean, I am pure from my sin?" It is true, we
can never do it by our own strength: but, blessed be God,
He hath found out a way whereby we may all do it if we
will, even by the merits and assistance of His Son our Sa-

Rev. 1. 5. viour Jesus Christ, "Who," as St. John saith, "hath washed us from our sins in His Own blood," "Which," as the same Apostle elsewhere observeth, "cleanseth us from all iniquity."

¹ John 1. So that if we do but "confess our sins, God, for His sake, is faithful and just to forgive us our sins, and to cleanse us from all unrighteousness." And as Christ thus gave Him-

self for us, that He might "redeem us from all iniquity," so likewise that He might "purify" us "to Himself a peculiar people zealous of good works;" and "that He might sanctify and cleanse" His Church "with the washing of water by the Word, that He might present to Himself a glorious Church, not having spot or wrinkle, or any such thing, but that it should be holy and without blemish." Where we may observe, not only that this was the great end wherefore Christ gave Himself for us, that He might make us pure and holy, but likewise how He doth it, even by His Word: as He Himself also acquaints His Disciples, where He saith

John 15.3. to them, "Now are ye clean through the word that I have spoken unto you." And the reason is, because that by the ministry of His Word, God is pleased to convey into us His pure and Holy Spirit, Which, by degrees, makes our spirits, according to their capacities, like Itself, holy and pure, enlightening our minds, informing our judgments, rectifying our wills, regulating our affections, directing our consciences, and so reducing all the powers and faculties of our souls into their proper frame and temper again. Hence St. Peter,

1 Pet. 1. 22. speaking to all true Christians, saith, "Seeing you have purified your souls, in obeying the Truth through the Spirit, unto unfeigned love of the brethren, see that ye love one another with a pure heart fervently," where, as he supposeth

that they had pure hearts, so he shews how they came by them, even by the Spirit bestowed upon them, in hearing and obeying the truth revealed in the Gospel of Christ, Whose Spirit it is, and Who always gives it to those who truly believe in Him; for they are all real members of that body whereof He is Head, and therefore must needs be acted by the same Spirit that is in Him. And hence it is, that Christ is said to "dwell in our hearts by faith," because Eph. 3. 17. His Spirit doth so. Hence also it is, that St. Peter saith, that "God purifies our hearts by faith." And Christ Him-Acts 15. 9. self saith, that we are "sanctified by faith that is in Him." ch. 26. 18. Because upon our believing in Him, He diffuseth that measure of His Grace and Holy Spirit into us, whereby our hearts are purified and made holy.

And this certainly is the only way whereby it is possible for our hearts ever to be made pure; for though our human nature in general was purified by being united to the Divine Person, our human persons in particular can never be purified but by partaking of the Divine Nature; which we can never do any other way, but only by believing and trusting in that Divine Person to Which our nature is united, even Christ Jesus. But if we do that as we ought, He will make us "partakers of His Divine Nature," by [2Pet. 1.4.] giving us that Divine Spirit Which proceeds from Him, and is of the same Divine Nature with Himself, and therefore is able to make us so too. Neither is He less willing than able to do it; for being sent by Christ, He presently exerts His Divine Power and Grace upon our hearts, making them as sincerely pure and holy, as the hearts of lapsed creatures can be made. And what is still wanting in them to make them perfectly pure, Christ Himself supplies by His Own all-sufficient merits. So that, by this means, we may all become such as our Saviour here calls "pure in heart, and, by consequence, so blessed as to see God.

But see God! Who can do that? Doth not St. John say, that "no man hath seen God at any time?" Doth not John 1. 18. St. Paul say, that "God dwelleth in that light which no 1 John 4. 12. mortal eye can approach unto, Whom no man hath seen or can see?" Doth not God Himself say to Moses, "Thou Ex. 33. 20. canst not see My face: for there shall no man see Me, and

SERM. CXXV.

live?" It is true, no man ever did or can see God at all with his bodily eye, nor perfectly with the eye of his soul, so long as it is in this mortal body. But it is as true also what the same St. Paul saith, that we shall hereafter see 1 Cor.13.12. Him "face to face;" and what the same St. John saith, 1 John 3.2. that "we shall be like Him, for we shall see Him as He is," ver. 3. but then he adds, that "every man that hath this hope in him, purifieth himself even as He is pure;" where as he proves that we shall be like God, because we shall see Him, which none can do who is not like Him, so he shews wherein we must be like God, that we may see Him, even in being "pure as He is pure:" according to what our Saviour Himself here saith, that "the pure in heart shall see God."

But what it is to see God, and how the "pure in heart" shall do it, are questions not so easily to be determined. Howsoever, by the assistance of God, I shall offer at something towards it: not that I think it possible for me to express myself about it, so as that all should understand my meaning; for it is plain that none can rightly apprehend what it is to see God, but they who do see Him, or, at least have done it. And it is as plain, that none ever did or can see Him, but only they who are " pure in heart:" to whom our Lord here appropriates this great blessedness, and so excludes all others from it. And, by consequence, after all that can be said concerning it, they whose minds are infected with Heresy, corrupted with vice, or destitute of true grace and virtue, will still be in the dark about it, hearing only a sound of words in their ears, but knowing nothing of what they mean, no more than a man that is born blind understands a discourse of colours, and the difference between one and another; who, whatscever is said about them, he never having seen any such thing, cannot possibly frame any idea of them in his mind. This the Apostle long ago 1 Cor. 2. 14. observed, saying, that "the natural man receiveth not the things of the Spirit of God: for they are foolishness unto him; neither can he know them, because they are spiritually discerned;" that is, he who is still in his natural unregenerate estate, no better than he was first born, or perhaps much worse, such a one is not capable of spiritual things, he cannot receive them in the love of them, for they

Digitized by Google

do not seem to him, as they are in themselves, the height of wisdom, but mere foolishness and babbling (as the great Acts 17. 18. Athenian philosophers esteemed them), neither can he know them, nor have any clear or right apprehension of them, because they, being purely spiritual, can be discerned only in a spiritual manner, which he, being altogether carnal and sensual, is not qualified for. And if impure and corrupt minds are not able to discern any thing at all that is purely spiritual, much less can they see Him that is Spirit and Purity itself.

When I seriously consider this, I cannot wonder there are any in the world who deny or doubt of God's existence; I rather wonder there are not more: for seeing all men are born and live in sin, and so have "their foolish hearts [Rom. 1. darkened," not only by their original, but likewise by many 21.] actual transgressions, it is very much that there are so few but who have some sense and notions of a Deity: and they who have not, must ascribe it wholly to the pravity and corruption of their nature, which makes them incapable of seeing Him Who is purity and perfection itself: for this is that into which the Holy Ghost Himself resolves the origin of all atheism; "The fool," saith He, "hath said in his Ps. 14. 1, 3. heart, There is no God:" and then gives this as the reason of it, "They are corrupt, and have done abominable works, there is none that doeth good. They are all gone aside, they are altogether become filthy;" they are altogether become filthy, that is the reason that they are so far from seeing God, that they cannot see so much as that there is a God, and therefore say, at least in their corrupt and filthy hearts. there is none.

But what if there be here and there a man so stark blind that he cannot see the sun shining at noonday, may we thence conclude that there is no such thing as a sun in the firmament, or that it never shines? Or that all the rest of mankind are mistaken, who see both it, and all things else by it, every day? The case is the same here; there may, perhaps, be some few persons upon earth, who, by giving way to their unruly passions, by their frequent debaucheries, and all sorts of lewd practices, have so corrupted and vitiated their minds, that they cannot discern that pure and all-

glorious Light which we call God, but although it shines SERM. CXXV. continually so as to dazzle the eyes of all others about them, vet they notwithstanding are still in the dark, living as " without God in the world." But because such men cannot [Eph. 2. 12.] see God, doth it thence follow that there is none to see? Or that no other people can see Him, because they do not? No surely, though all mankind be very much depraved and out of tune, there are very few but who have so much sense left them, as still to perceive that God is. This all men do by the very light of nature, except those few who have quite extinguished it, and so are monsters rather than men; but none can rightly conceive and apprehend what God is, but only they whose hearts are purged and freed from that filth and corruption that hinders their sight of Him, and are

Heb. 12.14. restored to their primitive holiness and purity, "without which," as the Apostle saith, "no man shall see the Lord;" but that the pure in heart shall see God, God Himself here positively asserteth with His Own mouth.

They shall see God, that is, they shall see Jehovah, the Lord of Hosts, the Being of all Beings, the Cause of all Causes, the Best of all Goods, the Principle of all Motion, the Fountain of all Light, the Centre of all Happiness, the Perfection of all Perfections. They shall see God, the sole Creator, the continual Preserver, the universal Governor of the world. Who made all things by the power of His world.

[ch. 1. 3.] the world, Who made all things by the power of His word, Who upholdeth all things by the word of His power, and Who orders all things according to His Own good will and

Isa. 40. 15, pleasure. They shall see Him, before Whom "the nations are as a drop of the bucket, and are counted as the small dust of the balance, Who taketh up the isles as a very little thing: Him before Whom all nations are as nothing, and are counted less than nothing and vanity: Him Who sitteth upon the circle of the earth, and the inhabitants thereof are as grasshoppers; Who stretcheth out the heavens as a curtain, and spreadeth them out as a tent to dwell in." They

Ex. 34. 6, 7. shall see Him, Whose Name is, "The Lord, the Lord God, merciful and gracious, long-suffering, and abundant in goodness and truth, keeping mercy for thousands, forgiving iniquity, transgression and sin, and that will by no means clear the guilty." They shall see Him Who is

"Alpha and Omega, the beginning and the ending, Which Rev. 1. s. is, and Which was, and Which is to come, the Almighty."
They shall see Him, Whose very essence is wisdom, and knowledge, and power, and justice, and love, and mercy, and goodness, and truth, and majesty, and eternity, and glory, and all perfections together. In short, they shall see Him by Whom alone they see, "in Whom alone they live, [Acts 17. and move, and have their being."

This is that God Whom the pure in heart shall see both in this world and that which is to come: even in this world they see God, with the eve, not of their bodies, but minds, by having right and clear apprehensions of Him, and a quick and lively faith in Him, which, as the Apostle saith, " is the Heb. 11, 1. evidence of things not seen," and by which Moses is therefore said to have seen Him that "is invisible;" and so do ver. 27. all that are pure in heart see God, by the same faith whereby [Acts 15.9.] their hearts are made pure; for by it they are as fully assured of whatsoever is revealed concerning God in Scripture, as if they saw it before their eyes: as sensible of His Divine nature and properties, as they are of their own weakness and imperfections: and as certain that He is, as that they themselves are, and that He is every where as certainly as they are any where: so that the same faith which purifies their hearts, possesseth them likewise with as deep a sense, and as clear a sight of God, as they can possibly have of any thing in the world besides; much more when, being fixed on Christ, it is excited and actuated by that Holy Spirit, Which flows from Him into the hearts of all true believers; who by this means see God by Himself, by the assistance of His Own Spirit, Which "searcheth all things, 1 Cor. 2. 10. vea, even the deep things of God," and revealeth them to those who love Him with a pure heart, according to that remarkable promise of God our Saviour, saying, "He that John 14.21. loveth Me shall be loved of My Father, and I will love him, and will manifest Myself unto him." And they to whom God is pleased to manifest Himself must needs see Him; and they must needs see Him also the same way whereby He is pleased to manifest Himself, even by His Holy Spirit, and, by consequence, as clearly as we see the sun by its own light. Hence David, speaking unto God, saith, "In Thy Ps. 36. 9.

CXXV.

light shall we see light:" implying, that we see God Who is light itself, by that light which proceeds from Himself, even by His Own Spirit, enlightening our minds at the same time that He purifies our hearts; and so giving us as full a sight of God, as our nature at present is capable of.

By this means, therefore, they who are pure in heart see They see Him in His Holy Word, wherein He reveals His will, and unveils Himself and His perfections to them: they see Him in His works, wherein He shineth forth in all His glory before them: they see His infinite wisdom, power, and goodness, in His creation, preservation, and government of the world: they see His infinite justice in the condemnation of the fallen Angels: they see His infinite justice and mercy, both together, in the redemption of fallen man: they see Him, being in every thing that is, working in every thing that moves, and ordering every thing that happens in the world: they see Him smiling upon all the glorified Spirits in Heaven, frowning upon the damned in Hell, directing the courses of all the stars in the firmament, upholding, governing, and disposing of all the fowls in the air, all the fishes in the sea, and all the men, and beasts, and insects upon the land: they see Him giving bounds to the waters, fruitfulness to the earth, and their respective virtues and qualities to all the herbs, and plants, and stones and metals, and minerals that are in either: they see Him in themselves; wheresoever they are, they look upon Him as present with them; whatsoever they have, they look upon Him as bestowing it upon them; whatsoever they do, they look upon Him as assisting them in it: above all, they see Him in the purity of their own hearts: as Gregory Nyssen observes, saying, 'That he who hath purged his heart from all corrupt affection, εν τῷ ιδία [κάλλει] της Θείας φύσεως καθοςα την ειπόνα, ' seeth the image of the Divine Nature in his own beauty, or purity.' For the nature of God being purity itself, they who are pure in heart are so far like to God; and "partakers of the Divine Nature," as St. Peter speaks: and, therefore, if they do but look into their own hearts, so much

Greg. Nys. de Beatitud. Orat. 6. Tom. i. p. 815. B.]

2 Pet. 1. 4. as they see of purity, so much they see of God Himself there, Whose image and likeness it is.

But here we must observe, that the sight which such

persons have of God, is not a bare simple intuition or very speculation, which is common to others as well as to them; for they that have a clear head, although their heart be impure, they may notwithstanding have high and excellent notions of God, and discourse elegantly of His Divine nature and properties. His word and works, and how we may see Him, and His glory in them; and yet all this while have no sense at all of what they speak upon their own hearts; for such notions only swim in the brain, and flow from thence into the tongue; they never come near the heart, nor affect that at all, by reason of its impurity and hardness, which makes it insensible of every thing that is truly good and pure, howsoever it may be set off and adorned: and in them is verified that of the Prophet, that " seeing they shall see Isa. 6. 9. and shall not perceive;" and the reason he gives is, because Matt.13.14. their hearts are waxed gross and fat, stuffed up with so much filth, that they have no seeing in them, nor relish what they see, any more than as if they did not see at all.

But it is not so with the "pure in heart;" they see God in their hearts as well as in their heads. At the same time they see, they likewise taste that the Lord is good and "gracious," as the Holy Ghost Himself speaks; for their Ps. 34. 8. hearts being pure, and so like to God, every glance of Him goes to the very bottom of them, and overspreads them with such a sense of His glory and goodness, as moves and inclines all the powers and faculties of their souls towards Him. This I do not question but many here present have found by their own experience, who, when they have been thinking upon God, have felt themselves struck, as it were, with an holy admiration of Him, and their hearts all in a flame with love, desire, and joy, and a great deal more than I am able to express, or they themselves either. So that they seem to see God, not only with the eye of their reason, or understanding, but with their whole hearts, and their whole souls, all their faculties being equally affected, one as well as another; at least so far as they are clean and pure: but no farther: and that is the reason why this sight of God is rare in any, and so imperfect in the best that are upon earth, because there are so few that are sincerely pure, and none that are perfectly so, while they are in the body.

SERM. CXXV. [Heb. 12. 23.] But when we come to Heaven, where our souls shall be made "the spirits of just men made perfect," there we shall see God perfectly, and so be perfectly filled with all manner of joy and satisfaction in Him, as much as our most pure and perfect souls can hold. And then we shall perfectly find, by our own experience, how true our Lord is in what He promises, as well as asserts, saying, "Blessed are the pure in heart, for they shall see God."

"For they shall see God!" That is the reason which He Himself here gives, why the pure in heart are blessed. Indeed, seeing He Who is the fountain of all blessing hath pronounced them to be so, we could not but acknowledge them to be blessed, although He had given us no other reason for it. Yet howsoever He hath given us here such a reason for it, that we cannot but from thence conclude them to be blessed, although He had never pronounced them to be so: for all the real blessedness that we are capable of, consisteth in our enjoyment of Him That made us, and Who made us of such a temper that we cannot possibly be happy in any thing but Himself, and therefore hath made nothing to make us happy, intending Himself alone, and His perfections, for the object of our felicity: but as we can never be happy but in the enjoyment of God, the chiefest and only Good, so we can never enjoy Him, unless we see Him; neither can we see Him, but we shall enjoy Him; for we enjoy Him by our seeing of Him, as we may plainly The palate enjoys what it discover by our very senses. tastes, the ear what it hears, the eye what it sees, and so of Neither can we enjoy any sensible objects any other way, but by our senses being severally affected by So here, God is the proper object of our souls; and therefore so much as we see, so much we must needs enjoy of Him: our whole souls, as I observed before, being affected with that blessed sight. From whence it necessarily follows, that the pure in heart must needs be blessed, in that they see God; and so far as they see God, so far they are blessed, even in this life.

They are blessed in all places, for they see God still present with them, upholding them in their being, supplying their wants, and protecting them from danger and mischief:

they are blessed in all their enjoyments, for they see God both giving, and continuing, and sanctifying them all unto them: they are blessed in all their religious duties, for they see God exciting them to them, assisting of them, and declaring Himself as well pleased with them, and accepting of them for Christ Jesus' sake: they are blessed in all their civil actions, for they see God ordering their thoughts, directing their intentions, strengthening their resolutions, and co-operating all along in their performance of them: they are blessed in all conditions, for they see God managing the chain of all inferior causes, so as to make them "all [Rom. 8. work together for their good:" they see Him winding and turning every thing that happens to them, till at last it turn to their real profit and advantage: and therefore, whatsoever their condition be, they are not only satisfied but well pleased with it, as seeing it to be the best they could be in at that time: they may meet with troubles and crosses in the world, as other men do, but they are not so to them; for they see to both ends of them, from whence they come, and whither they tend, and therefore are never troubled or disturbed at them; but in the midst of all the changes and chances of this mortal life, they are still the same; for as they always see God, they always trust on Him, and rejoice in Him, and strive all they can to please Him, and to approve themselves And so long as they can do that, whatsoever unto Him. storms or tempests may be without, they have still tranquillity and peace within: and how great a blessedness that is, none can tell but they that have it, even they who, being pure in heart, always see God: they have it in a great measure upon Earth, and when they come to Heaven, they will have it in its utmost extremity and perfection; for there, as their hearts will be perfectly pure, they will see God perfectly, and so be perfectly blessed for ever.

And, as all the pure in heart will be thus blessed, so none but they can be so, as David also intimates, saying, "Who Ps. 24. 3, 4. shall ascend into the Hill of the Lord? or who shall stand in His Holy Place? He that hath clean hands and a pure heart." Heaven is a high and holy place, where the air is so thin and pure, that no foul or impure creatures can live. much less enjoy any pleasure in it: they cannot get thither



SERM. CXXV. if they would, and if they were there, they would soon wish to be out again, as finding nothing to please and gratify their corrupt humours, nothing but what is contrary to their temper and inclinations: insomuch that Heaven would seem more like Hell than Heaven to them: the company that is there would seem irksome, the work tedious, and the very joys would be a trouble to them. But they need not fear that they shall ever be troubled with them; for, going out of this world with unclean hearts, they will be immediately sent to a place and company that is more proper for them, even to live with unclean Spirits in the region of darkness for ever.

[Col. 1. 12.]

Wherefore, as ever we desire "to be meet to be partakers of the inheritance of the Saints in light," we must be sure to depart out of this life with clean hands, and a pure heart, that so the air of that place may agree with us, and our minds may be duly qualified and disposed to taste and relish those pure and spiritual entertainments, which Christ hath purchased at no less a price than with His Own Blood, and is now providing for us, out of the inexhaustible treasure of His Own infinite goodness and bounty, in the highest Heavens, where we shall always live with Him and see His Glory, and continually admire, adore, magnify, and enjoy all those glorious, infinite, incomprehensible and eternal perfections that are concentred in His Divine Nature. And then we shall fully understand how blessed a thing it is to see God, and how the pure in heart shall do it for ever.

Which, therefore, that we may all do, let us make it our constant care and study to get and keep our hearts always clean and pure. And seeing we can never do it without the assistance of God's Holy Spirit, let us earnestly pray to [Ps.51.10.] God with David, that He would "create in us a clean heart, and renew a right spirit within us;" and with our Church, that He would "cleanse the thoughts of our hearts by the inspiration of His Holy Spirit." And seeing some hearts are like those unclean Spirits, which, our Saviour saith, [Matt. 17. "will not go out but by prayer and fasting," let us often [1] Cor. 9. join fasting with our prayers, that "keeping our bodies under, we may be better able to keep our hearts free from

all impure thoughts and desires, and in a right disposition to receive such illuminations and assistances of God's pure and Holy Spirit, as may make them also pure and holy. For which purpose, let us also frequently read and meditate upon God's Holy Word, and apply ourselves to Christ, in His Holy Sacrament, that together with His mystical body and blood, we may, by faith, receive His Spirit too. By the constant and sincere use of these means, and trusting upon God for His blessing upon them, through the assistance of His Holy Spirit moving in them, we may both get and keep our hearts pure, and so be as blessed as God Himself can make us, for we shall see Him: we may be confident of it, for we have Christ's Own Word for it, saying, "Blessed are the pure in heart, for they shall see God."

SERMON CXXVL

AGAINST RASH SWEARING.

MATT. v. 34.

But I say unto you, Swear not at all.

SERM.

These words are much to be observed, as containing the CXXVI. will of our Heavenly Father, revealed to us, not by a Prophet, or Apostle, or any creature, but by His only-begotten Son. Who came into the world on purpose to save us; and therefore, be sure, would require nothing of us, but what is necessary for our Salvation: and being Himself also truly God, of the same nature with the Father, He could not but perfectly understand what was necessary, and what was the Divine will and pleasure we should do, in order thereunto. For which reason, therefore, while He was upon earth, conversing with mankind in their own likeness, He took particular care to instruct them with His Own mouth in their whole duty, what they ought to believe, and what they ought to do, that they may be saved by Him. And having observed that the ancient Rabbins, or Doctors and Leaders of the Jewish Church, had put false glosses and misinterpretations upon the Moral Law, and that the people, taking the sense of it from them, had been led into great mistakes about it, which might hinder their obtaining that eternal Salvation which He designed to purchase for them with His Own blood; He therefore took all occasions of correcting those mistakes, and of acquainting them with the true sense and meaning of each commandment.

Particularly, whereas it is said in the third Commandment, "Thou shalt not take the Name of the Lord thy God in Exod. 20. 7. vain: for the Lord will not hold him guiltless that taketh His Name in vain;" and elsewhere, "Ye shall not swear Lev. 19. 12. by My Name falsely, neither shalt thou profane the Name of thy God; and again, "If a man vow a vow unto the Num. 30.2. Lord, or swear an oath to bind his soul with a bond; he shall not break his word, he shall do according to all that proceedeth out of his mouth." These, and suchlike laws concerning oaths and swearing, the ancient Rabbins had interpreted so, as if no more was meant by them, but only that men should do whatsoever they had sworn they would "Again;" saith our Saviour, "ye have heard that it Matt. 5. 33. hath been said by them of old time, Thou shalt not forswear thyself, but shalt perform unto the Lord thine oaths," which false interpretation of those Divine laws, was of very ill consequence; for people having received this from their forefathers, as the full sense of them, they made no conscience of swearing in their common discourse, or of taking the Name of God rashly and in vain: they regarded not what, or how, or how often they swore: if they did but perform what they had sworn, they thought themselves guilty of no fault, but that they had perfectly obeyed the Law, and done all that was required in it.

But our blessed Lord, Who was Himself the Lawgiver, teacheth them another lesson, saying, in the words of my text, "But I say unto you, Swear not at all." As if He had said, I, Who made the Law, and therefore must needs know the meaning of it better than you or your forefathers; I, Who am Wisdom itself, and therefore understand the full extent and latitude of every precept; I, Who am Truth itself, and therefore neither will nor can deceive you; I, Who am come into the world to direct you into the right way of serving God, and keeping His laws, I assure you, there is a great deal more in those laws about swearing than you imagine, or have received by tradition from your ancestors; for they do not only require you not to forswear yourselves, but not to swear at all: "But I say unto you, Swear not at all."

But it is strange to observe, that these plain and per-

SERM.

spicuous words, which were designed to explain those of the Moral Law, have been as little understood, and as falsely interpreted by some, as those which they were designed to explain: for as the Jews contracted the sense of the moral Commandments into so narrow a compass, as if no more was intended by them but that men should not forswear themselves; so some that are called Christians, as Pelagians, Anabaptists, and Quakers, have extended these words of our Saviour so far, as to make them reach all manner of swearing, upon the most necessary and solemn occasions that can happen; which is every way as false and absurd as the other. And therefore, to prevent your falling into any mistakes about them, I shall first explain our Saviour's will and pleasure in them, what He doth not, and what He doth mean, by not swearing at all; and then shew how much it concerns all men carefully to observe what He here commands, saving, "But I say unto you, Swear not at all." By swearing, therefore, we are to understand, the calling

God to witness the truth of what is said: for that is the usual definition of an oath, or the common notion of swearing in general. To make us sociable creatures, or capable of conversing with one another, God hath given us the use of speech or language, whereby we can express or declare our thoughts and intentions to one another, which otherwise must always have lain hid in our own breasts, and unknown to all our fellow-creatures: whereas by this means we may know what another thinks, only by hearing him speak, at least so far as we are sure that his heart and his tongue go together. But that we can never be perfectly sure of, so long as men are in their imperfect state, and, as the Psalmist Ps. 116. 11; speaks, are "all liars," for they may say one thing, and Rom. 3. 4. think or intend think or intend another; and none knows whether they think as they speak, or intend to do what they promise, but only God, the Searcher of Hearts. And therefore the calling of Him, or naming Him as witness of the truth of what we say, is the greatest assurance that we can give to one another, that we really think or intend in our hearts, what we utter with our lips: which if it be in a matter of fact, past or present, it is called an assertory oath, because we assert or affirm it to be so: if it be about something to come.

Digitized by Google

which we say we will or will not do, it is called a promissory oath; unto which two, all sorts of oaths may be reduced.

This being premised concerning the nature of oaths in general, we must in the next place observe, that these words of our Saviour cannot possibly be so understood as if it was a thing in itself unlawful, and therefore He would never have us take an oath, nor swear upon any occasion whatsoever, although lawful authority or necessity require it: for we must not interpret one place of Scripture so as to make it contradict another. But it is plain, both from the Old and New Testament, that to swear, or call God to witness what we say, was always reckoned not only lawful but necessary, upon some occasions: which, that I may fully convince you of, and so keep you from ever falling into the absurd and dangerous error of some in our days, who think, or at least pretend it to be unlawful to swear, or take any oath though administered by lawful authority, in a matter also that is lawful; I desire you to consider,

First. We find Almighty God Himself, the Supreme Lawgiver of the world, I say we find Him often swearing, sometimes by Himself, sometimes by His Holiness, which is Himself: "The Lord God hath sworn by His Amos 4. 2. Holiness," saith the Prophet. So, "Once have I sworn Ps. 89. 35. by My Holiness," saith He Himself, "that I will not lie unto David." And elsewhere, "I swear by Myself, Jer. 22. 5. saith the Lord, that this house shall become a desolation." And upon Abraham's offering up his son Isaac, "By Myself have I sworn, saith the Lord, for because Gen. 22. 16, thou hast done this thing, and hast not withheld thy son, thine only son, that in blessing I will bless thee." From whence the Apostle observes, that "when God made pro- Heb. 6.13. mise to Abraham, because He could swear by no greater, He sware by Himself." "Wherein God, willing more ver. 17. abundantly to shew unto the heirs of promise the immutability of His counsel, confirmed it by an oath; and if He sware Who cannot sin, we may be confident it can be no sin to swear.

Moreover, as God Himself is pleased sometimes to swear by Himself, so He hath not only permitted, but commanded SERM. us to swear by His Name, saying, "Thou shalt fear the CXXVI. Deut. 6. 13. Lord thy God, and serve Him, and shalt swear by His ch. 10. 20. Name." And again, "Thou shalt fear the Lord thy God, and Him shalt thou serve, and to Him shalt thou cleave, and swear by His Name." From whence it appears, that He hath made this part of that worship and honour which we ought to pay Him, and that it is as much our duty, upon occasion, to swear by His Name, as it is to fear and serve Him. And in those very Commandments, wherein He Ex. 20. 7; requires us not to "take His Name in vain," and "not to Lev. 19. 12. swear by His Name falsely," He plainly intimates that we may and ought to swear truly by it.

Accordingly we find the Holy Angels themselves swearing Rev. 10.5,6. by Him; "And the Angel," saith St. John, "which I saw stand upon the sea and upon the earth lifted up his hand to Heaven, and sware by Him That liveth for ever and

Dan. 12.7. ever." So also Daniel. And as for the Saints in the Old Testament, there is nothing more frequently recorded of them, than their administering and taking of oaths; as

Gen. 24. 3. Abraham made his steward "swear by the Lord the God of Heaven, and the God of the Earth;" but such examples are so frequent that I need not mention them.

But I cannot omit that which, if it be possible, is more observable, even that God Himself hath given us directions how to swear, saying, "Thou shalt swear, The Lord liveth. Jer. 4. 2. in truth, in judgment, and in righteousness;" where we may observe His command to swear, in general, "Thou shalt swear;" the form of the oath He would have taken, " The Lord liveth;" and then the manner how He would have it taken, "in truth, in judgment, and in righteousness:" "in truth," that is, that the thing a man swears to, be true in itself, and known to be so to him that sweareth, and that he swears it truly, sincerely, heartily, without any equivocation or mental reservation, and so be not in the number of those which the same Prophet speaks of, saying, "Though ch. 5. 2. they say, the Lord liveth; surely they swear falsely."

And as you must swear in truth, so also "in judgment," that is, with that caution, prudence and discretion, and reverence, as becometh those who speak of Him, by Whom they speak, in Whom they live, and by Whom their very

thoughts as well as actions are weighed. And therefore all they offend against this rule, who swear in passion, rashly, or inconsiderately; as Herod, when he swore that he would Matt. 14, 7. give his wife's daughter whatsoever she asked, and the princes of Israel, who swore to the Gibeonites without asking counsel "at the mouth of the Lord."

And then it must be done "also in righteousness," that is the matter of the oath must be lawful and just, agreeable to God's Holy Word, or, at least, no way contrary to it, as David was, when he swore he would "destroy all that 1 Sam. 25. pertaineth to Nabal." And what is thus sworn must be 22. righteously and faithfully performed, otherwise it cannot be said to be sworn in righteousness: and therefore the Prophet inveighs against those " which swear by the Name of the Isa. 48. 1. Lord, and make mention of the God of Israel, but not in truth, nor in righteousness," because they did not take care to act accordingly. These are the rules which God Himself hath prescribed to be diligently observed in every oath that a man takes; and therefore he that takes an oath according to these rules may be confident he doth not sin, for he acts according to God's Own directions, Who never teaches men how to sin, but how to do that which is lawful and right in His eves. And therefore, He having directed us how to swear, He hath thereby given us an undeniable argument that we may lawfully do it, so that we do but observe His directions in it. And hence it is said, that every one who thus "sweareth by the Lord shall glory," or be commended, Ps. 63. 11. "but the mouth of them that speak lies," or swear falsely, "shall be stopped;" and "he that sweareth to his own Ps. 15. 4. hurt, and changeth not," is reckoned among those who shall "abide in the tabernacle of God, and dwell in His Holy Hill."

Neither hath God only given us these directions about swearing, but He gave power also to judges and magistrates to administer an oath in doubtful cases; as if there be a controversy between two neighbours, concerning "an ox or sheep, the oath of the Lord shall be between them," Ex. 22. 10, and by that the judges shall determine the cause. And 11. in the case of jealousy, "the priest shall charge" the woman Num. 5. 19.

Rom. 1. 9.

SERM.
CXXVI.

Gen. [21.
23.]

be true to him. Abraham made his servant swear, that he would "not take a wife to his son Isaac of the daughters of ch. 24. 3.

ch. 47. 30,
31.

c

The same may be said also of those in the New Testament, especially St. Paul, who perfectly understood the mind of God, and of our Saviour in my text; and yet often swears, or calls God to witness the truth of what he said, and that too when he was inspired with the infallible Spirit of God Himself in writing His mind and will. As where he saith, "For God is my witness, Whom I serve with my spirit in the Gospel of His Son, that without ceasing I make mention

I call God to record upon my soul, that to spare you, I came
Gal. 1. 20. not as yet to Corinth: "and again, "Now the things which I
write unto you, behold, before God, I lie not." Which are
all as plain and solemn oaths as any man can take; and
therefore he that presumes to say it is unlawful to take an
oath, doth not only condemn St. Paul, but he blasphemes
that Holy Spirit by Which he spake when he took those
oaths: and how great a sin that is, let them look to it who
are guilty of such horrid presumption.

To all which I shall only add, that the same St. Paul, who, doubtless, wrote the Epistle to the Hebrews, though his Heb. 6. 16. name be not put to it, he, I say, expressly says, "For men verily swear by the greater; and an oath for confirmation is to them an end of all strife;" where he doth not only approve of taking oaths or swearing upon lawful occasions, but acquaints us also with the great end and necessary use of it, even to put an end to all strife; this being, as it is expressed in the civil law, maximum expediendarum latium remedium, the greatest remedy that ever was or can be found out for the determining of controversies; for, by swearing, we call the greatest Person in the world to vouch the truth of

what we say, Him Who certainly knows whether we swear truly or no, and Who will as certainly punish us if we do not.

And hence it is, that swearing by His Name is so great a part of that worship which we owe to God, because by that we testify our acknowledgment both of His omniscience, and His supreme authority over the world. And that is the reason why He commands us to swear by His Name, and not by any other: as where Joshua, in His Name, charges the people of Israel, not to make mention of the name of the heathen gods, "nor cause to swear by them," and God Josh. 23. 7. was so angry with them afterwards for doing it, that He saith, "How shall I pardon thee for this? Thy children Jer. 5. 7. have forsaken Me, and sworn by them that are no Gods;" where He plainly makes the swearing by any other but Himself, to be downright forsaking Him; because by that men give that honour unto others which is due only to the true God, and so set them up for gods, by swearing by their names: from whence it appears, that it is so far from being unlawful, that it is a necessary duty to swear by the true God, and by Him only.

And this, as I might easily shew, hath been the constant sense and practice of the Church of Christ in all ages: but unless men be resolved to contradict the Holy Scriptures themselves, rather than their own humours and fancies, the many plain undeniable proofs and instances that I have now produced out of the Old and New Testament, must needs be sufficient to convince them, that swearing by the Name of God is not in itself a sin, but a duty, that we both may and ought to take an oath, when it is administered to us by lawful authority, as in courts of judicatory, for the deciding of controversies betwixt man and man, and upon suchlike weighty occasions; and, by consequence, that these words of our blessed Saviour, "Swear not at all," cannot possibly be so understood, as if He would never have us take an oath upon any occasion whatsoever; for this would be a plain contradiction to the Law and the Prophets, which He Himself, in this very chapter, saith, He came not to destroy but Matt. 5. 17. to fulfil; and so this would make Him contradict Himself: which let them have a care of, who put such a mischievous and absurd sense upon His sacred words.

SERM. CXXVI.

But you will say, perhaps, What then can He mean? Doth not He say in plain terms, "Swear not at all?" doth so; and if we take His words singly by themselves, without considering what goes before or follows after them. there might be some colour for such an exposition, if the rest of the Scriptures would allow of it. But this is not the way of finding out the true sense of Holy Scripture or any other writing: for where several words are put together to signify an author's mind, you must not take it from some of them without the rest, but from all together as He expressed it: otherwise you do not take His sense from the words, but put your own upon them: the not observing whereof hath been the occasion of most of the heresies and errors that have disturbed the Church. Indeed, there is nothing so absurd or ridiculous but may be extorted from some place of Scripture or other, if you take the words apart by themselves, without considering the scope and design of the place; but if you do that, as all must do, that would interpret the Scriptures aright, the sense will then be plain and easy.

As in this very place, these words, "Swear not all," are not a proposition of themselves, but part of our Saviour's Divine discourse concerning oaths, or swearing, as it was then used by the Jews: and if we cast our eye upon the whole discourse, and look upon it all together, we shall clearly see that our Saviour is not here speaking of taking oaths before a magistrate, or upon any public and solemn occasion, but of swearing in our common discourse and conversation with one another: and that is plainly the swearing which He forbids, as appears,

[Matt. 5. 33.] First, from the occasion of these words in the verse before my text, "Again, ye have heard that it hath been said by them of old time, Thou shalt not forswear thyself, but shalt perform unto the Lord thy vows;" where He plainly speaks of promissory oaths which a man is bound afterwards to perform; but such oaths are never taken in courts of justice, for the deciding of controversies, but only between man and man.

The same appears also from what follows, "Swear not at all; neither by Heaven, for it is God's throne; nor by the

earth, for it is His footstool: neither by Jerusalem; for it is the city of the Great King. Neither shalt thou swear by thy head, because thou canst not make one hair white or black." For the understanding of which we must know, that the Jews were permitted to swear by the Name of God only before their magistrates: but by their false interpreters of Scripture they were allowed in their common discourse to swear by any thing else, as by Heaven, by earth, by Jerusalem, by their head, or the like. But our Saviour here makes no mention of their swearing by the Name of God, but only by other things; which plainly sheweth, that He doth not meddle here with their taking oaths before their magistrates in the Name of God Himself, but only with their swearing by other things; which seeing they never did, but only in their common discourse, His words must be understood only of such swearing as they commonly used betwixt one another; which they did not look upon as unlawful, or binding, because the Name of God was not used in it; as might easily be shewn, not only out of the Talmud, and other Jewish writers, but from Philo himself, who lived about our Saviour's time, and delivers the sense and practice of the Jews in this matter.

This, therefore, is that which our Saviour here forbids, and gives us the reason why He doth so; even because he that swears by Heaven, or by earth, or any such thing, he doth, in effect, swear by God Himself; "Swear not at all," saith He, "neither by Heaven; for it is God's throne: nor by the earth; for it is His footstool: neither by Jerusalem; for it is the city of the Great King. Neither shalt thou swear by thy head, because thou canst not make one hair white or black." As if He had said, Heaven is God's throne, earth His footstool, Jerusalem His city, thy head His workmanship, for none but He can make so much as one hair white or black: and therefore He that sweareth by these things, swears, in effect, by God Himself; for, as He Himself saith in another place, "Whoso shall swear by the Temple, sweareth Matt.23,21. by it, and by Him that dwelleth therein: and he that shall 22. swear by Heaven, sweareth by the throne of God, and by Him that sitteth thereon." And therefore the swearing by such things ought to be as much avoided, as swearing by the

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXXVI.

Jam. 5. 12.

Name of God Himself in Whom it terminates. And this is that which St. James also means, where he saith, "But above all things, my brethren, swear not, neither by Heaven, neither by earth, neither by any other oath;" that is, use no kind of oaths whatsoever in your common discourse; for they are all sinful, when so commonly and rashly used, one as well as another.

But to put it beyond all doubt, that our Lord speaks here only of common swearing, He Himself is pleased to tell us Matt. 5.37. so with His Own mouth, saying, "But let your communication be yea, yea; nay, nay;" that is, let your ordinary discourse, or speech, as the word signifies, whereby you converse and commune together, let it be pure and simple; let it not be corrupted with oaths or curses, but only affirming what you think to be true, or denying what you think to be false, without intermingling any sort of oaths with your words, or confirming what you say by swearing it is, or it is not so; "For whatsoever is more than these." saith He, "cometh of evil:" it proceeds from an evil mind, it produceth an evil custom, it is of evil example, and tends to an evil end; and so it comes from the evil one, the Devil himself, who, as he is the father of lies, so he is the father too of all profane swearing and cursing, which usually go together; cursing being indeed but one sort of swearing, and one of the worse sorts too, if one may be said to be worse than another, when all are as bad as bad can be.

By this time, I hope, you all perceive your Saviour's mind and meaning in these words, wherein He commands you not to swear at all in your ordinary conversation, and discoursing with one another. And this is that command which I must now advise and beseech you all carefully to observe. I hope the far greatest part of the congregation do already abominate this horrid sin of common and profane swearing, and so need not any arguments to dissuade them from it. But I fear that some of you are too much guilty of it: and there are none of you but may be sometimes liable to fall into it, by the prevalence of the Devil's temptations, or of your own passions, or perhaps by your too easy and sinful compliance with the company you keep; there being many, with whom you may sometimes have

occasion to converse, so horribly addicted to this vice, that they cannot speak without an oath; and are so far from observing this command, "Swear not at all," that they always swear, whensoever they discourse upon any subject, though never so trifling and impertinent; and all vice being infectious to our corrupt nature, they who keep company with such profane wretches are apt in a short time to become such themselves. There are many, too many instances, to be found of this kind; and therefore it will be necessary to arm you, as much as possible, against this damnable sin, which is grown so common in this city, and the whole land, that, unless it be prevented by a timely repentance, we have just cause to fear some extraordinary judgment will be inflicted upon us for it.

For which purpose, therefore, I desire you first to consider, that you are all Christians, and hope to be saved by Christ; and therefore, one would think, that you need not any other arguments to persuade you not to swear, than that Christ Himself hath said, "Swear not at all." Christ, Who loved you, and gave Himself for you; Christ, Whom you profess to love and honour above all the persons in the world; Christ, Who said, "If ye love Me, keep My Com-[John 14. mandments," He hath commanded you not to swear: and 15.] if ye will not keep this Commandment, which of all His Commandments can ve keep? None certainly. This is so plain, so cheap, so easy a Commandment, that there is scarce another like it in all the Bible; for it is only not to swear, not to do that which only will undo you, without affording you either pleasure or profit, or honour, or any thing that ye can so much as pretend to be a temptation to it. Insomuch that I have sometimes wondered with myself, what should be the reason that this sin is so common in the world; and, after all my search, can find out but this one, which is, that men will commit this sin, because it is a sin. If God had never forbid you to swear, or had commanded you to do it, you would have been as backward to it, as ye are to praying or praising His Name: but seeing He hath charged you not to swear, although there is nothing else can tempt you to it, yet you will do it; you will therefore do it, because God would not have you. Oh, dreadful



SERM.

Heb. 5. 9.

ment? that ever mankind should be so corrupted! that men should fly in the very face of Heaven, and offend God only that they may offend Him! And yet this is the case of every common swearer; and therefore if any of you be such, do not look upon yourselves any longer as Christians, until you leave it off; nor of the Communion of Saints, but of the society of those wicked spirits, who sin for sin's sake. Be sure ye are far from being Christians; for Christians are such as believe in Christ. But how can you so much as profess to believe in Christ, when you will not do any one thing that He bids you? And if you will not do this, if you will not so much as leave swearing, in obedience to Him, ve may be confident that you obey Him in nothing, but live in the constant transgression of all His Laws. And with what confidence then can you expect to be saved by Him? No. mistake not vourselves. He is the "author of eternal Salvation unto all them that obey Him," and to none else. And therefore, as ever you desire that Christ should stand your friend and save you: as ever you desire that God should have mercy upon you for His sake; for His sake "swear not at all." Or, if you will not leave off this sin for Christ's sake, at least, do it for your own sakes. If ve do not care whether He save you or no, however be not so foolish as to condemn yourselves; as you plainly do, by every oath you swear in common discourse: you condemn yourselves for a company of perfidious and lying wretches, that no man can believe one word you say, except you swear to it; except you bring a voucher, and the greatest too in the world, to attest the truth of what you say. Doth not this plainly argue, that you are conscious to yourselves of great hypocrisy and deceit? Doth it not clearly shew, that you have forfeited all your credit and reputation in the world, so that you cannot be trusted or be believed without an oath? For, otherwise, what need you swear? Would not men believe you without an oath, if they took you for honest and good men? Yes, surely, far better than with it: for, after all, your swearing to it is so far from gaining any credit to what you say, that it utterly destroys it, for it is a most certain truth, that he that will swear will lie: he that makes no conscience of offending God, will make none of deceiving me. And therefore, if we hear a man swear, we have no ground to believe one word he saith. upon that very account, because he swears to it: but rather, we have reason to suspect every thing he saith to be false, in that by his swearing he discovers himself to be a man of no conscience; and, therefore, one that matters not how much he imposeth upon us. So that, whatsoever some may think, this is certainly one of the most foolish, ridiculous, and absurd vices that a man can be guilty of; and which many of the heathens themselves frequently inveighed against, and looked upon it as a most horrid sin, to swear even by their false gods.

But what a sin then must it be to swear vainly and rashly by the true God, the Great, the Almighty God, that made and governs the whole world? Far greater, doubtless, than can be described. The mere speaking of Him or taking His sacred Name into our mouths in vain, and to no purpose, is a great sin, expressly forbidden in the third Commandment: how much more the common swearing by it, and calling upon Him, to attest the truth of what we say, upon every slight occasion? It is true, all sins are committed against the Laws of God, and so against His authority and power. But this is committed against His Name, His Person itself; it is downright affronting His Divine Majesty to His face. Would a prince take it well, if his subjects should call him, upon all occasions, to witness what they talk among themselves? Would he bear with such insolency? or suffer such contempt to be thrown continually upon him? Yet a prince and his subjects are fellow-creatures: but for creatures to do this to their Almighty Creator; for dust and ashes to call the Sovereign of the world to vouch their impertinent talk and chat, is such a piece of impudence and presumption, that, did we not, see it too frequently done, one would think it impossible that any mortal should dare to do it, that they should dare to take His sacred Name into their polluted lips, which He hath so expressly commanded all men to fear and dread; "That thou mayst Deut.28.58. fear," saith He, "this glorious and fearful Name, the Lord



SERM. thy God." How far are all they from the florious Name!

presume, upon all occasions, to profane this glorious Name! How plainly do they shew that they have no fear of God before their eyes! So plainly, that it is no breach of Christian charity to say, they have not; for if they had, they would be so far from taking His Holy Name in vain, that they would never dare to speak of Him without fear and reverence; for their speaking of Him would always call His greatness and glory to their minds. And who is able to think of so great and glorious a being, without reverence and godly fear? And who then can fear Him, and not fear the taking His Name in vain? Hence Solomon makes this the great difference betwixt a wicked and a good man, that

Eccles. 9. 2. the one "sweareth," and the other "feareth an oath." good man that fears God, fears the profaning of His Holy Name by oaths: but he that swears is a wicked man, therefore wicked, because he swears: wicked in the highest degree of wickedness: how should this make all men dread the thoughts of this horrid sin, which so plainly demon-[Acts 8.23.] strates them to be in the "gall of bitterness, and the bond of iniquity!"

> itself, but it is usually accompanied with others as great, and, if it be possible, greater than itself; for they that commonly swear, commonly curse too; and that both themselves and others. What dreadful curses do such foul-mouthed wretches usually denounce against their neighbours! Such as are not to be so much as named among Christians: and yet they will bestow them as liberally upon themselves too as well as others; cursing and damning themselves (I dread to speak it), to the very pit of Hell; as if they wished to be there before their time. I dare not so much as suppose there are any such among you: but if there be, I must tell them they need not take so much pains to curse and damn themselves, for God Himself ere long will do it for them. Nav. He hath begun to do it already, in that He hath given them over to

> the power of the Devil, who will be sure to hold them fast. till he hath gotten them into his own kingdom of darkness, where they will meet with all the bitter imprecations that

Especially considering, that this is not only a great sin of

ever came out of their mouths, and feel them for ever. This they will find to be one dismal effect of their taking God's Name in vain.

And besides, they that swear often, often forswear themselves; much oftener, perhaps, than they themselves think of. For the custom of this sin makes it so natural and familiar to them, that they do not know when they commit it; but if ye tell them of it, will swear they did not swear. And not always knowing what or when they swear, they must needs frequently swear to that which is false, and as frequently omit the doing what they swear they will, and so forswear themselves, and be guilty of perjury in the sight of God.

And it is well if there be not blasphemy in it too. Be sure, their calling God, as they commonly do, to witness that which is false, is a plain contradiction either to His omniscience or truth; for it is as much as to say, that He doth not know it to be false, or if He doth, will nevertheless attest the truth of it: which cannot be judged less than downright blasphemy.

And what dreadful punishments then must common swearers be obnoxious to! Such as it would make one's ear to tingle and one's heart to tremble, to hear or think of them. God Himself hath told them with His Own mouth, and hath given it under His hand too, in the third Commandment written with His Own finger, that "He will not hold them guiltless;" that is, He will be sure to punish them, one time or other, severely for it. He may suffer them to go on for awhile in profaning His sacred Name, until they have filled up the measure of their iniquities, and then He will shower down His judgments in full proportion to their sins, until they are utterly destroyed. They have His Own Word for it, Who cannot lie, and therefore they may believe it: and whether they now believe it or no, they shall one day feel it, whether they will or no: for God will not be mocked, much [Gal. 6. 7.] less will He suffer His sacred Name to be profaned by His Own creatures, without making them know what it is to provoke and dishonour Him that made them.

Hark what God Himself saith, by His Angel, to the Prophet Zechariah: the Prophet in a vision had seen a flying roll, "And the Angel said to him, what seest thou?" he Zech.5.2-4.

SERM. CXXVI.

answered, "a flying roll; the length thereof twenty cubits, the breadth thereof ten cubits." Then said the Angel to him, "This is the curse that goeth forth over the face of the whole earth: for every one that stealeth shall be cut off as on this side according to it; and every one that sweareth shall be cut off as on that side according to it. 'I will bring it forth,' saith the Lord of Hosts, 'and it shall enter into the house of the thief, and into the house of him that sweareth falsely by My Name: and it shall remain in the midst of his house, and shall consume it with the timber thereof and the stones thereof." Behold here a roll, or book rolled up, a great roll, twenty cubits long and ten broad, all full of curses on both sides; behold this roll flying swiftly about over the face of the whole earth; and behold it lighting at last upon every one that stealeth, and upon every one that sweareth, none escaping that either rob their neighbours of their goods, or God of His honour, by taking His Name in vain. Behold it lighting upon his house, and there remaining till it hath consumed both him and it, to the very timber and stones. Whereby is signified God's determinate counsel and purpose, not to suffer false or common swearers to go unpunished; the roll will meet with them, the curse will light upon them one time or other, and destroy them root and branch.

Neither doth this sin destroy only particular persons and Jer. 23. 10. families, but whole nations. "Because of swearing, the land mourneth," saith the Prophet Jeremiah, and this is one of those sins for which God had a controversy with His Own people, the inhabitants of the land of Judea, and Hos. 4. 1-3. for which He saith, "The land shall mourn, and every one that dwelleth therein shall languish." God grant that this be not fulfilled upon our land, wherein this sin hath been. and, I fear, still is, as common as ever it was in Judea. It is true, the nation in general hath forbidden it, and enacted a law against it, and therefore I hope that God of His infinite mercy will not impute it to the whole nation, nor reckon it a national sin: but if the people of the nation do, notwithstanding the laws both of God and man, continue in it, some severe judgment will certainly fall upon them for it; at least upon those who are guilty of it.

But I hope none of you are so: and if any of you be, give me leave to deal plainly with you; you have now heard that Christ Himself hath commanded you not to swear at all: and it is not long but you must stand before His tribunal, where you must give an account how ye have observed this, as well as any other of His commands. Now, what will you plead for yourselves, what can you say in excuse for this sin? Will you say, that you did not know it was a sin? That you cannot; for I dare say ye knew it before, and have now heard it again to be so. Will you say, that ye were tempted to it? That we cannot; for there can be no temptation to this of all sins, but from your own wicked and corrupt hearts. Will you say, that ye were so accustomed to it that ve could not leave it? That you cannot; for you may as easily lay down as take up an ill custom, if ye will. And besides, this will be so far from excusing, that it will highly aggravate your crime, as shewing that you had committed it so often, that it was grown into custom and habit with you. What then will ye do? Nothing, certainly, but expect your sad and irrevocable doom from the Judge of the whole world, Who hath told you beforehand what ye must expect. "But I say unto you," saith He, "that every idle word that Matt. 12.36, men shall speak, they shall give account thereof at the Day 37. of Judgment. For by thy words thou shalt be justified, and by thy words thou shalt be condemned." And if we must give an account for every idle word, what a dreadful account must you give for all your swearing and cursing! If men shall be justified by their words, how can you be justified by yours, so expressly contrary to the Laws of God? If men shall be condemned for their words, you, certainly, of all men, can expect nothing but to be condemned for yours to everlasting shame and confusion. This St. James puts you in mind of, where he requires you, above all things, not to swear at all, "lest ye fall into condemnation;" for so ye will Jam. 5. 12. all do, except ye repent, and leave off this sin before it be too late. Ye may please yourselves, if you think good, at present with it; but know this, that God, ere long, will bring you into judgment for it, and there pronounce that righteous sentence upon you, "Depart from Me ye cursed, Matt.25.41. into everlasting fire, prepared for the Devil and his angels."

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXXVI.

Consider these things, all ye that have hitherto been any ways addicted to this heinous vice, and tell me whether it doth not behove and concern you to break it off immediately by a hearty and sincere repentance? I say immediately, lest otherwise ye may happen to die first, and so perish for ever. Wherefore, let me advise and beseech you all, as ve either fear God, or love your own souls, to do it now; now that ye have heard how odious and abominable it is before God and man; now do ye begin to abominate and hate it so, as steadfastly to resolve, by God's assistance, never to commit it any more. And, for that purpose, keep these words of your Blessed Saviour, "I say unto you, Swear not at all;" keep them always fresh in your minds and memories: and lest you should forget them, desire your friends, and relations, and acquaintance to put you in mind of them, every time they hear you so much as take the Name of God And when you hear others do it, be not afraid nor ashamed to rebuke them for it; it is the greatest kindness you can shew them, and they will thank you for it another time, and God will be well pleased with it. And if any be so proud and obstinate as to scorn reproof, and, notwithstanding all that God or man can say, will still retain and practice this execrable vice, let them be unto you as heathens and publicans, keep company no longer with them, but shun and avoid them, as you would do persons infected with the plague, lest you catch it of them.

1 Thess. 5. 22. But that you may be sure never to fall into this sin hereafter, keep as far as possibly you can from it, come not near the borders of it, but run from every thing that looks like swearing; remember the Apostle's words, "Abstain from all appearance of evil." There are many words and phrases commonly used among us, of which some have made a question whether they be oaths or no: but whether they be or no, it is your safest way to avoid them. It may be a sin to use them, but can be none not to use them. And there are words and phrases enough, whereby you may express your minds upon all occasions, besides those that look like oaths, whether they be or no. And it is as easy to accustom yourselves to those which are unquestionably lawful, as to such whose lawfulness is by many questioned. This also is most

agreeable to our Saviour's will, Who doth not only command you not to swear, but requires that your communication be "yea, yea; nay, nay;" that is, that you only affirm or deny Matt. 5. 37. what is said, without backing it with any thing like an oath; that so every thing you speak may be, at least, harmless and innocent; and, if possible, useful too; according to that excellent rule laid down by the Apostle, "Let no corrupt Eph. 4. 29. communication proceed out of your mouth, but that which is good to the use of edifying, that it may minister grace unto the hearers."

But after all, that ye may never have the least occasion to swear, or to confirm what ye say by oaths, ye must be sure to be always firm and constant to your promise, just and righteous in your dealings, true and faithful in all your words, so as never to tell a lie to gain the world; and then your word will be sooner taken than another's oath, and you will both act and talk together as becometh Christians, as becometh the dutiful and obedient servants of the blessed Jesus, careful to observe and do whatsoever He hath bidden you, that so ye may receive that blessed sentence from Him, "Well done, good and faithful servants, enter ye into your Master's joy."

SERMON CXXVII.

A SPITAL SERMON.

1 TIM. vi. 17, 18.

Charge them that are rich in this world, that they be not high-minded, nor trust in uncertain riches, but in the living God, Who giveth us all things richly to enjoy;

That they do good, that they be rich in good works, ready to

distribute, willing to communicate.

SERM. CXXVII. The great article of Christ's resurrection from the dead is so necessary to be thoroughly considered, and firmly believed, by all that expect Salvation from Him, that the Church doth not think it sufficient to set apart that day only on which it happened, but hath added the two next also, for the annual commemoration of it. And accordingly we have now spent three days together in the exercise of our faith and meditations upon this great truth, that Jesus Christ, the eternal Son of God, having in our nature suffered death upon the Cross for our Redemption, was, upon the third day after, raised again to life, and ever lives to make intercession for us: whereby we are fully assured, that "He is able to save to the utmost all that come unto God by Him:" and that we in particular are all capable of obtaining eternal Salvation, by His merits and Mediation for us.

[Heb. 7. 25.]

But, that we may actually obtain what He hath thus purchased for us, it is necessary to observe whatsoever He hath been pleased to require of us; which would be a very proper meditation for this day. But I shall consider it no further, at present, than as it respects the occasion and end of our

Digitized by Google

assembling here at this time: which is to consider of the most effectual means to excite and stir up those who are able, to a liberal contribution to the relief of the sick and needy; for that this is one of those great duties which Christ our Saviour requires of us, is plain from the words which I have now read, as being dictated by the Spirit of Christ Himself to His Apostle St. Paul, who having ordained Timothy a bishop, and settled him in the see of Ephesus, the chief city of all the proconsular Asia, he, in this Divine Epistle, sends him instructions how to govern the Church, and how to preach and propagate the Gospel which he himself had planted there; and, in the foot of the Epistle, he, in the Name of Christ, lays this command upon him, "Charge them that are rich in this world, that they be not high-minded, nor trust in uncertain riches, but in the living God, Who giveth us all things richly to enjoy; that they do good, that they be rich in good works, ready to distribute, willing to communicate."

Which words, though at first directed only to Timothy, were, in him, intended for all succeeding ministers and preachers of the Gospel: such, I mean, who are solemnly ordained and set apart for that work. We are all obliged, in our preaching, to observe this command; without which we can never do any good upon those that hear us. so long as men's minds are set upon riches, and the things of this world, we may preach our hearts out, before we can ever persuade them, in good earnest, to mind that happiness which the Son of God hath procured for them in the world to come. This St. Paul knew well enough; and therefore hath left this upon record, not only as his advice and counsel, but as a strict command and duty incumbent upon all who are sent to preach the Gospel, that they charge them who are rich, not to be "high-minded, nor trust in uncertain riches, but in the living God, Who giveth us all things richly to enjoy."

Where we may first observe, how we are here enjoined and empowered to "charge them that are rich." A word much to be observed: he doth not say, desire, beseech, counsel, admonish, but τοῖς πλουσίοις παράγγελλε, 'charge, command the rich:' the word properly signifies such a charge as

SERM. judges at an assize or sessions make in the king's name, enjoining his subjects to observe the established laws and statutes of the kingdom. And thus it is that we are here required to charge vou, in the Name of our great Lord and Master, the King of all kings, that you "be not high-minded, nor trust in uncertain riches, but in the living God, Who giveth us all things richly to enjoy."

> Neither doth this power, committed to us, extend itself only to the meaner sort of people, who, by reason of their extreme poverty and want, may seem inferior to us, but even to the rich also, "Charge them that are rich in this world." And the reason is, because we come not to you in our own names, but in His that gives you all the riches you have, and can take them away again when He pleaseth, Who makes the poor rich, and the rich poor, as He sees good; so that the rich and the poor are all alike to Him, and equally subject to His authority and power. And, therefore, we preaching only in His Name, as His ministers, or heralds. authorised and commissioned by Him to publish and proclaim His will and pleasure to you, we can make no distinction, but must acquaint all indifferently with what He would have them do. And as for the rich, they are so far from being excepted out of our commission, that we are here commanded to charge several duties upon them; particularly "charge them," saith the Apostle, "that are rich in this world."

But who are they? is a question that deserves a serious resolution; for most men, how much soever they have, yet not thinking themselves to have enough, are apt to fancy that they are not the persons whom the Apostle means. But whatsoever we may think of ourselves, I believe there are but few here present, except blue-coats, but who, in a Scripture sense, are "rich in this world;" for whatsoever any of you have, over and above your necessary maintenance in that state of life to which God hath called you, that is properly your riches; as appears plainly from Agur's wish, Prov. 30. 8. "Give me neither poverty nor riches, feed me with food convenient for me;" from whence it naturally follows, that as nothing but want of convenient food is poverty, so whatsoever any man hath above that, all circumstances consi-

Digitized by Google

dered, is his riches: and such a one is truly "rich in this world," and may justly be reckoned among those upon whom we are here commanded to charge several duties; which, by His assistance Who requires them of you, I shall endeavour briefly to explain to you.

First, therefore, "charge them," saith the Apostle, "that are rich in this world, that they be not high-minded." A necessary caution for rich men; for riches are apt to puff men up with vain and groundless conceits of themselves; so as to fancy themselves to be better, because richer than other men. Which great mistake we are here commanded to rectify, by charging them not to entertain such high and proud conceits of themselves upon that account, but to be still as humble and lowly in their own eyes, as if they had no more than what is just necessary for them.

And indeed whatsoever any of you have more, do but impartially weigh it in the balance either of right reason, or your own experience, and you will soon find it so light and inconsiderable, that although you may be in many respects worse, you are no way really the better for it; and therefore can have no just cause to value yourselves at all upon it. may fancy yourselves, I confess, to be rich, and others may esteem you to be so, but what real advantage is that to you? Are you ever the wiser, or juster, or holier for it? Do you love God, or God love you the more because you are rich? Are you ever the freer from cares and fears in your minds, from pains and aches in your bodies, or from crosses, troubles, and disappointments in the world? Do you enjoy more health, sleep sounder, or live longer than other men? Are ye ever the more satisfied because ye have much, or happier because richer? You cannot but all know the contrary; even that the riches of this world are so far from quenching, that they do but increase your thirst after them, and instead of easing you of any trouble, bring more upon And therefore you have no cause, surely, to be proud and high-minded, but all the reason in the world to be humble and lowly under such a burden as they lay upon you. Especially considering, that as they cannot make you happy here, they will very much hinder you from being so hereafter: I speak not this of myself: no, you have the word of Christ

SERM. CXXVII. Matt. 19. 23, 24. Himself for it, saying, "Verily I say unto you, that a rich man shall hardly enter into the Kingdom of Heaven. And again I say unto you, it is easier for a camel to go through the eye of a needle, than for a rich man to enter into the Kingdom of God;" from whence, the least that can be inferred is, that it is more difficult for the rich than for the poor to be saved, and, by consequence, that their riches rather hinder than promote their Salvation. Which certainly our Saviour Himself would never have asserted, but that He knew it infallibly to be true; neither would He have left it upon record, but that it is necessary that all people should know and believe it; which whosoever doth, will find but little cause to be proud of his riches or highminded, much less to
"Trust in uncertain riches." Which is the next thing we

are here commanded to mind you of. An hard lesson, I confess, for a rich man to learn; nothing being more difficult than to have riches, and not to trust on them; as our Mark 10.23, Saviour Himself intimates, in that He explains the one by 24. the other, as things very rarely severed. But to trust in riches is altogether as absurd and ridiculous as to be proud of them: for what can you trust in them for? They can neither make you good, nor do you good: they of themselves can neither feed you, nor clothe you, nor refresh you, nor stand you in any stead, without God's blessing: and that you can never expect, so long as you trust in them: that being one of the greatest sins that a man can be guilty of, nothing less than idolatry itself. And therefore, as the Prov.11.28. wise man saith, "He that trusteth in his riches shall fall;" that is, he shall fall into all the misery that God hath threatened against the worst of sinners; so far from having God's blessing upon what he hath, that every thing he hath shall be cursed to him. And besides, it is in vain to trust on uncertain riches upon that very account because they are

"But in the living God," Who is a certain help and succour, stay and refuge, protection, defence, and all things to those who put their trust in Him; and Who, as the

uncertain, or rather uncertainty itself: for so the Greek words import; nor trust ἐπὶ πλούτου ἀδηλότητι, 'in the uncer-

tainty of riches.'

Apostle here saith, "gives us all things richly to enjoy." So that it is not your wit or policy, it is not your care or industry, it is not your trading and traffic in the world; it is only God that gives you all you have. And as it is He alone that makes you rich, so He can make you poor again when He pleaseth: and you have just cause to fear that He will do so, unless you faithfully observe what is here charged upon you.

Which, therefore, that you may do, so as to have your riches both continued and blessed to you, as I have briefly shewn how you ought not to abuse them, so as either to be high-minded, or trust on them, so I shall as briefly explain the use He would have you put them to, that so you may both answer His ends in bestowing them upon you, and improve them to your own benefit and advantage.

Here are four duties, therefore, which the Most High God doth positively charge upon all rich men.

I. "That they do good," i.e. with their riches; that you neither hoard them up, out of a covetous humour, nor prodigally throw them away, either to any ill purpose, or to none at all; but that you put them to some good use, or, as the Apostle here words it, "that you do good" with them: an expression much to be observed; for it seems from hence, that although riches be not really good for you in themselves, yet you may do good with them if ye will, and so make them really good and profitable to you. But for that purpose, it is necessary that you employ them only to good uses, and to such uses only, because they are good; so as to have no other end or design in it, but only to do good with what you have. And there are two sorts of uses which riches may be put to, so as that you may be truly said to do good with them; and they are, pious and charitable uses.

Where, by pious uses, I mean such as have an immediate respect to God Himself, whereby your riches are employed towards the better performing of His service and worship, to the erecting, fitting, or adorning of places for it, to the more frequent celebration of it in such places, and to the maintenance and encouragement of those who are set apart for it, to the propagating of His Gospel, to the conversion of Jews, Turks, Infidels, and Heretics, and of all sorts of profane,

atheistical, and wicked persons to Him, that His great Name may be better known, and more honoured, and revered in the world. It was for this end that He made you, and it was for this end that He hath made you rich, that He Himself might receive more honour and glory from you; and therefore doth expressly require it of you, saying, "Honour the Lord with all thy substance," with all thy riches, "and with the first-fruits of all thy increase;" so that to honour God by giving to such pious uses, is a great duty, not only necessary to be performed by all that are able, but necessary to be performed also in the first place, or before all other duties.

And the reason is, because God is the universal Proprietor, the head Landlord of all the world, and you have nothing but what you receive from Him, and hold immediately under Him, who may fine you at pleasure, or throw you out of possession whensoever He sees good. Now, lest you should forget this, even upon what tenure it is that you hold your estates, He hath enjoined you to pay Him, as it were, a quitrent, or tribute, out of what you possess, as an acknowledgment that it is only by His favour and blessing that you possess it. So that whatsoever it is that you do, or can offer to Him, it is but a just debt that you owe Him; which if you neglect to pay, you lose your tenure, and forfeit what you have to the great Lord of the Manor, the supreme Possessor of Heaven and earth. Hence it is, that in all former ages, they who were truly pious, and had a due sense of God upon their minds, were always ready and careful to pay this their homage and duty to Him, out of what they held under Him; insomuch that many of them never thought they could give enough to any pious use, whereby to testify their acknowledgment of God's dominion over them, His bounty and kindness to them; as likewise their right and propriety in what they had.

A notable instance of this we have in the Children of Israel; for when the Tabernacle was to be built for the service of God, they were so far from being backward in contributing towards it, that they presently brought more Exod. 36. 5. than could be employed about it. So it was too in the building of the Temple, which David and all the rich men of

Israel made great preparations for: and that they did it. that they might thereby acknowledge God to be the Lord and Giver of all they had, and of their power to give it too, is plain from that Divine hymn which David composed and sung upon that occasion, saying, "Blessed be Thou, Lord 1 Chron. 29. God of Israel our Father, for ever and ever. Thine, O Lord. 10-14. is the greatness, and the power, and the glory, and the victory and the majesty: for all that is in Heaven and in the earth is Thine; Thine is the kingdom, O Lord, and Thou art exalted as Head above all. Both riches and honour come of Thee, and Thou reignest over all; and in Thine hand is power and might; and in Thine hand it is to make great. and to give strength unto all. Now therefore, our God, we thank Thee, and praise Thy glorious Name. But who am I, and what is my people, that we should be able to offer so willingly after this sort? for all things come of Thee, and of Thine Own have we given Thee." This was doing good indeed, and honouring God with their substance, according as He commanded. And whosoever consults the records of the Church, may easily find, that Christians, in all ages, have been as eminent as ever the Jews were for such pious and good works; seeing most of the Churches in Christendom, and especially in this nation, were built by particular persons. And therefore, as ever any of you desire to be what you profess, Christians indeed, such as the primitive Christians were, and such as our holy religion obligeth us all to be, "Men fearing God, and hating covetousness," you [Exod. 18. must take all opportunities, as you have a great many, of 21.] expressing your thankfulness to God for what you have, by devoting as much as you can of it to His service and honour, to pious, or else, in the next place,

"To charitable uses;" that is, to feeding the hungry, clothing the naked, redeeming the captive, instructing the ignorant, supplying the indigent, correcting the wicked, supporting the orphans and widows, healing the sick in mind or body, and the like. Which kind of works, although they immediately respect the poor, yet what is done for them, God looks upon as done to Himself, as our Lord hath taught us, saying, "Inasmuch as ye have done it unto one of the Matt. 25.40. least of these My brethren, ye have done it unto Me." And

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXXVII.

Mal. 3. 8.

[Matt. 26.

as they who withhold their tithes, which are due for the service of God, so they also who withhold their offerings, which are due for the maintenance of the poor, are said to "rob God." I say, which are due for the maintenance of the poor; for as God so orders it in His providence, that we have always some poor among us, that we may always know where to pay our rent and acknowledgment to Him; so He hath imposed it as a duty upon the rich to maintain them. By which means He makes plentiful provision of all things necessary for the poor, as well as for the rich; giving more to the rich than they have real need of, on purpose that they might impart to the poor, who have real need of it. So that the poor have as much right to your alms, as you have to the rest of your estates, and you rob both God and them, unless you give it to them.

Whereas, on the other side, whatsoever it is that we, in obedience to Him, bestow upon the poor, God, of His infinite mercy, is pleased to accept of it as part of the tribute which we owe to Himself, whereby to acknowledge the receipt of what we have from Him, and express our thankfulness unto Him for it. Which if we neglect to do, we have no ground to expect a blessing upon what we have, nor that it should be really good for us; for, as the Apostle

1 Tim. 4. 4. saith, "Every creature of God is good, if it be received with thanksgiving," not else; but no thanksgiving is acceptable to God, but what is expressed by deeds as well as words: and therefore it is necessary for you to pay this duty and service to God out of what you have, in order to the cleansing and sanctifying the residue of your estates to you; without which you have not the lawful and right use of what you possess, but every thing you have is polluted and unclean to

Luke 11.41. you, as our Saviour Himself intimates, saying, "But rather give alms of such things as ye have; and, behold, all things are clean to you;" which Divine sentence I heartily wish that you would always carry in your minds, and act accordingly: for I verily believe that the great reason why so many estates are blasted so soon, and brought to nothing among us, as we see they are, is because men do not render unto God the duty and tribute which He hath charged upon their estates for Himself and the poor, and then it is no wonder if

God, in His Providence, turn them out of possession, and give their estates to other persons, who shall be better tenants to Him, and more careful to pay the duties which He requireth of them; according to that remarkable saying of the wise man, "He that by usury and unjust gain in- Prov. 28. 8. creaseth his substance, he shall gather it for him that will pity the poor." And therefore, in order to the securing your estates to vourselves, and your families, it is absolutely necessary to discharge the duties ye owe out of them to God and the poor; and so punctually to observe what we are here commanded to charge upon rich men, even "to do good," and not only so, but,

II. "To be rich in good works," that is, not only to do good, but to do all the good you can with what you have, so as to proportion your good works to the riches which God hath given you wherewith to do them; according to that Apostolical rule, " Let every one lay by him for good uses, 1 Cor. 16. 2. as God hath prospered him." And so in the place before quoted, Luke xi. 41, what we translate, "Give alms of such things as ye have," in the original it is, τὰ ἐνόντα δότε ἐλεημοσύνην, 'Give alms as much as ye are able,' for so the words properly signify. And, verily, whatsoever ye do of this kind, unless it be as much as you can, God will look upon it as nothing at all; for you must not think to compound with Him. When God hath given you all ye have, He expects that you render Him all that He requires of you, that is, as much as ye are able to give. And how little soever that be, yet it bearing a due proportion with your estates, it will be acceptable to Him; as our great Master Himself hath taught us, when, observing the rich men cast in a great deal into the treasury, and a poor woman that cast in but two mites, He said, that she had "cast in more than they," upon this account, Mark 12.44. because "they had cast in of their abundance, but she of her want had cast in all she had," or as much as she could; from whence we may infer, that the poor may be as "rich in good works" as the richest; forasmuch as God doth not measure the goodness of our works by their bulk or quantity, but by the proportion which they bear with our ability to do them. So that he that gives a penny may do as good a work as he that gives a pound, and a better too, because

Digitized by Google

SERM. CXXVII. his may be as much as he is able, and the other's less; and so he that gives a little may do much good, when he that gives much doth none at all. I wish you would all weigh and consider this, lest otherwise ye go out of the world without ever having done one good work in it: for he that is not thus "rich in good works," may be confident he doth no good at all with his riches.

But it is further to be observed here, that this expression,

"rich in good works," plainly implies, that "good works" are indeed our principal riches; and that you must not compute your riches from what you have, but from what you give to pious and good uses; for what you have is not yours, but God's in your hands; but what you give is yours in Prov. 19.17. God's hand, Who acknowledgeth that you lend it to Him, and promiseth to pay it you again. And therefore the next time you cast up your accounts to know how rich you are, do not reckon upon what money you have lying by you, nor upon what houses or lands you have, nor upon what men owe you; but reckon upon what you have transmitted into the bank of Heaven, upon what treasure you have laid up there, upon how much you have distributed to pious and charitable uses: for whatsoever you may think at present, I dare assure you, that will be found to be your only riches another day. Wherefore, as any of you desire to be rich indeed, you must take this course, do all the good you can with what you have, and then you will be rich in the esteem of God Himself; "rich," as the Apostle here speaks, "in good works." But for that purpose, you must observe, likewise, what follows, even to be

3. "Ready to distribute;" that is, ready upon all occasions to pay your tribute to God, whensoever He, in His Providence, calls for it, catching at all opportunities to do good, and glad when you can find any, and making some Gal. 6. 10. where you can find none; "As we have opportunity," saith the Apostle, "let us do good unto all men," implying, that when we can get an opportunity to do good, whatsoever other business is neglected, we must lay hold on that offer. God, be sure, is to be served in the first place; and therefore you must not adjourn and put off so great and necessary a duty to Him, from day to day, much less to the last, as the

custom of some is, who never give any thing to God, or the poor, so long as they can keep it themselves; but in their last will and testament leave them, perhaps, a legacy, and then think they do a good work: but whatsoever good may be done by what is so given, it is no good work in him that gives it, for he doth not give it from himself, but from his heirs or executors; and therefore no thanks can be due to him for it. Wherefore, as ever you desire to do any good with what you have, you must be always "ready to distribute;" and not only so neither, but also,

"Willing to communicate;" which is the last duty here charged upon rich men, or rather, the last qualification required to the doing good with their riches. You must communicate them, not only with your hands, but with your hearts too; "not grudgingly or of necessity," as if ye were angry that God hath laid such a tax upon your estates: "for," as the Apostle saith, "God loves a cheerful giver," and will 2 Cor. 9. 7. accept of none but freewill-offerings from you: insomuch that if ye be not as willing to do good works, as ye are to have wherewith to do them, whatsoever works ve do will have nothing of goodness in them; and therefore, in plain terms, as any of you desire to be "rich in good works," as becometh Christians, and as it is your interest as well as duty to be, you must not stay till you are compelled, or persuaded, or entreated by others to do them; but you must set upon them of your own accord, out of pure obedience to God, and from a due sense of your constant dependence upon Him, and obligations to Him, so as to take pleasure in pleasing Him, and in paying your service and thanks to Him for the manifold blessings He hath heaped upon you.

And, verily, one would think you should not need many arguments to persuade you to be willing to do that which is so much for your own good, that, without it, nothing that you have is really good to you: whereas by doing good with what you have to others, every thing you have will be good to yourselves, not only in this life, but also in that which is to come: for, by this means, as the Apostle here adds, "You will lay up for yourselves a good foundation against the time

SERM. CXXVII. God, the Mother-Church, not only of this city, but of the whole diocese, is not to this day, nor ever can be finished, without a more liberal contribution than hath been hitherto made for it; which is a great shame and reproach to the city and the whole kingdom. Besides that, there are many Churches wanting in the suburbs of the city, or near to it; and in several parts of the kingdom, the service of Almighty God is either totally omitted, or very meanly performed, for want of a sufficient maintenance for the performance of it: and whatsoever you give towards such uses, you may be confident that God will accept of it as done to Himself, it having so immediate relation to His Own honour, and to the exercise of that holy religion, that He, of His infinite goodness, hath established among us.

[Matt. 26.

But as you ought not to be altogether for charitable uses, so as to neglect the pious, so neither ought ye to lay out all upon pious uses, so as to neglect the charitable; for which you can never want an opportunity, "having the poor always with you," as our Lord said. But the occasion of our present meeting bespeaks your charity in an especial manner for the poor, the sick, the maimed, and the distracted, that, being destitute of all other helps, are daily brought into the hospitals in and about this city, where they are maintained, and have both food and physic provided for them, merely upon charity. Where what care is taken of them, and how God blesseth the charity that is given to them, appears plainly from this list, or catalogue of those who have been admitted into, and dismissed from these places the last year.

Having read this, I need not say much to it, the thing speaks enough for itself; for you cannot but all believe, that they who are under the care and conduct of these hospitals, many whereof are now before you, are as great objects of charity as you can ever meet with in the world; and you cannot but be satisfied also, that whatsoever you shall give to them, will be as faithfully disposed of, to the ends and purposes for which you give it, as if you saw it done with your own eyes; many of yourselves, and other the most eminent and worthy citizens, being the governors and overseers of it; so that no-

thing is left for you to do, but to give in a right manner, that is, out of pure obedience to God's command, and in due proportion to the estates which He, for such purposes, hath entrusted with you: as many of your pious ancestors have done before you; who, by their liberal contribution to the erecting and support of these hospitals, are still doing good with the estates they got upon earth, though they themselves be gone to Heaven. Many of them are long since dead, and yet their good works live to this day, and will do so, I hope, to the end of the world: and why should not yours do so too? Blessed be God, you have all, more or less, wherewithal to give, as they had; and if you be but as "ready to distribute," and as "willing to communicate," as they were, you also will have the benefit and comfort of your estates always continued to you, as they have.

This, therefore, is that which I would now advise you to. It is true, we are here empowered not only to advise, but to "charge them who are rich in this world" to do good with their riches: but I hope I need not exercise that power here: I do not question but that some of you are "rich in good works" already, and am willing to persuade myself that others, for the future, will strive to be so; and, for that purpose, are resolved to contribute liberally to these pious and charitable uses above-mentioned. And therefore, all that I have now to desire of such, is only that you would do it presently, and also proportionably to what you have wherewith to do it, as remembering, that unless you proportion your charity to your estates, God may justly proportion your estates to your charity; and, if you will not give as much as you are able, make you able to give no more than vou do.

But fearing there may be some among you, who, notwithstanding all that hath been said, either out of diffidence of God's Word, or carelessness of their own eternal good, are not yet resolved to do their duty in this particular, I must do mine, in acquainting you plainly in the Name of Him Who sent me, that it is not left to your own choice, whether you will do it or no; but He, the Eternal God, Who made you, and ere long will judge you, doth expressly require, command, and charge all you who are "rich in this world, that



The Him the hilling Good. Who gives us all things richly to enjoy. That ye do good that ye be rich in good works, that ye be ready to distribute, and willing to communicate; laying up in store for yourselves a good formination against the time to come that ye may by hold on coursel life; through Jesus Christ our Lord, to Whom with the Fatter and the Holy Ghost, be all honour and givey."

SERMON CXXVIII.

OBEDIENCE TO GOVERNORS.

1 Pet. ii. 13.

Submit yourselves to every Ordinance of Man for the Lord's sake.

WHEN Josiah, king of Judah, was slain in his wars with Pharaoh Necho, king of Egypt, the Church and people of God were so mightily troubled, for the loss of so pious and excellent a prince, that they did not only lament his death at present, but they devoted the day, on which it happened, to fasting and humiliation, for many years after; as may be easily gathered from 2 Chron. xxxv. 25. How much more cause have we to spend this day, as we are commanded, every year, in fasting and mourning for the death of our late most gracious sovereign, King Charles the First, who was not killed, as Josiah was, by a foreign power, but murdered by his own subjects; not by chance of war, but by a formal pretended court of justice, the whole nation standing by without endeavouring to rescue and deliver him; whereby it became, in a great measure, accessory to his death and murder, and, by consequence, guilty of that royal and sacred blood which was then shed! And notwithstanding the greatness of the sin, aggravated with the most dismal circumstances that any sin could then be capable of, it was a long time before the nation in general was sensible of it, or made any public show of repentance and remorse for it; until, at length, being come to itself, and having its eyes opened, it plainly saw it was absolutely necessary to find out some expedient



SERM. CXXVIII. whereby to prevent, if possible, these public calamities, which so public and horrid a sin would otherwise bring upon us.

Whereupon, being assembled in Parliament, both Lords and Commons humbly besought his Majesty, that this thirtieth day of January, whereon that execrable murder was committed, might be set apart and kept in all churches as an anniversary day of fasting and humiliation, to implore the mercy of God, that neither the guilt of that sacred and innocent blood, nor those other sins whereby God was provoked to deliver up both them and their king into the hands of cruel and unreasonable men, might at any time after be visited upon them or their posterity; which being accordingly assented to, and signed by our gracious sovereign, and so passed into an act, we, in obedience thereunto, are now here assembled for the purposes aforesaid.

But that we may not meet in vain, but may effectually obtain the mercy we fast and pray for, even the pardon of the sin which was this day committed, there are two things necessary to be done.

First. "That we be truly humbled under the sense of it."

And then,

Secondly. "That we be steadfastly resolved against all such sins for the future."

As for the first, I suppose I need not say much, being willing to persuade myself, that you do not come hither to mock God, but that you really believe, that the sin ye have now confessed to Him was so great and heinous, that He might justly inflict the severest of His judgments upon you, and the whole nation, for it. For he that hath any sense at all, either of good or evil, cannot but be sensible, that there was as much sin or evil in the murder of the late king, as any one act could be capable of. The murder of a private person, though never so wicked, was always judged, by the very law of nature, to be one of the most wicked acts that mankind could be guilty of. But what then shall we think of the murder of a king, a wise, a sober, a just, a merciful, a pious king? Or rather, who can think of it at all, without horror and amazement? Especially when we consider how

many other sins concurred to the effecting of it, or else were joined with it; pride, envy, malice, covetousness, theft, sacrilege, hypocrisy, schism, sedition, lying, perjury, treason, rebellion, what not! And such a sin as this, which was not only so great in itself, but had such a train of the most diabolical vices attending upon it, either going before, or else following after it, what punishment could be too great for it? What could be great enough? Certainly, if God should have punished this sin according as it deserved, the whole nation, before now, had been turned into an Aceldama, a field of blood. It is true, He hath already laid more than ordinary punishments upon the nation in general. and upon this city in particular, which was so deeply concerned in this sin. But we must acknowledge, that He hath vet punished us less than this iniquity deserved, and have just cause to expect much greater judgments to be still behind, which will certainly fall upon us, unless prevented by a timely and sincere repentance.

And this is the reason why we are commanded to keep this day so strictly, that, if it be possible, we may avert that vengeance which hangs over our heads, and is ready each moment to fall upon us, for that sacred and innocent blood that was this day shed amongst us: for which end we have already been humbling ourselves before Almighty God, under the sense of it: and so have, in some measure, done the first thing which I said was necessary thereunto. this will avail us nothing without the other, as not being sincere and cordial; for no man can be said truly to be humbled for any sin, that still continues in the practice of And it is not he that only confesseth, but "whoso con-Prov.28.13. fesseth and forsaketh his sin shall have mercy." Hence it is that the Church hath not only prescribed us a form of sound words, wherewith to address ourselves to God, and implore His mercy in the pardon of this sin, but hath likewise appointed such a portion of Scripture for the Epistle this day, wherein we are expressly enjoined, both to avoid such sins as this was, and to perform the contrary duties for the future; which, therefore, I thought good to pitch upon for the main subject of my discourse, if by any means I may be so happy as to convince you of the necessity that



Tom. ix. p. 686. B.]

lies upon you, as Christians, to make conscience of doing what is here commanded by the Apostle, saying, "Submit yourselves to every ordinance of man for the Lord's sake." Where we may first observe two things in general.

1. That this is as clear and positive a command as any in the whole Bible; so that we are as much obliged to "submit to every ordinance of man for the Lord's sake," as we are to pray, to hear, or perform any other duty whatso-And so, on the other side, the transgression of this is as great a sin as the breach of any other law: and he that doth not punctually observe what is here commanded, he lives in a known sin, or in the wilful neglect of a known duty; and, by consequence, whatsoever he may profess, he is no good man, much less a good Christian, who always makes conscience of one duty as well as of another.

2. We may observe in general, that this command is as general as the Epistle of which it is part, equally obliging

all sorts of persons whatsoever, to submit themselves to Rom. 13. 1. their governors, according to that parallel place, "Let every [Hom. xxii. soul be subject to the higher powers:" where St. Chrysostom observes that Πασι ταυτα διατάττεται και ιερεύσι και μοναχείς, ούγι τοῖς βιωτικοίς μόνον. 'These things are commanded to all men, even to Priests, and Monks also, not only to Seculars.' So that Clergy and Laity, all sorts of persons, of whatsoever degree, or quality, or estate, are bound to be subject to those whom God hath set over them; and therefore when the Popes of Rome, who call themselves St. Peter's successors, take upon them to exempt the Clergy from their subjection, and to absolve subjects from their allegiance to their prince (as they have sometimes done in this, as well as other kingdoms), they act directly contrary to the decree of St. Peter. whom they pretend to succeed, or rather, to the express command of Almighty God Himself, Who here expressly commands all subjects, under what prince soever they live, to submit themselves to him, and that at all times too; for the command is general, as to time as well as persons: so that whatsoever happens, still the command holds good, and ought to be religiously observed by all who would act as Christians; "Submit yourselves to every ordinance of man for the Lord's sake."

Seeing, therefore, that here is a plain and necessary duty, indispensably required of all and every one of you, you cannot but all be highly concerned to understand the nature and extent of it, what it is that Almighty God would have you to do, when He commands you to "submit yourselves to every ordinance of man." For which purpose, therefore, I shall briefly explain the terms or words by which He hath revealed His will to us; and consider,

1. What we are to understand here by "every ordinance of man;" or, every human creature, as the words might be translated: which, taken singly, or by themselves, may seem something obscure; and therefore critics have exercised their wits variously upon them, and indeed to little or no purpose at all; for St. Peter doth sufficiently explain what he means by them, in the following words, saying, "Whether it be to the king as supreme, or to governors, as unto them which are sent by him." From whence it is manifest, that by "every ordinance of man," he means, all and every one that is entrusted with the government of the place or country where we live: first, the king, as supreme magistrate, who receives his commission immediately from God Himself, and therefore is accountable to none but Him for the execution of it, as the Apostle here plainly intimates, in that he calls him the "supreme;" for if he be supreme, then all other persons in his kingdoms are inferior to him, both singly and jointly: so that neither any one, nor altogether, can justly pretend to any power over him, because they are all under him; otherwise he would not be the supreme, as the Apostle here calls him.

Neither is this duty to be performed only to the king himself, but, as the Apostle adds, to governors also, as to those who are "sent by him," that is, who are commissionated by the king, as he is by God, to administer justice, and execute the laws of the land, so far as their commission reaches. So that by this Divine Law, we are obliged to submit ourselves to those whom the king sets over us, as well as to the king himself, whom God sets over us; for the commission which the king grants to them, is but part of that which he received from God; and therefore ought to be submitted to as much as if the king himself had still kept it in his own SERM. CXXVIII. hands; for it is still his power in their hands, who are only entrusted by him with the administration or execution of it.

Hence, therefore, all that desire to perform this duty aright, must submit themselves, not only to the king in person, but likewise to all those who act by commission under him: or, as the Apostle here words it, to the governors; mayors, judges, aldermen, justices of the peace, or the like, who are sent by him.

But here we may further observe, that this command was laid upon all Christians, when there was never a Christian king or governor in the world, but were all rather inveterate enemies to Christianity itself, and endeavoured all they could to destroy and banish it out of the world; yet, for all that, all Christians are here commanded to submit to them: which shews, that this duty is to be performed to the king, as such; not because he is a Christian, a just, a merciful king, but because he is a king authorised by God to rule and govern us.

And therefore the Apostle here doth not command us to submit ourselves to the king, as good, or kind, or just, but as supreme; nor to governors, as eminent for grace and virtue, but as sent by the king. So that he that would perform his duty as he ought, must not only submit himself to the king, but he must do it only as he is king, as one authorised and deputed by God to rule and govern the country. Neither must he submit to the governors which are sent by him, upon any other account, but merely because they are sent by him: for he that submits himself upon any other consideration, whatsoever other law he may observe in it, be sure he doth not obey this.

2. What it is properly "to submit ourselves to every ordinance of man."

To understand this aright, we may observe, first, that St. Paul, speaking of this submission, or subjection, which is Rom. 13, 1, due to the higher powers, he opposeth it to resisting of them. Wherefore he that resists the king, breaks this law, which requires submission to him. But who may be properly said to resist the king? All that conspire his death, oppose his authority, or take up arms against him; all that countenance, assist, or encourage those that do so; all that

supply them with men, arms, counsel, or money; all that sow sedition, raise tumults, or promote riots and mutinying against the government; all that ever had, or still have a hand in dividing the king's subjects, and so in seducing them from their allegiance to him. In short, all that do any thing in opposition to the king, or strengthen the hands of those that do so, by defending of them, or adhering to them, they may properly be said to resist the king, and, by consequence, break this law, which requires submission to him. And so do they too, who, although they do not act, yet talk against him; such as St. Jude calls "filthy dreamers, who Jude 8. defile the flesh, despise dominion, and speak evil of dignities;" and so St. Peter: such as defame and censure the 2 Pet. 2. 10. king or his officers of state, of injustice, neglect, or maladministration; such as write or disperse libels against him; such as raise or carry about stories and ill reports of him, or his government, to lessen him in the esteem of the people. and so take off their love and affection from him; for such things plainly tend to the disturbance of his government, and to the making his people uneasy under it, and ready to catch at all opportunities of rising up against it, and therefore is a manifest resisting of him, and, by consequence, a breach of this command. Yea, this, as well as all other Divine laws, doth questionless reach the heart, as well as the hands and tongues of men: so that we are obliged by it to harbour no treasonable or rebellious thoughts against the king, nor to entertain any ill or low opinion of him, much less to desire or wish any evil to him. Above all, we Eccles, 10. are obliged by this law, not to entertain such seditious prin-20. ciples and unchristian doctrines, which are destructive of government, and so dissolve the very bonds of human society; as, that the king receives his power from the people, and is accountable to them for the exercise of it: that if he neglects his duty to them, they are not bound to perform theirs to him: for such doctrines are not only contrary to the Word of God, and to the known laws of the land, but they directly tend to resisting the king, and disturbing the government, as this nation found by woful experience, when such principles as these led men on, by degrees, not only to rebelling against the king, but to the murdering of him too at his own



SERM. CXXVIII.

gates. Wherefore, as ever you desire not to live in the breach of this known law, you must be sure to avoid such diabolical opinions as these are, and whatsoever else tends to the resisting or opposing the king in deed, in word, or thought; for whatsoever doth so, is plainly repugnant to this Divine command, whereby we are expressly commanded to "submit" ourselves "to every ordinance of man."

But this non-resistance, although it be much, it is not all that is here required of us: it is true, all that do any way resist the higher powers, plainly transgress this law; but every one that doth not resist, cannot be therefore said to observe it: for it is a positive command, "Submit vourselves to every ordinance of man:" which submission necessarily supposeth not only our non-resistance, but likewise our assistance of them, to the utmost of our power; as when any tumults or insurrections are raised against the king, every one is hereby obliged to assist the government in the suppressing of them, as much as he can, in the place and station he is in: for otherwise, although he doth not join with the rebels or rioters, he doth not join with the king against them, and so doth not perform this duty to him; for every one is bound to defend the government under which he lives, that so he may live peaceably and quietly under it; and therefore when it is opposed by restless and ill men, there can be no such thing as a neuter in the kingdom; for he that is not for the government is against it, and contributes to the destruction of it, by not performing his duty, and so not using the means which God hath appointed for his support and preservation. Hence, therefore, all that would carry themselves as becometh Christians in this case, must be as zealous for the government as others are against it, and make as much conscience of vindicating and defending it, as they do of resisting or setting themselves against it.

Neither is this all yet; for when we are commanded to "submit" ourselves "to every ordinance of man," we are thereby obliged also to submit to and observe those laws and ordinances which are established amongst us, by the government under which we live; for he that doth not obey the king's laws, can never be said to submit to him, or to his authority, but rather to resist it. It is true, if any earthly

prince command that which is contrary to the laws of God, the universal monarch of the world, in that case we must rather obey God than man: but blessed be God, that can never be our case, as things now stand; for nothing, ye know, is passed into a law amongst us, but what hath been first agreed upon and consented to, not only by the temporal lords and commons, but by the bishops too, who ought, in reason and justice, be supposed to understand the laws of God better than any private man can do. So that whatsoever laws are now in force amongst us, we may and ought to rest fully satisfied in our minds, that they are not repugnant to the Word of God; for if they had, they would have been abrogated before now.

Nay, further, if there should happen a doubtful case, so that a man should have some reason to question whether such a law be agreeable to the Word of God or no, in such a case it is the safest way to do what the law requires; for though he may doubt whether such a thing be agreeable to the Word of God or no, yet they that made the law did not doubt of it: for if they had, they would not have made it. And it must needs be the safest way to submit ourselves, in such a case, to those whom we cannot but acknowledge to be wiser than ourselves, even to the King and two Houses of Parliament, who doubtless would be as unwilling to command any thing contrary to God's Word, as we can be to obey it.

But, as I observed before, we have no such laws, that a man can in reason doubt of, whether they be agreeable to the Word of God or no, and therefore none but what we are bound to obey; insomuch that whosoever wilfully refuseth to obey the laws of the land, plainly transgresses the laws of God, which commands us to "submit" ourselves "to every ordinance of man:" for there can be no true submission without obedience.

I heartily wish, that all who live in the constant neglect and violation of the known laws of the Church and State under which they live, would duly consider this before it be too late, for it concerns their future state; for Almighty God, before Whom they must ere long appear, will then judge them according to His Own laws, whereof this is one, that we "submit" ourselves "to every ordinance of man," in all SERM. such things which He hath left indifferent, and so to be determined by those whom He hath empowered to do it, according as the circumstances of time and place require: and they who live and die in a wilful omission of, or opposition against this Divine Law, live and die in a known sin; and what will be the consequence of that, I leave it to them[Luke 1.6.] selves to judge. Be sure all that would "walk in all the Commandments and Ordinances of the Lord blameless," must take as much care of this as of any other duty whatsoever, even to "submit themselves to every ordinance of man for the Lord's sake."

"For the Lord's sake;" which is the last thing to be explained. How for the Lord's sake? The phrase imports,

I. That it is not enough to submit ourselves in general, but we must do it in obedience to the Lord Jehovah, the King of all kings," and the "Governor of all things." As in all the rest of God's commands, we must not only do what He hath commanded, but we must therefore do it, because He hath commanded it; so here, we must not only submit ourselves to "every ordinance of man," but we must do it "for the Lord's sake," even because the Lord of Hosts Himself hath commanded us to do it; so that every act of obedience to the king ought to be done in obedience to God, it being indeed due to him, not only for his own sake, but, as the Apostle here speaks, " for the Lord's sake, Who is his King and Governor, as he is ours. It is the authority of the Most High God that is the ground of our obligation to obey this, as well as any other command whatsoever; and therefore they who do not obey this command, whatsoever they pretend, they do not observe any of God's commands at all as they ought to do; for he that observes any of His commands, because they are His, cannot but observe this too, as being His command as well as any other.

From whence we may observe, that all that zeal for God that was pretended in the late rebellion against the king, was nothing else but hypocrisy and deceit: for if it had been true zeal for God, it would have kept them within the bounds of their duty to the king. If they had done any thing "for the Lord's sake," as they pretended, they would

have submitted to the king too "for the Lord's sake," as they were expressly commanded by the Lord Himself: but seeing, instead of that, they rebelled against him, they fought him, they imprisoned him, they murdered him, it is plain they were acted all along with a spirit of delusion, and hurried about by the Prince of Darkness, in the shape of an Angel of light.

II. We must do it "for the Lord's sake," that is, for the honour and glory of His great Name, to which nothing contributes more than the meekness, patience, and peaceableness of those who profess the religion that our Lord Christ hath established in the world. Because it shews the great power and force that His religion hath upon the minds of men, to keep their passions in order, and to make them loyal and submissive to their prince, as well as just and charitable to one another. Whereas, if they who call themselves Christians should be heady and high-minded, traitors and rebels against their king, and disturb the peace of the country where they live, this would reflect mightily upon our Lord, as if He had established a religion in the world which turned all things upside down, wheresoever it came. For ignorant and foolish men, as the greatest part of mankind are, will be apt to impute all the miscarriages of those who profess the Christian religion, to the religion they profess. This is the reason that the Apostle here gives why this command should be so religiously observed; "For so," saith he, "is ver. 15. the Will of God, that with well-doing ye may put to silence the ignorance of foolish men;" that is, God is pleased so strictly to command you to "submit yourselves to every ordinance of man," that so, by this means you may stop the mouths of those who would otherwise upbraid you for a company of turbulent and factious people, and charge your religion with being the cause of riots and tumults in the state, which would be a mighty dishonour to our Lord Himself. And therefore you must needs be subject for His sake.

And verily, how great a blemish it is to any religion, for the professors of it to be seditious and troublesome to the state, the sad occasion of our present meeting is too clear an instance; for certainly that which struck off the king's SERM. CXXVIII. head, I dread to speak it, was the greatest blow that was ever given either to the Protestant religion in particular, or the Christian in general, the enemies of our Lord taking occasion from thence to blaspheme His most holy Name, especially such as either could not or would not distinguish betwixt those who only called themselves Protestants, or Christians, and such as were really so; for it is plain that they who engaged in the late rebellion, especially they that imbrued their hands in the blood of their sovereign, were so far from being Protestants, so far from being Christians that they were of no religion at all, but a company of profligate, atheistical wretches, who, under the pretence of the Christian, endeavoured to root out the sense of all religion from among us, committing such villanies as the very Turks and Heathens might blush to hear of, as being a shame to mankind in general. Yet, nevertheless, all these notorious outrages, by whomsoever committed, were still fathered upon our most holy religion, to the great dishonour of our Lord. Who hath settled it amongst us: for Whose sake therefore it behoves us not only to submit ourselves, but to do all we can, that all among us may, for the future, do so, and so make up, if possible, the honour that our religion hath lost in the rebellion against the father, by our steady submission and allegiance to his son, out of sincere obedience to God's command, and for the glory of His great Name; or, as it is here expressed, "for the Lord's sake."

By this, therefore, you may see what St. Paul means, Rom. 13.5. when he saith, "You must needs be subject, not only for wrath, but also for conscience' sake," that is, you must needs be submissive and obedient to the king and higher powers, not only for fear of wrath and punishment, but out of a sense of your duty to God, and for the honour of His Name; and to make as much conscience of this, as ye do of any other duty whatsoever, either to God or man, so as to be as fearful of resisting or rebelling against the king, or doing any thing that looks that way, as ye are, or ought to be, of theft, robbery, murder, or any other wickedness whatsoever. And the reason is, because that God hath plainly commanded ch. 13. 2. you to be subject, and hath told you that "whosoever

resisteth the power, resisteth the ordinance of God, and they that resist shall receive to themselves damnation." From hence it appears, that as theft, robbery, murder, or the like, so resistance of the king is a damnable sin: so that whosoever have been, or still are guilty of it, without repentance, they will certainly be damned for it: He by Whom they shall be judged hath told them so beforehand, and therefore they may believe Him.

Thus now I have given you the true sense and meaning of this command, which the Most High God had laid upon you, and shewn how necessary it is, that you punctually and religiously observe it "for the Lord's sake." From whence you may all see, how much it concerns those who have had any hand in this, or any other rebellion or conspiracy against the king, to repent of it, before it be too late, for their eternal welfare depends upon it. Wherefore, if there be any such amongst you, as I fear there are, you must give me leave to deal plainly and faithfully with you, as becometh a minister of Christ to do.

You have now heard how positively the Most High God hath commanded you to submit yourselves to those whom He hath set over you, for His sake. And you cannot but be conscious to yourselves how grievously you have offended against this Divine law, by resisting, rebelling, and conspiring against the king, and so contributing towards his death and murder. Let me, therefore, ask you, in the Name of God, where were your consciences ye so much talked of all this while, that they did not fly in your faces for so horrid a sin? How, were you not afraid to stretch forth your hands to destroy the Lord's anointed? Or to raise or promote a rebellion against him? When David had but cut off the skirt of Saul's garment, it is said his heart smote him, his conscience checked him for it, and made him cry out, saying, "The Lord forbid that I should do this thing unto my 1 Sam. 24. master, the Lord's anointed, to stretch forth my hand against 5, 6. him, seeing he is the anointed of the Lord." And if David's conscience troubled him so much for cutting off a king's skirt, what shall we think of those who cut off their king's head? Certainly, if their consciences were like David's, they would be so racked and tormented in their minds, that

 $\mathsf{Digitized} \, \mathsf{by} \, Google$

SERM. they would not be able to endure themselves. And if you, who were any way accessory to it, would but rouse up your consciences out of that dead sleep they have been in so long, you will find matter enough of grief and sorrow as long as you live.

> But I hope I need not insist any longer upon this ungrateful, though necessary, subject; for my charity prompts me to believe that by this time your eyes are all opened, so that you are truly sensible of, and sorry for your sin, and desire so to repent of it, that God may pardon it. For which purpose I must advise you not to think it enough to humble yourselves, as you do this day, at the remembrance of it, but to make it your constant care and study, for the future, to avoid all appearance of rebellion, and to make as much conscience of being submissive, loval, and obedient to the king, as ye do, or ought to do, of being just and charitable to other men, there being the same obligation upon you for the one as for the other. Neither is this a duty incumbent only upon some of you, but upon all and every person in the congregation; you are all equally obliged to "submit yourselves to every ordinance of man for the Lord's sake." And therefore, I beseech you, for the future, to be constant and conscientious in the doing of it: and for that end have a special care to avoid those ways and methods that the Devil useth, whereby to draw men into treason and rebellion; especially take heed of schism and separation from the Church, for that is the ready and common road to resistance and sedition against the State, as we have found by woful experience for above these forty years together. plots and treasons, the conspiracies and rebellions, that this kingdom hath been so much harassed and infested with all this while, have been hatched and carried on by those who have separated themselves from the Communion of our Church and religion established amongst us, either Papists or Sectaries. Whereas it is notorious to all the world, that they that have continued real members of our Church, have been all along as faithful subjects to the crown. And it is no wonder, for indeed they cannot be otherwise if they would; for the spirit that runs through Christ's Catholic Church, and, by consequence, through ours, puts all the

sound members of it upon universal obedience to all the commands of God; and so to this, among the rest, of honouring the king, and submitting themselves to the higher powers. Hence it is, that as we never heard of any rebels in the Primitive Church, so neither are there nor can be any such among those who are really ours; which is the great glory of our Church, and an undeniable argument of its Apostolical Constitution; and that which, if it was duly considered, would make all the Christian princes in the world endeavour to reform the Churches seated in their dominions, according to her pattern and example; and to protect them too, when they are so reformed, if it was for nothing else but to keep their kingdoms quiet, and free from disturbance and tumults. This our late most gracious sovereign was so sensible of, that he chose rather to part with his crown and life too, than ever consent to the ruin and destruction of such a Church, which contributed so much to the peace of his kingdoms, as well as to the Salvation of his subjects; and therefore died a real, a royal martyr in the defence of it.

It is his death and martyrdom we this day commemorate, and have been now considering how to prevent that vengeance which is due to the nation for it. For which purpose I have shewn that it is necessary to repent, not only of the fact itself, but likewise of the sins which caused it, and to avoid and abhor them for the future, so as sincerely to perform the contrary duties of submission and obedience to the king and governors. There may be some, I fear, among you, who, having given me the hearing, will concern themselves no more about what they have heard, but will be ready to catch at all opportunities they can of running into the same sins again. To them I shall say no more at present, but leave them to Him, Who hath told them beforehand what they must expect from Him; in plain English, damnation.

But as for all such amongst you as do not care to be damned, but desire in good earnest to go to Heaven, and for that end to perform sincere obedience to all the commands of God, now you have heard how strictly He hath commanded you to "submit yourselves to every ordinance of

SERM. man for the Lord's sake;" for His sake, I beseech you to act accordingly.

Break off this and all your sins by "righteousness, and 1 Pet. 2. 17; Prov. 24. 21; your iniquities by shewing mercy to the poor." "Fear God, and honour the king, and meddle no more with them that 1Thes.4.2.] are given to change." "Study to be quiet and to mind your own business," and concern yourselves no further about your superiors, than to perform your duty to them, as God hath commanded. Suffer not the Devil or his agents to seduce you into plots or conspiracies against the king, nor to conceal any that you know to be framed against him. But be as loyal to his person, as tender of his honour, as submissive to his authority, as obedient to his commands, as you desire Almighty God should be gracious and merciful to your immortal souls. Would you, and all the people of this kingdom, do thus, we should then have some ground to hope that the Most High God would pardon the horrid and crying sin that was this day committed, which we humbly beseech Him to do for Christ Jesus' sake: "to Whom with the Father," &c.

London: - Printed by Moyes and Barclay, Castle Street, Leicester Square.





